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CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA  
 
Notice is hereby given of a meeting of the City Council of Missouri City to be held on Monday, March 18, 
2019, at 7:00 p.m. at: City Hall, Council Chamber, 2nd Floor, 1522 Texas Parkway, Missouri City, Texas, 
77489, for the purpose of considering the following agenda items.  All agenda items are subject to action.  
The City Council reserves the right to meet in a closed session on any agenda item should the need arise 
and if applicable pursuant to authorization by Title 5, Chapter 551, of the Texas Government Code. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
3. PRESENTATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

An opportunity for the public to address City Council on agenda items or concerns not on the agenda-
-those wishing to speak must complete the orange comment card, present the comment card to the City 
Secretary prior to the beginning of the meeting, and observe a three-minute time limit. 
 
5. STAFF REPORTS 

(a) City Manager announcements. 
 
(b) Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  
 
(c) City Department Work Plan end of year performance report. 
 

6. CONSENT AGENDA 
All consent agenda items listed are considered routine by the City Council and will be enacted by 

one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a councilmember so requests; in 
which event, the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered in its normal sequence on 
the agenda.  Information concerning consent agenda items is available for public review. 

 
(a) Consider approving the minutes of the special and regular City Council meetings of March 4, 

2019. 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND RELATED ACTIONS  
(a) Zoning Public Hearings and Ordinances– There are no Zoning Public Hearings and 

ordinances on this agenda. 
 

(b) Public Hearings and related actions – There are no Public Hearings and related actions on 
this agenda. 

 
8. APPOINTMENTS – There are no Appointments on this agenda.  
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9. AUTHORIZATIONS.  
(a) Consider authorizing the request by the Exchange Club of Fort Bend to post child abuse 

awareness signs along Highway 90-A and Present Street. 
 
(b) Consider authorizing the acceptance of easements for the Missouri City Management District 

No. 2. 
 

10. ORDINANCES – There are no Ordinances on this agenda. 
 

11. RESOLUTIONS  
(a) Consider a resolution repealing and replacing City of Missouri City Resolution No. R-18-40, 

supporting the United States Census Bureau by creating a Census 2020 “Complete Count 
Committee.”   

 
(b) Consider a resolution adopting a drought contingency plan in the City of Missouri City, Texas. 
 
(c) Consider a resolution granting consent to Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 47 

to annex approximately 8.68 acres of land situated within the corporate limits of the City of 
Missouri City, Texas. 

 
12. CITY COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS  

Discussion, review, and possible action regarding a meeting or activity of one or more of the following 
entities (each entity refers to a City of Missouri City entity unless otherwise indicated):  
Charter Review Commission, Community Development Advisory Committee, Construction Board of 
Adjustments, Electrical Board, Parks Board, Planning and Zoning Commission, Tax Increment Reinvestment 
Zone Boards, Fort Bend Chamber of Commerce, Houston-Galveston Area Council, Fort Bend Regional 
Council, Texas Municipal League, Fort Bend County, Harris County, Gulf Coast Building and Construction 
Trades Council, Mayor’s Youth Commission, Finances and Services Committee, Fort Bend Leadership 
Forum, Fort Bend County Drainage District, Economic Development Committee, Missouri City Parks 
Foundation, Missouri City Police and Fire Auxiliary, Livable Community Committee, Texas Parkway Alliance, 
High Performance Organization Committee, Missouri City Juneteenth Celebration Foundation, Fort Bend 
County Mayor and Council Association, METRO, Planning, Development and Infrastructure Committee, Fort 
Bend Independent School District, Greater Fort Bend Economic Development Coalition, Transportation 
Policy Council, Community Development Advisory Committee, Veterans Memorial Committee, Missouri City 
Recreation and Leisure Local Government Corporation, Missouri City Development Authority, and the 
Greater Houston Partnership and Emergency Management updates. 
 
13. CLOSED EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The City Council may go into Executive Session regarding any item posted on the Agenda as 
authorized by Title 5, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code. 

 
14. RECONVENE 

Reconvene into Regular Session and Consider Action, if any, on items discussed in Executive 
Session. 
 
15. ADJOURN 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Missouri City will provide for 
reasonable accommodations for persons attending City Council meetings.  To better serve you, 
requests should be received 24 hours prior to the meetings.  Please contact Maria Jackson, City 
Secretary, at 281.403.8686. 
 

CERTIFICATION 
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I certify that a copy of the March 18, 2019, agenda of items to be considered by the City Council was posted 
on the City Hall bulletin board on March 15, 2019, at 4:00 p.m.  
 

______________________________________ 
Yomara Frias, City Secretary Department 

 
 
I certify that the attached notice and agenda of items to be considered by the City Council was removed by 
me from the City Hall bulletin board on the ____ day of ________________, 2019. 
 
 
Signed:_____________________________                      Title:  ______________________________ 
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March 18, 2019 

 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
3. PRESENTATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

An opportunity for the public to address City Council on agenda items or concerns not on the agenda-
-those wishing to speak must complete the orange comment card, present the comment card to the City 
Secretary prior to the beginning of the meeting, and observe a three-minute time limit. 
 
5. STAFF REPORTS 

(a) City Manager announcements. 
 
(b) Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  
 
(c) City Department Work Plan end of year performance report. 
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CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
MARCH 18, 2019 

 

To: Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Item:     5(b) Consider accepting the Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

(CAFR). 
  
Submitted by: Allena J. Portis, Financial Services Director  

 
SYNOPSIS 

 
The audit report for the period ended September 30, 2018 was presented to the Finances & Services 
Committee on March 18, 2019. Whitley Penn performed the audit and issued an unqualified opinion on the 
city’s financial statements. 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

 Maintain a financially sound City 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
The City Charter requires that at the close of each fiscal year the council shall cause an independent audit 
to be made of all accounts of the city by an independent certified public accountant and upon completion of 
the audit, the results shall be placed on file in the city secretary’s office as a public record.  
 
Local Government Code Section 103.001 also requires municipalities to have its records and accounts 
audited annually and have an annual financial statements prepared based on the audit. The code requires 
that the annual financial statement, including the auditor’s opinion on the statement, be filed as a public 
record in the office of the City Secretary within 180 days after the last day of the municipality’s fiscal year. 
The deadline for filing the FY 2018 report is March 29, 2019. 
 
Whitley Penn performed the audit for the period ended September 30, 2018 and issued an unqualified opinion 
on the city’s financial statements.  Interim audit work was performed during the month of September 2018 
and the year-end audit field work was performed in January and February 2019. The audit report was 
presented to the Finances & Services Committee for their review on March 18, 2019. The committee is 
recommending acceptance by the city council of the Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report. 
 

BUDGET/FISCAL ANALYSIS 
 
Purchasing Review:  N/A 
Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 
Note:  Compliance with the conflict of interest questionnaire requirements, if applicable, and the interested 

party disclosure requirements (HB 1295) has been confirmed/is pending within 30-days of this 
Council action and prior to execution. 

 



SUPPORTING MATERIALS 
 

1. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report  
 

STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 
 
Accept the Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). 
 
Director Approval: Allena J. Portis, CPA   
 
Assistant City Manager/ Anthony J. Snipes, City Manager 
City Manager Approval:   
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March XX, 2019 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and Citizens of the City of Missouri City, Texas: 
 
We are pleased to submit to you the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Missouri City, 
Texas, for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018. This report is published to provide the City 
Council, City staff, our citizens, our bondholders, and other interested parties with detailed information 
concerning the financial condition and activities of the City. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the 
presented data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosure, rests with the 
City. We believe the data, as presented, is accurate in all material respects and that it is presented in a 
manner designed to fairly set forth the financial position and results of operations of the City as measured 
by the financial activity of its government-wide financial statements and its various funds, and that all 
disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of the City’s financial 
activity have been included. 
 
Whitley Penn, Certified Public Accountants, has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the City of 
Missouri City’s financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2018. The independent auditor’s 
report is located in the front of the financial section of this report. 
 
Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and 
provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A 
complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it. 

 
MISSION STATEMENT AND ORGANIZATIONAL GOALS 

 
The City’s mission statement is, “To deliver superior customer service to all members of our diverse 
community.” 
 
The City’s Vision is, “To be known and recognized as a superior municipal organization.” 
 
The City follows the Credo, “Together, we excel!” 
 
The City’s overall goal statement is shown below:  
 
A city that has grown to maturity and continues to be a desirable place: 
 

 Create a Great Place to Live: safe, beautiful and active.  
 Maintain a Financially Sound City Government: effective, quality, services and infrastructure.  
 Grow Business Investments in Missouri City: more businesses, more jobs.  
 Develop a High Performance City Team: working together, producing results.  
 Have Quality Development Through Buildout: active centers, neighborhoods, housing, and 

mobility. 
 

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

ii 
 

City staff and leadership are committed to following the City’s Code of Ideals. This Code states that we are 
committed to providing an enhanced level of: 
 

 Service - The act of working diligently to provide the highest benefit, and an outstanding customer 
experience, to our community.  

 
 Professionalism - The demonstration of honesty, integrity, and confidentiality along with the 

knowledge and ability to produce exemplary work products.  
 

 Innovation - The willingness to adapt to changing environments, take appropriate risks, and 
consider new approaches to improve our organization and our community.  

 
 Respect - The practice of treating ourselves and others with thoughtfulness, professionalism, 

confidentiality, and honesty, while considering all viewpoints.  
 

 Integrity - The commitment to honest and ethical actions, and, personal and professional 
excellence.  

 
 Teamwork - The promotion of a collaborative, cooperative, and productive working environment.  

 
 

LOCAL ECONOMY 
 
Missouri City is located approximately 20 miles southwest of downtown Houston, in northeast Fort Bend 
County. A small portion of the City extends into the southwestern section of Harris County, where its 
boundaries adjoin the City of Houston. Approximately 10 percent of the City’s population resides in Harris 
County. A number of toll roads and highway expansions, including Highway 90A, Texas State Highway 6, 
and the Fort Bend Tollway, allow for more improved travel times throughout the region. 
 
According to the most recent Greater Fort Bend County Economic Development Council’s Annual Report, 
Fort Bend County’s population is estimated at 764,828, which is a 3.082% increase over 2017. The 
County’s labor force was 378,830 at September 30, 2018, while Missouri City’s labor force was 45,130 
(12% of the county). With an increase in local and regional business activity, the unemployment in Fort 
Bend County was 3.8 percent as compared to the state average of 3.7 percent and the national average of 
3.6 percent. 
 
While many governmental entities around the nation, state and region are working to keep their bottom 
lines strong in a slowly recovering economy, the City of Missouri City has seen more stable trends. The 
last few budget years have presented challenges for Missouri City similar to most other cities. We have 
been finding alternative solutions to becoming less reliant on property taxes, and we will continue to craft 
strategic plans as a recovery continues to take place.  
 
“SHOW ME” SUCCESS 
 
Missouri City is recognized nationally as one of the Safest Cities in America by Congressional Quarterly 
and one of the Best Places to Live in America by CNN/Money magazine. Economic and residential growth 
has been a part of the City’s story the past five to ten years, and all signs point to continued growth in the 
future. New industries continue to find a home here, producing goods and services in Missouri City for the 
community.  
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“SHOW ME” THE FUTURE 
 
As the economy is expected to improve ever so slightly, the Missouri City community anticipates a better 
year for FY2019. A stable economy in the upcoming year will allow the City to stay on track with capital 
improvement projects and to build and maintain staffing levels. In collaboration with our citizens and staff, 
the City Council is committed to maintaining the community at the level of a Top 100 American City.  
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
As we experience incredible growth, the City continues to provide effective, quality services to our 
community using strong, fiscal accountability. The investments the City has made in the TIRZs, tax 
abatement agreements, and other economic development tools have begun to bear fruit for increased sales 
tax growth and shifting property tax payment percentages from residential to commercial. The full benefit 
to the economic development investments in the city will come in future years, and the City is working 
within its means to build and provide growth for the economy and its citizens and businesses. 
 
The City has always valued its partners during the past decades. As many governmental agencies learned 
in this past recession, the City cannot provide for the needs of the community on its own and must reach 
out to outside organizations, clubs, schools, and others. The City can serve an important role as a facilitator 
for community groups.  
 
The recent success in attracting local and regional retail and warehousing and distribution facilities, as well 
as energy-related electronics and instrumentation industries, have expanded commercial development in all 
corners of the City. Ample open land with adequate utilities exists in nearby key roadways, so a continued 
emphasis on warehouse and distribution facilities is warranted.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 
The Comprehensive Plan and other documents recommended special focus on certain key initiatives or 
target areas. Several business parks have opened such as the Beltway Crossing and Lakeview Business 
Parks as well as new business parks near the Fort Bend Tollway/Highway 6 area. The Texas 
Parkway/Cartwright Revitalization plan has focused on bringing in more commercial tenants and on 
appropriate high-density housing or mixed use projects that can provide the population base to support 
existing and future businesses. By compiling and publicizing Missouri City’s exceptional income and 
educational attainment demographics, identifying high-end retailers and restaurants, promoting office 
construction and professional service providers, encouraging “office-condo” redevelopment, and 
promoting certain destination venues such as the Quail Valley community center and golf course, we 
continue to encourage growth in the business sector. 
 
Priority areas include the extension of the Fort Bend Toll Road and surrounding areas, and utilizing TIRZ 
financing for public improvements. Other long-term planning includes Town Center Development projects 
offering “class A” office space and daytime business growth.  
 
MISSOURI CITY 2029 STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
In October 2014, City Council adopted the Missouri City Strategic 2029 Plan which sets the priorities for 
future budgets. The Plan sets forth direction and focuses on issues that are important to improving Missouri 
City, as well as sets priorities and determines a course for progress. As priorities within the Plan are 
accomplished, new priorities will be identified annually. Most importantly, the Plan includes indicators that 
measure progress for each of the strategic goals. In turn, each indicator of progress must be supported by 
regularly reported data on a quarterly basis. 
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Using these principles to guide the strategic planning process, each Strategic Plan goal is defined by 
prioritized objectives, which in part provides prioritized policy actions for what must be done to realize the 
goal. Each prioritized objective is defined by strategic initiatives that specifically states a desired outcome. 
The objectives and initiatives are intended to serve a three to five-year period. Each of these three to five-
year perspectives are then taken into account when developing annual budget funding programs and 
projects for consideration in the budget process. 
 
In 2019, the City will conduct a “five year refresh” of the Strategic Plan. This will allow for critical updates 
and input of new elected leadership. The result will provide the Council, City staff, and citizens, with an 
updated strategic roadmap for achieving the City Council’s goals and vision for the community. 
 
The 2029 Vision of the City and the goals over the next five year horizon are:  
 

1) Create a great place to live: safe, beautiful and active 
2) Maintain a financially sound city government: Effective / Quality services and infrastructure 
3) Grow Business Investments in Missouri City: More Businesses, more jobs 
4) Develop a high performance team: Working together, producing results  
5) Have a quality development through build-out: Active centers, neighborhoods, housing and 

mobility 
 
1) Strategic Plan Goal Addressed: Create a great place to live: safe, beautiful and active 
 
The City has taken many steps towards achieving various public safety and goals as shown in the annual 
police report and Fire strategic plan.  Innovative strategies, community partnerships and prevention 
programs have helped the Missouri City Police Department reduce crime to record lows citywide in the 
past five years.  One of the Police Department’s new programs- DDACTS (Data-Driven Approach to Crime 
and Traffic Safety) has been essential to achieving crime reduction goals.  The initiative is aimed at reducing 
the incidence of crime, crashes and traffic violations by drawing on the deterrent of highly visible traffic 
enforcement and the knowledge that crime often involves the use of motor vehicles.  The department’s 
public safety initiatives were so effective that many of the worst felonies, classified as Part 1 crimes, 
dropped double digits over the past five years. In the most recent annual report, violent crime decreased 2% 
in calendar year 2017 while property crime decreased 24%. 
 
During FY18, the Missouri City Fire and Rescue Services (MCFRS) Department developed the 
department’s 2017-2022 strategic plan which addresses public safety concerns while increasing innovation 
across the City’s landscape in collaboration with all departments.  To promote an all-inclusive environment, 
members from all levels of the department attended a leadership retreat that afforded them the opportunity 
to share their ideas of how the department should move forward.  It was in that retreat a departmental vision 
and mission was revised.  From there, focus groups convened to brainstorm on how the department can 
become more efficient and better serve the community.  Meetings with internal and external stakeholders, 
along with the City manager’s Office took place to guide operational alignment.  The goals and objectives 
outlined in the plan epitomize the purpose of the High Performing Organization framework that now guides 
the City of Missouri City and is an overall reflection of the dedication the members of the organization 
possess.  The goals within the strategic plan include: 
 

1. Develop members to their highest potential; 

2. Maintain a positive community partnership; 

3. Create an environment conducive to success; 

4. Ensure we are prepared to deliver an effective response; and 

5. Engage our standing as a high-performance organization  
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In February 2019, Missouri City was once again ranked among the top safest municipalities in Texas by the 
Home Security Advisor, an online resource website. The “Show Me City” was listed at No. 42 among all cities 
rated in the report and at No. 5 among cities with a population of 50,000 or more. Data for the rankings was 
compiled utilizing statistics from the 2017 FBI Uniform Crime Report for towns and cities with 10,000 residents 
or more, who recorded their crime data. Missouri City also earned another public safety nod in February 2019 
from Alarms.org, earning the No. 30 rank in a list of 136 Texas cities rated by the official site of the National 
Council for Home Safety and Security—an association of licensed alarm companies, installers, contractors and 
trade groups. 
 
2) Strategic Plan Goal: Maintain a financially sound city government: Effective / Quality services 
and infrastructure 
 
Sound government includes solid financial management as well as effective service delivery and ongoing 
infrastructure maintenance program. Improvements to various parks, funding for flower bed maintenance 
and landscaping needs, athletic facility repairs, and many facility maintenance projects have taken place 
during FY18.  
 
Growth of the City and the ongoing day-to-day IT requirements have created the need for the replacement 
of the City’s storage. In addition, MPLS WAN network upgrades are needed to ensure improvements are 
added to the City’s network. Funding for these projects will be spread out over multiple years and will 
affect all City departments. During FY18, the Core, that supports the primary datacenter at the Emergency 
Operations Center was replaced and upgraded to support the City and its growth. The upgrade involved the 
implementation of new Cisco switching in accordance with industry best standards. 
 
Staff will continue working on the assessment of the City’s existing facilities to determine current space 
utilization, and if current needs are being met, if there are any existing facilities that are being underutilized, 
and how future needs can be met. This assessment will be utilized to assist in making city-wide facility 
decisions for long term maintenance and programming for capital improvements.  During FY18, the City 
Hall, Planning building and Community Center roofs were replaced, as well as various other upgrades to 
these buildings as part of maintenance needs and improvements to address the City Hall complex 
infrastructure needs. 
 
3) Accomplishment for Grow Business Investments in Missouri City goal: More business, more jobs: 
 
Missouri City has seen steady progress in new corporate opportunities, relocations and major project 
expansions. The City has aggressively marketed and sought out investments in the community over the past 
five years that has resulted in new business and job creation. Significant industry and manufacturing activity 
continues in the Beltway Crossing and Lakeview Business Park with approximately 3 million square feet 
of industrial space during this time. Trammell Crow continued development on the Park 8 Ninety Business 
Park located on 127 acres at Beltway 8 and Highway 90A. Many of these projects are included in the Fort 
Bend Economic Development Council’s (FBEDC) annual report. As stated in the FBEDC report, 
NatureBest, a fruit and vegetable processing and distribution business, will be leasing space in a 62,0000 
sf  in the Trammel Crow building representing a base building, build out, and personal property value of 
over $6.5 million.  Nature Best will bring 115 new direct jobs to Missouri City. Comcast will be occupying 
a new 35,000 sf building built by Trammel Crow. The shell, build-out of the building, equipment, 
machinery and inventory will exceed $16 million.  This facility and equipment will support service 
technicians that represent 255 new direct jobs to Missouri City and Fort Bend County. 
 
Added space has also been realized through Beltway Crossing Phase II and Colony Crossing Phase II 
development projects. Best Buy chose Beltway Crossing as the site for its newest e-commerce distribution 
facility.  Located at the southwest corner of the US90A and Beltway 8 interchange, the building will be a 
minimum of 500,000 sf with a total capital investment of over $80 million of land, building, equipment, 
machinery, and inventory. Best Buy will bring 50+ new direct jobs and 100+ contract jobs. Ridge 
Southwest, the development arm of Transwestern, is building Southwest Commerce Center off the 
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southeast corner of the US90A and Beltway 8 interchange.  This new development project is a 477,000 sf 
“large box e-commerce” type distribution facility with a capital investment of over $40 million. This facility 
will support 75 or more new direct jobs.  
 
4) Develop a high performance city team: Working together, producing results: 
 
During FY18, the City Council and administration continued to recognize the need to retain existing 
personnel.  
 
City Council approved the process of conducting a bi-annual review of the City’s compensation 
structure and market competiveness. In FY18, Council approved inclusion of benefits in this bi-
annual review. In FY19, City Council approved the implementation of recommendations from the 
City’s Market Compensation and Benefits Study.   
 
In addition, the City has taken a multitude of steps to build employee engagement, increase 
productivity, and reduce turnover.  This includes: leading the adoption of a new organizational 
mission, vision, values, and credo; increasing the budget of the Employee Recognition Committee 
which has allowed the group to launch several new employee events;  launching a bi-annual Employee 
Engagement Survey;  overseeing development of a week-long Customer Service training which engaged 
nearly 90% of the workforce; creating a quarterly employee newsletter which informs employees of 
organizational happenings, and features employee accomplishments; and, developing an annual employee 
conference. 
 
5) Have quality development through build-out: Active centers, neighborhoods, housing and 
mobility: 
 
An active and growing community creates new community needs such as new land development projects 
and mobility needs. In 2013, the City conducted a condition assessment of the City’s roadway/pavement 
network. This program is one facet that is utilized to identify, develop and recommend roadway that will 
require maintenance, repair, or replacement.  This program has set the benchmark to evaluate the City’s 
roadways once every 3-5 years and is anticipated to be updated in 2019. As part of this program, Adams 
and Ashmont Streets were reconstructed with substantial completion dates of November 2018.  The Adams 
Street project included the reconstruction of the roadway and installation of new sidewalks between Texas 
Parkway and 5th Street. The Ashmont Street project included the reconstruction of a roadway between La 
Quinta and Valley Bend Drive, excluding sidewalks. 
 
An additional project completed during the fiscal year that improved access and mobility was Glenn Lakes 
Bridge Over Oyster Creek.  This project was a complete reconstruction of the bridge and sidewalks between 
East Creek Club Dr. and West Creek Club Dr. 
 
To expand local transportation options, the MCTX Community Connector bus service was launched. 
Metro’s MCTX Community Connector brings personalized, curb-to-destination service to Missouri City 
residents and visitors.  This on-demand service allows individuals to travel anywhere within a zone, 7 days 
a week, from 5 a.m. to 7 p.m., all for $1.25.  The Community Connectors are 12-passenger ARBOC buses 
and are able to fit two wheelchairs.  This service has two anchor points to board the buses.  These anchor 
points are located at the Missouri City Park & Ride at 13849 Fondren Rd. and the Walmart located at 5501 
Highway 6. Reservations are available for scheduled pick-up and drop-off within the set zone. 
  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

vii 
 

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING AND RELEVANT FINANCIAL POLICIES 
 
The City prepares its operating budget for a single year that integrates five-year projected expenditures 
based on the organizational strategies and goals. By integrating the five-year projections, the financial plan 
is better able to accommodate the City’s future needs based on the vision, mission, and goals of the City. 
The financial condition is also achieved by focusing on one of the City’s financial policies to maintain a 
stable tax rate. This is achieved by developing programs to increase other revenue resources such as 
improved economic development efforts for sales and property tax generation.  
 
The established long-range policies regarding financial management seek to maintain a sound financial 
condition, strive to retain the best possible bond ratings, and provide future generations with the ability to 
borrow capital for construction of facilities and street and drainage improvements without severe financial 
burden. The City continues to utilize pay-as-you-go financing of capital improvements where feasible, 
while planning for capital improvements on a five-year planning basis which is updated annually. Bond 
issuances are scheduled so the principal and interest payments produce a declining balance each year so 
that new debt will not adversely affect the stable tax rates. 
 
For the 15 months ending September 30, 2018, the city had a $11 million fund balance in the general fund 
which is the equivalent of 93 days of expenditures and transfers.  
 
Continuing the City’s commitment to maintaining and protecting its strong fiscal position, the City’s 
property tax rate for FY18 increased from $0.56010 to $0.60000 per $100 of valuation.  This tax rate 
exceeded the effective tax rate of $0.54233 per $100 valuation but was less than the rollback tax rate of 
$0.60062 per $100 valuation. The City did not reduced any City services during FY18. The adopted 
property tax rate will allocate .44023 cents for maintenance and operations (M&O) and .15977 cents for 
capital projects (Interest & Sinking). 
 
The City exempts $15,000 of the assessed value of resident homesteads within the city of persons 65 years 
of age or older and $10,000 of the assessed value of residence homesteads of persons, married or unmarried, 
including those living alone, who are under a disability for purposes of payment of disability insurance 
benefits under federal old-age, survivors and disability insurance or its successor, from all ad valorem taxes 
levied by the city. 
 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM 
 
In 2003, the City Council appointed a Citizens Advisory Committee for bond elections to study and identify 
the long-term needs of the City. Subcommittees were formed to review public safety, drainage, 
transportation, facilities and parks and recreation needs. Supported by city staff, these volunteers identified 
costs and made recommendations with priorities to the City Council.  
 

2003 Bond Election (3:1 voter approval) 
 
The 2003 Bond Election of $75 million was approved with a 3:1 voter approval and is scheduled to be sold 
in the following increments: 

 

 
  

Purpose
Date 

Authorized
 Amount 

Authorized 

Amount 
Previously 

Issued FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023
Remaining 

Balance

Parks and Recreation 9/13/2003 15,550,000     15,550,000      -              
Streets, Bridges & Sidewalks 9/13/2003 28,110,000     28,110,000      -              
Public Facilities 9/13/2003 2,110,000       2,110,000        -              
Courts 9/13/2003 1,030,000       1,030,000        -              
Drainage Improvements 9/13/2003 20,000,000     6,737,000        2,550,000     3,600,000     1,750,000   2,300,000   3,063,000   -              
Public Safety 9/13/2003 8,200,000       5,648,000        1,262,000     1,290,000     

Total 75,000,000   59,185,000   3,812,000   3,600,000   1,750,000 2,300,000 3,063,000 1,290,000   
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2008 Parks & Recreation Bond Election (2:1 voter approval) 

 
The 2008 Parks and Recreation Bond Election of $17.5 million was approved with a 2:1 voter approval and 
is scheduled to be sold in the following increments: 

 

 
 

The remaining funding over the next several years will be used for various park improvement projects.  
 

2014 Bond Election (3:1 voter approval) 
 
During the FY14 budget discussions, the City Council appointed a Citizens Advisory Committee for the 
2014 bond election to review long term election needs of the City. On May 10, 2014, a $40 million bond 
issuance was approved by the voters with a 3:1 voter approval. The balance of the 2014 Bond Election at 
the end of FY18 is $25,813,000, of which $8,833,000 is scheduled to be sold in FY19 and $8,810,000 from 
FY20 – FY23.  
 

 
 

Anticipated spending over the next five years in public safety includes the renovation of the fire stations, 
the construction of a new fire station and the purchase of a new fire truck.  Drainage projects include major 
improvements to Cangelosi Detention Facility, Willow Waterhole, and the Mustang Bayou Watershed. 
Transportation projects include Park 8Ninety improvements, Glenn Lakes Lane bridge replacement, 
Independence Boulevard improvement, Waterfall reconstruction and Knight Road extension. Facilities 
projects include the renovation of public safety headquarters and City Hall.  
 
PLANNED FUNDING/SCHEDULING OF BOND ISSUANCES 
 
City staff projects capital expenditure needs for the next five years. Future maintenance and operating costs 
impact on the general operating budget are also considered before projects are approved. When applicable, 
assessments, impact fees, pro rata charges, interest earnings, contributions from developers and other 
agencies are used to leverage project costs. 
 
Total project costs are adjusted yearly to account for all funding sources and contributions. As projects are 
finalized or priorities adjusted, budget estimates are submitted to City Council for approval.  
 
An implementation schedule was developed in phases to meet the following criteria: (1) To assure the sale 
of bonds was scheduled so that the debt service fund would not be impacted by more than a $.04 property 
tax increase overall in both the 2003 and 2008 bond elections; and (2) Financing is provided by the cash 
flow approach, whereby bonds are sold as needed to generate enough cash flow for project commitments 
within the phased schedule. 
 
 
 
For FY19, nearly $50.7 million was estimated to be spent on Capital Improvement Projects. Of this amount, 
$10.9 million (21%) was allocated for transportation projects, $30.9 million (61%) for utility projects, $2.6 
million (5%) for drainage, $340,000 (1%) for parks and recreation projects, $5.4 million (11%) for public 
safety projects and $689,000 (1%) was allocated for facility projects. Revenue sources to fund these projects 

Purpose
Date 

Authorized
 Amount 

Authorized 

Amount 
Previously 

Issued FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023
Remaining 

Balance

Parks and Recreation 11/4/2008 17,500,000     17,160,000      340,000        -              
Total 17,500,000   17,160,000   340,000      -              -            -            -            -              
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were $18.2 million in projected general obligation bond proceeds, $30.9 million in certificates of 
obligations or revenue bonds, and $3.6 million from Metro Funds.  
 
GROUNDWATER REDUCTION PLAN/REGIONAL WATER TREATMENT PLANT  
 
The Fort Bend Subsidence District has set forth a mandate that specific areas in Fort Bend County must 
meet specific groundwater reduction goals.  This mandate requires that groundwater withdrawals must be 
reduced by 30 percent of the total water demand by the end of 2014.  This required reduction mandate will 
be increased to 60 percent of the total water demand by the end of 2025.  The development of this project 
began many years ago when the City contracted with Gulf Coast Water Authority (GCWA) for the purchase 
of surface water rights from the Brazos River. This project brought together 20 separate municipal/water 
entities and consolidated 42 well permits under a single permit. The City and its partners developed a 
Groundwater Reduction Plan (GRP) that has been approved by the Fort Bend Subsidence District to meet 
the goal of reduction of groundwater usage. 
 
A state-of-the art $50 million dollar Regional Water Treatment Plant (RWTP) was constructed on a 40-acre 
site near the Brazos River.  The RWTP, as currently constructed, can treat up to 10 million gallons of water 
per day and was designed to be expanded to a total capacity of 33 million gallons.  Expansion of the RWTP 
will occur as the demand and the groundwater reduction goals dictate.  It is currently anticipated that there 
will be a two-phased expansion to increase to the total capacity.  The first expansion to 20 million gallons 
a day (MGD) is anticipated to happen in 2018 and the final expansion to 33 million gallons (MGD) in 2030.  
Engineering design is currently underway for this planned expansion to 20 MGD capacity.  The RWTP can 
currently store up to 100 million gallons of raw water in its on-site reservoirs by taking surface water from 
the GCWA B-canal, which takes water from the Brazos River.  The RWTP utilizes high-tech membrane 
filters to treat and disinfect the water and send the water to various utility districts. The RWTP operators 
continually test the water on a daily basis to ensure the water meets regulatory standards. 
 
STEEPBANK/FLATBANK WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 
 
Originally built in 1998, the Steep Bank/Flat Bank WWTP completed expansion in FY2011 from a 1.5 
million gallons per day treatment facility to process 3 million gallons per day, and can now serve 9,375 
equivalent single family residences. The cost of the project was funded by utility district capital recovery 
charges.  Currently, a study is underway to determine the ultimate expansion needs of this plant to 
accommodate growth in the service area and to consolidate other treatment facilities in the area to achieve 
operational efficiencies. 
 
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 
The City along with 15 other Municipal Utility Districts (MUDs) implemented a Storm Water Management 
Program designed to address storm water quality issues, typical of a growing residential community. 
Stormwater management is an essential component of community infrastructure and serves to provide both 
enhanced quality of life and protection of the environment. A properly designed system will control and 
carry away runoff from rainfall events while allowing the movement of vehicles to homes and businesses. 
It will also ensure the runoffs will carry the minimum amount of pollutants in the receiving water bodies 
and protect the natural environment. In a time when subsidence issues are forcing communities to go to 
surface water sources to meet our drinking water needs, the protection of water quality becomes even more 
critical. 
 
Missouri City and other small municipalities with populations less than 100,000 are now regulated as Phase 
II municipalities under the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) and Texas Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (TPDES) municipal separate storm sewer systems (MS4) permit 
requirements. 
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COMPONENT UNITS 
 
In June 2000, the Missouri City Council approved the creation of a Development Authority for the City 
that is responsible for management of all Public Improvement Districts (PIDs) and Tax Increment 
Reinvestment Zones (TIRZs) created by the City. One zone was formed to facilitate development of a 
“problem area” that had long been noted for substandard housing and for lack of public infrastructure. 
Another zone was formed so that drainage problems could be handled on a regional basis.  
 
In FY09, the City of Missouri City established the Missouri City Recreation and Leisure Local Government 
Corporation (LGC) to act on behalf of the City of Missouri City, in acquiring, improving, maintaining, or 
operating public parks and other public recreational facilities within the City of Missouri City, including, 
without limitation, golf courses, tennis centers, recreational centers, sports complexes, hikes and bike trails, 
and nature preserves. The LGC was established as an Enterprise Fund providing golf and restaurant services 
to the general public.    
 
Excluded from the reporting entity of the City are various special districts established under state law and 
operating under related regulations for the purpose of providing residential and commercial water, sewer, 
storm, drainage, and flood control services. 
 
In accordance with the implementation of the Texas Property Tax Code, the Fort Bend County Central 
Appraisal District and Harris County Appraisal District provide appraisals of property located within the 
City.  
 
AWARDS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS 
 
The City has continued to receive many awards each year, making it one of the more desirable places to 
live. Such awards include: 
 

• State Comptroller Transparency Stars Award for Traditional Finances and Debt Obligations 

• Scenic City Platinum recognition 2015-2020 

• Recognized in Verizon’s national “Best Small Cities for Small Business” report, ranking No. 42 in a 
list of the nation’s top 50. 

• Texas Court Clerk’s Association Award 

 

• 2018 Governor’s Community Achievement Award, 2nd Place for Cities with population of 65,001 – 
90,000 

• Ranked No. 5 Safest in Texas Cities with Population of 50,000 + by the Home Security Advisor 
• Received Subcontractors USA 2018 Supplier Diversity Champion Award 

• Standard & Poor’s Bond Rating Upgraded to AA 

• Received the 2018 TAMI Award of Excellence 

• Received the 2018 Communicator Awards Excellence 

• Ranked by an online business resource in the Top 100 Places to Start a Business in U.S 
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ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS AND BUDGETING CONTROL 
 
ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS 
 
The City’s accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained on a modified accrual 
basis with the revenues recorded when available and measurable and expenditures recorded when the 
services and goods are received. All liabilities are recorded when incurred. Accounting records for the 
City’s proprietary activities are maintained on the accrual basis.  
 
Consideration of adequate internal accounting controls has been made in designing the City’s accounting 
system. Internal accounting controls, instituted by the Financial Services Department as part of the 
accounting system, are designed to provide reasonable assurances that assets are properly safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, that financial records used in preparation of the financial 
statements are reliable, and that accountability for the City’s assets is maintained. The concept of reasonable 
assurance in relation to internal controls recognizes that the cost of a control process should not exceed the 
benefits derived from the performance of related procedures and that the City’s management must make 
estimates and judgments in evaluating the cost and benefit relationships relating to internal control 
processes and procedures that become a part of the City’s accounting system.  
 
BUDGETARY COMPLIANCE  
 
Because budgetary compliance is significant in managing governmental activities, budgetary compliance 
controls are critical. The objective of these controls is to ensure compliance with legal spending limits in 
annual or project appropriated budgets approved by City Council. The City Charter provides that the City 
Council shall adopt annual or project budgets every fiscal year for all City funds. The budgets are prepared 
and maintained by city management.  
The budgetary process is initiated by a goal setting meeting and budget planning sessions with City Council. 
The City Council reviews the five-year general operating revenue and expenditure projections and 
determines the City’s goals and priorities for the year. Following this meeting, budget revenue estimates 
are made by the Director of Financial Services in March of each year and are amended in early May. The 
estimates are evaluated by the City Manager before inclusion in the total budget. Basic budget requests are 
developed at the department level and submitted to the Financial Services Department for analysis and 
compilation. The basic budget is considered to be the minimum budget that is necessary for the continuation 
of current municipal service levels during the next fiscal year. Supplemental requests for proposed changes 
from the basic budget, except for certain capital items, are then submitted by departments to the Financial 
Services Department.  
 
Finally, the five-year capital requests are submitted for inclusion in the budget. After the City Manager’s 
review and approval, the proposed budget is compiled by the Financial Services Department and submitted 
to the Finances and Services Budget Committee, comprised of three City Council members and the City 
Manager, for consideration, review and changes for final approval by the entire City Council. 
 
BUDGETARY CONTROLS 
 
During the year, expenditure controls are maintained by each department with review of the budget 
provided by the Financial Services Department and overall control exercised by the City Manager. Constant 
review of revenue and expenditure estimates is performed to assure the integrity of the adopted budget and 
to assure funds are available to meet current obligations. As a result of this review, it is possible to exercise 
administrative budgetary controls throughout the year. As demonstrated by the financial statements 
presented in this report, the City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management. 
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OTHER INFORMATION 
 
FISCAL AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Missouri City, for its 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. The Certificate of 
Achievement is a prestigious national award, recognizing conformance with the highest standards for 
preparation of state and local government financial reports.  
 
In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily-readable 
and efficiently-organized comprehensive annual financial report, the contents of which conform to program 
standards. Such comprehensive annual financial reports must satisfy both U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles and applicable legal requirements.  
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Missouri City has received 
a Certificate of Achievement for 36 consecutive years. We believe our current Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and we are 
submitting it to GFOA for review.  
 
In addition, the City received the GFOA’s award for Distinguished Budget Presentation for its annual 
budget document dated July 1, 2017. In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, 
the City’s budget document was judged to be proficient in several categories including policy 
documentation, financial planning and organization.  
 
The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated services of 
the entire staff of the Financial Services Department and the cooperation of all other City departments. We 
like to express our appreciation to all staff who assisted and contributed to the preparation of this report. 
Credit must also be given to the Mayor, City Council, and Audit Committee members for their unfailing 
support for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in the management of the City of Missouri 
City’s finances. 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Missouri City’s finances for 
all those with an interest in the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in 
this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Director of Financial 
Services, 1522 Texas Parkway, Missouri City, TX 77489, phone 281-403-8500, email address 
Allena.Portis@missouricitytx.gov. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Anthony Snipes     Allena Portis  
City Manager     Financial Services Director  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and  
Members of City Council 
City of Missouri City, Texas 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Missouri City, 
Texas (the “City”), as of and for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table 
of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of September 30, 2018, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the fifteen months then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Emphasis of Matter  
 
As discussed in Note 1 and Note 10 to the financial statements, the City adopted the provisions of 
Government Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as of September 30, 2018.  Our opinion is 
not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison, required pension system information and other post-
employment benefit information on pages 7 through15 and 82 through 87 be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information 
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual 
nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and budgetary comparison schedules are 
the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 12, 2019, 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 
 
 
 
Houston, Texas 
March XX, 2019 
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As management of the City of Missouri City, we offer readers of the City of Missouri City’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Missouri City for 
the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018. We encourage readers to consider the information presented 
here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which 
can be found on pages i-xii of this report. 

 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
In fiscal year 2017 (the year-ended June 30, 2017), it was determined that the City would change from a 
June 30 year-end to a September 30 year-end, as of September 30, 2018. As a result of this year-end change, 
fifteen months of financial transactions are being reported in the financial statements and related notes. This 
should be taken into account in comparing revenues and expenses or expenditures for the fifteen months 
ended September 30, 2018 and the year-ended June 30, 2017.  
 

•  The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Missouri City exceeded its liabilities 
and deferred inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fifteen month period by $169 
million (net position). Of this amount, $7.6 million is restricted for special purposes and $7.3 
million (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens 
and creditors. 

 
•  The City’s total net position increased by $3.3 million as a result of operations. Net position 

decreased by $4.8 million as a result of a prior year restatement due to the implantation of GASB 
Standards No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than 
Pensions. 

 
•  The City of Missouri City’s total expenses were $106 million. Program revenues of $45.0 million 

reduced the net cost of the City’s functions to be financed from the City’s general revenues to $64.2 
million.  

 
•  The City of Missouri City’s total debt decreased by $11  million, or 6%, during the current fifteen 

month period.  
 
USING THE FINANCIAL SECTION OF THIS COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report consists of three sections: introductory, financial and 
statistical. As the following chart shows, the financial section of this report has three components - 
management's discussion and analysis (this section), the basic financial statements and required 
supplementary information. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Missouri City’s basic 
financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: (1) 
government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements and (3) notes to the financial 
statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial 
statements themselves. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the City as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies.  
 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, which are the government-wide statements, 
report information about the City as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer the question 
of whether the City is better off this year as compared to last year. These statements include all assets and 
liabilities and are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. All current year revenues and expenses are 
taken into account regardless of when the cash is received or paid.  
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City of Missouri City’s assets, deferred 
outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows with the difference between the three reported as net position. 
Over time, deferred outflows, increases and decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of 
whether the financial position of the City of Missouri City is improving or deteriorating.  
 
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses 
are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., 
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation and sick leave).  
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, finance, police, fire, public 
works, and certain regional wastewater treatment services for local municipal utility districts (non-
enterprise), parks and recreation and planning. The business-type activities of the City include regional 
wastewater treatment services for local municipal utility districts.  
 
The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Missouri City itself (known as the 
primary government), but also legally separate component units for which the City of Missouri City is 
financially accountable. These component units are the Missouri City Development Authority, Tax 
Increment Reinvestment Zones 1, 2 and 3, and Public Improvement Districts 2, 3 and 4. All of these 
component units function for all practical purposes as departments of the City, almost entirely benefiting 
the City, and, therefore, have been included as an integral part (“blended”) of the primary government. 
 
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The fund financial statements provide more information about the City's most significant funds - not the 
City as a whole. The City has two types of funds: 
 
Governmental Funds - Most of the City's basic services are included in governmental funds, which focus 
on (1) how cash and other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the 
balances left at year-end that are available for spending. Consequently, the governmental funds statements 
provide a detailed short-term view that helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer financial 
resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s major programs. Because this information 
does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, additional 
information is provided at the bottom of the governmental funds statement that explains the 
relationship/differences between them.  
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The City maintains 21 individual governmental funds for financial reporting purposes. Information is 
presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for the general fund, the debt service fund, and the 
capital projects fund, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other funds is provided 
in the column labeled “other governmental funds.”  
 
Proprietary Funds - Proprietary Funds include the City’s four enterprise funds that are used to report the 
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. These are the 
Water and Wastewater Utility Fund, the Surface Water Utility Fund, and the Missouri City Recreation and 
Leisure Local Government Corporation (LGC) which is a public, non-profit corporation, and the Solid 
Waste Collections Fund. 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Missouri City Council approved the fiscal year 2018 General Fund operating budget of $60.3 million, 
a 3% percent increase from the previous year. The adopted property tax rate allocated 44.03 cents for 
maintenance and operations (M&O) and 15.97 cents for capital projects (Interest & Sinking). Given the 
recent economic conditions and their effect on the City’s budget, it is of great importance to the City to 
continue the organizational strategies that have been in place for the last several years. The four main 
priorities are: 
 

(1) Retain existing property values 
(2) Increase commercial development 
(3) Create value added services 
(4) Develop an organization for optimum performance 
 

The last three fiscal year budgets have shown improvements in the City’s financial conditions, as Missouri 
City has been fortunate to have avoided many budget impacts that other governmental entities have 
experienced such as layoffs, furloughs or salary reductions, or the actual elimination of certain services or 
programs. 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes can be found on pages 30 - 79 of this report.  
 
OTHER INFORMATION 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the City’s General Fund budget compliance, its progress 
in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees, and condition and maintenance data 
regarding certain portions of the City’s infrastructure. Required supplementary information (RSI) and notes 
to RSI can be found on pages 82 - 87 of this report. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The City’s overall financial position and operations for the past two years are summarized as follows, based 
on the information included in the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the case of 
the City, assets exceeded liabilities by $169 million at year end. The following table reflects the condensed 
Statement of Net Position: 
 
Nearly 91% of the City’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, intangible assets - 
right of way, buildings, machinery, equipment and infrastructure) less any related debt used to acquire those 
assets that are still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital 
assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
Another major portion of the City’s net position represents various restricted resources (5%) that are subject 
to specific external uses (capital projects, debt service, parkland dedication, community development and 
other). 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Current and other assets 60,860$     62,106$     31,130$     30,362$     91,990$     92,468$     
Capital assets, net 200,986 199,697 85,713 85,680 286,699 285,377     
Total Assets 261,846 261,803 116,843 116,042 378,689 377,845

Deferred Outflows 6,423        9,381        1,087        1,151        7,510        10,532      

Other liabilities 9,766 3,478 2,808 2,647 12,574 6,125
Long-term Liabilities 144,678 151,470 57,596 60,340 202,274 211,810
Total Liabilities 154,444 154,948 60,404 62,987 214,848 217,935

Deferred Inflows 2,815        364           -               -               2,815        364           

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 118,437 116,293 35,154      26,490 153,591 142,783     
Restricted 7,626 7,978 -           -           7,626 7,978        
Unrestricted (15,053) (8,399) 22,372      27,716 7,319 19,317      

Total Net Position 111,010$   115,872$   57,526$     54,206$     168,536$   170,078$   
                                                

Activities Activities Total

SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
As of September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Governmental Business-type
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Statement of Activities 
 
The following table provides a summary of the City’s changes in net position: 
 

   Revenues 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
   Program revenues:

   Charges for Services 12,416$      6,640$        27,239$      19,780$      39,655$      26,420$      
   Operating grants and 
       contributions 5,307 3,425 - - 5,307 3,425
   Capital grants and 
       contributions 65 1,063 - 1,893        65 2,956
General revenues:
   Property taxes 41,915 37,284 - - 41,915 37,284
   Sales taxes 11,945 8,236 - - 11,945 8,236
   Other 9,719 6,222 633 12 10,352 6,234

   Total Revenues 81,367 62,870 27,872 21,685 109,239 84,555

 Expenses
General government 14,685 9,481 - - 14,685 9,481
Finance 2,412 1,985 - - 2,412 1,985
Police 19,182 15,755 - - 19,182 15,755
Fire 11,895 9,838 - - 11,895 9,838
Public works 18,407 15,423 - - 18,407 15,423
Parks and recreation 5,735 4,367 - - 5,735 4,367
Planning 4,605 2,030 - - 4,605 2,030
Water and Wastewater Utilities - - 5,657 3,374 5,657 3,374
Surface Water Utility - - 8,708 5,908 8,708 5,908
Missouri City Rec. and Leisure 
LGC - - 5,004 3,949 5,004 3,949
Solid waste collection - - 4,542 3,615 4,542 3,615
Interest on long-term debt 5,115 4,027 - - 5,115 4,027

 Total Expenses 82,036 62,906 23,911 16,846 105,947 79,752

   Increase in Net Position
   Before Transfers (669) (36) 3,961 4,839 3,292 4,803

   Transfers 641 394 (641) (394) - -

Change in Net Position (28) 358 3,320 4,445 3,292 4,803
   Net position, Beginning (as restated 115,872 115,514 54,206 49,761 170,078 165,275

Change in estimate (4,834)       -           -           -           (4,834)       -           

   Net Position, Ending 111,010$    115,872$    57,526$      54,206$      168,536$    170,078$    
            

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018 and the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017

(amounts expressed in thousands)
 

 
The government’s total net position increased by $3.3 million as a result of operations during the current 
fiscal year. Charges for services represented 36% of total revenues, property taxes were 38% of total 
revenues, sales taxes were 11%, other revenues were 9% and capital grants and contributions and operating 
grants and contributions were 5% of total revenues. On the expense side, public works expenses were 17% 
of the total, while police and fire were was 18% and 11% respectively.  Water and wastewater, surface 
water and solid waste collection expenses were 18% of total expenses.  Interest on long term debt was 5% 
of total expenses.   

DRAFT 03.15.19



CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) 
 
 

12 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
 

 Total governmental activities expenses exceeded total revenues by $669 thousand. Transfers in of $641 
thousand from enterprise funds made the net decrease in governmental activities net position of $28 
thousand. 

 Revenues in the governmental activities increased in total by $18.5 million. The City made a fiscal 
year-end change from June 30 to September 30. Because of this, three additional months of revenues 
and expenses are included in the current fiscal year.  

 Total governmental activities expenses increased by $19.1 million. The increase, as mentioned above, 
is related to the additional months included in the fiscal year-end. 

Graphic presentations of selected data from the summary tables follow to assist in the analysis of the City’s 
activities. 
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BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 
 
Business-type activities represent: (1) Water and Wastewater Utilities for the operations of the Northeast 
Oyster Creek (NEOC) service area and the Mustang Bayou service area, (2) Surface Water Utilities as part 
of the Groundwater Reduction Plan (GRP), (3) the Missouri City Recreation and Leisure Local Government 
Corporation (Golf Course), and the (4) Solid Waste Collection Fund. 
 
 The Business-type Net Position increased by $3.3  million during the current fiscal year primarily 

due to the Water and Wastewater Utilities fund increase of million. An increase in investment 
income and charges for services were the primary cause for the increase in net position.  

 
 Business-type revenues and expenses increased by $7.5 million and $7.1 million respectively 

primarily due to the additional months related to the fiscal year-end change. The change in net 
position due to operations was $4.0  million compared to $4.8  million in the prior year.  

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS 
 
As noted earlier, fund accounting is used to demonstrate and ensure compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds - The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information of near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s 
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.  
 
The City’s governmental funds reflect a combined fund balance of $50.5  million at the end of the fifteen 
month period. Of this amount, $38.2 million is restricted for specific purposes, and $10.7 million is 
unassigned and available for day-to-day operations of the City.  
 
The general fund is the main operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, the total 
general fund balance was $11.0 million. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, the City compares 
total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Total fund balance of the general fund represents 19% of total 
general fund expenditures at the end of the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018. 
 
The fund balance of the City’s General Fund decreased $2.6 million during the current fifteen months ended 
September 30, 2018. The key factors related to this increase in financial performance are as follows: 
 

 Total general fund revenues and expenditures increased by $10.4 million and $15.9 million 
respectively. The primary factor in the increase is related to the additional months reported.   
 

The Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $4.8 million, all of which is restricted for the payment 
of debt service. Total expenditures exceeded total revenues (excluding other financing sources and 
transfers) by $127 thousand, as total debt service payments exceeded total revenues.  
 
The Capital Projects Fund has a total fund balance of $17.4 million, which is a decrease of $6.6 million 
from the prior year. This decrease can be attributed primarily to the progress of capital projects.  
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Proprietary Funds - The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.  
 
Total net positions of the Water and Wastewater Utility Fund and the Surface Water Utility Fund amounted 
to $34.3 million and $23.1 million, respectively. The solid Waste Collections Fund had a net position of 
approximately $364 thousand. Other factors concerning the finances of these funds have already been 
addressed in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
The City of Missouri City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type activities as 
of September 30, 2018, amounts to $287 million (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in 
capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, machinery, equipment and infrastructure.  
 

SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL ASSETS
(net of depreciation in thousands)

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Non- Depreciable Assets

Land and Right of Way 14,509$      14,502$      4,761$        4,761$        19,270$     19,263$     
Construction in Prgress 6,830 4,243 1,659 5,601 8,489        9,844        

Other Capital Assets
Infrastructure 117,918 118,747 76,224 72,035 194,142     190,782     
Buildings 34,271 34,841 2,442 2,540 36,713      37,381      
Improvements other than buildings 19,005 19,604 77 23 19,082      19,627      
Machinery and equipment 8,453 7,760 551 720 9,003        8,480        

Totals 200,986$   199,697$   85,713$     85,680$     286,699$   285,377$   

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

 
Construction in progress for the governmental funds ($6.8 million) at year-end represents numerous 
ongoing projects. The Ashmont Reconstruction, Adams Reconstruction and Glenn Lakes Lane Bridge 
Replacement are the three largest projects with $6.6 million of the total 
 
The construction in progress balance for the enterprise funds ($1.7 million) consists primarily projects for 
Mustang Bayou Bayou Wastewater  
 
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 5, of this report. 
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LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total long-term debt outstanding of $169 million. Of this 
amount,$120 million is general obligation debt, Certificates of Obligation is $18 million, Increment 
Revenue bonds is $4 million, Contractual Obligations of $12  million and Capital Leases of $452 thousand. 
Business-type activities debt is comprised of $40.3 million in general obligation debt and $10.6 million in 
Certificates of Obligation. 
 

SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
(in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Activities

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
General Obligation Bonds 79,373$     85,113$     40,317 40,367 119,690$   125,480$   
Certificates of Obligation 7,092 8,031 10,573 12,834 17,665      20,865      
Premium on issuance 7,781 8,276 6,705 7,140 14,486      15,416      
Increment Revenue Bonds 3,575 3,935 -           -           3,575        3,935        
Tax Notes -           275 -           -           -           275           
Capital Leases 452 267 -           -           452           267           
Contractual Obligations 12,285 12,690 -           -           12,285      12,690      
Compensated Absences 1,148 1,773 -           -           1,148        1,773        
Totals 111,706$   120,360$   57,596$     60,341$     169,302$   180,701$   

 
The City’s total debt decreased by $11.4 million (6.3%) from the prior fiscal year. Key factors in this 
decrease was the payment of principal payments on debt in the current fiscal year. 
 
All general obligation debt and certificates of obligation are scheduled to be retired by 2038.  
 
The City has earned an “AA-” rating from Standard and Poor’s, an “Aa2” rating from Moody’s Investor 
Service, and an “AA” rating from Fitch Ratings. 
 
More detailed information about the City's long-term liabilities is presented in Note 6 of this report. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 
 
The unemployment rate for Missouri City as of September 30, 2018, was 4.3 percent. The U.S. and Texas 
unemployment rates for September 30, 2018 were 3.6 percent and 3.7 percent, respectively.  
 
The city is expected to increase its population base over the next 5 years from 74,561 in 2017 to 77,211 in 
2022 which as a 3.6% increase. Fort Bend County’s population is 764,828 in 2017 and it is expected to 
grow to 788,146 by 2020 which is a 3% increase.   
 
In the upcoming fiscal year of 2019, the City is expecting to maintain an adequate fund balance of 23.2%, 
which is well within the policy of 20%-30% of annual expenditures. The total General Fund budget for 
FY19 is $47.9 million, with the majority of the spending for police and fire services of $21.8 million or 
47% of the total budget. 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Missouri City’s finances for 
all those with an interest in the City’s finances. Questions concerning this report or requests for additional 
financial information should be directed to Allena Portis, Director of Financial Services, City Hall, 1522 
Texas Parkway, Missouri City, TX 77489, telephone (281) 403-8614; or, for general City information, visit 
the City’s website at www.missouricitytx.gov.  
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Exhibit A-1

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2018

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type 
Activities Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26,028,455$       6,726,249$           32,754,704$         
Investments 26,620,288         21,201,581           47,821,869           
Receivables 6,119,229 3,668,176 9,787,405             
Internal balances 564,572              (564,572)              -                       
Inventories 288,559              98,354                  386,913                
Prepaid items 1,239,071 -                       1,239,071             
Capital assets not being depreciated: 21,338,255 6,419,792 27,758,047           
Capital assets net of depreciation: 179,647,276 79,293,336 258,940,612         

Total Assets 261,845,705       116,842,916         378,688,621         

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount on refunding 2,724,641 1,086,986 3,811,627             
Deferred outflows - OPEB 649,651 -                       649,651                
Deferred outflows - Pension 3,048,645 -                       3,048,645             

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 6,422,937           1,086,986             7,509,923             

Liabilities
 Accounts payable and other current liabilities 8,707,572           2,167,784             10,875,356           
 Accrued interest payable 1,057,986           640,341                1,698,327             
 Non-current liabilities:

Due within one year 8,093,606           2,700,712             10,794,318           
Due in more than one year 103,612,182       54,895,134           158,507,316         
Net pension liability 25,395,364 -                       25,395,364           
Total OPEB liability 7,577,040 -                       7,577,040             

Total Liabilities 154,443,750       60,403,971           214,847,721         

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred pension amounts 2,814,589 -                       2,814,589             

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,814,589           -                       2,814,589             

Net Position
Net Investment in capital assets 118,436,911       35,154,398           153,591,309         
Restricted for:

Law enforcement 1,485,736           -                       1,485,736             
Debt service 4,095,209           -                       4,095,209             
Parkland dedication 1,589,824           -                       1,589,824             
Other purposes 455,610              -                       455,610                

Unrestricted (15,052,987) 22,371,533 7,318,546             
Total Net Position 111,010,303$     57,525,931$         168,536,234$       

                                                                         
See Notes to Financial Statements  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

20 

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

Program Revenues

Expenses
Charges for 

Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contribution
s

Capital 
Grants and 

Contributions
Functions/Programs
   Governmental activities:
       General government 14,685,034$       33,651$         25,110$         64,550$         
       Finance 2,412,310          -               -               -                
       Police 19,181,580        1,861,538      770,229         -                
       Fire 11,895,168        2,815,435      189,934         -                
       Public works 18,407,432        615,359         4,022,823      -                
       Parks and recreation 5,734,819          496,122         -               -                
       Planning 4,605,253          6,594,391      298,818         -                
       Interest on long-term debt 5,114,943 -               -               -                
Total governmental activities 82,036,539        12,416,496    5,306,914      64,550           
   Business-type activities:

Water and Wastewater Utilitie 5,656,670          5,077,365      -               -                
Surface Water Treatment 8,707,936          13,058,646    -               -                
Solid waste collections 4,541,814          4,391,811      -               -                
Golf Course 5,004,014          4,711,428      -               -                

Total business-type activities 23,910,434        27,239,250    -               -                
Total Primary Government 105,946,973$     39,655,746$   5,306,914$    64,550$         

General revenues:
Property taxes
Sales taxes
Franchise taxes
Hotel occupancy taxes
Unrestricted Investment earnings
Other
Gain on sale of capital asset

Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers
Change in Net Position

Net Position, beginning 
Prior period adjustment

Net Position, Ending

See Notes to Financial Statements  
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Exhibit A-2

Net (Expense) Revenues and
Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Governmental 
Activities

Business-
type 

Activities Total

(14,561,723)$      -$             (14,561,723)$   
(2,412,310)        -               (2,412,310)      

(16,549,813)      -               (16,549,813)    
(8,889,799)        -               (8,889,799)      

(13,769,250)      -               (13,769,250)    
(5,238,697)        -               (5,238,697)      
2,287,956         -               2,287,956       

(5,114,943)        -               (5,114,943)      
(64,248,579)      -               (64,248,579)    

-                  (579,305)       (579,305)        
-                  4,350,710      4,350,710       
-                  (150,003)       (150,003)        
-                  (292,586)       (292,586)        
-                  3,328,816      3,328,816       

(64,248,579) 3,328,816 (60,919,763)

41,915,313 -               41,915,313     
11,944,882        -               11,944,882     
6,948,121         -               6,948,121       

270,487            -               270,487         
1,120,334         503,153        1,623,487       
1,200,103 129,107        1,329,210       

180,217 -               180,217         
640,811            (640,811)       -                

64,220,268 (8,551) 64,211,717
(28,311) 3,320,265 3,291,954

115,872,182 54,205,666 170,077,848
(4,833,568) -               (4,833,568)

111,010,303$     57,525,931$   168,536,234$   
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Exhibit A-3

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

September 30, 2018

General Fund General Debt Service
Capital 

Projects

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
Assets

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,581,106$        2,964,784$     16,643,538$   3,839,027$       26,028,455$        
Investments 8,140,951          1,846,944       4,491,107       12,141,286       26,620,288         
Receivables 4,627,571 341,967 743,870 408,101           6,121,509           
Due from other funds 613,808             -                -                -                 613,808              
Inventories 286,279             -                -                -                 286,279              
Prepaid items -                   -                -                1,239,071        1,239,071           

 Total Assets 16,249,715$        5,153,695$      21,878,515$    17,627,485$      60,909,410$         

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,613,508$        25,194$         4,473,693$     49,018$           6,161,413$         
Salaries payable 1,219,487 -                -                10,303             1,229,790           
Due to other funds -                   -                -                49,236             49,236               
Due to others 1,338,628          -                -                2,435              1,341,063           

 Total Liabilities 4,171,623          25,194           4,473,693       110,992           8,781,502           

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenues 1,064,048 346,881 -                229,999           1,640,928           
Total Deferred Inflows of 
Resources 1,064,048          346,881         -                229,999           1,640,928           

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:

Inventory 286,279             -                -                -                 286,279              
Prepaid items -                   -                -                1,239,071        1,239,071           

Restricted for:
Law enforcement -                   -                -                1,485,736        1,485,736           
Street improvements -                   -                17,404,822 -                 17,404,822         
Facilities construction -                   -                -                455,610           455,610              
Debt service -                   4,781,620 -                -                 4,781,620           
Parkland dedication -                   -                -                1,589,824        1,589,824           
Community Development -                   -                12,516,253       12,516,253         

Unassigned: 10,727,765 ‐                      ‐                      -                 10,727,765         
Total Fund Balances 11,014,044        4,781,620       17,404,822     17,286,494       50,486,980         

Total Liabilities, Deferred 
Inflow of Resources  and 
Fund Balances 16,249,715$        5,153,695$      21,878,515$    17,627,485$      60,909,410$         

                                                                                              
See Notes to Financial Statements.  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

23 

Exhibit A-4

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

Total fund balance, governmental funds 50,486,980$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different 
because:
   Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, 
    are not reported in the funds. 200,985,531

Long-term liabilities and deferred outflows of resources relating to bonds  payable are not due 
and payable in the current period and are therefore not reported in the funds:

General Obligation Bonds (79,373,116)       
Certificates of Obligation (7,091,924)         
Increment Revenue Bonds (3,575,000)         
Capital Leases (451,648)            
Issuance Premiums (7,780,811)         
Deferred charges on refunding 2,724,641
Contractual Obligations (12,285,000)       
OPEB Obligation (7,577,040)         
Deferred outflow of resources related to OPEB 649,651
Compensated Absences (1,148,289)         
Accrued interest payable (1,033,292)         
Deferred outflow of resources related to pension 3,048,645
Net pension liability (25,395,364)       
Deferred inflows of resources related to pension (2,814,589)         

Revenues that do not provide current financial resources are reported as unavailable in the 
funds. 1,640,928

Net Position of Governmental Activities 111,010,303$     

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Exhibit A-5

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

General Fund Debt Service
Capital 

Projects

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
Revenues

Taxes:
Property taxes and penalties 25,915,311$   9,391,249$     -$              6,460,519$       41,767,079$     
Other taxes 11,944,882 -                4,480,114 270,487           16,695,483       

Licenses and permits 3,533,623 -                -                -                  3,533,623        
Fines and forfeitures 1,190,545 -                -                108,790           1,299,335        
Franchise taxes 5,357,742 -                -                227,689           5,585,431        
Intergovernmental revenues 3,162,582 -                4,022,823 743,792           7,929,197        
Other revenue 1,769,590 -                72,200 618,837           2,460,627        
Charges for services 492,721 -                -                277,887           770,608           
Investment income 229,484 143,029 464,972 282,849           1,120,334        

Total revenues 53,596,480     9,534,278       9,040,109       8,990,850         81,161,717       

Expenditures
Current:

General government 11,661,776 -                -                2,257,130         13,918,906       
Finance 2,209,722 -                -                -                  2,209,722        
Police 16,730,375 -                -                479,719           17,210,094       
Fire 10,918,160 -                -                13,020             10,931,180       
Public works 9,952,634 -                -                -                  9,952,634        
Parks and recreation 3,587,829 -                -                166,577           3,754,406        
Planning 1,732,489 -                2,383,255       361,158           4,476,902        

Capital outlay 1,118,954       -                12,675,736     -                  13,794,690       
Debt service:

Principal 105,430         6,381,116       -                1,400,000         7,886,546        
Interest and fiscal charges -                3,280,655       -                1,266,173         4,546,828        

Total expenditures 58,017,369     9,661,771       15,058,991     5,943,777         88,681,908       
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (4,420,889)      (127,493)        (6,018,882)     3,047,073         (7,520,191)       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 2,111,958 -                1,546,495 1,292,468         4,950,921        
Transfers (to) other funds (258,804)        -                (2,125,000)     (1,926,306)       (4,310,110)       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,853,154       -                (578,505)        (633,838)          640,811           

 Net Change in Fund Balance (2,567,735)      (127,493)        (6,597,387)     2,413,235         (6,879,380)       

Fund Balances, Beginning 13,581,779     4,909,113       24,002,209     14,873,259       57,366,360       

Fund Balances, Ending 11,014,044$     4,781,620$      17,404,822$    17,286,494$      50,486,980$      

See Notes to Financial Statements  
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Exhibit A-6

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balance-total governmental funds. (6,879,380)$      

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful 
lives and reported as depreciation expense. Capital outlay ($15,364,237) in the funds 
exceeded depreciation ($14,395,805) by this amount: 968,429           

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources 
are not reported as revenue in the funds. 205,709

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 
current financial resources are therefore are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds.  This adjustment reflects the net change in: 

Interest payable (890,803)          
The payment of long-term debt 7,481,546
Total OPEB liability (923,257)          
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 649,651           
Compensated absences payable 623,734           
Deferred charges on refunding (172,699)          
Amortization of bond premiums 495,387           
Net pension liability 3,893,956         
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions (3,434,832)       
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (2,450,752)       
Net effect of contractual obligations 405,000           

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (28,311)$          

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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Exhibit A-7
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY  FUNDS

September 30, 2018

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and 
Wastewater 

Utilities

Surface 
Water 

Treatment
Solid Waste 
Collections Golf Course Total

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,172,177$       4,531,633$     -$            22,439$        6,726,249$       
Investments 6,869,762        14,331,819     -              -              21,201,581       
Other receivables, net of allowance 993,571 1,381,673       1,271,522 21,410 3,668,176        
Due from other funds 6,157,696 -                -              -              6,157,696        
Inventories -                 -                -              98,354 98,354             

Total Current Assets 16,193,206       20,245,125     1,271,522     142,203        37,852,056       

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital assets:

 Land and Right of Way 532,013 4,228,813 -              72,993 4,833,819        
Construction in progress 749,053           909,913         -              -              1,658,966        
Buildings and improvements 4,072,845 -                -              -              4,072,845        
Equipment 2,553,864 11,997           -              5,898 2,571,759        
Infrastructure 24,190,357 62,271,796     -              -              86,462,153       

Less accumulated depreciation (6,814,958)       (7,054,609)      -              (16,847)        (13,886,414)     
Total Noncurrent Assets 25,283,174       60,367,910     -              62,044         85,713,128       
Total Assets 41,476,380       80,613,035     1,271,522     204,247        123,565,184     

Deferred Outflows
Deferred amount on refunding 411,214           675,772         -              -              1,086,986        
Total Deferred Outflows 411,214           675,772         -              -              1,086,986        

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and other current 
liabilities 851,330 467,992 565,833 247,658 2,132,813        
Accrued salaries payable -                 -                -              34,971         34,971             
Accrued interest payable 207,566 432,775 -              -              640,341           
Due to other funds -                 6,157,696 341,997 222,575 6,722,268        
Bonds Payable 440,154           1,865,000       -              -              2,305,154        

Total Current Liabilities 1,499,050        8,923,463       907,830        505,204        11,835,547       

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bond Premium Payable 801,043 5,904,843       -              -              6,705,886        
Bonds Payable 5,244,806 43,340,000     -              -              48,584,806       

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 6,045,849        49,244,843     -              -              55,290,692       
Total Liabilities 7,544,899        58,168,306     907,830        505,204        67,126,239       

Net Position
Net Investment in capital assets 19,000,819       9,933,839       -              62,044         28,996,702       
Unrestricted 15,341,876 13,186,662 363,692 (363,001) 28,529,229       

Total Net Position 34,342,695$     23,120,501$   363,692$      (300,957)$     57,525,931$     

                                                                                     
See Notes to Financial Statements  
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Exhibit  A-8
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and 
Wastewater 

Utilities
Surface Water 

Treatment
Solid Waste 
Collections Golf Course Total

Operating Revenues
   Charges for services 5,077,365$   13,058,646$      4,391,811$   4,711,428$   27,239,250$   
Total Operating Revenues 5,077,365     13,058,646        4,391,811     4,711,428     27,239,250     

Operating Expenses
Personnel -              -                  -              1,363,969 1,363,969       
Commodities 48,268 2,228,001 577 1,010,287 3,287,133       
Repairs and maintenance 1,032,335 899,310 -              195,705 2,127,350       
Contractual services 3,283,005 1,804,300 4,541,237 121,384 9,749,926       
Other services -              -                  -              2,301,720 2,301,720       
Depreciation 862,539 1,765,918 -              10,949 2,639,406       

 Total Operating Expenses 5,226,147     6,697,529         4,541,814     5,004,014     21,469,504     

 Operating Income (Loss) (148,782)      6,361,117         (150,003)      (292,586)      5,769,746       

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment earnings (loss) 200,571 299,546 3,036 -              503,153         
Interest expense (430,523)      (2,010,407)        -              -              (2,440,930)     
Miscellaneous 11,637 110,170 -              7,300 129,107         

Total Non-Operating Revenue (218,315)      (1,600,691)        3,036           7,300           (1,808,670)     

Income (Loss) Before 
Contributions and Transfers (367,097)      4,760,426         (146,967)      (285,286)      3,961,076       

Contributions and Transfers
    Transfers from other funds 6,451,948 -                  -              -              6,451,948       
    Transfer (to) other funds (113,333)      (6,959,426)        (20,000)        -              (7,092,759)     
Total Contributions and 
Transfers 6,338,615     (6,959,426)        (20,000)        -              (640,811)        

Change in Net Position 5,971,518     (2,199,000)        (166,967)      (285,286)      3,320,265       

Net position, beginning 28,371,177   25,319,501        530,659        (15,671)        54,205,666     

Net position, Ending 34,342,695$   23,120,501$       363,692$       (300,957)$      57,525,931$    

See Notes to Financial Statements
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Exhibit A-9 (Page 1 of 2)

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and 
Wastewater 

Utilities 
Fund

Surface 
Water 

Utility Fund

Solid Waste 
Collections 

Fund
Golf Course 

Fund

Total 
Enterprise 

Funds

 Cash Flows from Operating Activities
 Receipts from customers and users 4,746,893$   11,684,987$  4,174,978$   4,714,150$   25,321,008$   
 Disbursed for personnel services -              -              -              (1,346,574)    (1,346,574)
 Disbursed for good and services to suppliers (4,174,629) (5,587,349) (4,539,222) (3,520,044) (17,821,244)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 572,264 6,097,638 (364,244) (152,468) 6,153,190
                                                                             

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
 Transfer (to) from other funds 180,919 (801,730) 321,997 206,542 (92,272)

 Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financial 
Activities 180,919 (801,730) 321,997 206,542 (92,272)

Cash Flows from Capital & Related Financing Activities
Insurance & misc. reimbursements 11,637         110,170        -              7,300           129,107         
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,416,400)    (1,182,800)    -              (72,993)        (2,672,193)      
Principal (paid) received on capital debt (420,460)      (1,890,000)    -              -              (2,310,460)      
Interest paid on capital debt (261,415)      (2,012,901)    -              -              (2,274,316)      

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital & Related 
Financing Activities (2,086,638)    (4,975,531)    -              (65,693)        (7,127,862)      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
 Interest Received 200,571 299,546 3,036 -              503,153
Sale (purchase) of investments (3,178,366)    (7,711,531)    14,253         -              (10,875,644)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (2,977,795) (7,411,985) 17,289 -              (10,372,491)

 Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents (4,311,250) (7,091,608) (24,958) (11,619) (11,439,435)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 6,483,427 11,623,241 24,958 34,058 18,165,684
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending 2,172,177$   4,531,633$   -$                22,439$        6,726,249$     

                                                                             

See Notes to Financial Statements  
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Exhibit A-9 (Page 2 of 2)

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to

Water and 
Wastewater 

Utilities Fund
Surface Water 

Utility Fund

Solid Waste 
Collections 

Fund
Golf Course 

Fund
Total Enterprise 

Funds

  Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
      Operating income (loss) (148,782)$     6,361,117$   (150,003)$     (292,586)$     5,769,746$     
  Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
    used by operating activities:
    Depreciation 862,539        1,765,918     -              10,949         2,639,406       
    (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (330,472)      (1,373,659)    (216,833)      2,722           (1,918,242)      
    (Increase) in inventories -              -              -              38,257         38,257           
    Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable 188,979        (655,738)      2,592           70,795         (393,372)        
    (Decrease) increase in salaries payable -              -              -              17,395         17,395           
Total adjustments 721,046        (263,479)      (214,241)      140,118        383,444         

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 572,264$      6,097,638$   (364,244)$     (152,468)$     6,153,190$     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The City of Missouri City, Texas, was incorporated March 12, 1956, and adopted the Home Rule Charter 
November 23, 1974, pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas. The City operates under a "Council-
Manager" form of government and provides services authorized by its charter. Presently, these services 
include police and fire protection, drainage, building and code inspection, planning, zoning, engineering, 
street repair and maintenance, park maintenance, recreational activities for citizens, and general 
administrative services.  
 
The financial statements of the City of Missouri City have been prepared in conformity with U.S. Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting 
and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the City's accounting policies are described 
below:  
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 
The City is an independent political subdivision of the State of Texas, governed by an elected mayor and 
six-member council, and is considered a primary government. As required by generally accepted accounting 
principles, these basic financial statements have been prepared based on considerations regarding the 
potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations, or functions as part of the City's financial reporting 
entity.  
 
The basic financial statements for the City of Missouri City include all activities, organizations and 
functions for which the City is financially accountable. The criteria considered include (1) whether the 
organization is part of the City’s legal entity or (2) whether the City appoints the voting majority of the 
organization’s governing body and either (a) the City is able to impose its will on the organization or (b) 
there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial 
burdens on the City. In addition, an organization may be financially dependent on the City and also included 
in its reporting entity. Those criteria are based upon and are consistent with those set forth in the 
Codification of Governmental Accounting Standards, Section 2100, Defining the Financial Reporting 
Entity.  
 
The Missouri City Development Authority and Tax Incremental Reinvestment Zones 1, 2 and 3, and Public 
Improvement Districts 2 and 4 have been included in the City’s financial reporting. These legally separate 
entities are blended component units and are included as Special Revenue Funds of the City. Additionally, 
as the City is considered a primary government for financial reporting purposes, its activities are not 
considered a part of any other governmental or other type of reporting entity. The City maintains all 
accounting records for the blended component units.  
 
The Missouri City Recreation and Leisure Local Government Corporation (LGC) is a proprietary fund that 
also is a blended component unit that operates from user fees. Specifically, all the members of Missouri 
City’s governing body (City Council) serve as board members of the Development Authority Board, both 
Public Improvement Districts and the Missouri City Recreation and Leisure LGC. The City Council 
appoints the majority of the directors of the Tax Incremental Reinvestment Zones. The City Council 
appoints six of the eight board members for TIRZ 1, and seven of the eleven board members for TIRZ 3. 
Both boards are substantively the same as the City. Contributions to the TIRZs, in the form of incremental 
tax revenues, come from the City and Fort Bend County, whom can each appoint one board member. The 
sole purpose of TIRZ 1, 2 and 3 is to finance capital assets that will be owned by the City.  
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS Exhibit A-10 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
A. Reporting Entity (continued) 
 
Fort Bend Independent School District elected not to join the TIRZs. The boards of the zones/districts make 
recommendations to City Council regarding the administration of the zones/districts. The boards are not 
authorized to issue bonds, impose taxes or assess fees. The City approves the tax rate, and assumes 
obligation to finance deficits in the zones on a short-term basis until incremental improvements are made 
and the City Manager is authorized to hire consultants for the zones. The above-mentioned component 
units’ services (providing infrastructure that will be owned by the City) almost exclusively benefit the City 
in that the development of these areas (economically depressed areas) increases the tax base, resulting in 
additional revenue to the City. Separate financial statements are not issued for the above-mentioned blended 
component units. 
 
The City developed a regional wastewater treatment master plan to achieve economies of scale by requiring 
utility districts and new developments to share wastewater treatment plants. The plant is contractually 
operated by the Quail Valley Municipal Utility. 
 
Presently, the City has nineteen (19) active municipal utility districts providing water and sewer services 
within the City. These districts are not considered a part of the City’s legal entity since they are not fiscally 
dependent on the City, have taxing powers and set their own budgets.  

 
B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash 
flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 
met. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific 
function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants 
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements or a particular 
function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues.  
 
Fund financial statements of the City are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a separate 
accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
constitute its assets, liabilities, deferred inflows, fund equity, revenues, and expenditure/expenses.  
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (continued) 
 
Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period 
are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues in the current fiscal 
period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered 
to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when the cash is received by the government. 
 
The government reports the following major Governmental Funds: 
 

General Fund 
The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund. The General Fund is used to account 
for all financial transactions not properly includable in other funds. The principal sources of 
revenues of the general fund are property taxes, sales and use taxes, franchise fees, permit fees, and 
fines and forfeitures. Expenditures are for general government, finance, public safety, public works, 
park maintenance and recreation, planning and zoning, and engineering. 
 
Debt Service Fund 
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal 
and interest on long-term general obligation debt of governmental funds. The primary source of 
revenue for debt service is property taxes. 
 
Capital Projects Fund 
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the proceeds from the sale of general obligation 
bonds and certificates of obligation and expenditures of these proceeds for the acquisition of capital 
assets as designated in each bond issue. It also includes the proceeds of the one-half (1/2) of the 
one cent sales tax collected by the Harris County Metropolitan Transit Authority (METRO) within 
the City. The funds are to be used for transportation projects as defined by the agreement. 

 
The government reports the following major Proprietary Funds: 
 

Water and Wastewater Utilities Fund 
The Water and Wastewater Utility Fund accounts for the provision of water and wastewater 
services to the citizens of the City of Missouri City who are not serviced by any municipal utility 
district (MUD). The two main areas included at this time in the Water and Wastewater Utilities 
Fund are Northeast Oyster Creek (NEOC) Service area and the Mustang Bayou (MB) Service area 
for both water and wastewater treatment, and wastewater treatment for Hightower High School. 
All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including 
administration, operations, maintenance, financing, debt service, billing and collection. 
 
Surface Water Utility Fund 
The Surface Water Utility Fund is used to account for the construction and operation of a surface 
water treatment plant to service the City (including twenty-two municipal utility districts and other 
special water districts).  The surface water treatment plant is an integral part of the area’s 
Groundwater Reduction Plan.  A plan entered into by these districts legally obligates each 
participant for the repayment of the construction debt. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (continued) 

 
Solid Waste Collections Fund 
 
The Solid Waste Collections Fund is used to account for user fees and expenses related to the City’s 
garbage collection activities. 
 
Leisure Local Government Corporation (LGC) 
 
This fund assists the City in providing a first class system of parks and recreational facilities to 
promote a healthful environment within the City of Missouri City. It is used to account for the 
operations of the golf course. 

 
C. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts in a demand account, money market mutual fund, petty cash 
funds, Texas Local Government Investment Pool (TexPool), the Local Government Investment 
Cooperative (LOGIC), Texas CLASS and short-term investments with maturities of three months or less. 
Both TexPool and LOGIC are external investment pools established by interlocal contracts under state law. 
Investments and securities are booked at cost and amortized monthly to reach par at maturity. Investments 
are generally held to maturity. 
 
The City pools cash resources of its various funds to facilitate the management of cash. Cash applicable to 
a particular fund is readily identifiable. The balance in the pooled cash accounts is available to meet current 
operating requirements. Cash in excess of current requirements is invested in various bearing securities and 
disclosed as part of the City's investments. The City pools excess cash of the various individual funds to 
purchase investments. These pooled investments are reported in the combined balance sheet as investments 
in each fund based on each fund's share of the pooled investments. Interest income is allocated to each 
respective individual fund monthly based on its respective share of pooled investments. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments consist primarily of U.S. Government Agency Securities and Municipal Bonds which are stated 
at fair value based on the hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The net 
increase or decrease in the fair value of investments is netted with investment income in local sources of 
revenue. Investments are generally held to maturity.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
D. Receivables 
 
The City records certain revenues billed to other governmental agencies, residents, and others on a monthly 
basis. Adjustments to revenue were made for uncollectible accounts as needed.  
 
E. Interfund Receivables and Payables 
 
During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds for specified purposes. These 
receivables and payables are, for the most part, eliminated from the government-wide Statement of Net 
Position and are classified as "due from other funds" or "due to other funds" in the fund financial statements. 
 
F. Inventory 
 
Inventory, which consists of gasoline and parts for use in the City's vehicles, is stated at cost (first-in, first-
out method). Expenditures are recognized as the fuel and parts are used. 
 
G. Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets, other than infrastructure items, are 
defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year. Infrastructure is not held to the $5,000 limit; all infrastructure is capitalized 
regardless of cost. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value. 
 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 
assets lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects 
are constructed. Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities 
is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. No interest expense in the City’s 
enterprise fund was capitalized in the fiscal year. 
 
Land is not depreciated. Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets of the primary government, as 
well as the component units, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful lives: 
 

Asset Description                                Years 
Building & Building Improvements         10-50 
Land Improvements                                  5-20 
Infrastructure                                        10-65 
Machinery & Equipment                           4-25 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
H. Compensated Absences 
 
Compensated absences, which include unpaid vacation and other employee benefit amounts, are 
accumulated during employment. Amounts accumulated are paid to employees upon separation from City 
service. At September 30, 2018, all amounts accrued for compensated absences have been included as 
liabilities in the Government-wide Statement of Net Position and as designated fund balances in the fund 
that pays the unpaid vacation and other employee benefits. Employees earn vacation leave at the rate of ten 
days per year from one to five years and up to sixteen days per year for service of fifteen years or more. 
Police and Fire employees, as defined under Section 142.010 of the Texas Local Government Code, receive 
fifteen days’ vacation after one full year of employment and sixteen days’ vacation for fifteen years and 
over. 
 
The maximum accrual an employee may maintain is two times the annual rate. City employees receive 
eleven paid holidays per year. Employees may be paid or may elect to receive compensatory time off for 
the holiday. Overtime is earned at one and one-half times the regular rate of pay. Employees may be paid 
or receive compensatory time. The maximum accrual for holiday and overtime is 120 hours. 
 
I. Long-Term Obligations 
 
The government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund type fund financial statements report long-
term debt and other long-term obligations as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-
type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred 
and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net 
of applicable bond premiums or discounts. 
 
The fund financial statements report bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during 
the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources at par. Premiums 
(discounts) associated with the debt are reported as other financing uses.  
 
J. Fund Balance 
 
As of these financial statements, the City has adopted GASB Statement No.54, which redefined how fund 
balances of the governmental funds are presented in the financial statements.  Fund balances are classified 
as follows:  
 

Nonspendable – Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in a spendable form or 
because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of the City Charter, City 
Code, State or Federal laws, or externally imposed conditions by grantors or creditors. 

 
Committed – Amounts than can be used only for specific purposes determined by ordinances passed 
by City Council, the City’s highest level of decision making authority. This includes the budget reserve 
account. Commitments may be modified or rescinded only through ordinances approved by City 
Council. 
 
Assigned – Amounts that are intended to be used for a specific purposes, but do not meet the definition 
of restricted or committed fund balance.  Under the City’s policy, amounts can be assigned by the City 
Manager.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
J. Fund Balance (continued) 

 
Unassigned – All amounts not included in other spendable classifications. The general fund is the 
only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance. However, if other governmental funds, if 
expenditures for specific purposes exceed restricted, committed or assigned fund balances, a negative 
assigned fund balance may be reported in that fund.  

 
The details of the fund balances are included in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet (page 19). As 
discussed in Note 1, restricted funds are used first as appropriate. Assigned Funds are reduced to the extent 
that expenditure authority has been budgeted by Council or the assignment has been changed by the City 
Manager. As of September 30, 2018, no amounts have been assigned. When an expenditure is incurred for 
which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the City considers amounts to have 
been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless 
City Council has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. 
 
K. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources are reported in the statement of financial position as described 
below: 
 
A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of a government’s net assets (a decrease in assets in 
excess of any related decrease in liabilities or an increase in liabilities in excess of any related increase in 
assets) by the government that is applicable to a future reporting period. The City has three items that 
qualify for reporting in this category: 
 

 Deferred outflows of resources for refunding - Reported in the government-wide statement of net 
position, this deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of 
refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter 
of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

 
 Deferred outflows of resources for pension – Reported in the government wide financial statement 

of net position, this deferred outflow results from pension plan contributions made after the 
measurement date of the net pension liability and the results of differences between expected and 
actual actuarial experiences. The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the next fiscal year. The other pension related deferred outflows will be 
amortized over the expected remaining service lives of all employees (active and inactive 
employees) that are provided with pensions through the pension plan which is currently 5.88 
years. 
 

 Deferred outflows of resources for other post-employment benefits (OPEB) – Reported in the 
government wide financial statement of net position, this deferred outflow results from OPEB plan 
contributions made after the measurement date of the net OPEB liability and the results of                  
1) differences between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments and 2) changes 
in the City’s proportional share of OPEB liabilities. The deferred outflows of resources related to 
OPEB resulting from City contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized 
as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the next fiscal year. The deferred outflows resulting 
from differences between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments will be 
amortized over a closed five year period. The remaining OPEB related deferred outflows will be 
amortized over the expected remaining service lives of all employees (active and inactive 
employees) that are provided with OPEB through the plan. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
K. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (continued) 
 
A deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of a government’s net assets (an increase in assets in 
excess of any related increase in liabilities or a decrease in liabilities in excess of any related decrease 
in assets) by the government that is applicable to a future reporting period. The City has three items 
that qualify for reporting in this category: 

 
 Deferred inflows of resources for unavailable revenues - Reported only in the governmental funds 

balance sheet, unavailable revenues from property taxes arise under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period 
that the amounts become available. 

 
 Deferred inflows of resources for pension – Reported in the government wide financial statement 

of net position, these deferred inflows result primarily from of differences between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan investments. These amounts will be amortized over a closed five 
year period. 
 

 Deferred inflows of resources for other post-employment benefits (OPEB) – Reported in the 
government wide financial statement of net position, these deferred inflows result primarily from 
1) changes in actuarial assumptions and 2) differences between expected and actual actuarial 
experiences. These OPEB related deferred inflows will be amortized over the expected remaining 
service lives of all employees (active and inactive employees) that are provided with OPEB 
through the plan. 

 
L. Pensions 
 
Pensions. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the Fiduciary Net Position 
of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions to/deductions from TMRS’s Fiduciary 
Net Position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan 
contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when 
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
M. Other Post-Employment Benefits.   
 
The City participates in a defined benefit group-term life insurance plan, both for current and retired 
employees, administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). The City reports the total 
liability for this plan on the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. The City 
administers other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”) through a defined benefit medical plan to provide 
coverage for eligible retirees and their dependents. Information regarding the City’s total OPEB liability is 
obtained from TMRS through a report prepared for the City by TMRS’ consulting actuary, Gabriel Roeder 
Smith & Company, in compliance with GASB Statement No. 75.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
K. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (continued) 
 
N. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenditures, and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates 
 
O. Restricted Resources 
 
The City applies restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted 
and unrestricted net position are available. 
 
P. Restricted Assets  
 
The Enterprise Funds have restricted certain cash and investments for customer deposits, reserve and 
emergency expenditures, capital improvements, cash restricted for others, and revenue bond debt service. 
Because of certain bond covenants, the Enterprise Fund is required to maintain prescribed amounts of 
resources that can be used only to service outstanding debt. The proceeds from debt are restricted for use 
on capital projects.  
 
Q. Comparative Data and Reclassifications 
 
Comparative data for the prior year have been presented in certain sections of the accompanying financial 
statements in order to provide an understanding of changes in the City’s financial position and operations. 
Also, certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been reclassified in order to be consistent with 
current year’s presentation. 
 
R. Implementation of New Standards 
 
In the current fiscal year, the City implemented the following new standards. The applicable provisions of 
these new standards are summarized below. Implementation is reflected in the financial statements and the 
notes to the financial statements. 
 

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 
Pensions. This Statement replaces the requirements of Statement 45 and requires governments to report 
a liability on the face of the financial statements for the OPEB that they provide. Statement 75 requires 
governments in all types of OPEB plans to present more extensive note disclosures and required 
supplementary information (RSI) about their OPEB liabilities. Among the new note disclosures is a 
description of the effect on the reported OPEB liability of using a discount rate and a healthcare cost 
trend rate that are one percentage point higher and one percentage point lower than assumed by the 
government. The new RSI includes a schedule showing the causes of increases and decreases in the 
OPEB liability and a schedule comparing a government’s actual OPEB contributions to its contribution 
requirements.  
 
GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. This Statement establishes accounting and financial reporting 
requirements for blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and 
postemployment benefits (pensions and other postemployment benefits).  
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments 
 
The City's cash and investments are classified as cash and cash equivalents and investments. The cash and 
cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions, short-term investments in 
external public funds investment pool accounts (LOGIC), Texas CLASS and (TexPool), and other 
investments. The investments, which have maturities at purchase date of greater than three months, consist 
mainly of U.S. government securities, municipal bonds, certificates of deposit. For better management of 
cash, the City pools the cash, based on the City's needs, into deposits in the bank, in short-term investments 
with LOGIC and TexPool, or in longer term investments in commercial paper or U.S. Government 
securities. However, each fund's balance of cash and investments is maintained in the books of the City.  
 
The City's deposits are maintained under the provisions of a depository contract as a cash concentration 
account for use by all City funds. All receipts of City funds are deposited into a money market mutual fund 
account, and the depository bank transfers funds to a separate demand deposit checking account as checks 
are posted. The City bids out excess funds as necessary and awards the bid to the institution or agency 
offering the highest interest rate. Brokers/dealers must complete a questionnaire, submit financial 
statements, and be approved by City Council before being accepted to bid on investments of excess City 
funds.  
 
For better management of cash, the City pools the cash based on the City’s needs, into either deposits in 
the bank accounts, in short-term investments with local government investment pools, certificates of 
deposit, or a money market mutual fund or longer-term investments in U.S. Government securities or 
municipal bonds. However, each fund’s balance of cash and investments is maintained separately in the 
records of the City. 
 
The City had the following cash and investments at year-end:  
 

Fair Value

Fund
Total Cash 

and Investments

General Fund 2,581,106$       6,726,249$         
Debt Service Fund 2,964,784 1,846,944
Capital Projects Fund 16,643,538 4,491,107           
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 3,839,027        13,555,988         

Total Governmental Activities 26,028,455$     26,620,288$        

Water and Wastewater Utilities Fund 2,172,177$       6,869,762$         
Surface Water Treatment Fund 4,531,633 14,331,819         
Golf Course Fund (nonmajor) 22,439 -                    

Total Business-type Activities 6,726,249$       21,201,581$        

Total Primary Government 32,754,704$     47,821,869$        
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (continued) 
 
For deposits, this is the risk that, in the event of bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned to it. 
The City does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. Collateral is required for all bank deposits 
at 100 percent of deposits not covered by federal depository insurance. Obligations that may be pledged as 
collateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies and obligations of the State and its 
municipalities and school districts. Collateral pledged to cover the City's deposits is required to be held in  
the City's name by the trust department of a bank other than the pledging bank (the City's agent). Collateral 
securities must bear a Baa-1 or better rating to qualify for use in securing uninsured depository balances.  
 
The City’s total cash deposits, including certificates of deposit at September 30, 2018 were entirely covered 
by collateralized securities held in the City’s name or by federal deposit insurance.  
 
At September 30, 2018, the City invested in a governmental money market mutual fund (Wells Fargo 
Government Money Market Fund) as part of its investment strategy. This investment is accomplished 
through daily sweeps of excess cash by the City’s custodial bank into a bank sponsored program, short-
term investment fund. This fund is a custodial bank-sponsored commingled fund that is invested in short-
term U.S. government agency and treasury debt and repurchase agreements.  
 
At year-end, the Fund was rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. 
 
Investment Policy 
 
The Council has adopted a written investment policy regarding the investment of its funds as defined by 
the Public Funds Investment Act (Chapter 2256 Texas Government Code). The investments of the City are 
in compliance with the Council's investment policies. It is the City's policy to restrict its investments to 
direct obligations of the U.S. Government, commercial paper, fully collateralized certificates of deposit and 
other interest-bearing time and demand deposits, and other instruments and investments in public funds 
investment pools such as the Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC), Texas CLASS and 
Texas Local Government Investment Pool (TexPool). 
 
The City’s investments are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices at year-end, in accordance 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The City categorizes fair value measurements of its 
investments based on the hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value 
hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an assets fair value: 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other 
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The City’s local government 
investment pools are recorded at amortized costs permitted by GASB Statement No. 79 Certain Investment 
Pools and Pool Participants. 
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (continued) 
 
Investment Policy (continued) 
 
Under provisions of state and local statutes, the City's investment policies, and provisions of the City's 
depository contracts with the area financial institutions, the City is authorized to place available deposits 
and investments in the following: 
 

1.  Obligations of the U.S., its agencies, and instrumentalities. 

2.  Direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies. 

3.  Collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United 
States, the underlying security for which is guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United 
States. 

4.  Other obligations, the principal and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or 
backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Texas or the United States or their agencies and 
instrumentalities.  

5.  Obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state having been 
rated as to the investment quality by a nationally recognized investment firm and having received a 
rating of not less than A or its equivalent. 

6.  Bonds issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the State of Israel. 

7.  Certificates of Deposit issued by state and national banks or a savings bank, state or federal credit union 
domiciled in this state that are: 

-  guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or its successor or the National 
Credit Union or its successor; 

-  secured by obligations that are described in 1-6 above, which are intended to include all direct 
federal agency or instrumentality issued mortgage backed securities that have a fair value of not 
less than the principal amount of the certificates or in any other manner and amount provided by 
law for deposits of the investing entities. 

8.  Fully collateralized repurchase agreements having a defined termination date, secured by obligations 
of the United States, its agencies or instrumentalities, pledged with a third party selected or approved 
by the political entity, and placed through a primary government securities dealer, as defined by the 
Federal Reserve, or through a financial institution domiciled in the State of Texas. 

9.  Prime domestic banker's acceptances, defined as a banker's acceptance with a remaining term of 270 
days or less, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank or its parent are rated at least A-1 or P-
1 or equivalent by at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency. 

10.  Commercial paper that is rated at least A-1 or P-1 or the equivalent by either (a) two nationally 
recognized credit agencies or (b) one nationally recognized credit rating agency if the paper is fully 
secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a U.S. or State bank. 

11. SEC-registered no-load money market mutual fund (MMMF), with a dollar weighted average portfolio 
maturity of 90 days or less, includes in their investment objectives the maintenance of a stable net asset 
value of $1 for each share. 
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (continued) 
 
Investment Policy (continued) 
 
12. SEC-registered, no-load money market mutual funds (MMMF) that have an average weighted maturity 

of less than two years, invests exclusively in obligations described above and are continuously rated as 
to investment quality by at least one nationally recognized investment rating firm of no less than AAA 
or its equivalent. 

13. Authorized guaranteed investment contracts that have a defined termination date, are secured by 
obligations described in 1-6 above, are pledged to the City and deposited with the City or with a third 
party selected and approved by the City. 

14. Authorized government investment pools that invest solely in obligations of any of the above 
investments provided that the pools are rated no lower than AAA or AAAm or an equivalent by at least 
one nationally recognized rating service.  

 
All significant legal and contractual provisions for investments were complied with during the year. 
 
Interest Rate Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
As of September 30, 2018, the City had the following deposits and investments subject to interest rate risk 
disclosure under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles: 

 

Fair Value

Weighted 
Average 

Maturity (Days)
Percentage of  

Portfolio

Cash deposits 318,449$         0 0%
Governmental Mutual Fund 8,679,986        0 11%
Public Funds Investment Pools:

TexasClass 18,638,488       13 23%
TexPool 203,426           0 0%
LOGIC 4,914,355        2 6%

U.S. Government Agency Notes:
Federal National Mortage Association (FNMA) 2,962,013        255 4%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp (FHLMC) 1,539,776        113 2%
Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA) 433,462           8 1%

Municipal Bonds 6,446,110        32 8%
Certificates of Deposit 36,440,508       101 45%
Total Portfolio 80,576,573       524

 
 
The U.S. government securities were purchased through a broker/dealer and held for safekeeping by the 
City's depository bank (independent agent), registered for the account of Missouri City. The City generally 
holds all investments to maturity date. The City had no derivative investment products during the current 
year. The City did not have any reverse repurchase or repurchase agreement transactions. Investment 
interest is adjusted for changes in the fair values of U.S. government agencies.  
 
In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines in fair values by limiting 
the weighted average maturity of its investment portfolio to less than two years to meet cash requirements 
for ongoing operations.  
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (continued) 
 
Local Government Investment Pools (LGIP) 
 
The Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) the Texas Local Government Investment Pool 
(TexPool) and the Texas Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System (Texas CLASS) amounts are not 
evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form and, accordingly, are not categorized by 
risk. However, the nature of these funds requires that they be used to purchase investments authorized by 
the Public Funds Investment Act. The primary objective of these investment pools is to provide a safe 
environment for the placement of public funds in short-term, fully collateralized investments. The City 
considers the holdings in LOGIC, TexPool and Texas CLASS to be redeemable within one day although 
the weighted average maturity days is higher as shown above.  Weighted average maturity is determined 
and defined by the nature of the deposits in the pools, not by the account holder. 
 
The State of Texas exercises oversight responsibility over TexPool in accordance with state laws and the 
Public Funds Investment Act. TexPool is an external pool and operates in a manner consistent with SEC 
Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. It is rated AAAm by Standard Poor’s, the highest rating 
a local government investment pool can achieve.Net position is reported using amortized cost rather than 
fair value in computing share price. In accordance with TexPool management policies, the net asset value 
will always be between .9965 and 1.0035. Accordingly, the fair value of the City’s position in the pool is 
the same as the value of the shares in the pool.  
 
If at any time, pursuant to its daily calculation, the deviation between the amortized cost and market-
determined values per share of the Portfolio's assets exceeds $0.0030, the Co-Administrators shall promptly 
notify the Board. In the event that the deviation from amortized cost per share exceeds $0.0040, the Board 
shall promptly hold a meeting and the Co-Administrators shall take action as directed by the Board. 
However, absent contrary instructions, the Co-Administrators shall promptly sell portfolio holdings, or will 
take such other action as the Board, or their delegates, may direct to eliminate or reduce to the extent 
reasonably practicable any dilution or unfair results to existing Unit holders. 
 
LOGIC is a local government investment fund that operates as a money market fund under the Public Funds 
Investment Act, which requires that it maintain an AAA, AAA-m or equivalent rating from a nationally 
recognized rating service.  LOGIC is rated AAA and operates in full compliance with the PFIA and rating 
agency requirements.  As a local government investment fund, LOGIC is exempted from SEC registration 
and the requirements of Rule 2a-7 pertaining to registered money market funds; however, consistent with 
Rule 2a-7, it seeks to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per unit.  Pursuant to an action by the Board 
of Directors, LOGIC began reporting its investments using the fair value method, rather than at their 
amortized cost, on August 31, 2010. Currently, fixed income securities (other than short term investments 
maturing in less than 61 days) are valued each day based on readily available market quotations received 
from independent or affiliated pricing services or third party broker dealers.  The net asset value per unit of 
LOGIC is calculated each business day by adding the fair value of LOGIC’s securities and other assets, 
deducting accrued expenses and arrearages, and dividing by the number of units outstanding.  As previously 
noted, it is the intention of LOGIC to maintain a net asset value of $1.00.   
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (continued) 
 
Local Government Investment Pools (LGIP) 
 
Texas CLASS is a Participant controlled trust created in accordance with Texas Public Funds Investment 
Act, Section 2256.0017 and was established for participating Texas municipalities. Texas CLASS is 
available for investment by Texas municipalities, school districts and public agencies. Texas CLASS 
operates like a money market mutual fund with each share valued at $1. Texas CLASS is rated AAAm by 
S&P. Securities are valued at the most recent market price as obtained from one or more market makers for 
such securities. Securities transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Interest income is recognized 
on the accrual basis and includes amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. Distributions from 
net investment income are declared and paid daily. Texas CLASS’s policy is to distribute net realized and 
capital gains, if any, in a reasonable time frame after the gain is realized.  
 
Credit Risk - Investments 
 
In accordance with its investment policy, the City minimized credit risk losses due to default of a security 
issuer or backer, by limiting investments to the safest types of securities. All of the City’s U.S. Agency 
investments are insured, registered, or the City’s agent holds the securities in the City’s name; therefore the 
City is not exposed to custodial credit risk.  
 
Adjustment to Investment’s Fair Value 
 
The City categorizes fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the 
valuation inputs used to measure assets fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. The City’s local government investment pools are recorded at amortized costs as 
permitted by GASB Statement No. 79, Certain Investment Pools and Pool Participants.  
 
Investments’ fair value measurements are as follows at September 30, 2018: 
 

Fair Value Measurements Using

Investment Fair Value
Level 1 
inputs

Level 2 
inputs

Level 3 
inputs

U.S. Government Agency Notes:
Federal National Mortage Association (FNMA) 2,962,013$ 2,962,013   
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp (FHLMC) 1,539,776   1,539,776   
Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA) 433,462     433,462     

Municipal Bonds 6,446,110   6,446,110   
Certificates of Deposit 36,440,508 36,440,508 
Total Investments 47,821,869 36,440,508 11,381,361 -            
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Note 3 - Property Taxes 
 
Property taxes for each year are levied on approximately August 1 and are due upon receipt of the City's 
tax bill and become delinquent on February 1 of the following year. On January 1 of each year, a tax lien 
is attached to the property to secure the payment of all taxes, penalties, and interest. The lien exists in the 
favor of the State and each taxing unit. Appraised values are established by the Fort Bend Central Appraisal 
District (CAD), through procedures established by the Texas Legislature. The County bills and collects 
property taxes on behalf of the City, and remits payment to the City on a frequent basis. The City bills its 
tax levies as soon as possible after certification of taxable values by the CAD, which is approximately 
August 1 as noted above. Additional tax bills are sent in December, February, April, and July (which 
includes a surcharge for legal costs associated with collection). In August, delinquent taxes are turned over 
to the City's delinquent tax attorneys for final collection or other disposition. 
 
The City is permitted, by Article XI, Section 5, of the State of Texas Constitution and the City Charter, to 
levy property taxes up to $2.50 per $100 of assessed valuation for general governmental services. Within 
the $2.50 maximum levy, there is no legal limit upon the amount of property taxes, which can be levied for 
debt service. The property tax rates to finance general governmental services and debt service for the 2017-
2018 fiscal year were $.44023 and $.15977 respectively, per $100 of assessed valuation. The 2017 tax year 
assessed value and total tax levy as adjusted through September 30, 2018, were $6,670,648,840 and 
$40,023,893, respectively.  
 
Note 4 - Receivables 
 
Receivables as of year-end for the government’s individual major and non-major funds, and internal service 
funds, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:  

 

General 
Fund

Debt Service 
Fund 

Capital 
Projects 

Fund
Non-major 

Funds
Governmental 

Activities

Receivables
Property taxes 896,120$      358,592$      -$             -$             1,254,712$       
Sales tax 2,907,641      -               -               -               2,907,641         
Municipal court 1,385,424      -               -               33,965 1,419,389         
Other 710,152        -               -               79,895 790,047            
Due from other governments 408,729        -               743,870        292,257 1,444,856         

Gross receivable 6,308,066      358,592        743,870        406,117        7,816,645         
Less: Allowance for uncollectible (1,680,495)    (16,625)         -               1,984            (1,695,136)        
Net Receivables. 3,908,965$    341,967$      743,870$      408,101 6,121,509$       

 
 

Water and 
Wastewater 

Utilities

Surface 
Water 

Treatment
Solid Waste 
Collections Golf Course

Business-Type 
Activities

Receivables
Other -$             -$             1,271,522$    21,410$        1,292,932$       
Due from other governments (MUD) 993,571 1,381,673      -               -               2,375,244         

Gross receivable 993,571        1,381,673      1,271,522      21,410          3,668,176         
Net Receivables. 993,571$      1,381,673$    1,271,522$    21,410$        3,668,176$       
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Note 5 - Capital Assets 
 
The following is a summary of changes in capital assets for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018:    
 

Balance   Balance

June 30, 2017 Additions

 
Retirements 

and 
Transfers September 30, 2018

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land 11,787,967$      6,740$            -$             11,794,707$              
Intangibles - Right of Way 2,713,521 -                -               2,713,521                 
Construction in progress 4,243,031 5,717,885       (3,130,889)    6,830,027                 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 18,744,519       5,724,625       (3,130,889)    21,338,255                

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and Building Improvements 44,983,489       127,120          605,936        45,716,545                
Improvements other than buildings 32,424,981       1,580,235       -               34,005,216                
Infrastructure 212,788,765      5,313,542       2,524,953      220,627,260              
Machinery and equipment 20,448,259       2,970,145       (664,349)       22,754,055                

Total capital assets being depreciated 310,645,494      9,991,042       2,466,540      323,103,076              

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and Building Improvements (10,142,591)      (1,302,646)      -               (11,445,237)              
Improvements other than buildings (12,821,043)      (2,179,144)      -               (15,000,187)              
Infrastructure (94,042,036)      (8,667,356)      -               (102,709,392)             
Machinery and equipment (12,687,747)      (2,246,659)      633,422        (14,300,984)              

Total accumulated depreciation (129,693,417)    (14,395,805)    633,422        (143,455,800)             

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 180,952,077      (4,404,763)      3,099,962      179,647,276              

Governmental activities capital assets, net 199,696,596$    1,319,862$      (30,927)$       200,985,531$            

Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land 4,741,426$       -$               -$             4,741,426$                
Intangibles - Right of Way 19,400 -                -               19,400
Construction in progress 5,600,589         595,118          (4,536,741)    1,658,966

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 10,361,415       595,118          (4,536,741)    6,419,792                 

Business-type assets, being depreciated
Buildings and Building Improvements 3,946,598 -                -               3,946,598
Improvements other than buildings 126,247            72,993            -               199,240                    
Infrastructure 79,921,330       2,004,082       4,536,741      86,462,153                
Machinery and equipment 2,571,759 -                -               2,571,759

Total capital assets being depreciated 86,565,934       2,077,075       4,536,741      93,179,750                

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and Building Improvements (1,406,029)        (98,680)          -               (1,504,709)                
Improvements other than buildings (103,604)          (18,871)          -               (122,475)                   
Infrastructure (7,885,960)        (2,352,030)      -               (10,237,990)              
Machinery and equipment (1,851,415)        (169,825)         -               (2,021,240)                

Total accumulated depreciation (11,247,008)      (2,639,406)      -               (13,886,414)              

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 75,318,926       (562,331)         4,536,741      79,293,336                

Business Type activities capital assets, net 85,680,341$      32,787$          -$             85,713,128$              
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Note 5 - Capital Assets (continued) 
 
Depreciation expense for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018 was distributed as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities:
General government 351,247$        
Finance 141,404
Police 835,840
Fire 764,629
Public works 10,235,877
Parks and recreation 2,033,686
Planning 33,122

Total Governmental Activities 14,395,805$    

Business-type Activities:
Water and Wastewater 862,539$        
Surface Water 1,765,918       
Golf Course 10,949            

Total Business-type Activities 2,639,406$      

 
Constructions in progress for the various projects and remaining commitments under these construction 
contracts as of September 30, 2018, are: 
 

Total Remaining 

Governmental Activities in Progress Commitment

Lower Oyster Creek 193,541$      -$             
Fire Station 4 Renovations 20,738 -               
Ashmont Reconstruction 1,646,746 5,000            
Adams Reconstruction 2,414,292 11,076          
Glenn Lakes Lane Bridge Replacement 2,554,710 3,923            

6,830,027$   19,999$        

Business-type Activities

Mustang Bayou Wastewater Treatment Plant 1.5 MGD 749,053$      -$             
Regional Water Treatment Plant - 60 Acre Reservoir 153,625       -               
Regional Water Treatment Plant - B Canal Pump Station 52,135         -               
Regional Water Treatment Plant Phase II 704,153       921,533        

1,658,966$   921,533$      
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Note 6 - Long-Term Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations 
 
The City issues general obligation bonds and certificates of obligation for the purpose of fulfilling its capital 
improvements programs. General obligation bonds and certificates of obligation are for both governmental 
and business-type activities. The bonds are reported in the Proprietary Funds only if they are expected to 
be repaid from proprietary revenues. The general long-term bonds, certificates of obligation and assumed 
obligations are paid through the Debt Service Fund from tax revenues. Generally these programs are 
classified in several broad areas: public safety, drainage, transportation, parks, facilities and utility 
construction.  
 
Changes in Long-term Liabilities 
 
Long-term liability activity for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018, is as follows: 
 

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions September 30, 2018 One Year
Governmental Activities:

Bonds payable:
General Obligation Bonds 85,113,225$      -$              (5,740,109)$     79,373,116$                 5,432,922$   
Certificates of Obligation 8,031,355 -                (939,431)         7,091,924                     576,924
Increment Revenue Bonds 3,935,000 -                (360,000)         3,575,000                     365,000
Plus:

Issuance premiums 8,276,198 -                (495,387)         7,780,811                     492,961       
Total bonds payable 105,355,778      -                (7,534,927)       97,820,851                   6,867,807     

Tax Notes 275,000 -                (275,000)         -                              -              
Capital Leases 267,221 351,433         (167,006)         451,648                       141,627
Contractual Obligations 12,690,000 -                (405,000)         12,285,000                   420,000
Compensated absences 1,772,023 40,438           (664,172)         1,148,289                     664,172       

Total Governmental Activities 120,360,022$    391,871$        (9,046,105)$     111,705,788$                8,093,606$   

Business-type Activities:
Certificates of obligation 12,833,645 -$              (2,260,569)$     10,573,076$                 878,076
General Obligation Bonds 40,366,776 -                (49,892)           40,316,884                   1,427,078
Plus:

Issuance premiums 7,140,553 -                (434,667)         6,705,886                     395,558       
Total Business-type Activities 60,340,974$      -$              (2,745,128)$     57,595,846$                 2,700,712$   

 
Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's governmental activities are not due and payable in the current 
period and, accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities in the governmental funds. 
 
Compensated absences generally are paid by the General Fund for the governmental activities. Net pension 
obligation is liquidated by the general fund. 
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Note 6 - Long-Term Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations (continued) 
 
The following is a summary of general obligation bonds, certificates of obligation, increment contract 
revenue bonds, tax notes and capital leases outstanding as of September 30, 2018: 
 

Interest Debt
Matures Rate (% ) Outstanding

Governmental Activities:
General Obligation Bonds

Series 2010 Permanent Improvement Bonds 9,500,000$     2029 3.0 - 4.125 6,355,000$        
Series 2010A Permanent Improvement Bonds 9,405,000       2038 2.00 - 4.00 6,110,000          
Series 2012 Permanent Improvement Bonds 1,400,000       2032 2.25 - 3.75 980,000             
Series 2013 Refunding bonds 8,293,500       2026 2.00 - 4.00 7,267,500          
Series 2014 Permanent Improvement Bonds 1,740,000       2033 3.125 - 3.75 1,455,000          
Series 2014 Permanent Improvement Refunding bonds 3,381,584       2024 2.00 - 3.00 1,293,080          
Series 2015 Permanent Improvement Bonds 8,600,000       2034 3.00 - 3.25 7,530,000          
Series 2016 Permanent Improvement Bonds 3,080,000       2035 3.00 - 3.25 2,785,000          
Series 2016 Refunding bonds 32,787,537     2038 2.0 - 5.0 31,877,536        
Series 2017 14,445,000     2037 3.0 - 5.0 13,720,000        

Total General Obligation Bonds 79,373,116        

Certificates of Obligation
Series 2008A Certificates of Obligation 6,044,440       2029 2.75 - 5.0 276,924             
Series 2010A Certificates of Obligation 6,235,000       2038 2.00 - 4.00 5,545,000          
Series 2010B Certificates of Obligation 1,660,000       2021 .964 - 3.876 440,000             
Series 2014 Certificates of Obligation 990,000          2033 1-3.75 830,000             

Total Certificates of Obligation 7,091,924          

Increment Contract Revenue Bonds
Series 2015 Increment Revenue Refunding Bonds 4,600,000       2027 2.22 3,575,000          

Total Increment Contract Revenue Bonds 3,575,000          

Capital Leases
Fire Truck 350,891          2023 3.13 205,644             
IT Equipment 351,434          2021 0.00 246,004             

Total Capital Leases 451,648             
Total Governmental Activities 90,491,688$      

Business-type Activities:
Certificates of Obligation

Series 2008A certificates of obligation 8,470,560       2029 2.75 - 5.00 388,076$           
Series 2009B certificates of obligation 46,595,000     2035 2.00 - 5.00 -                         
Series 2014A certificates of obligation 4,995,000       2024 2.00 - 3.125 4,240,000          
Series 2016A Certificates of Obligation 4,025,000       2036 2.0 - 3.0 2,240,000          
Series 2016 Certificates of Obligation 2,475,000       2035 3.0 3,705,000          

Total Certificates of Obligation 10,573,076        

General Obligation Bonds
Series 2013 Refunding bonds 436,500          2026 2.00 - 4.00 382,500             
Series 2014 Permanent Improvement Refunding Bonds 148,416          2024 2.00 - 3.00 56,921               
Series 2016 Refunding 39,877,463        

Total General Obligation Bonds 40,316,884        

Total Business-type Activities 50,889,960$      

Original
Series Issue
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Note 6 - Long-Term Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations (continued) 
 

 
The annual requirements to amortize all general obligation bonds outstanding as of September 30, 2018, 
are as follows: 

 
Governmental Business-type

Year Ending Activities Activities
September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 5,432,922$                  3,258,950$               1,427,079$       1,895,031$             
2020 5,917,414                    3,058,364                 1,847,586         1,838,748               
2021 6,060,575                    2,811,384                 1,929,426         1,747,656               
2022 6,312,360                    2,581,010                 2,032,640         1,657,929               

2023 - 2027 32,453,882                  8,595,776                 11,656,117       6,677,928               
2028 - 2032 15,855,963                  2,653,088                 13,094,036       3,559,167               
2033 - 2037 7,005,000                    665,714                    8,330,000         720,000                  
2038 - 2042 335,000                       10,888                      -                   -                          

79,373,116$                23,635,174$             40,316,884$     18,096,459$           

 
The annual requirements to amortize all certificates of obligation outstanding as of September 30, 2018, 
are as follows: 
 

Governmental Business-type
Year Ending Activities Activities

September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 576,924$                     270,465$                  878,076$          292,664$                
2020 310,000                       256,119                    500,000            274,052                  
2021 315,000                       246,233                    510,000            263,002                  
2022 325,000                       234,638                    520,000            250,002                  

2023 - 2027 1,840,000                    978,113                    2,835,000         1,028,732               
2028 - 2032 1,865,000                    606,563                    3,230,000         614,022                  
2033 - 2037 1,610,000                    252,313                    2,100,000         136,168                  
2038 - 2042 250,000                       10,625                      -                   -                          

7,091,924$                  2,855,069$               10,573,076$     2,858,642$             

 
The annual requirements to amortize all increment revenue bonds outstanding as of September 30, 2018, 
are as follows: 

Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest

2019 365,000$                     79,365$                    
2020 370,000                       71,262                      
2021 380,000                       63,048                      
2022 385,000                       54,612                      

2023 - 2027 2,075,000                    139,971                    
3,575,000$                  408,258$                  

Governmental
Activities
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Note 6 - Long-Term Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations (continued) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize all capital leases outstanding as of September 30, 2018, are as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending
September 30, Payments Interest

2019 141,626$                  6,531$              
2020 145,854                    5,304                
2021 76,834                      4,038                
2022 42,994                      2,734                
2023 44,340                      1,388                

451,648$                  19,995$            

Governmental Activities

 
There is million available in the Debt Service Fund to service the above obligations. 
 
The principal and interest on the general obligation bonds, certificates of obligation, increment revenue 
bonds, tax notes and capital leases are payable solely from property taxes levied on taxable property within 
the City of Missouri City, Texas.  The City is in compliance with all significant limitations and restrictions 
contained in the various bond ordinances. 
 
The annual requirements to amortize certain contractual obligations of the City to Sienna Plantation 
Management District (see Note 16) are as follows: 
 

Governmental
Year Ending Activities

September 30, Principal Interest
2019 420,000$                     571,258$                  
2020 440,000                       556,528                    
2021 470,000                       540,275                    
2022 490,000                       522,120                    
2023 515,000                       502,380                    

2024 - 2028 3,030,000                    2,141,740                 
2029 - 2033 3,965,000                    1,321,535                 
2034 - 2036 2,955,000                    288,230                    

12,285,000$                6,444,066$               
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Note 6 - Long-Term Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations (continued) 
 
Federal Tax Compliance (Arbitrage) for Long-term Debt  
 
In accordance with provisions of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”), the City’s long-term debt obligations must meet certain minimum criteria to be considered and 
continue to be considered “tax exempt.” This “tax exempt” status means that interest income earned by 
purchasers of the City’s long-term debt instruments is not subject to federal income taxes. Related Treasury 
Regulations promulgated under Section 148 of the Code generally provide that the determination of whether 
these obligations are tax exempt is made as of the date such obligations are issued based on a reasonable 
expectations regarding the use of the proceeds of the bonds issued. Long-term debt that does not meet and 
continue to meet the minimum criteria of Section 148 of the Code and the related Treasury Regulations 
described above are considered “arbitrage bonds” and are not considered “tax exempt” as described above.  
 
The City has performed calculations required under section 148(f) of the Code and has no present liability 
nor has the City ever been required to make rebate payments for issued debt in past years.  
 
The City is currently in compliance with yield restriction requirements and does not anticipate associated 
significant noncompliance issues. The City is continuing to proceed with reasonable diligence to expend 
any remaining unexpended debt issuance proceeds on qualifying projects or to retire related debt issues still 
outstanding. 
 
Note 7 - Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers 
 
The following is a summary of interfund balances as of September 30, 2018:  
 
Due to Fund Due From Fund Purpose Amount

General Fund Golf Course Fund Cash advances on operations 222,575$         
General Fund CDBG Fund Cash advances on operations 46,763            
General Fund Solid Waste Fund Cash advances on operations 342,000          
General Fund Missouri City Development Authority Fund Cash advances on operations 2,470              
Water and Wastewater Utilities Surface Water Treatment Cash advances on operations 6,157,696        

6,771,504$      

Amounts booked as due to/from are considered to be temporary loans and will be repaid during the 
following fiscal year. 
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Note 7 - Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers (continued) 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2018, interfund transfers consisted of the following: 
 
Transfer In Fund Transfer Out Fund Purpose Amount
General Radio Communications Operating Expense 53,348$          
General Court Security Juvenile Case Manager payroll expenses 25,001            
General Court Juvenile Fund TIRZ and PID expenses 45,820            
General Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund Administrative fees 25,100            
General Missouri City Development Authority Administrative fees 100,000          
General TIRZ #1 Administrative fees 39,591            
General TIRZ #2 Mobility cost expenses 93,947            
General PID #2 13,600            
General TIRZ #3 Operating Expense 74,740            
General Capital Projects Fund Operating Expense 1,000,000        

General
Water and Wastewater Utility Fund  GRP admin, GCWA water option, and 

misc fees. 113,333          
General Surface Water Treatment Fund 507,478          
General Solid Waste Fund 20,000            
Capital Projects Fund General Fund Operating Expense 200,000          
Capital Projects Fund TIRZ #1 Operating Expense 1,216,750        
Capital Projects Fund Parkland Dedication Fund Operating Expense 129,745          
Radio Communication Fund General Fund Radio equipment replacement 58,804            
Missouri City Development Authority Capital Projects Fund Operating Expense 1,125,000        
Missouri City Development Authority TIRZ #1 TIRZ expenses 20,000            
Missouri City Development Authority TIRZ #2 TIRZ expenses 20,000            
Missouri City Development Authority PID #2 TIRZ expenses 28,664            
Missouri City Development Authority TIRZ #3 TIRZ expenses 20,000            
Missouri City Development Authority TIRZ #4 TIRZ expenses 20,000            
Water/Wastewater Utility Fund Surface Water Treatment Fund Operating Expense 6,451,948        

11,402,869$    

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund with collection authorization to other funds that finance 
various programs in accordance with budgetary authorizations. 
 
Note 8- Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue 
Code Section 457. The plan, available to all City employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary 
until future years. The plan’s trust arrangements are established to protect deferred compensation amounts 
of employees under the plan from any other use than intended under the plan (eventual payment to 
employees deferring the compensation) in accordance with federal tax laws. Amounts of compensation 
deferred by employees under plan provisions are disbursed monthly by the City to a third-party 
administrator. The third-party administrator handles all funds in the plan and makes investment decisions 
and disburses funds to employees in accordance with plan provisions. 
 
The fair value of plan assets held and administered by the plan’s third-party administrator were 
$14,093,945. 
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Note 9 - Pension Plan 
 
A. Plan Description 

The City of Missouri City participates as one of 860 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid 
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is 
an agency created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, 
Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer retirement system for 
municipal employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the general administration and 
management of the System with a six-member Board of Trustees. Although the Governor, with the advice 
and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas. 
TMRS’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under Section 401 (a) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be 
obtained at www.tmrs.com. 

All eligible employees of the city are required to participate in TMRS. 

B.  Benefits Provided 
 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing 
body of the city, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 

At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with interest, and the 
city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Members may choose to 
receive their retirement benefit in one of seven payments options. Members may also choose to receive a 
portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum Distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly 
payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the member’s deposits and interest.  

The plan provisions are adopted by the City Council, within the options available in the state statutes 
governing TMRS.  Plan provisions for the City were as follows: 

 
Employee deposit rate 7.00%
Matching ration (city to employee) 2 to 1
Years required for vesting 5
Updated Service Credit 100% Ad Hoc, Transfers
Annuity Increase (to retirees) 70% of CPI as Hoc

 
Members can retire at ages 60 and above with 5 or more years of service or with 20 years of service 
regardless of age.  
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Note 9 - Pension Plan (continued) 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms. 

At the December 31, 2017 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by the 
benefit terms:  

Membership

Number of:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 180
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 173
Active employees 336
Total 689

 

C. Contributions 
 
The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross earnings, and 
the city matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of 
the city. Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by 
the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The actuarially determined rate is 
the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with 
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 

Employees for the City were required to contribute 7.00 percent of their annual gross earnings during the 
fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City was 9.00 percent in calendar year 2017 and 10% in calendar 
year 2018. The city’s contributions to TMRS for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018 were 
$2,815,551 and were equal to the required contributions. 

D. Net Pension Liability 
 
The city’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the Total Pension 
Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
that date. 

Actuarial assumptions: 

The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation  2.50% per year 

Overall payroll growth  3.0% per year 

Investment Rate of Return  6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, 
including inflation 
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Note 9 - Pension Plan (continued) 
 
D. Net Pension Liability (continued) 
 
Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members, retirees, and 
beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, with male rates 
multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103 percent. The rates are projected on a fully 
generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality improvements. For disabled annuitants, the 
gender-distinct RP2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table is used, with slight adjustments.  
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017, valuation were based on the results of actuarial 
experience studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the period January 1, 2011 through December 
31, 2014, first used in the December 31, 2015 valuation. Healthy post-retirement mortality rates and annuity 
purchase rates were updated based on a Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 
2011, and dated December 31, 2013. These assumptions were first used in the December 31, 2013 valuation, 
along with a change to the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. Assumptions are reviewed 
annually. No additional changes were made for the 2015 valuation. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is 6.75%. The pension plan’s policy in 
regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the TMRS Board of 
Trustees. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as 
well as the production of income, in order to satisfy the short-term and long-term funding needs of TMRS.  

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates 
of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected Real Rate 

of Return 
(Arithmetic) 

Domestic Equity 17.5% 4.80% 

International Equity 17.5% 6.05% 

Core Fixed Income 30.0% 1.50% 

Non-Core Fixed Income 10.0% 3.50% 

Real Return 5.0% 1.75% 

Real Estate 10.0% 5.25% 

Absolute Return 5.0% 4.25% 

Private Equity 5.0% 8.50% 

Total 100.0% 
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Note 9 - Pension Plan (continued) 
 
D. Net Pension Liability (continued) 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.0%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the rates 
specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the Total Pension Liability. 
 

Changes in Net Pension Liability 

Total Pension 
Liability

 Plan 
Fiduciary Net 

Position

Net Pension 
Liability

Balance at 12/31/2016  $          120,932,028  $   91,642,708  $         29,289,320 

Changes for the year:
 Service Cost 4,026,779               -                              4,026,779 
 Interest (on the Total Pension Liability) 8,134,301               -                              8,134,301 
 Difference between expected and actual experience 513,297                  -                                513,297 
 Contributions – employer -                        2,306,353                   (2,306,353)
 Contributions – employee -                        1,634,055                   (1,634,055)
 Net investment income -                        12,697,084                (12,697,084)
 Benefit payments, including refunds of
    employee contributions (4,874,521)              (4,874,521)                              -   
 Administrative Expense -                        (65,824)                            65,824 
 Other -                        (3,335)                                3,335 

Balance at 12/31/2017 128,731,884$          103,336,520$  25,395,364$          

 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 
 

The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75%, as 
well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease
Current 

Single Rate 
Assumption

1% Increase

5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

45,513,656$            25,395,364$    9,134,150$           
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a separately-issued 
TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.tmrs.com. 
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Note 9 - Pension Plan (continued) 
 
E. Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 
 
For the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018 the city recognized pension expense of $4,827,861.  
 
At September 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Difference in expected and actual experience 1,391,776$              137,708$        

Difference in assumption changes -                        107,763          

Difference in projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments. -                        2,569,118       

Employer contributions made after the measurement 
date 1,656,869               -                

Totals 3,048,645$              2,814,589$      

 
$1,656,869 is reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the 
fiscal year ending September 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year

Net Deferred 
Outflows 

(Inflows) of 
Resources

2019 417,560$        
2020 207,485          
2021 (953,483)         
2022 (1,138,477)      
2023 44,102            

Thereafter -                
Total (1,422,813)$    

 
Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 
TMRS Supplemental Death Benefits Fund 
 
Benefit Plan Description 
 
The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term life insurance 
plan operated by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as the Supplemental Death 
Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage to 
both current and retired employees. The City may terminate coverage under and discontinue participation 
in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year to be effective the following 
January 1. 
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
TMRS Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (continued) 
 
The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the 
employee’s annual salary (calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings, for the 12-month period 
preceding the month of death); retired employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is another post-
employment benefit (OPEB). As the SDBF covers both active and retiree participants, with no segregation 
of assets, the SDBF is considered to be an unfunded OPEB plan (i.e. no assets are accumulated). 
 
Membership in the plan as of the measurement date of December 31, 2017 was as follows: 

 
Inactive employees currently receiving benefits 132 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 36 
Active employees 336 
Total  504 

 
Contributions 
 
Contributions are made monthly based on the covered payroll of employee members of the participating 
member city. The contractually required contribution rate is determined annually for each city (currently 
0.12% of covered payroll). The rate is based on the mortality and service experience of all employees 
covered by the SDBF and the demographics specific to the workforce of the city. There is a one-year delay 
between the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis for the employer contribution rate and the calendar 
year when the rate goes into effect. The funding policy of this plan is to assure that adequate resources are 
available to meet all death benefit payments for the upcoming year; the intent is not to prefund retiree term 
life insurance during employees’ entire careers. As such, contributions are utilized to fund active member 
deaths on a pay-as-you-go basis; any excess contributions and investment income over payments then 
become net position available for benefits. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The TMRS SDBF program is treated as unfunded OPEB plan because the SDBF trust covers both active 
employees and retirees and the assets are not segregated for these groups. Under GASB Statement No. 75, 
the discount rate for an unfunded OPEB plan should be based on 20-year tax-exempt AA or higher 
Municipal Bonds. Therefore, a discount rate of 3.31% based on the 20 Year Bond GO Index published by 
bondbuyer.com is used as of the measurement date of December 31, 2017. At transition, GASB Statement 
No.75 also requires that the total OPEB liability as of the prior fiscal year end be estimated based on the 20 
Year Bond GO Index as of the prior fiscal year end. The actuary has estimated the total OPEB liability, as 
of December 31, 2016, using a discount rate of 3.78%. 
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The City’s total OPEB liability was measured at December 31, 2017 and was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 
Valuation Date:    December 31, 2017 
 
Methods and Assumptions:  
 
Inflation:    2.50% 
Salary Increases:    3.50% to 10.50%, including inflation 
Discount rate:  3.31%. The discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index’s “20-

Year Municipal GO AA Index” rate as of December 31, 2017.  
Retirees’ share of benefit related costs: $0 
Administrative expenses: All administrative expenses are paid through the Pension Trust 

and accounted for under reporting requirements under GASB 
Statement No. 68. 

Mortality rates – service retirees:  RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar 
Adjustment with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates 
multiplied by 103% and projected on a fully generational basis 
with scale BB.  

Mortality rates – disabled retirees: RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment 
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied 
by 103% with a 3 year set-forward for both males and females. 
The rates are projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB 
to account for future mortality improvements subject to the 3% 
floor. 

Other Information 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2014. 
 
  

DRAFT 03.15.19



CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS Exhibit A-10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
 
 

61 

Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

Service cost 32,681$          
Interest 26,956            
Changes of benefit terms -                 
Difference between expected 
    and actual experience of the total OPEB liability -                 
Changes of assumptions 69,029            
Benefit payments (4,669)            
Net change in total OPEB liability 123,997          
Total OPEB liability - beginning 699,105          
Total OPEB liability - ending 823,102$        

Covered payroll 23,343,646$    

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 3.53%

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 3.31%, 
as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 
percentage point lower (2.31%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.31%) than the current rate. Note that the 
healthcare cost trend rate does not affect the total OPEB liability, so sensitivity to the healthcare cost trend 
rate is not shown. 
 

1% Decrease to 
2.31%

Current Discount 
Rate Assumption

3.31%
1% Increase to 

4.31%

1,000,380$            823,102$               685,915$               
 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB Activity 
 
For the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense of $69,211. 
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB Activity (continued) 
 
As of September 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB from the 
following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Changes assumptions 59,455$        -$          
Contributions subsequent to 
   the measurement date 4,791           
Total 64,246$        -$          

 
The $4,791 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability in the 
year ending September 30, 2019. 

 
Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB, excluding contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

 

Fiscal 
Year

Net deferred 
outflows (inflows) 

of resources

2019 9,574$                   
2020 9,574                    
2021 9,574                    
2022 9,574                    
2023 9,574                    

Thereafter 11,585                   
Total 59,455$                 

                          
Retiree Health Care Plan (RHCP) 
 
Plan Description 
 
The City’s defined benefit OPEB plan, City of La Porte Retiree Health Care Plan (RHCP), provides OPEB 
through an implicit healthcare premium for retirees for all permanent full-time employees of the City. 
RHCP is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the City. At this time, no assets are 
accumulated in a trust to fund the future requirements of the RHCP. 
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
Benefits provided  
 
RHCP provides access to post retirement employees by offering a “blended premium” structure, that is, the 
overall health care premiums for active employees and non-Medicare retirees, are stated in terms of a single 
“blended premium”. The difference between the underlying retiree claims and the blended overall health 
care premium is referred to as an “implicit” subsidy. Because the underlying claims costs for a non-
Medicare retiree are on average higher than the blended premium, there is a positive implicit subsidy for 
the non-Medicare retirees.  
 
Employees covered by benefit terms. At December 31, 2016, the following employees were covered by the 
benefit terms: 
 

Retirees and beneficiaries 36 
Inactive, nonretired members - 
Active members 336 

 Total 372 
 
Total OPEB Liability  
 
The City’s total OPEB liability of $6,753,938  was measured as of December 31, 2017, and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2016. 
 
Actuarial assumptions and methods  
 
The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise 
specified: 
 
Valuation Date:    December 31, 2016 
 
Methods and Assumptions:  
 
Actuarial Cost Method:    Individual Entry-Age 
Discount Rate:     3.31% 
Inflation:    2.50% 
Salary Increases:    3.50% to 10.50%, including inflation 
Demographic Assumptions:  Based on the experience study covering the four year period 

ending December 31, 2014 as conducted for the Texas Municipal 
Retirement System (TMRS)  

Mortality:  For healthy retirees, the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined 
Healthy Mortality Tables with Blue Collar Adjustment are used 
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied 
by 103%. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by 
scale BB to account for future mortality improvements.  
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
Actuarial assumptions and methods (continued) 
 
Health Care Trend Rates:  For Pre-65, initial rate of 7.00% declining to an ultimate rate of 

4.75% after 12 years; Ultimate trend rate includes a 0.50% 
adjustment for the excise tax. For Post-65, initial rate of 6.00% 
declining to an ultimate rate of 4.25% after 14 years 

 
Participation Rates:  It was assumed that the plan participation would vary based on the 

amount of the subsidy provided. For eligible retirees with over 30 
years of service, 95% were assumed to participate in the plan at 
retirement. For employees with less than 30 years of service, the 
assumed participation rate is equal to the percentage of premium 
the City subsidizes. For example, retirees eligible for an 85% 
subsidy were assumed to elect coverage 85% of the time, while 
only 40% of retirees eligible for a 40% subsidy were assumed to 
elect coverage. 

 
Other Information:  
 
Note: The discount rate changed from 3.81% as of December 31, 2016 

to 3.31% as of December 31, 2017. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
Because the RHCP is unfunded or pay-as-you go, the discount rate is based on 20-year tax-exempt AA 
or higher Municipal Bonds or 3.31% as of the measurement date of December 31, 2017 based on the 20 
Year Bond GO Index published by bondbuyer.com.  
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

Service cost 232,018$        
Interest 231,894         
Changes of assumptions 437,405         
Benefit payments (235,642)        
Net change in total OPEB liability 665,675         
Total OPEB liability - beginning 6,088,263       
Total OPEB liability - ending 6,753,938$     

Covered payroll 21,879,740$   

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 30.87%

 
Changes of assumptions reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.81% as of December 31, 2016 to 3.31% 
as of December 31, 2017.   
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
The following presents the plan’s total OPEB liability, calculated using a discount rate of 3.31%, as well 
as what the plan’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percent 
lower or one percent higher: 
 

1% Decrease to 
2.31%

Current Discount 
Rate Assumption

3.31%
1% Increase to 

4.31%

7,759,205$            6,753,938$            5,916,653$            

 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates 
  
The following presents the plan’s total OPEB liability, calculated using the assumed trend rates as well as 
what the plan’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a trend rate that is one percent 
lower or one percent higher: 

 

1% Decrease to 
2.31%

Current 
Healthcare Cost 

Trend Rate 
Assumption

1% Increase to 
4.31%

5,775,350$            6,753,938$            7,979,098$            

 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB  
 
For the fifteen months ended September 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense of $508,669.  
 
At September 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Differences between expected
   and actual experience -$            -$          
Changes assumptions 392,648        -           
Contributions subsequent to 
   the measurement date 192,577        -           
Total 585,225$      -$          

 
The $192,577 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability in the year 
ending September 30, 2019. 
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Note 10 - Other Post-Employment Benefits (continued) 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB (continued) 
 
Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB, excluding contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Fiscal 
Year

Net deferred 
outflows (inflows) 

of resources

2019 44,757$                 
2020 44,757                   
2021 44,757                   
2022 44,757                   
2023 44,757                   

Thereafter 168,863                 
Total 392,648$               

                          
Note 11 - Risk Management 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City's risk management program 
mainly encompasses obtaining property and liability insurance through Texas Municipal League (TML-
IRP), an Intergovernmental Risk-Pool and through commercial insurance carriers. The City purchases 
commercial general insurance through the Texas Municipal League, an unincorporated association of 
political subdivisions of the State of Texas.  
 
This policy encompasses general liability, incidental, medical malpractice, automobile liability, law 
enforcement liability, errors and omissions liability, property, automobile vehicle liability, and damages 
with limits of liability for each occurrence at $3,000,000. The City has not had any significant reduction in 
insurance coverage, and the amounts of insurance settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage for 
any of the last three years. The participation of the City in the TML-IRP is limited to payment of premiums.  
 
Workers' Compensation  
 
The City is a member of the Texas Municipal League (TML) Workers' Compensation Intergovernmental 
Risk Pool, an unincorporated association of political subdivisions of the State of Texas. The fund contracts 
with a third-party administrator for administration, investigation, and adjustment services in the handling 
of claims. Premiums are based on the estimated City payroll by risk factor and rates. The premiums are 
adjusted by the City's experience modifier. All loss contingencies, including claims incurred but not 
reported, if any, are recorded and accounted for by the TML Pool. The City’s liability is limited to payment 
of premiums as assessed by TML. 
 
The City pays unemployment insurance claims filed by former employees on an actual reimbursement 
basis. The Texas Workforce Commission determines individual claim eligibility and bills the City for each 
eligible claim made. The City contracts with a third party, TALX Employer Services L.L.C., to administer 
its unemployment insurance/compensation program.  
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Note 11 - Risk Management (continued) 
 
Long-Term Disability 
 
The City provides long-term disability coverage for all full-time employees through Fort Dearborn Life 
Insurance Company. The City pays the entire amount of the premiums. After a 90-day waiting period, 
employees who become disabled though injury or sickness may receive 66-2/3 percent of basic monthly 
earnings, not to exceed maximum benefit less other income benefits.  
 
Health/Dental/Life Insurance Plan 
 
The City provides medical insurance, prescription card, dental, vision and life insurance programs for City 
employees. The City contracts with Blue Cross Blue Shield of Texas, which offers a H.S.A. high deductible 
medical plan and a P.P.O. medical plan for employees to choose from. The City also provides life insurance 
equal the employee’s salary to a maximum of $50,000 through Fort Dearborn Life Insurance Company. 
 
Note 12 - Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Sick Leave 
 
Employees are credited with sick leave at the rate of one day per month with no maximum accumulation, 
one-half of which is set aside for major illness each year. Regular sick days may be used for ordinary sick 
days, caring for relatives, and doctor's appointments. Unused sick leave is credited to the major illness 
accumulation at the end of the year. Employees do not receive any pay or other compensation either for, or 
in lieu of, accrued sick leave time upon any type of employment termination except for retirement. Upon 
meeting retirement qualifications and retiring from the City, employees will be paid 25 percent of 
accumulated major illness sick leave exceeding sixty days up to a total of thirty days.  
 
The unrecorded contingency associated with all accumulated sick leave of City employees at September 
30, 2018, is approximately $4,151,431. 
 
Note 13 - Park Land Dedication 
 
The City enacted an ordinance requiring open space, park, and recreational areas, which is intended to 
assure that within residential developments of the City, there is sufficient land dedicated for open space and 
neighborhood parks. The City subsequently amended this ordinance providing for cash to be remitted in 
lieu of park land. Cash received shall be restricted to an area established by zone. Presently, the City has 
established twelve zones. Cash received by the City under this agreement must be expended within five 
years for the acquisition or development of a neighborhood park.  
 
If not expended within the time frame established, the current owner of the property for which money was 
paid in lieu of land dedication shall be entitled to a refund providing a refund request is made within a one-
year period.  The activities of this program are accounted for in a special revenue fund.  
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Note 14 - Agreement with Gulf Coast Water Authority 
 
In July of 1997, the City entered into an option agreement with Gulf Coast Water Authority (GCWA), a 
Texas conservation and reclamation district, to purchase surface water rights. The agreement allows the 
City the option to buy fifteen (15) million gallons per day of surface water from GCWA’s canal system.  
Beginning in March 2009, the City exercised its option to purchase raw surface water and began paying for 
approximately 52,000 gallons a day to start the process of design for a surface water treatment plant. This 
water was utilized for a pilot test plant during the design phase of the project. This plant is the key facilitator 
for the Ground Water Reduction Plan for the region. The City completed the design and construction of the 
Regional Water Treatment Plant in 2012 and began treating surface water.   
 
In May of 2014, the City and GCWA revisited the agreement and entered into a new System Raw Water 
Availability Agreement that provides the City with a firm quantity of fifteen (15) million gallons per day 
of surface water from GCWA’s canal system.  This contract is a long term contract and will be revisited in 
August 2027 when all of GCWA’s contracts are renegotiated. 
 
The City has paid GCWA $9,929,506 cumulatively for water options through September 30, 2018. 
 
Note 15 - Regional Wastewater Treatment Facilities 
 
In March 1996, the City contracted with First Colony Municipal Utility District No. 9 (MUD 9) and Fort 
Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 42 (MUD 42) to construct a regional wastewater system to 
include a regional lift station, major transmission line, first phase of a treatment plant, and sludge 
processing.  The project was completed and began operation in December 1999 with a treatment capacity 
of 1.5 million gallons per day (MGD), more than initially needed by MUDs 9 and 42.  Between 2000 and 
2010, the City signed regional wastewater facilities agreements with Fort Bend County MUDs No. 46, 115, 
129 and 149 to utilize the temporary excess capacity in the Phase I plant, and to secure permanent capacity 
for these MUDs in future plant expansions.  Construction of the Phase II plant expansion from 1.5 to 3.0 
MGD began in 2009 and came on line in late 2010.  This included a second aeration basin and clarifier, 
headworks improvements and ultraviolet disinfection system upgrades and expansion.  Final cost shares 
are based on pro rata capacity allocations.  The current discharge permit provides for future expansion of 
the plant to interim Phase III 4.5 MGD and final Phase IV 6.0 MGD phase.  Sienna North, which is currently 
served by a temporary wastewater treatment plant owned by Sienna Plantation MUD 1, will be served by 
the Steep Bank/Flat Bank Plant either in the existing Phase II or the future Phase III.  
 
The City owns the plant and is responsible for its operation and maintenance.  Under an interlocal agreement 
between the City and Quail Valley Utility District, District staff performs the operation and maintenance. 
Each of the MUDs pays monthly charges for their share of operations and maintenance expenses, which 
includes funding an operations and maintenance reserve.  
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Note 15 - Regional Wastewater Treatment Facilities (continued) 
 
MUDs 9, 42, 46, 115, 129 and 149 and the City have agreed that each district shall initially have the right 
to deliver, subject to agreed terms and conditions, wastewater to the plant in the following capacities:  
 

 
 
In March 2015 the City and MUDs 9, 42, 46, 115, 129 and 149, amended the agreements to clarify the 
obligations of the existing agreements regarding the Phase III expansion, to establish a protocol for the 
MUDs the opportunity to sell any excess capacity to a future participant and to allow MUDs 46, 115, 129 
and 149 the ability to adjust their total requested capacity to equal 1.5 million gallons. 
The total assigned capacity will not exceed the permitted 3.0 MGD. 
 
The City will provide funding, or per the agreements the City can request that the MUDs fund their pro-
rata share, for the expansion of the facility when needed and reserves the option to utilize package plants in 
the interim, if necessary, to provide services to all areas. The districts will pay their share of the debt service 
for expansion or for regulatory upgrades. The maintenance and operation of the plant will be prorated 
among the MUDs utilizing their average equivalent connections for the year.   
 
Mustang Bayou Service Area 
 
The Mustang Bayou Water Supply and Wastewater Treatment Service Area includes Fort Bend Municipal 
Utility Districts No. 47 and 48 (which serve the Vicksburg and Olympia Estates neighborhoods and 
Hightower High School), Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 2 and Public Improvement Districts No. 
2, 3 and 4. The area is attracting major retail and residential development as a result of the Fort Bend Toll 
Road, which opened in August 2004, connecting Highway 6 with Beltway 8. In 2004, the City and Fort 
Bend MUDs 47 and 48 executed a regional wastewater treatment and water supply agreement to provide 
integrated utility services to the area.  The wastewater portion of that agreement was updated in 2010 when 
regional wastewater treatment facilities agreements between the City and MUDs 47 and 48 were executed.  
Since the new agreements were executed the City has been providing regional water and wastewater service 
to MUDs 47 and 48 and retail service to the City service area. 
 
The City and the Vicksburg Joint Powers (MUDs 47 and 48) collectively constructed new wastewater 
facilities for the expansion of the Vicksburg Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP), located on the west 
side of the Toll Road, just north of Trammel-Fresno Road.  The City now owns and operates the Vicksburg 
WWTP, and has since renamed the plant the Mustang Bayou Regional WWTP. The City’s Mustang Bayou 
Regional WWTP provides treatment for the entire service area, including MUDs 47 and 48. This expansion 
was completed in December of 2009, and plant ownership transfer was completed in March of 2010.  
 
  

Reserved
Capacity

District Percent (MGD)
First Colony MUD#9 44% 1.05000
Fort Bend County MUD#42 20% 0.45000
Fort Bend County MUD#115 12% 0.28375
Fort Bend County MUD#46 8% 0.42500
Fort Bend County MUD#129 14% 0.47075
Fort Bend County MUD#149 2% 0.32050

100% 3.00000
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Note 15 - Regional Wastewater Treatment Facilities (continued) 
 
Mustang Bayou Service Area (continued) 
 
Fort Bend MUDs 47 and 48 own and operate a water well and plant located in the north side of the Mustang 
Service Area. The City owns and operates a water well and plant in the south side of the service area, south 
of Highway 6 and east of the Fort Bend Toll Road. The City well and plant has increased water supply and 
improved water pressure available for fire flows for new and existing development. Under the 2011 water 
agreements, the ownership of the MUDs’ water well and plant was transferred to the City in January 2012, 
and the two plants and are permanently interconnected to jointly supply the entire service area.   
 
The City projected a need for a water/wastewater master plan, capital improvement plan and an impact fee 
study as the City and the utility districts (MUDs 47, 48 and Vicksburg Joint Powers) proceed with 
coordination on utility service issues in the Mustang Bayou Service Area. This study has been completed 
and has provided the technical and financial information for the City to properly administer and provide 
utility service in the area. Council adopted the impact fees in January 2015 for the Mustang Bayou Service 
Area. 
 
Note 16 - Development Agreements 
 
Agreement with Sienna Plantation 
 
In past years, it was the policy of City Council that before a reclamation district, water control improvement 
district or municipal utility district could be created, the landowners in the City’s extra-territorial 
jurisdiction must petition for annexation into the City. As a result, the City approved the creation of several 
separate municipal districts in past years.  
 
In 1995-96, the City began development of a regional water, sewer and storm drainage plan to determine 
future demands for water, sewer and storm drainage facilities for the entire City including these districts. 
With the City approximately one-third built, not including the City’s extra-territorial jurisdiction, this was 
a good time to initiate the change. In conjunction with this, a Municipal Utility District Study was performed 
to assure that Regionalization versus separate MUDs was feasible. 
 
As a result, the City determined to leave the existing districts in place at this time and review their 
Regionalization needs on an individual basis, when the need to sell new debt or expand the plant took place. 
For the rest of the City, the City is seeking Regionalization by requiring MUDs to go to a regionalized plant, 
and to develop contracts for Regionalization with existing MUDs. The Quail Valley MUD is a good 
example of this Regionalization effort. 
 
In other areas, Public Improvement Districts are being formed to take care of the water, sewer, drainage 
and other needed improvements. 
 
In 1995-96, several developers of Sienna Plantation, a 10,800-acre master planned community in the City’s 
extraterritorial jurisdiction approached the City Council to allow development by agreement. As a result, a 
development agreement was proposed allowing development to take place outside the City limits.  
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Note 16 - Development Agreements (continued) 
 
Agreement with Sienna Plantation (continued) 
 
The developers in Sienna Plantation entered into the Sienna Plantation Joint Development Agreement with 
the City of Missouri City (the “City”) dated February 19, 1996, as amended (collectively, the “Development 
Agreement”), which stipulates the City’s regulatory authority over the development of Sienna Plantation. 
The Development Agreement establishes certain restrictions and commitments related to the development 
of Sienna Plantation, sets forth detailed design and construction standards, stipulates a formula for 
determining the time of annexation of land within Sienna Plantation by the City, and identifies and 
establishes a master plan for the development of Sienna Plantation. The provisions of the Development 
Agreement govern the development of all land within Sienna Plantation. 
 
In the Development Agreement, the City agrees not to annex the property in any district before such time 
as (i) at least 90 percent of the developable acreage within such district has been developed with water, 
wastewater treatment, and drainage facilities; and (ii) the Developer has been reimbursed to the maximum 
extent permitted by the rules of the TCEQ or the City assumes any obligation for such reimbursement.  The 
area is expected to add approximately 60,000 to the population of the City.  
 
Wastewater Treatment Service Contract 
 
In the fall of 2005, the City executed the First Supplement to the Fire Protection Agreement with Sienna 
Municipal Utility District (MUD) No. 1 for the purposes of outlining each entity’s responsibility in the 
construction of a fifth fire station. Said station was to be located in Sienna Plantation. The agreement 
stipulates that once a certain number of homes within Sienna proper have been constructed, the City is then 
obligated to commence design of the fire station.  
 
The district (MUD No. 1) is obligated to contribute toward the cost of the fire station comparable to the 
City’s Fire Station No. 4, as well as the cost of an additional fire engine to be housed at the new station. 
Furthermore, the district is to fund the operational costs of the fifth fire station, as its primary service area 
will be serving Sienna proper, which is located outside the City’s corporate limits. The fire station has been 
constructed and is operational. 
 
Contract with Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District No. 1 (Master District) 
 
The District, together with each conservation and reclamation district located within Sienna Plantation 
District, has contracted with Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District No. 1 (the “Master District”) to 
provide water supply and distribution, sewage collection and treatment services, major trunk storm sewer 
drain services, fire protection, and other services and facilities permitted by law for the entire Sienna 
Plantation development. The District has incurred, or incurs, the following expenditures with respect to this 
contract: 
 

•  the District’s prorated share of the Master District’s capital cost (connection charges) of which 
future costs will be capitalized by the District; and, 

• monthly connection charges in an amount sufficient to meet the District’s prorated share of the 
operational and maintenance costs of the central facilities, based on the relevant use of such 
facilities. 
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Note 16 - Development Agreements (continued) 
 
Contract with Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District No. 1 (Master District) (continued) 
 
Fire Protection Agreements between City and Sienna Plantation MUDs 
 
Fire Protection agreements have been entered into between the City and various Municipal Utility Districts 
as follows: 

 
March 19, 2001 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 1 
March 19, 2001 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 2 
March 19, 2001 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 3 
January 3, 2005 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 4 
January 3, 2005 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 5 
January 3, 2005 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 6 
January 3, 2005 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 7 
February 21, 2005 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 10 
February 21, 2005 Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District 12 

 
Each of these districts are outside the City’s corporate limits, but within its extraterritorial jurisdiction. The 
agreements are to provide fire suppression and rescue services. The MUD districts agree to pay the City a 
monthly charge for each residential unit in the districts connected to the public water supply on or before 
the twentieth day of the preceding month. For non-residential properties, the districts agree to pay a monthly 
charge per 2,000 square feet of building floor space. 
 
Fire Station #5 Agreement with Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District No. 1 
 
In March 2001, a Fire Protection Agreement between the City and the District required the District to design 
and construct Fire Station No. 5 (“Station 5”) to service the entire Sienna Plantation area providing fire 
protection services performed by the City and received by the District. In September 2006, the First 
Supplement to Fire Protection Agreement (the “First Supplement”) between the City and the District, was 
entered into, shifting the responsibility for the design and construction of Station 5 to the City. In March 
2015, final negotiations were completed and the station opened in July 2015.  
 
In providing Fire Protection Services to the Sienna Fire Service Area, the City shall be solely responsible 
for determining the standard of care for the operation and maintenance of its facilities and equipment and 
the training of its personnel. The City shall provide staff who meet minimum staff qualifications to perform 
the Fire Protection Services required by this Agreement.  Neither the District nor the Internal Sienna MUDs 
assume any responsibility for the actions of the City staff in performing Fire Protection Services. The 
District will make no recommendations and is in no way responsible for the sufficiency or qualification of 
the City’s staff. It is also understood and agreed that the City shall be the owner of Station 5 and all 
appurtenances, sites, rights-of-way, and easements, including all additions or improvements thereto.    
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Note 16 - Development Agreements (continued) 
 
Fire Station #5 Agreement with Sienna Plantation Municipal Utility District No. 1 (continued) 
 
Annually, the City will provide the District with an estimate of the Total Operating Costs upon presentation 
of the Fire Department’s initial budget request submitted to the Finance Department and shall provide the 
final Total Operating Costs and Sienna Capital Costs calculations to the District within 10 business days of 
the City’s adoption of its budget.  The District shall review such data and provide any objections to the 
calculations within 10 business days.  The City and the District shall work together to resolve any 
disagreement of the calculation of the Total Operating Costs and the Sienna Operating Costs.   It is the 
intent of the Parties that Total Operating Costs shall include Capital Expenses; accordingly, Sienna 
Operating Costs shall include an allocation of Capital Expenses. 
 
NewQuest Properties Economic 380 Agreement - Fort Bend Town Center 
 
The Fort Bend Town Center is a commercial development located along both sides of the future extension 
of the Fort Bend Parkway south of State Highway 6. This particular property lacks some major 
infrastructure needed for development. As an incentive to have it develop sooner rather than later, the City 
executed an economic development agreement, reimbursing the developer for some of their cost incurred 
in developing the site.  The total amount of the project is $7,007,548. The portion of the project west of the 
Parkway has been completed.  The reimbursable expenses for this portion total $3,622,623. 
 
As part of this development, the developer, with the City’s assistance was successful in working out an 
agreement to extend service lanes for the future Fort Bend Parkway south of its current terminus. Such an 
extension was critical component in encouraging the next phase of the parkway to Sienna Parkway to take 
place sooner and ultimately improve traffic circulation in the Sienna North area. As an added bonus, the 
Fort Bend Toll Road Authority has agreed to reimburse the cost incurred for a portion of the extension, 
once bonds were sold.  
 
Interest on the reimbursement is capped at two (2) years. 
 
Trammell Crow Development & Investment, Inc. Economic 380 Agreement - Lakeview Business 
Park  
 
Lakeview Business Park is a commercial park located at the intersection of Buffalo Run and Fondren Road, 
on the south side of Buffalo Run. The business park is the largest of its type undertaken by Trammel Crow 
Development & Investment, Inc. in the Houston area. In an effort to make the development more 
competitive, the City executed an economic development agreement, reimbursing the developer for costs 
incurred in the installation of a public roadway and storm sewer system. The park will be developed in two 
phases, with Phase I consisting mainly of the eastern half of the property. The following is the 
reimbursement schedule for both phases: 
 
Phase I 

-  The roadway and drainage improvements for Phase I have been completed and accepted by the 
City.  The City has reimbursed Trammel Crow for two of the three annual payments as outlined in 
the development agreement. 

 
-  The developer constructed spec buildings simultaneously with the installation of Phase I public 

improvements. 
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Note 16 - Development Agreements (continued) 
 
Trammell Crow Development & Investment, Inc. Economic 380 Agreement - Lakeview Business 
Park (continued) 
 
Phase II 
 

- Upon completion and acceptance by the City of the remaining roadway and drainage 
improvements, the City would reimburse Trammel Crow in three equal annual payments, if and 
only if, the taxable value of the park exceeded $50 million. 

 
Projected ad valorem tax revenue to be realized by the City is an estimated $7.2 million over the first ten 
years of the project. 
 
Reinvestment Zone Number Three Agreement – Sienna Plantation Management District (SPMD) 
 
The Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #3 (the “Zone”) was established by the City in December of 2007, 
is located within the city limits near the intersection of State Highway 6 and Sienna Parkway. Created under 
state law, the Zone is to promote private economic development of an area by investing in public 
infrastructure such as public roadways, water distribution, wastewater collection and storm drainage 
facilities. The improvements will significantly enhance the value of all the taxable real property in the Zone 
and will be of general benefit to the City.  All of the land within the zone lies wholly within the boundaries 
of the City. 
 
The base taxable assessed value of real property within the TIRZ is established when the TIRZ is created. 
Any incremental growth in the taxable assessed value of real property within the TIRZ is established when 
the TIRZ is created. Any incremental growth in the taxable assessed value of real property over the base is 
considered a “tax increment.” Taxing jurisdictions within the Zone have the option of contributing all or 
portions of tax collections attributed to the tax increment to the City for use in financing the public 
infrastructure improvements. The City has entered into separate tax participation agreements with the 
Sienna Plantation Levee Improvement District, Houston Community College, Fort Bend Drainage District 
and Fort Bend County, Texas, which obligates these entities to contribute all or a portion of property taxes 
collected on the tax increment (“TIRZ Revenues”) to the City.  
 
The City of Missouri City, the Sienna Plantation Management District (the “District”), and the Missouri 
City Development Authority (the “MCDA”), entered into the Sienna Plantation Reinvestment Zone 
Development Plan Agreement (the “Agreement”) to provide for the unified development of all land within 
the Zone and to establish rules for development, financing and operation of improvements. The Agreement 
defines two categories of projects: District Improvements and TIRZ Improvements. The District is 
responsible for the acquisition, design, financing and construction of all District Improvements and TIRZ 
Improvements.  
 
The District Project budget for District TIRZ Improvements shall not exceed $39 million, without the 
consent of the City. This includes new roadway construction ($11.65 million), roadway and intersection 
improvements ($7.15 million), a structured parking garage ($13.5 million), decorative signage, 
landscaping, and enhancements ($4.9 million), and zone administrative costs ($1.8 million).  
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Note 16 - Development Agreements (continued) 
 
Reinvestment Zone Number Three Agreement – Sienna Plantation Management District (SPMD) 
(continued) 
 
The City of Missouri City, the Sienna Plantation Management District (the “District”), and the Missouri 
City Development Authority (the “MCDA”), entered into the Sienna Plantation Reinvestment Zone 
Development Plan Agreement (the “Agreement”) to provide for the unified development of all land within 
the Zone and to establish rules for development, financing and operation of improvements. The Agreement 
defines two categories of projects: District Improvements and TIRZ Improvements. The District is 
responsible for the acquisition, design, financing and construction of all District Improvements and TIRZ 
Improvements.  
 
The District Project budget for District TIRZ Improvements shall not exceed $39 million, without the 
consent of the City. This includes new roadway construction ($11.65 million), roadway and intersection 
improvements ($7.15 million), a structured parking garage ($13.5 million), decorative signage, 
landscaping, and enhancements ($4.9 million), and zone administrative costs ($1.8 million).  
 
District Improvements are financed with bonds that the District is authorized to issue for any appropriate 
District purpose. Those bonds are payable from District collected property taxes and any other lawful 
revenue of the District. TIRZ Improvements are financed with TIRZ bonds which are payable from TIRZ 
revenues and District property taxes. As of June 30, 2017, the District has issued $14,332,865 in Road 
Bonds and Unlimited Tax and Tax Increment Contract Revenue Road Bonds (TIRZ Bonds). The TIRZ 
Bonds are the obligations solely of SPMD and not the City or TIRZ #3. The Bonds are secured by the 
proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax, without legal limitation as to rate or amount, levied against taxable 
property in the District. In addition, the Bonds will be secured by the pledge of TIRZ revenues under the 
agreement described above, paid to the District from monies received by the City from tax increments 
resulting within TIRZ#3.  These pledged revenues are anticipated to be sufficient to amortize the Bonds. 
The TIRZ Bonds year end amount outstanding is $12.7 million, which is recognized as a contractual 
obligation in the City’s financial statements. 
 
On the first business day of each calendar quarter, the City pays the District from the TIRZ revenues the 
amount necessary (1) to pay debt service on District TIRZ Bonds and to (2) to pay the direct costs of the 
development and construction of District TIRZ Improvements that are not funded through the issuance of 
District debt. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the City paid the district a total of 
$1,219,085. Under the terms of the agreement, the District receives a METRO sales tax which is a portion 
of the sales tax rebated to the City by the Metropolitan Transportation Authority of Harris County which is 
derived from sales tax revenue generated within the Zone. The reimbursements will be based on the increase 
in taxable value of real property within the Zone and 50% of the total amount of Metro Tax generated from 
the District. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the City paid the district $454,236. 
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Note 16 - Development Agreements (continued) 
 
Trammel Crow Economic 380 Agreement – Park Eight 90 
 
Located at the intersection of US90A and Beltway 8, Park Eight-Ninety is the newest business park being 
developed in Missouri City.  The 129 acre development is being developed by Trammell Crow 
Development and will offer the opportunity for more than 1,700,000 sf of investment grade warehouse, 
distribution and manufacturing space.  The project builds upon the strong relationship between Trammel 
Crow and the City and track record of success in developing the very successful Missouri City’s Lakeview 
Business Park.  Furthermore, the development standards put in place by the developer and by the City’s 
Planned Development District ordinance build up on what was put in place of Lakeview development to 
ensure this property will deliver quality end users, with highest quality construction standards and an 
upscale appearance  
 
In continuation of the City’s pro-business and development values the City entered into a chapter 380 
development agreement with Trammel Crow. This performance based agreement provides the opportunity 
for Trammel Crow to be reimbursed for up to $7,000,000 of qualifying infrastructure costs associated with 
the park.  The reimbursements are based on the net growth in assessed value in the park not including abated 
or exempt property and are structured so that the City is ensured a positive return on investment. 
 
Note 17 - Reimbursements Due to City and Developers 
 
The City has entered into agreements with developers and newly created governmental entities for purposes 
of developing areas that otherwise would not be developed. The planned resources for these developments 
are property tax increments in established zones within the City. Currently, the City’s financial statements 
include two Tax Increment Reinvestment Zones (Zones 1 and 2) as blended component units along with a 
Development Authority created for these purposes. On July 20, 2006, the Missouri City Development 
Authority issued tax increment contract revenue bonds in the amount of $6,540,000, the proceeds of which 
were used to reimburse certain developer costs relating to land development within TIRZ #1. These bonds 
were refunded on December 17, 2015, when the City issued $4,600,000 in Missouri City Development 
Authority Tax Increment Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015. The refunding will generate a savings of 
$631,000 over the life of the new bonds. The par amount of the refunding is $4,540,000, the interest rate is 
2.22% and the maturity date will be 2027.  
 
The City has also worked with area developers in the creation of Public Improvement Districts (PIDs) for 
development purposes that will use property assessments within their boundaries to create additional 
resources for development purposes. Costs associated with the PIDs’ creation have been included in the 
Public Improvement District #2 and #4 Funds. 
 
The City and developers have pre-funded certain creation costs for these entities and expect reimbursement 
of these costs in the future, once development has taken place and property values are at a level that will 
create the resources for repayment of these costs. The reimbursements will include interest at agreed-upon 
rates at the time the reimbursements are calculated and made.  
 
In addition, the City has pre-funded capital costs for a regional wastewater treatment plant. These pre-
funded costs have included over-sizing of sewer lines funded by the proceeds of City issued certificates of 
obligation. The City has also pre-funded additional costs from operating funds related to the over-sizing 
and engineering costs related to plant expansion for new users. These pre-funded costs are expected to be 
paid back as new or existing customers pay for capacity in the current and expanded plant.  
 
The City plans to receive interest on these pre-funded costs at the time of reimbursement at agreed-upon 
rates at the time the reimbursements are calculated and made. 
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Note 18 - Agreement with Harris County Metropolitan Transit Authority  
 
The City entered into a Congestion Mitigation/Traffic Management Agreement with the Harris County 
Metropolitan Transit Authority (METRO) to address ongoing mobility needs through the further 
development of regional transportation systems. Under this agreement, METRO will make payments to the 
City to fund eligible transportation projects as defined in the agreement. The agreement is effective through 
December 31, 2025. These payments will generally be limited to one-half (1/2) of all METRO sales tax 
collections within the City during the agreement. These payments will be in addition to payments for 
previously approved METRO projects within the City. The City received approximately $5.03 million 
($914 thousand July1, 2017 thru September 30, 2018, and $4.1 million October1, 2017 thru September 30, 
2018) pursuant to this agreement for eligible transportation projects in the fiscal year 2018. 
 
Note 19 - Tax Abatements 
 
The City grants tax abatement agreements under Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government Code and the 
Property Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act under Chapter 312 of the Texas Tax Code to provide 
incentives for economic development within the City limits. The agreements take two forms; ad valorem 
taxes and sales tax.  
 
The currently active ad valorem tax agreements call for the abatement of a portion (40% to 80%) of property 
taxes that would normally be due on real and personal property of a specified development’s assessed value. 
All of these agreements will call for the entity to construct and maintain certain buildings and improvements 
at specified levels. Some agreements will call for entities to produce and maintain a certain number of jobs 
for the length of the agreements. Failure of the entity to comply with the requirements will cause the entity 
to be subject to a claw back provision which typically includes the repayment of all abated ad valorem taxes 
plus interest at the Texas Tax Code delinquent tax rate. Total ad valorem taxes abated in the current fiscal 
year under these agreements were approximately $796,643. 
 
Of the currently active sales tax abatements agreements, one provides for 100% abatement of sales taxes 
generated by the entity in exchange for employing 210 employees and maintaining at least $10 million in 
inventory. Failure of the entity to meet either commitment will invalidate the tax rebate for the year the 
requirement was not satisfied. Three provide for a 50% abatement of sales taxes generated by the projects 
upon the successful completion of the project with no claw back provisions.  The other one provides for a 
rebate of up to $150,000 annually for three years upon substantial completion amongst other requirements 
with a claw back provision. Total sales taxes abated in the current fiscal year under these agreements totaled 
approximately $558,002. 
 
During fiscal year 2018 the city had 11 ad valorem and 5 sales tax abatement agreements that were active 
under the economic development program that resulted in abatements of $796,643 and $558,002 
respectively.  
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Note 20 - Prior Period Adjustment 
 
In the current fiscal year, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pension. As a result, the beginning net position of the 
City’s governmental activities and business-type activities has been restated on Exhibit A-1 Statement of 
Activities to reflect the net OPEB liability and deferred outflow of resources related to contributions made 
after the prior measurement date of the plan as follows: 
 

Governmental 
Activities

Beginning Net Position / Fund Balance as originally 
presented 115,872,182$    

Net OPEB obligation (GASB45) 1,820,215         
Contributions made after measurement date (133,585)          
Total OPEB liability (GASB 75) (6,520,198)        

Net prior period adjustment (4,833,568)        

Beginning Net Position / Fund Balance  as restated 111,038,614$    
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Exhibit B-1

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

Original Final
Actual 

Amounts

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
(Negative)

Revenues:
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties 23,632,587$      26,202,034$     25,915,311$      (286,723)$        
Other taxes 8,416,172          10,815,156       11,944,882       1,129,726

Licenses and permits 2,510,614          2,647,154        3,533,623         886,469
Fines and forfeitures 967,150            1,041,789        1,190,545         148,756
Franchise taxes 3,990,463          5,115,436        5,357,742         242,306
Intergovernmental revenues 3,072,539          3,094,905        3,162,582         67,677
Other revenue 600,673            1,830,404        1,999,074         168,670
Charges for services 383,862            447,439           492,721            45,282

Total Revenues 43,574,060 51,194,317 53,596,480 2,402,163

Expenditures:
   Current:

        General government 9,834,329          12,287,297       11,699,654       587,643
        Finance 1,878,883          2,212,126        2,234,222         (22,096)
        Police 13,636,762        16,268,455       16,735,214       (466,759)
        Fire 8,102,663          10,174,105       10,918,160       (744,055)
        Public works 7,399,365          10,727,397       9,990,602         736,795
        Parks and recreation 3,128,485          4,128,550        3,600,386         528,164
        Planning 1,471,238          1,724,861        1,732,489         (7,628)

Capital outlay 802,332            1,804,100        1,118,954         685,146
Debt service

Principal -                   -                 105,430            (105,430)
Total Expenditures 46,254,057 59,326,891 58,135,111 1,191,780
   Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
     Over (Under) Expenditures (2,679,997) (8,132,574) (4,538,631) 3,593,943

Other financing sources (uses)
    Transfers from other funds 1,746,624          2,252,502        2,111,958         (140,544)
    Transfers (to) other funds -                   -                 (258,804)          (258,804)
Total Other Financing Sources 1,746,624 2,252,502 1,853,154 (399,348)

Net Change in Fund Balance -
Budgetary Basis (933,373) (5,880,072) (2,685,477) 3,194,595

Net adjustments to reflect operations in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principals -                   -                 117,742 117,742

Net Change in Fund Balance -
GAAP Basis (933,373) (5,880,072) (2,567,735) 3,312,337

Fund Balances - Beginning 13,581,779 13,581,779 13,581,779 -                

Fund Balances - Ending 12,648,406$       7,701,707$        11,014,044$       3,312,337$       

Budgeted Amounts

GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGETARY BASIS)
For the Fifteen Months Ended September 30, 2018
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1. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
 
Budgets are prepared on a basis other than generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The modified 
accrual basis of accounting, which is in accordance with GAAP, is used for financial reporting purposes. 
An annual operating budget is prepared on the “budgetary basis” and is approved annually by City Council. 
Encumbrance accounting is utilized for all governmental fund types. Any encumbered appropriation does 
not lapse at year-end and is included in budgetary expenditures for budget comparison purposes. In the 
current year, General Fund budgetary expenditures were $117,742  more than for GAAP as a result of this 
inclusion of encumbrances for budgetary reporting purposes. Encumbrances are documented by purchase 
orders or contracts. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end do not constitute expenditures or liabilities under 
GAAP. The City honors these commitments and records GAAP expenditures in the subsequent year as the 
transactions are completed.  
 
Fund Balance for the General Fund was originally budgeted to decrease by $933,373 . The final budget 
called for a decrease of $5,880,072 5%in fund balance. The actual change in Fund Balance was a $2,567,735 
decrease in fund balance, which is a positive budget variance of $3,312,337 . 
 
2. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 
 
Budgets are adopted for all funds annually. Annual budgets are adopted for the General, Special Revenue, 
Debt Service and Enterprise Funds. The Proprietary Fund budgets are used primarily as financial plans for 
control purposes. Accordingly, no budgetary comparisons are presented for these funds. Budgetary control 
for capital projects funds is achieved through legally binding construction contracts and project length 
budgets. 
 
These budgets are created by ordinance and include all sources and uses of funds as approved by Council. 
All annual budgets are prepared on a budgetary basis that differs from GAAP. In accordance with the City’s 
Charter, budgetary expenditures in governmental funds include encumbrances outstanding at year-end.  
 
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function and department. The City’s department heads may 
make transfers of appropriations within a department. Transfers of appropriations between departments 
require the approval of the City Council. The legal level of budgetary control is the department level. The 
City Council made several supplementary budgetary appropriations, which were not considered material, 
throughout the year. 
 
Encumbrances for materials, other goods, and purchased services are documented by purchase orders or 
contracts. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end do not constitute expenditures or liabilities under GAAP. 
The City honors these commitments and records GAAP expenditures in the subsequent year as the 
transactions are completed. 
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (continued) 
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2. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (continued) 
 

Budgetary 
Basis Encumbrances GAAP Basis

Revenues 53,596,480$     -$                53,596,480$    

Expenditures 58,135,111       (117,742)          58,017,369      

(4,538,631)$     117,742$          (4,420,889)$    

 
During the year, the General Fund had an original revenue budget of $43,574,060 , and a final revenue 
budget of $51,194,317 , resulting in an increased revenue budget of $7,620,257 , or (17%). There were no 
significant revenue budgetary adjustments made during the year. Actual total revenues of $53,596,480 were 
$2,402,163 more than the final budget, or 5%. Property taxes were slightly less than budget by $287 
thousand. 
 
The General Fund originally budgeted expenditures of $46,254,057 , and had a final budget of $59,326,891 
,resulting in an expenditure budget increase of $13,072,834 . Actual expenditures were $58,135,111 , which 
is a favorable variance of $1,191,780 , or 2%.   
 
Expenditures were over budget in finance by $22 thousand, Police by $467 thousand, Fire by $744 thousand 
and planning by $8 thousand. This is primarily due to emergency related expenditures.  
 
3. City Charter 
 
The City's Charter contains the following budgeting requirements: 
 
The City Manager, on or before the first day of June of each year, shall submit to Council a proposed 
budget. The Council shall review the proposed budget and revise as deemed appropriate prior to circulation 
for public hearing. 
 
After the public hearing, the Council may adopt the budget with or without amendment. In amending the 
budget, Council may add or increase programs or amounts and may delete or decrease any amount, except 
expenditures required by law or for debt or for estimated cash deficits, provided no amendments to the 
budget shall increase the authorized expenditures to an amount greater than the total of estimated income 
plus funds available from prior years. 
 
The Council shall adopt the budget by the 25th of June of each year. Adoption of the budget shall constitute 
appropriation of the amounts specified therein as expenditures and shall constitute a levy of the property 
tax therein proposed. 
 
Encumbered appropriations do not lapse at year-end and are included in budgetary expenditures. Budgetary 
expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the department level. Department heads are 
authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within a department. At any time during the fiscal year, the City 
Manager may transfer part or all of any unencumbered 
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Exhibit B-3

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Last Four Measurement Years

2014 2015 2016 2017
Total pension liability

 Service Cost 3,022,157$     3,596,718$      3,760,150$     4,026,779$      
 Interest (on the Total Pension Liability) 7,039,404       7,420,493        7,601,041       8,134,301       
 Difference between expected and actual experience (431,047)        434,820          1,235,380       513,297          
 Changes of assumptions -                (230,688)         -                
 Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (4,328,141)     (4,619,197)      (4,784,969)      (4,874,521)      
 Net change in total pension liability 5,302,373       6,602,146        7,811,602       7,799,856       
 Total pension liability – beginning 101,215,907   106,518,280    113,120,426   120,932,028    
 Total pension liability – ending 106,518,280$ 113,120,426$  120,932,028$  128,731,884$  
 Plan fiduciary net position
 Contributions – employer 1,018,731$     1,853,966$      1,921,157$     2,306,353$      
 Contributions – employee 1,358,254       1,461,322        1,514,445       1,634,055       
 Net investment income 4,892,846       130,473          5,889,244       12,697,084      
 Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (4,328,141)     (4,619,197)      (4,784,969)      (4,874,521)      
 Administrative Expense (51,091)          (79,478)           (66,535)          (65,824)          
 Other (4,201)           (3,925)            (3,585)            (3,335)            
 Net change in plan fiduciary net position 2,886,398       (1,256,839)      4,469,757       11,693,812      
 Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 85,543,392     88,429,790      87,172,951     91,642,708      
 Plan fiduciary net position – ending 88,429,790$   87,172,951$    91,642,708$   103,336,520$  

Net pension liability 18,088,490$   25,947,475$    29,289,320$   25,395,364$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability 83.0% 77.1% 75.8% 80.3%

Covered-employee payroll 19,243,804$   20,850,538$    21,634,924$   23,343,646$    

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee 
payroll 94.0% 124.4% 135.4% 108.8%

GASB 68 requires 10 years of data to be provided in this schedule.  
The City will continue to build this schedule over the next 10-year 
period as the information becomes available.  
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Exhibit B-4

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

Last Ten Fiscal Years**

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially Determined Contribution 2,815,551$        2,200,471$        1,876,548$        1,402,879$        953,766$           

Contributions in relation to the 
actuarially determined contribution 2,815,551          2,200,471          1,876,548          1,402,879          953,766             

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Covered employee payroll 28,642,429$      23,197,472$      19,645,653$      18,575,957$      17,589,972$      
Contributions as a percentage of 
covered employee payroll 9.8% 9.5% 9.6% 7.6% 5.4%

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Actuarially Determined Contribution 1,779,036$        2,778,949$        2,882,292$        2,833,342$        2,724,228$        

Contributions in relation to the 
actuarially determined contribution 1,779,036          2,515,034          2,346,528          2,210,306          2,200,396          

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                   263,915$           535,764$           623,036$           523,832$           

Covered employee payroll 16,642,341$      16,362,228$      16,681,946$      16,630,535$      14,741,216$      
Contributions as a percentage of 
covered employee payroll 10.7% 15.4% 14.1% 13.3% 14.9%

** 2018 is for the fifteen months 
ended September 30, 2018 due to a 
change in year-end

 

Notes   
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of 
December 31 and become effective in January 13 months later. 

 
Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates: 
 

Actuarial Cost Method   Entry Age Normal 

Amortization Method   Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed 

Remaining Amortization Period   25 years 

Asset Valuation Method   10 Year smoothed market; 15% soft corridor 

Inflation   2.50% 

Salary Increases   3.50% to 10.5% including inflation 

Investment Rate of Return   6.75% 

Retirement Age   

Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of 
benefits. Last updated for the 2015 valuation pursuant to an 
experience study of the period 2010 - 2014 

Mortality   

RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment 
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 
103% and projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB 

Other Information:     

Notes   1) Granted 100% ad hoc USC with transfer. 

    2) Granted 70% ad hoc COLA. 
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY TMRS SUPPLEMENTAL DEATH BENEFITS FUND
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

For the Last Measurement Year Ended December 31

2017
Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 32,681$       
Interest 26,956         
Changes of assumptions 69,029         
Benefit payments (4,669)         
Net change in total OPEB liability 123,997       
Total OPEB liability - beginning 699,105       
Total OPEB liability - ending 823,102$     

Covered payroll 23,343,646$ 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 3.53%  
 

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY RETIREE HEALTH CARE PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

For the Last Measurement Year Ended December 31

2017
Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 232,018$     
Interest 231,894       
Changes of assumptions 437,405       
Benefit payments (235,642)      
Net change in total OPEB liability 665,675       
Total OPEB liability - beginning 6,088,263     
Total OPEB liability - ending 6,753,938$   

Covered payroll 21,879,740$ 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 30.87%  
 
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information 
 
Ten years of data should be presented but data was unavailable prior to 2017. There are no plan assets 
accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GAB Statement No. 75. No significant 
methods and assumptions to disclose.  
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COMBINING AND INDIVIDIUAL FUND 
STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 
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Non-major Governmental Funds 
 

Special Revenue Funds 
 
 
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted for particular 
purposes. 
 
 
Park Land Dedication Fund 
This fund is used to account for cash payments in lieu of land donated for parks as established by the Park 
Land Dedication Ordinance. Funds must be expended within five years from the date of the receipt for 
acquisition or development of a neighborhood park. 
 
Law Enforcement Fund 
This fund is used to account for monies resulting from narcotics contraband seized within the County as a 
result of a final conviction or forfeiture by the State. The funds are to be used solely for law enforcement 
purposes. The Law Enforcement Block Grant is also accounted for in this fund. 
 
Radio Communications Fund 
This fund is used to account for the operations and maintenance of the radio communications facilities, a 
portion of which is paid by other area users. 
 
Court Security, Technology, and Juvenile Case Funds 
These funds are used to account for monies resulting from court fee assessments. The funds are to be used 
solely for security, technology and case management of the court. 
 
Missouri City TV Facility and Equipment Fund 
This fund is used to account for Public, Educational, and Governmental Access (PEG) fees collected from 
cable TV subscribers.  The funds are to be used solely for technology, furniture and equipment related to 
the City’s cable TV station programming. 
 
Grants Fund 
This fund is used to account for the administering of all federal, state and local grants received by the 
City, excluding Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) related funds.  
 
Community Development Block Grant Funds 
These funds are used to account for revenues to be received from the Community Development Block Grant 
Entitlement Fund. 
 
Donations Fund 
This fund is used to account for all miscellaneous donations received by the City. Donations are recorded 
and administered based on the departmental purpose that receives the donation. 
 
Missouri City Development Authority Fund 
This fund is used to account for the Development Authority, which is made up of City Council with ex-
officio members including the City Manager, Director of Public Works, City Attorney, Director of 
Planning, Finance Director, and may also include representatives of the Fort Bend Independent School 
District as non-voting members. The board will act for the City to develop policies, implement project and 
financing plans with the planned improvement districts and tax incremental reinvestment zones. 
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Non-major Governmental Funds (continued) 
 

Special Revenue Funds (continued) 
 
 
Tax Incremental Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) #1 (Fifth Street) Fund 
This fund is used to account for the TIRZ which covers the Fifth Street area of the City, which is located 
near an unincorporated area in the City of Stafford’s extra-territorial jurisdiction.  The Fort Bend Economic 
Development Commission developed the plan to improve the area noted for substandard housing, a lack of 
public infrastructure and crime. 
 
Tax Incremental Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) #2 (Vicksburg) Fund 
This fund is used to account for the TIRZ in the Vicksburg area of the City. The land within this TIRZ is 
prime for development has been limited for years due to drainage problems. By forming the TIRZ, drainage 
problems can be addressed on a regional basis and quality growth can occur. 
 
Tax Incremental Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) #3 (Sienna) Fund 
This fund is used to account for the TIRZ in the Sienna Plantation area of the City. The land within this 
TIRZ is prime for development has been limited for years due to drainage problems. By forming the TIRZ, 
drainage problems can be addressed on a regional basis and quality growth can occur. 
 
Public Improvement District (PID) #2 (Vicksburg) Fund 
Public Improvement District (PID) #2 (Vicksburg) Fund This fund is used to track the sources and uses of 
funds for the Public Improvement District in the Vicksburg area. As improvements are made in this district, 
a special assessment fee will be charged to property owners.  
 
Public Improvement District (PID) #4 (Creekmont) Fund 
This fund is used to track the sources and uses of funds for the Public Improvement District in the 
Creekmont area. As improvements are made in this district, a special assessment fee will be charged to 
property owners. 
 
Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund  
This fund was created to account for the collection of remittances from the city’s hotels. Hotel occupancy 
taxes are received quarterly. 
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

September 30, 2018

Park Land 
Dedication 

Fund

Law 
Enforcement 

Fund

Radio 
Communications 

Fund

Court 
Security 

Fee Fund

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 382,209$        164,549$         48,815$               24,712$      
Investments 1,208,703       520,403           154,385               78,156        
Receivables -                -                  7,132 8,814
Prepaid items -                -                  -                      -            

 Total Assets 1,590,912$      684,952$           210,332$               111,682$     

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 1,085 -                  -                      -            
Salaries payable -                -                  3,743                   813            
Due to other funds 3                   -                  -                      -            
Due to others -                -                  -                      3               

 Total Liabilities 1,088             -                  3,743                   816            

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenues -                -                  -                      8,814         
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -                -                  -                      8,814         

Fund Balances:

Nonspendable:
Prepaid items -                -                  -                      -            

Restricted for:
Law enforcement -                684,952 206,589 102,052
Facilities construction -                -                  -                      -            
Parkland dedication 1,589,824 -                  -                      -            
Community Development -                -                  -                      -            

Total Fund Balances 1,589,824       684,952           206,589               102,052      

Resources  and Fund Balances 1,590,912$      684,952$           210,332$               111,682$     
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Exhibit C-1
Page 1 of 2

Court 
Technology 
Fee Fund

Court 
Juvenile 

Case Fund

Missouri 
City TV 

Facility & 
Equipment 

Fund
Grants 
Fund

CDBG 
Fund

Donations 
Fund

35,959$      942$          107,773$    63,896$      59$            34,343$      
113,725      2,976         340,847      202,076      185            108,613      
11,727 13,424 38,074 77,230 13,845 -            

-            -            -            -            -            -            
161,411$     17,342$       486,694$     343,202$     14,089$       142,956$     

2,229 -            31,084 -            -            -            
-            -            -            -            2,168         -            
-            -            -            -            46,763        -            
-            211            -            2,221         -            -            

2,229         211            31,084        2,221         48,931        -            

11,727        13,424        -            -            -            -            
11,727        13,424        -            -            -            -            

-            -            -            -            -            -            

147,455 3,707 -            340,981 -            -            
-            -            455,610 -            -            -            
-            -            -            -            
-            -            -            -            (34,842)      142,956

147,455      3,707         455,610      340,981      (34,842)      142,956      

161,411$     17,342$       486,694$     343,202$     14,089$       142,956$     
                                                                                                                   

  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

94 

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

September 30, 2018

Missouri City 
Development 

Authority 
Fund

TIRZ #1 
(Fifth Street) 

Fund

TIRZ # 2 
(Vicksburg) 

Fund

TIRZ # 3 
(Sienna) 

Fund

Assets

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 19,759$         259,127$       1,569,687$     721,099$      
Investments -                882,007        4,964,320       2,280,560     
Receivables -                -               -                196,034
Prepaid items -                -               -                1,239,071     

 Total Assets 19,759$           1,141,134$     6,534,007$      4,436,764$    

Liabilities:

Accounts payable -                -               -                -              
Salaries payable -                -               -                -              
Due to other funds 2,470             -               -                -              
Due to others -                -               -                -              

 Total Liabilities 2,470             -               -                -              

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenues -                -               -                196,034

 Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -                -               -                196,034       

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items -                -               -                1,239,071     
Restricted for:

Law enforcement -                -               -                -              
Facilities construction -                -               -                -              
Parkland dedication -                -               -                -              
Community Development 17,289           1,141,134 6,534,007 3,001,659

Total Fund Balances 17,289           1,141,134      6,534,007       4,240,730     

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 19,759$           1,141,134$     6,534,007$      4,436,764$    
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Exhibit C-1
Page 2 of 2

PID # 2 
(Vicksburg) 

Fund

PID # 4 
(Creekmont) 

Fund

Hotel 
Occupancy 

Tax

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Funds

192,927$      65,769$         147,402$    3,839,027$       
610,152        208,000         466,178      12,141,286       

-              -                41,821 408,101           
-              -                -            1,239,071        

803,079$       273,769$         655,401$     17,627,485$      

-              -                14,620 49,018             
-              -                3,579         10,303             
-              -                -            49,236             
-              -                -            2,435              
-              -                18,199        110,992           

-              -                -            229,999           
-              -                -            229,999           

-              -                -            1,239,071        

-              -                -            1,485,736        
-              -                -            455,610           
-              -                1,589,824        

803,079 273,769 637,202 12,516,253       
803,079        273,769         637,202      17,286,494       -
803,079$       273,769$         655,401$     17,627,485$      
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018

Park Land 
Dedication 

Fund

Law 
Enforcement 

Fund

Radio 
Communications 

Fund

Court 
Security 

Fee Fund

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties -$           -$              -$                     -$         
Other taxes -             -                -                       -           

Fines and forfeitures -             -                -                       25,227      
Franchise taxes -             -                -                       -           
Intergovernmental revenues -             277,067         87,258                  -           
Other revenue 429,800       -                -                       -           
Charges for services -             -                277,887                -           
Investment income 20,034 6,906 2,608 2,083

Total revenues 449,834       283,973         367,753                27,310      

Expenditures
Current:

General government -             -                -                       29,607      
Police -             85,465           280,181                -           
Fire -             -                -                       -           
Parks and recreation 58,824        -                -                       -           
Planning -             -                -                       -           

Debt service:

Principal -             -                -                       -           
Interest and fiscal charges -             -                -                       -           

Total expenditures 58,824        85,465           280,181                29,607      
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 391,010       198,508         87,572                  (2,297)      

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds -             -                58,804                  -           
Transfers (to) other funds (129,745)     -                (53,348)                 (25,001)     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (129,745)     -                5,456                    (25,001)     

 Net Change in Fund Balance 261,265       198,508         93,028                  (27,298)     

Fund Balances, Beginning 1,328,559    486,444         113,561                129,350    
Fund Balances, Ending 1,589,824$    684,952$         206,589$                102,052$    

 
  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

97 

Exhibit C-2

  Page 1 of 2

 

 

Court 
Technology 
Fee Fund

Court 
Juvenile 

Case 
Fund

Missouri 
City TV 

Facility & 
Equipment 

Fund
Grants 
Fund

CDBG 
Fund

Donations 
Fund

-$            -$         -$            -$       -$       -$          
-              -           -              -         -         -           

33,651         49,912      -              -         -         -           
-              -           227,689        -         -         -           
-              -           -              80,649    298,818  -           
-              -           -              -         -         189,037     
-              -           -              -         -         -           

2,946 (35)           5,819 -         -         4,367
36,597         49,877      233,508        80,649    298,818  193,404     

44,205         350          103,110        -         -         1,800        
-              -           -              62,715    -         51,358       
-              -           -              -         -         13,020       
-              -           -              -         -         107,753     
-              -           -              -         361,158  -           

-              -           -              -         -         -           
-              -           -              -         -         -           

44,205         350          103,110        62,715    361,158  173,931     

(7,608)          49,527      130,398        17,934    (62,340)   19,473       

-              -           -              -         -         -           
-              (45,820)     -              -         -         -           

-              (45,820)     -              -         -         -           

(7,608)          3,707        130,398        17,934    (62,340)   19,473       

155,063       -           325,212        323,047  27,498    123,483     
147,455$       3,707$       455,610$       340,981$  (34,842)$  142,956$    
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018

Missouri City 
Development 

Authority 
Fund

TIRZ #1 
(Fifth 

Street) 
Fund

TIRZ # 2 
(Vicksburg) 

Fund

TIRZ # 3 
(Sienna) 

Fund

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties -$                972,287$    2,463,308$  1,923,497$   
Other taxes -                 -            -             -              

Fines and forfeitures -                 -            -             -              
Franchise taxes -                 -            -             -              
Intergovernmental revenues -                 -            -             -              
Other revenue -                 -            -             -              
Charges for services -                 -            -             -              
Investment income (62)                 35,823 106,205 55,495

Total revenues (62)                 1,008,110   2,569,513    1,978,992     

Expenditures
Current:

General government 1,125,630        5,449         -             -              
Police -                 -            -             -              
Fire -                 -            -             -              
Parks and recreation -                 -            -             -              
Planning -                 -            -             -              

Debt service:

Principal -                 360,000      410,000       405,000       
Interest and fiscal charges -                 87,357        158,944       584,803       

Total expenditures 1,125,630        452,806      568,944       989,803       
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,125,692)       555,304      2,000,569    989,189       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 1,233,664        -            -             -              
Transfers (to) other funds (100,000)          (1,276,341)  (113,947)     (94,740)        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,133,664        (1,276,341)  (113,947)     (94,740)        

 Net Change in Fund Balance 7,972              (721,037)     1,886,622    894,449       

Fund Balances, Beginning (as restated) 9,317              1,862,171   4,647,385    3,346,281     
Fund Balances, Ending 17,289$            1,141,134$   6,534,007$    4,240,730$    
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Exhibit C-2
Page 2 of 2

PID # 2 
(Vicksburg) 

Fund

PID # 4 
(Creekmont) 

Fund

Hotel 
Occupancy 

Tax

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds

704,356$        397,071$         -$           6,460,519$        
-                -                 270,487       270,487             
-                -                 -             108,790             
-                -                 -             227,689             
-                -                 -             743,792             
-                -                 -             618,837             
-                -                 -             277,887             

23,582 6,896 10,182 282,849
727,938         403,967           280,669       8,990,850          

680,638         600                 265,741       2,257,130          
-                -                 -             479,719             
-                -                 -             13,020              
-                -                 -             166,577             
-                -                 -             361,158             

80,000           145,000           -             1,400,000          
227,025         208,044           -             1,266,173          
987,663         353,644           265,741       5,943,777          

(259,725)        50,323             14,928        3,047,073          

-                -                 -             1,292,468          
(42,264)          (20,000)           (25,100)       (1,926,306)         

(42,264)          (20,000)           (25,100)       (633,838)           

(301,989)        30,323             (10,172)       2,413,235          

1,105,068       243,446           647,374       14,873,259        
803,079$         273,769$          637,202$      17,286,494$        
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Exhibit C-3

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Other revenue 428,400$      429,800$     1,400$      
Investment income 20,994 20,034 (960)         

Total revenues 449,394        449,834       440          

Expenditures
Current:

Parks and recreation 314,243        58,824        255,419    
Total expenditures 314,243        58,824        255,419    
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 135,151        391,010       255,859    

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers (to) other funds (129,745)      (129,745)     -           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (129,745)      (129,745)     -           

 Net Change in Fund Balance 5,406           261,265       255,859    

Fund Balances, Beginning 1,328,559     1,328,559    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 1,333,965$     1,589,824$    255,859$    

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
PARK LAND DEDICATION FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-4

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues 50,000$    277,067$  227,067$  
Investment income 7,900 6,906 (994)         

Total revenues 57,900      283,973    226,073    

Expenditures
Current:

Police 165,220    85,465      79,755      
Capital outlay 104,780    -           104,780    
Total expenditures 270,000    85,465      184,535    
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (212,100)   198,508    410,608    

Fund Balances, Beginning 486,444    486,444    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 274,344$    684,952$    410,608$    

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-5

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues 86,406$    87,258$    852$        
Charges for services 285,952    277,887    (8,065)      
Investment income 1,230 2,608 1,378        

Total revenues 373,588    367,753    (5,835)      

Expenditures
Current:

Police 362,234    280,181    82,053      
Total expenditures 362,234    280,181    82,053      
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 11,354      87,572      76,218      

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 58,804      58,804      -           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 5,456        5,456        -           

 Net Change in Fund Balance 16,810      93,028      76,218      

Fund Balances, Beginning 113,561    113,561    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 130,371$    206,589$    76,218$     

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
RADIO COMMUNICATIONS FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-6

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Fines and forfeitures 24,199$    25,227$    1,028$      
Investment income 4,598 2,083 (2,515)      

Total revenues 28,797      27,310      (1,487)      

Expenditures
Current:

General government 44,106      29,607      -           
Capital outlay 11,309      -           11,309      
Total expenditures 55,415      29,607      11,309      
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (26,618)     (2,297)      9,822        

Other Financing Sources (Uses) -           
Transfers (to) other funds (25,001)     (25,001)     -           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (25,001)     (25,001)     -           

 Net Change in Fund Balance (51,619)     (27,298)     24,321      

Fund Balances, Beginning 129,350    129,350    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 77,731$     102,052$    24,321$     

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COURT SECURITY FEE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-7

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Fines and forfeitures 32,280$    33,651$    1,371$      
Investment income 4,412 2,946 (1,466)      

Total revenues 36,692      36,597      (95)           

Expenditures
Current:

General government 52,292      44,205      -           
Total expenditures 52,292      44,205      -           
Over (Under) Expenditures (15,600)     (7,608)      (95)           

Fund Balances, Beginning 155,063    155,063    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 139,463$    147,455$    7,992$       

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COURT TECHNOLOGY FEE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-8

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Fines and forfeitures 47,659$    49,912$    2,253$      
Investment income 120 (35)           (155)         

Total revenues 47,779      49,877      2,098        

Expenditures
Current:

General government 350          350          -           
Total expenditures 350          350          -           
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 47,429      49,527      2,098        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers (to) other funds (45,820)     (45,820)     -           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (45,820)     (45,820)     -           

 Net Change in Fund Balance 1,609        3,707        2,098        

Fund Balances, Beginning -           -           -           
Fund Balances, Ending 1,609$       3,707$       2,098$       

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
COURT JUVENILE CASE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-9

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Franchise taxes 160,000$  227,689$  67,689$    
Investment income 7,232 5,819        (1,413)      

Total revenues 167,232    233,508    66,276      

Expenditures
Current:

General government 228,059    103,110    -           
Total expenditures 228,059    103,110    -           
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (60,827)     130,398    66,276      

Fund Balances, Beginning 325,212    325,212    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 264,385$    455,610$    191,225$    

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
MISSOURI CITY TV FACILITY & EQUIPMENT FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-10

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues 4,350$      80,649$    76,299$    

Total revenues 4,350        80,649      76,299      

Expenditures
Current:

Police 66,970      62,715      4,255        
Total expenditures 66,970      62,715      4,255        
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (62,620)     17,934      80,554      

Fund Balances, Beginning 323,047    323,047    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 260,427$    340,981$    80,554$     

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
GRANTS FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-11

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues 596,569$  298,818$  (297,751)$   

Total revenues 596,569    298,818    (297,751)     

Expenditures
Current:

Planning 555,020    361,158    193,862      
Total expenditures 555,020    361,158    193,862      
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 41,549      (62,340)     (103,889)     

Fund Balances, Beginning 27,498      27,498      -            
Fund Balances, Ending 69,047$     (34,842)$    (103,889)$    

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
CDBG FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-12

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Other revenue 231,926$  189,037$  (42,889)$   
Investment income 3,055        4,367        1,312        

Total revenues 234,981    193,404    (41,577)     

Expenditures
Current:

General government 45,340      1,800        -           
Police 52,000      51,358      642          
Fire 12,000      13,020      (1,020)      
Public works 700          -           700          
Parks and recreation 114,644    107,753    6,891        

Total expenditures 224,684    173,931    7,213        
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 10,297      19,473      (34,364)     

Fund Balances, Beginning 123,483    123,483    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 133,780$    142,956$    9,176$       

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
DONATIONS FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-13

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance Positive 
(Negative)

Revenues
Investment income 243$            (19,821)$      (20,064)$               

Total revenues 243             (19,821)        (20,064)                 

Expenditures
Current:

General government 1,125,000     1,125,630     -                       
Total expenditures 1,125,000     1,125,630     -                       
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,124,757)    (1,145,451)    (20,064)                 

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 1,225,000     1,233,664     8,664                    
Transfers (to) other funds (100,000)      (100,000)      -                       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,125,000     1,133,664     8,664                    

 Net Change in Fund Balance 243             (11,787)        (12,030)                 

Fund Balances, Beginning 9,317           9,317           -                       
Fund Balances, Ending 9,560$          (2,470)$         (12,030)$                

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
MISSOURI CITY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018

 
  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

111 

Exhibit C-14

Final Budget
GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties 1,001,565$     972,287$     (29,278)$      
Investment income 36,956           55,582        18,626         

Total revenues 1,038,521       1,027,869    (10,652)        

Expenditures
Current:

General government 1,970             5,449          -              
Debt service:

Principal 360,000         360,000       -              
Interest and fiscal charges 87,357           87,357        -              

Total expenditures 449,327         452,806       -              
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 589,194         575,063       (10,652)        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers (to) other funds (1,276,341)      (1,276,341)   -              

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,276,341)      (1,276,341)   -              

 Net Change in Fund Balance (687,147)        (701,278)     (14,131)        

Fund Balances, Beginning 1,862,171       1,862,171    -              
Fund Balances, Ending 1,175,024$      1,160,893$    (14,131)$       

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
TIRZ #1 (FIFTH STREET) FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-15

Final Budget GAAP Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties 2,278,231$     2,463,308$     185,077$     
Investment income 76,207           106,205         29,998        

Total revenues 2,354,438       2,569,513       215,075       

Expenditures
Current:
Debt service:

Principal 580,000         410,000         170,000       
Interest and fiscal charges 179,694         158,944         20,750        

Total expenditures 788,694         568,944         190,750       
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 1,565,744       2,000,569       405,825       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers (to) other funds (93,860)          (113,947)        20,087        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (93,860)          (113,947)        20,087        

 Net Change in Fund Balance 1,471,884       1,886,622       414,738       

Fund Balances, Beginning 4,647,385       4,647,385       -             
Fund Balances, Ending 6,119,269$      6,534,007$      414,738$      

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
TIRZ # 2 (VICKSBURG) FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-16

Final Budget GAAP Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties 2,078,339$     1,923,497$     (154,842)$    
Investment income 38,840           55,495           16,655        

Total revenues 2,117,179       1,978,992       (138,187)     

Expenditures
Current:
Capital outlay 617,793         -                617,793       
Debt service:

Principal -                405,000         (405,000)     
Interest and fiscal charges -                584,803         (584,803)     

Total expenditures 617,793         989,803         (372,010)     
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 1,499,386       989,189         (510,197)     

Other Financing Sources (Uses) -             
Transfers (to) other funds (93,600)          (94,740)          1,140          

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (93,600)          (94,740)          1,140          

 Net Change in Fund Balance 1,405,786       894,449         (511,337)     

Fund Balances, Beginning 3,346,281       3,346,281       -             
Fund Balances, Ending 4,752,067$      4,240,730$      (511,337)$     

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
TIRZ # 3 (SIENNA) FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-17

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties 505,675$  704,356$  198,681$  
Investment income 12,765      23,582      10,817      

Total revenues 518,440    727,938    209,498    

Expenditures
Current:

General government 4,500        680,638    -           
Debt service:

Principal 80,000      80,000      -           
Interest and fiscal charges 227,100    227,025    75            

Total expenditures 311,600    987,663    75            
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 206,840    (259,725)   209,573    

Other Financing Sources (Uses) -           
Transfers (to) other funds (33,600)     (42,264)     8,664        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (33,600)     (42,264)     8,664        

 Net Change in Fund Balance 173,240    (301,989)   (475,229)   

Fund Balances, Beginning 1,105,068  1,105,068  -           
Fund Balances, Ending 1,278,308$ 803,079$    (475,229)$  

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
PID # 2 (VICKSBURG) FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-18

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes and penalties 388,707$  397,071$  8,364$      
Investment income 3,923        6,896        2,973        

Total revenues 392,630    403,967    11,337      

Expenditures
Current:

General government -           600          -           
Debt service:

Principal 145,000    145,000    -           
Interest and fiscal charges 215,400    208,044    7,356        

Total expenditures 360,400    353,644    7,356        
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 32,230      50,323      18,693      

Other Financing Sources (Uses) -           
Transfers (to) other funds (33,600)     (20,000)     (13,600)     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (33,600)     (20,000)     (13,600)     

 Net Change in Fund Balance (1,370)      30,323      31,693      

Fund Balances, Beginning 243,446    243,446    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 242,076$    273,769$    31,693$     

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
PID # 4 (CREEKMONT) FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-19

Final 
Budget

GAAP 
Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Other taxes 200,000$  270,487$  70,487$    
Investment income 12,756      10,182      (2,574)      

Total revenues 212,756    280,669    67,913      

Expenditures
Current: ‐              

General government 346,408    265,741    -           

Total expenditures 346,408    265,741    -           
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (133,652)   14,928      67,913      

Other Financing Sources (Uses) -           
Transfers (to) other funds (25,100)     (25,100)     -           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (25,100)     (25,100)     -           

 Net Change in Fund Balance (158,752)   (10,172)     148,580    

Fund Balances, Beginning 647,374    647,374    -           
Fund Balances, Ending 488,622$    637,202$    148,580$    

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-20

Final Budget GAAP Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues

Taxes:
Property taxes and penalties 9,464,955$     9,391,252$      (73,703)$        

Investment income 194,950         143,029          (51,921)          
Total revenues 9,659,905       9,534,281        (125,624)        

Expenditures
Debt service:

Principal 6,381,119       6,381,119        -                
Interest and fiscal charges 3,524,237       3,280,660        243,577         

Total expenditures 9,905,356       9,661,779        243,577         
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (245,451)        (127,498)         117,953         

Fund Balances, Beginning 4,909,113       4,909,113        -                
Fund Balances, Ending 4,663,657$      4,781,610$       117,953$         

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
DEBT SERVICE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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Exhibit C-21

Final Budget GAAP Actual

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues
Taxes:

Other taxes 5,164,828$     4,480,114$      (684,714)$      
Intergovernmental revenues 4,022,823       4,022,823        -                
Other revenue 72,200           72,200            -                
Investment income 423,400         464,972          41,572           

Total revenues 9,683,251       9,040,109        (643,142)        

Expenditures
Current:

Planning 3,952,129       2,383,255        1,568,874       
Capital outlay 35,717,102     12,675,736      23,041,366     

Total expenditures 39,669,231     15,058,991      24,610,240     
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (29,985,980)    (6,018,882)      23,967,098     

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 1,546,495       1,546,495        -                
Transfers (to) other funds (2,125,000)     (2,125,000)      -                

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (578,505)        (578,505)         -                

 Net Change in Fund Balance (30,564,485)    (6,597,387)      23,967,098     

Fund Balances, Beginning (as restated) 24,002,209     24,002,209      -                
Fund Balances, Ending (6,562,276)$     17,404,822$     23,967,098$     

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fifteen Months Ended  September 30, 2018
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STATISTICAL SECTION 

 
This part of the City's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a 
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures and 
required supplementary information says about the City's overall financial health. 
 

Contents  Page 
Financial Trends  
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand 
how the City's financial performance and well-being have changed over 
time. 
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Revenue Capacity  
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City's 
most significant local revenue source, the property tax. 
 

 

131 

Debt Capacity  
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the 
affordability of the City's current levels of outstanding debt and the City's 
ability to issue additional debt in the future. 
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Demographic and Economic Information   
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the 
reader understand the environment within which the City's financial 
activities take place. 
 

 

140 

Operating Information  
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
understand how the information in the City's financial report relates to the 
services the City provides and the activities it performs. 
 
 

 

144 

   
Sources - Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the 
comprehensive annual financial report for the relevant year.  
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(accrual basis of accounting)

2009 (4) 2010 (4) 2011 (4)     2012(2)(4)

Governmental Activities

 Investment in capital assets 61,284,054$     83,919,838$       90,854,187$       112,072,157$   
 Restricted 13,202,591       15,252,973         15,820,812         17,692,029       
 Unrestricted 16,144,474       9,040,742          5,925,353          1,007,456         
 Total Governmental 
Activities Net Position 90,631,119$     108,213,553$     112,600,352$     130,771,642$   

 Business-type Activities 

 Investment in capital assets 8,561,629$       9,847,115$         16,338,112$       19,054,462$     
 Restricted 14,749,488       12,560,142         10,223,549         10,361,178       
 Unrestricted 1,320,290         4,822,761          3,222,763          6,019,700         
 Total Business-type 
Activities Net Position 24,631,407$     27,230,018$       29,784,424$       35,435,340$     

 Primary Government 

 Net investment in capital 
assets 69,845,683$     93,766,953$       107,192,299$     131,126,619$   
 Restricted 27,952,079       27,813,115         26,044,361         28,053,207       
 Unrestricted 17,464,764       13,863,503         9,148,116          7,027,156         
 Total Primary Government 
Net Position 115,262,526$   135,443,571$     142,384,776$     166,206,982$   

 
 
 

(1) - 2007 includes the phase-in of street infrastructure. 
(2)  - 2012 includes the adjustment for deferred charges and bond issuance costs. Only FY12 was restated as the 
changes were minimal. 
(3) - 2015 the City implemented GASB 68 in fiscal year 2015. Although beginning balances as of 6/30/2014 
were restated, it was not practicable to restate previous periods as information was not available. 
(4) - 2009-20014 balances have been restated to reflect certain contractual obligations payable net of capital 
assets. 

  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

121 

Table 1

2013 (4) 2014(3)(4)     2015(3)
2016 2017 2018

108,022,705$   104,175,517$   113,896,557$   112,877,527$   116,292,562$   118,436,911$    
19,198,630       15,155,170       16,142,254       18,767,355       7,977,819        7,626,379         

(60,641)           (5,145,871)       (12,618,360)     (15,929,148)     (8,398,199)       (15,052,987)      

127,160,694$   114,184,816$   117,420,451$   117,420,451$   115,872,182$   111,010,303$    

28,168,337$     27,400,088$     18,214,954$     19,296,480$     26,490,293$     35,154,398$      
639,682           5,064,997        -                 -                 -                 -                  

9,212,724        11,747,734       29,306,651       30,464,095       27,715,373       22,371,533        

38,020,743$     44,212,819$     47,521,605$     49,760,575$     54,205,666$     57,525,931$      

136,191,042$   131,575,605$   132,111,511$   132,174,007$   142,782,855$   153,591,309      
19,838,312       20,220,167       16,142,254       18,767,355       7,977,819        7,626,379         
9,152,083        6,601,863        16,688,291       14,534,947       19,317,174       7,318,546         

165,181,437$   158,397,635$   164,942,056$   165,476,309$   170,077,848$   168,536,234$    
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(accrual basis of accounting)

2009 (2) 2010 (2) 2011 (2)     2012 (2)

Expenses

Governmental Activities

General government 6,422,236$       4,656,737$       4,257,336$       4,005,420$       

Finance 2,663,164         2,514,696         1,811,994         1,727,595         

Police 10,980,913       10,292,595       11,357,484       12,359,028       

Fire 6,608,560         6,607,916         6,535,135         7,123,068         

Public works 7,828,700         8,027,165         9,613,495         9,804,954         

Parks and recreation 5,028,950         3,074,830         3,194,143         3,603,491         

Planning 2,565,530         1,709,211         4,907,638         5,462,866         

Interest and fiscal agent fees on long-term debt 3,639,743         3,720,409         4,643,435         4,785,434         
Total Governmental Activities Expenses 45,737,796       40,603,559       46,320,660       48,871,856       

Business-type activities

Water and Wastewater Utilities 2,952,601         1,922,907         2,706,585         2,700,461         

Surface Water Treatment 2,398,963         2,073,770         3,113,792         4,173,978         

Solid Waste Collections 1,514,934         2,522,659         

Golf Course 2,034,704         2,257,164         2,595,108         2,654,844         
Total Business-type Activities Expenses 7,386,269         6,253,841         9,930,419         12,051,942       

Total Primary Government Expenses 53,124,065$     46,857,400$     56,251,079$     60,923,798$     

Program Revenues

Governmental Activities

Charges for services

General government 293,690$         382,880$         412,808$         276,584$         

Police 1,477,773         1,394,146         1,326,178         1,851,731         

Fire 331,350           1,191,994         1,189,702         1,006,196         

Public works 23,870             71,292             748,294           61,365             

Parks and recreation 1,718,336         252,510           173,665           192,867           

Planning 1,417,340         1,413,497         1,449,621         2,484,365         

Operating grants and contributions 3,650,069         2,613,329         1,423,400         1,977,220         

Capital grants and contributions 2,588,969         14,787,403       8,522,316         24,370,740       
Total Governmental Activities Program 
Revenues 11,501,397       22,107,051       15,245,984       32,221,069       

Business-type Activities

Charges for services:

Water and Wastewater Utilities 1,503,578         1,461,042         1,996,039         2,345,137         

Surface Water Treatment 2,823,077         4,716,891         6,114,915         7,315,810         

Solid Waste Collections 1,695,948         2,528,097         

Golf Course 1,591,869         2,046,588         2,640,130         2,709,168         

Operating grants and contributions 194,767           44,478             784,711           735,558           

Capital grants and contributions 3,827,735         -                  251,532           1,931,950         

Total Business-type Activities Program 
Revenues 9,941,026         8,268,999         13,483,274       17,565,720       

Total Primary Government Program 
Revenues 21,442,423$     30,376,051$     28,729,258$     49,786,788$     

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities (34,236,399)$    (18,496,509)$    (31,074,676)$    (16,650,789)$    

Business-type activities 2,554,757         2,015,158         3,552,857         5,513,778         
Total Primary Government Net Expense (31,681,641)$    (16,481,350)$    (27,521,820)$    (11,137,011)$    
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Table 2

Page 1 of 2

2013 (2) 2014 (2) 2015 (1)
2016 2017 2018

4,142,781$       4,634,444$       6,492,267$         7,841,833$         9,480,629$     14,685,034$       

1,782,997         1,796,195         1,759,615          1,870,127          1,984,993       2,412,310          

12,172,891       13,380,007       13,039,962         15,330,234         15,754,861     19,181,580        

7,664,736         7,768,603         7,843,356          9,308,340          9,837,771       11,895,168        

16,084,371       12,741,972       18,163,336         16,645,172         15,422,548     18,407,432        

3,891,667         4,013,806         4,026,878          4,107,637          4,367,231       5,734,819          

3,403,015         2,628,644         1,744,218          1,788,303          2,029,829       4,605,253          

4,635,593         5,179,115         4,272,821          4,382,162          4,028,758       5,114,943          

53,778,051       52,142,786       57,342,453         61,273,808         62,906,620     82,036,539        

2,580,551         2,986,595         3,093,633          5,434,860          3,373,696       5,656,670          

5,085,212         5,339,073         5,283,401          4,205,243          5,907,887       8,707,936          

2,956,836         3,469,203         3,679,094          3,773,446          3,614,938       4,541,814          

3,789,856         3,859,137         3,621,548          3,803,917          3,948,931       5,004,014          

14,412,455       15,654,008       15,677,676         17,217,466         16,845,452     23,910,434        

68,190,506$     67,796,794$     73,020,129$       78,491,274$       79,752,072$   105,946,973$     

274,073$         280,813$         389,674$           -$                  101,605$        33,651$             

2,081,156         1,640,668         1,611,817          1,838,574          1,539,316       1,861,538          

1,044,976         1,197,436         1,471,507          1,114,253          1,738             2,815,435          

548,122           582,542           949,887             228,360             288,976         615,359             

286,702           345,499           391,203             397,744             449,888         496,122             

1,868,943         1,941,428         2,157,000          2,116,620          4,258,684       6,594,391          

2,502,684         2,467,479         1,258,291          2,624,540          3,424,595       5,306,914

6,478,849         4,027,446         9,602,877          3,835,598          1,063,192       64,550

15,085,505       12,483,311       17,832,256         12,155,689         11,127,994     17,787,960        

2,475,142         7,103,409         4,207,171          2,414,704          3,423,948       5,077,365          

8,661,397         6,722,751         7,364,722          7,775,833          8,625,149       13,058,646        

2,988,082         3,446,411         3,688,185          3,914,416          3,811,381       4,391,811          

3,320,262         3,446,732         3,487,697          3,817,729          3,919,448       4,711,428          

-                  -                  -                   1,341,000          -                -                   

12,520             494,178           111,227             9,750                1,893,076       -                   

17,457,403       21,213,481       18,859,002         19,273,432         21,673,002     27,239,250        

32,542,908$     33,696,792$     36,691,258$       31,429,121$       32,800,996$   45,027,210$       

(38,692,546)$    (39,659,474)$    (39,510,197)$      (49,118,119)$      (51,778,626)$  (64,248,579)$     

3,044,948         5,559,473         3,181,326          2,055,966          4,827,550       3,328,816          

(35,647,597)$    (34,100,001)$    (36,328,871)$      (47,062,153)$      (46,951,076)$  (60,919,763)$     
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City of Missouri City, Texas
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2009 (2) 2010 (2) 2011 (2)     2012 (2)

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities

Taxes

Property taxes 23,404,548$     25,175,634$     24,693,069$     24,054,499$     

Sales and use taxes 6,170,586         5,910,970         5,926,280         6,249,961         

Franchise taxes 2,762,379         3,045,855         2,957,632         3,128,028         

Investment earnings 1,486,422         998,930           59,195             830,936           

Other 252,985           745,745           417,443           98,530             

Gain on Sale of Assets -                  -                  -                  -                  

Transfers 773,010           201,809           1,407,857         460,124           
Total Governmental Activities 34,849,930       36,078,942       35,461,476       34,822,078       

Business-type Activities

Investment earnings 456,135           785,261           344,470           565,070           

Other revenues -                  -                  64,937             31,274             

Transfers (773,010)          (201,809)          (1,407,857)       (460,124)          
Total Business-type Activities (316,875)          583,452           (998,450)          136,220           

Total Primary Government 34,533,055$     36,662,394$     34,463,026$     34,958,297$     

Change in Net Position

Governmental activities 613,531$         17,582,433$     4,386,800$       18,171,289$     

Business-type activities 2,237,884         2,598,610         2,554,407         5,650,000         
Total Primary Government 2,851,415$       20,181,043$     6,941,206$       23,821,289$     
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Table 2

Page 2 of 2

2013 (2) 2014 (2) 2015 (1)
2016 2017 2018

24,297,769$     27,311,330$     28,657,996$       32,072,287$       37,284,254$   41,915,313$       

7,165,628         7,708,738         8,684,423          8,879,005          8,406,471       12,215,369        

3,270,712         3,751,269         3,673,724          4,474,450          5,667,371       6,948,121          

(555,974)          654,572           792,273             912,451             107,009         1,120,334          

667,096           694,553           569,085             525,388             169,806         1,200,103

-                  -                  -                   147,194             108,017         180,217

236,366           (98,574)            368,331             402,627             394,000         640,811             

35,081,597       40,021,888       42,745,832         47,413,402         52,136,928     64,220,268        

(234,259)          470,075           495,791             585,631             11,541           503,153             

11,082             63,954             -                   -                   -                129,107             

(236,366)          98,574             (368,331)            (402,627)            (394,000)        (640,811)           

(459,543)          632,603           127,460             183,004             (382,459)        (8,551)               

34,622,054$     40,654,491$     42,873,292$       47,596,406$       51,754,469$   64,211,717$       

(3,610,949)$      362,414$         3,235,635$         (1,704,717)$       358,302$        (28,311)$           

2,585,405         6,192,076         3,308,786          2,238,970          4,445,091       3,320,265          

(1,025,544)$      6,554,490$       6,544,421$         534,253$           4,803,393$     3,291,954$        

 
 
 

(1) - 2015 the City implemented GASB 68 in fiscal year 2015. It was not practicable to restate previous periods 
as information was not available. 

(2) 2009-2014 balances have been restated to reflect certain contractual obligations payable net of capital 
assets. 
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2009 2010 2011 2012

General Fund
Nonspendable 3,424$           6,022$           6,022$           6,022$           
Committed -                -                383,302         -                
Assigned -                -                -                585,417         
Unassigned 7,638,590       8,351,416       8,676,401       7,823,805       

Total General Fund 9,330,123$     7,642,014$     8,357,438$     8,415,244$     

All Other Governmental Funds

Nonspendable -$              -$              -$              -$              

Restricted

Parks and trail systems 354,301         -                447,007         -                

Law enforcement 225,786         305,823         418,334         655,162         

Construction/Improvemen 24,708,417     18,361,758     22,178,384     11,632,664     

Debt service 3,577,337       4,908,681       6,286,812       6,704,909       

Parkland dedication 1,174,842       1,151,998       1,210,395       939,144         

Community development 4,463,669       6,518,100       5,468,888       6,261,304       

Drainage -                -                71,007           -                

Transportation 2,664,621       2,138,046       3,439,451       -                

Sidewalk construction -                223,435         234,972         -                

Unassigned -                -                -                -                
 Total All Other 
Governmental Funds 29,172,995$   37,168,973$   33,607,841$   26,193,183$   
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Table 3

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

8,134$           7,316$           169,007$        123,092$        291,340$        286,279$        
-                -                -                -                -                -                

163,151         -                -                -                -                -                
8,248,141       8,944,853       9,272,658       12,181,379     13,290,439     11,566,105     
8,419,426$     8,952,169$     9,441,665$     12,304,471$   13,581,779$   11,852,384$   

-$              -$              -$              766,834$        1,237,252$     1,239,071$     

-                -                -                -                -                -                

853,324         837,630         832,609         808,608         1,207,465       1,496,076       

5,543,353       3,821,979       15,032,280     10,166,181     24,327,421     17,917,828     

5,750,142       5,559,287       6,084,493       5,312,160       4,909,113       4,803,583       

1,052,354       1,253,642       1,162,997       1,291,044       1,328,559       872,632         

7,444,638       6,207,825       6,776,411       8,968,645       10,774,771     12,629,429     

-                -                -                -                -                -                

3,131,131       3,155,217       3,116,809       3,637,111       

-                -                -                -                -                -                

-                507,604         -                -                -                -                

23,774,942$   21,343,184$   33,005,599$   30,950,583$   43,784,581$   38,958,619$   
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2009 2010 2011 2012
Revenues

Taxes 29,630,556$   31,150,613$    30,726,604$     30,181,806$      
Licenses and permits 1,441,210       1,441,394        1,675,038         1,417,337         
Fines and forfeitures 1,248,034       1,167,287        1,094,903         1,202,259         
Franchise taxes 2,762,379       3,045,855        2,957,632         3,128,027         
Intergovernmental 2,003,432       5,398,020        9,859,462         7,840,755         
Other revenues 3,943,321       4,202,067        1,415,240         2,383,676         
Charges for services 293,690         298,084          1,639,127         1,440,874         

Total Revenues 41,322,622     46,703,320      49,368,006       47,594,734       

Expenditures
General government 5,542,848       4,253,742        3,939,181         3,988,853         
Finance 2,344,433       2,498,124        1,703,528         1,665,912         
Police 9,755,727       9,734,061        10,673,346       11,416,463       
Fire 6,294,528       6,335,680        6,275,501         6,281,297         
Public works 4,352,584       4,213,970        3,795,224         3,832,721         
Parks and recreation 2,587,699       2,401,477        2,269,798         2,489,545         
Planning 2,489,090       2,200,941        2,032,676         1,948,329         
Capital outlay 12,287,900     29,901,641      20,357,036       21,512,507       
Debt service

Principal 4,211,514       4,930,424        5,598,893         6,571,174         
Interest, fiscal charges and other 4,212,872       4,130,980        4,694,709         4,290,606         

Total Expenditures 54,079,195     70,601,040      61,339,892       63,997,407       

(Deficiency) of Revenues
(Under) Expenditures (12,756,573)    (23,897,720)     (11,971,886)      (16,402,673)      

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 1,395,535       2,105,563        2,310,617         1,571,128         
Transfers (to) other funds (708,194)        (1,527,736)      (1,059,888)       (1,111,004)        
Issuance of debt 21,084,994     20,390,000      17,300,000       1,730,000         
Proceeds of refunding bonds -                12,325,000      -                  -                  
Refunding bonds paid to escrow -                (12,506,000)     -                  -                  
Bond premium/discount 242,464         265,185          276,852           -                  
Capital contributions -                -                 -                  -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 22,014,799     21,052,012      18,827,581       2,190,124         

Net Change in Fund Balances 9,258,226$     (2,845,708)$     6,855,695$       (14,212,549)$    

Debt service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures
20.2% 22.3% 25.1% 25.6%
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Table 4

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

32,120,862$   35,116,877$   37,862,638$   41,002,147$   48,641,072$   58,462,562$   
1,868,943       1,941,428       2,157,000       2,117,010       2,284,359       3,533,623       
1,080,019       837,891         943,282         1,007,932       953,088         1,299,335       
3,270,712       3,751,269       4,063,398       4,474,450       4,415,992       5,585,431       
9,419,782       5,066,267       10,673,491     6,313,317       3,507,075       7,929,197       
1,602,429       3,732,296       1,542,101       1,496,528       698,386         3,340,588       
1,139,516       1,165,897       2,857,242       2,730,858       655,524         770,608         

50,502,263     51,611,925     60,099,152     59,142,242     61,155,496     80,921,344     

3,959,679       4,172,766       5,969,645       7,099,377       8,886,411       14,683,624     
1,700,717       1,702,068       1,590,230       1,647,227       1,786,676       2,198,262       

11,402,549     12,145,928     11,964,426     13,582,025     13,385,041     17,922,858     
7,096,264       7,642,673       7,025,891       7,819,682       8,179,280       10,594,235     
3,878,658       4,091,991       6,166,096       6,102,143       5,677,834       9,757,493       
2,615,376       2,765,536       2,683,448       2,613,566       2,770,361       3,741,421       
1,939,311       1,974,274       1,496,168       1,695,864       4,449,921       4,464,818       

11,365,928     11,828,844     10,457,395     11,077,322     7,016,623       13,794,690     

6,288,464       6,648,391       6,297,167       7,146,781       7,127,955       7,886,546       
4,180,418       3,900,674       4,070,196       4,869,498       3,978,663       4,546,828       

54,427,364     56,873,145     57,720,662     63,653,485     63,258,765     89,590,775     

(3,925,101)      (5,261,220)     2,378,490       (4,511,243)     (2,103,269)     (8,669,431)     

1,646,589       2,053,961       2,597,255       2,809,475       2,973,032       5,781,439       
(1,591,091)      (1,635,075)     (2,228,924)      (1,346,115)     (2,579,032)     (4,231,761)     
1,400,000       2,730,000       8,600,000       3,080,000       14,445,000     -                

-                8,293,500       3,381,162       37,387,537     -                -                
-                (8,587,151)     (3,459,489)      (43,756,578)    -                -                

55,551           506,971         883,417         6,377,880       1,195,371       -                
-                -                -                -                -                564,396         

1,511,049       3,362,206       9,773,421       4,552,199       16,034,371     2,114,074       

(2,414,052)$    (1,899,014)$    12,151,911$   40,956$         13,931,102$   (6,555,357)$    

24.3% 23.4% 21.9% 22.9% 19.7% 16.4%  
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Table 5

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

ASSESSED VALUE AND ESTIMATED VALUE

OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Less: Total Taxable Total
Ended Residential Commercial Personal Tax-Exempt Assessed Direct

September 30 (2) Property Property Property Real Property Value (1)
Tax Rate

2009 3,556,035,984$    995,874,085$     219,067,020$   356,586,213$   4,414,390,876$    0.51724$  
2010 3,553,265,304      1,079,112,582    222,974,938     402,163,149     4,453,189,675      0.52840    
2011 3,507,174,930      1,042,709,883    249,976,257     420,384,596     4,379,476,474      0.52840    
2012 3,380,198,444      1,035,957,512    253,710,761     414,654,210     4,255,212,507      0.52840    
2013 3,408,987,167      1,088,870,799    274,878,700     478,290,353     4,294,446,313      0.54480    
2014 3,501,328,319      1,235,164,588    356,499,475     589,463,716     4,503,528,666      0.57375    
2015 3,813,318,015      1,327,129,879    463,859,231     745,234,055     4,859,073,524      0.56500    
2016 4,248,824,206      1,324,880,464    532,871,547     328,414,295     5,204,346,175      0.54468    
2017 5,068,072,199      1,144,444,276    485,784,138     430,886,358     6,267,414,255      0.56010    
2018 5,276,092,157      1,235,369,722    579,073,506     419,886,545     6,670,648,840      0.60000    

Source - Tax assessor/collector's records.

(1)
 Property is assessed at actual value; therefore, the assessed values are equal to actual value.

Tax rates are per $100 of assessed value.
(2)

 Prior to 2018, fiscal year-end was June 30.  
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FORT BEND COUNTY

Blue Ridge Fort Bend Fort Bend Meadowcreek Palmer Plant. First Colony Palmer Plant.
West MUD MUD #26 Co. WCID #2 MUD Quail Valley UD MUD #1 MUD #9

Over- Over- Over- Over- Over- Over- Over- Over- Over-
Fiscal MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping
Year Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate

2009 0.42 2.80 0.67 3.05 0.18 2.56 0.10 2.48 0.00 2.38 0.68 3.06 0.30 2.87 0.49 2.87 0.95 3.33

2010 0.42 2.84 0.70 3.13 0.18 2.61 0.10 2.53 0.00 2.43 0.69 3.12 0.30 2.91 0.50 2.92 0.95 3.38

2011 0.41 2.87 0.71 3.17 0.18 2.64 0.10 2.56 0.00 2.46 0.74 3.20 0.31 2.96 0.52 2.98 0.95 3.41

2012 0.41 2.88 0.86 3.33 0.18 2.65 0.10 2.57 0.00 2.47 0.74 3.20 0.32 2.98 0.52 2.98 0.95 3.42

2013 0.41 2.82 0.86 3.27 0.18 2.59 0.10 2.51 0.00 2.41 0.74 3.14 0.03 2.63 0.54 2.95 0.95 3.36

2014 0.41 2.85 0.91 3.35 0.18 2.62 0.10 2.54 0.00 2.44 0.76 3.19 0.32 2.91 0.54 2.98 0.95 3.39

2015 0.43 2.90 0.85 3.32 0.18 2.65 0.10 2.57 0.00 2.47 0.56 3.03 0.28 2.91 0.53 3.00 0.94 3.41

2016 0.42 2.88 0.82 3.28 0.21 2.67 0.10 2.56 0.00 2.46 0.48 2.94 0.26 2.87 0.46 2.92 0.84 3.30

2017 0.41 2.88 0.80 3.28 0.21 2.69 0.10 2.57 0.00 2.47 0.48 2.95 0.26 2.88 0.45 2.92 0.62 3.09

2018 0.41 2.88 0.80 3.28 0.21 2.69 0.42 2.89 0.00 2.47 0.45 2.92 0.24 2.86 0.62 3.09 0.62 3.09

HARRIS COUNTY

Harris County Southwest
WC & ID Harris County Harris County

(Fondren Road) MUD #1 MUD #122
Over- Over- Over- Houston

Fiscal MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping Missouri Houston Comm. Harris (3)

Year Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate City ISD College County

2009 0.54 2.94 0.61 3.01 0.87 3.27 0.52 1.16 0.09 0.64

2010 0.54 2.95 0.71 3.12 0.87 3.28 0.53 1.16 0.09 0.64

2011 0.54 2.95 0.71 3.12 0.87 3.28 0.53 1.16 0.09 0.64

2012 0.54 2.96 0.71 3.13 0.87 3.29 0.53 1.16 0.10 0.64

2013 0.58 3.02 0.82 3.26 0.84 3.28 0.54 1.16 0.10 0.64

2014 0.60 3.09 0.82 3.31 0.80 3.29 0.57 1.19 0.10 0.64

2015 0.60 3.07 0.82 3.29 0.75 3.22 0.54 1.20 0.10 0.63

2016 0.60 3.09 0.82 3.31 0.70 3.19 0.56 1.20 0.10 0.63

2017 0.58 3.08 0.64 3.14 0.68 3.18 0.56 1.21 0.10 0.64

2018 0.57 3.11 0.62 3.16 0.66 3.20 0.60 1.21 0.10 0.64

Note - Property Tax rates based on per $100 of assessed valuation.

MUD #2

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

PROPERTY TAX RATES -
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS (1)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

MUD #49
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Table 6

Fort Bend Thunderbird Fort Bend Fort Bend Fort Bend Fort Bend
MUD #46 MUD MUD #42 MUD #47 MUD #48 MUD #115

Over- Over- Over- Over- Over- Over- First (2) Fort Fort Houston
MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping MUD lapping Colony Mo. Bend Bend Comm.
Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate LID City ISD County College

0.90 3.28 0.00 2.38 0.42 2.80 1.04 3.42 0.88 3.26 0.53 2.91 0.19 0.52 1.27 0.50 0.09

0.88 3.31 0.00 2.43 0.42 2.85 1.04 3.47 0.88 3.31 0.50 2.93 0.19 0.53 1.31 0.50 0.09

0.88 3.34 0.00 2.46 0.43 2.89 1.04 3.50 0.88 3.34 0.50 2.96 0.19 0.53 1.34 0.50 0.09

0.88 3.35 0.00 2.47 0.43 2.90 1.04 3.51 0.88 3.35 0.50 2.97 0.19 0.53 1.34 0.50 0.10

0.90 3.30 0.00 2.41 0.43 2.84 1.17 3.58 0.88 3.29 0.50 2.91 0.19 0.54 1.34 0.42 0.10

0.90 3.33 0.00 2.44 0.43 2.87 1.12 3.56 0.88 3.32 0.50 2.94 0.16 0.57 1.34 0.43 0.10

0.90 3.33 0.00 2.44 0.42 2.87 0.95 3.56 0.98 3.32 0.50 2.94 0.15 0.54 1.34 0.49 0.10

0.90 3.36 -  2.46 0.40 2.86 0.95 3.41 0.96 3.42 0.44 2.90 0.15 0.56 1.34 0.46 0.10

0.90 3.37 0.00 2.47 0.38 2.85 0.92 3.40 0.96 3.43 0.44 2.91 0.15 0.56 1.34 0.47 0.10

0.90 3.37 0.00 2.47 0.38 2.85 0.92 3.40 0.96 3.43 0.44 2.91 0.15 0.60 1.32 0.45 0.10

(1) - Total overlapping tax rate per property is determined by adding county tax rate, school

rate, applicable utility district rate, and Missouri City tax rate.  Entities created with no

tax rates are:  Fort Bend County MUD #'s 36, 45, 54, 55, 56, 60 and Colony Bay

Levy Improvement District.  The overlapping rates include direct and overlapping tax

rates.

(2) - Serves only First Colony MUD #9.

(3) - Harris County tax rate includes Harris County, Harris County Flood Control District, Port

of Houston Authority, Harris County Department of Education, Harris County Hospital

District, and Harris County Toll Road District.
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Table 7

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

Current Year and  Nine Years Ago

2018 2009

% of % of
Taxable Total Taxable Taxable Total Taxable

Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed
Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Ben E Keith CO 34,389,667$        1 0.52% $                        

Inland American Missouri City 29,759,476 2 0.45%
Riverstone LTD Partnership

  Elysian At Sienna Plantation LP 26,459,581 3 0.40%

MDC Coastal 2 LLC 26,378,429 4 0.40%

Niagra Bottling LLC 23,823,057 5 0.36%

Centerpoint Energy Electric 22,773,924 6 0.34% 20,810,390 2 0.47%

Kroger Texas LP 22,457,914 7 0.34%

Warren Alloy Valve & Fitting Co LLC 22,154,962 8 0.33%

Watermark Retreat at Sienna Plantation 21,886,657 9 0.33%

RELP Gateway LLC 21,541,105          10 0.32%

Riverstone Retail Parnters Ltd 39,464,490 1 0.89%

MF/WM Sienna Ltd 16,593,460 3 0.38%

Colony Lakes Center LTD 15,796,270 4 0.36%

Target Corporation 15,162,860 5 0.34%

Walmart Real Estate 13,005,840 6 0.29%

Comcast of Houston LLC 10,149,240 7 0.23%

Opus West LP 8,943,680 8 0.20%

La Paloma Blanca LA 8,740,650 9 0.20%

Vicksburg Estates LTD 8,417,120 10 0.19%
Subtotal 251,624,771 3.77% 157,084,000 3.56%

Other Taxpayers 6,419,024,069 96.23% 4,257,306,876 96.44%

Total 6,670,648,840$    100.00% 4,414,390,876$    100.00%

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
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Table 8

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Collected within the
Total Fiscal Year of the Levy Collections Total Collections to Date

Fiscal Tax Tax Levy % of in Subsequent % of
Year Rate and Adjust. Amount Levy Years Amount Levy

2009 0.51724$         22,835,266$        22,076,370$        96.68 736,130$       22,812,500$    99.90

2010 0.52840           23,507,100 22,834,605 97.14 615,233        23,449,838      99.76

2011 0.52840           23,145,280 22,611,412 97.69 466,366        23,077,778      99.71

2012 0.52840           22,491,150 22,066,951 98.11 327,329        22,394,280      99.57

2013 0.54480           23,400,790 22,933,338 98.00 331,165        23,264,503      99.42

2014 0.57375           25,846,014 25,401,743 98.28 387,049        25,788,792      99.78

2015 0.56500           27,460,890 26,989,826 98.28 412,724        27,402,550      99.79

2016 0.54468           29,672,159 29,174,012 98.32 455,279        29,629,291      99.86

2017 0.56010           33,531,574 32,880,030 98.06 408,121        33,288,151      99.27

2018 0.60000           33,806,373 33,193,759 98.19 -               33,193,759      98.19

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Governmental Activities
Fiscal Year General Certificates Increment

Ended Obligation of Contract Tax Capital

September 30 (2) Bonds Obligation Revenue Bonds Notes Leases

2009 59,640,000$   21,870,108$    6,100,000$        -$                -$         

2010 66,575,000     23,449,494      5,865,000          -                 -          

2011 71,425,000     30,602,810      5,620,000          -                 -          

2012 66,235,000     29,640,486      5,365,000          1,575,000        -          

2013 62,985,000     28,528,807      5,100,000          1,325,000        153,199    

2014 63,336,444     26,213,205      4,825,000          1,070,000        117,845    

2015 69,739,211     23,417,924      4,540,000          810,000           398,731    

2016 82,935,875 9,042,458        4,285,000          545,000           339,428    

2017 93,389,423 8,031,355        3,935,000          275,000           267,221    

2018 87,153,927 7,091,924        3,575,000          -                 451,648    

Source - Tax assessor/collector's records.

(1)
 See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics (Table 15) for personal income and population data

(2)
 - Prior to 2018, fiscal year-end was June 30
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Table 9

Business-type Activities
General Certificates Total % of

Obligation of Primary Personal Per

Bonds Obligation Government Income (1) Capita (1)

-$           3,169,889$        90,779,997$        3.93% 1,343$    

-            55,770,500        151,659,994        6.48% 2,226      

-            55,582,189        163,229,999        7.26% 2,376      

-            54,124,513        156,939,999        6.47% 2,249      

-            52,601,193        150,693,199        6.03% 2,095      

-            51,069,796        146,632,290        5.98% 2,019      

579,666      56,251,745        155,737,277        5.44% 1,938      

48,070,908 15,017,542        160,236,211        5.81% 2,161      

47,507,329 12,833,645        166,238,973        6.11% 2,230      

47,022,770 10,573,076        155,868,345        5.24% 2,018      
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Table 10

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
RATIOS OF NET GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

Last Ten Fiscal Years

% of
Less: Amounts Estimated

Fiscal Year General Available in Actual Taxable
Ended Obligation Debt Service Value of

June 30 Bonds Fund Total Property Per Capita

2009 59,640,000$   3,577,337$     56,062,663$   1.27% 829

2010 66,575,000     4,908,681       61,666,319     1.38% 905

2011 71,425,000     6,286,811       65,138,189     1.49% 948

2012 66,235,000     6,704,909       59,530,091     1.40% 853

2013 62,985,000     5,750,142       57,234,858     1.33% 796

2014 63,336,444     5,559,287       57,777,157     1.28% 796

2015 70,318,877     5,583,379       64,735,498     1.33% 805

2016 131,006,783   5,312,160 125,694,623   2.42% 1,695

2017 140,896,852   4,909,113 135,987,639   2.17% 1,695

2018 134,176,697   4,781,620 129,395,077   1.94% 1,675

 
Missouri Source: First Southwest Company and Texas Municipal Advisory Council. 
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Table 11

Governmental Unit
Blue Ridge West MUD $ 2,315,000 100.00 % 2,315,000$          
First Colony Levee Improvement District None 49.37 -                        
First Colony MUD No. 9 9,525,000 100.00 9,525,000
Fort Bend County 593,940,527 8.11 48,168,577
Fort Bend County MUD No. 26 9,775,000 100.00 9,775,000
Fort Bend County MUD No. 42 7,130,000 97.90 6,980,270
Fort Bend County MUD No. 45 None 100.00 -                        
Fort Bend County MUD No. 46 14,845,000 100.00 14,845,000
Fort Bend County MUD No. 47 5,805,000 100.00 5,805,000
Fort Bend County MUD No. 48 15,830,000 100.00 15,830,000
Fort Bend County MUD No. 49 500,000 100.00 500,000
Fort Bend County MUD No. 54 None 100.00 -                        
Fort Bend County MUD No. 56 None 100.00 -                        
Fort Bend County MUD No. 60 None 100.00 -                        
Fort Bend County MUD No. 115 8,740,000 100.00 8,740,000
Fort Bend County WCID No. 2 64,045,000 20.31 13,007,540
Fort Bend Independent School District 1,000,633,767 15.58 155,898,741
Harris County 2,200,173,022 0.06 1,320,104
Harris County Department of Education 6,555,000 0.06 3,933
Harris County Flood Control District 83,075,000 0.06 49,845
Harris County Hospital District 59,490,000 0.06 35,694
Harris County MUD No. 122 1,295,000          100.00 1,295,000            

Harris County Toll Road -                       (2) 0.05 -                        
Harris County WCID (Fondren Road) 2,640,000 100.00 2,640,000
Houston Community College System 580,635,000 2.95 17,128,733
Houston Independent School District 3,151,430,000 0.15 4,727,145            
Meadowcreek MUD None 100.00 -                        
Palmer Plantation MUD #1 None 100.00 -                        
Palmer Plantation MUD #2 5,125,000 100.00 5,125,000
Port of Houston Authority 613,699,397 0.06 368,220              
Quail Valley Utility District None 100.00 -                        
Sienna Plantation Levee Imp. District 100,530,000 7.30 7,338,690
Sienna Plantation Management District 32,485,000 100.00 32,485,000
Sienna Plantation MUD #10 58,995,000 0.10 58,995
Sienna Plantation MUD #12 55,030,000 7.67 4,220,801
Southwest Harris County MUD #1 1,590,000 100.00 1,590,000            

Total Overlapping Debt 369,777,286

City of Missouri City 98,272,499          

468,049,785        

Population 77,242                

Per Capita Debt-Direct and Overlapping 6,060$                

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt

Tax Supported Percentage Share

Debt Outstanding Applicable  (1) of Debt

Estimated Missouri City

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

September 30, 2018

City of

Source: First 
Southwest Company and Texas Municipal Advisory Council 
 
Note – Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the City. This schedule 
estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of the 
City. This process recognizes that, when considering the government’s ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt 
burden borne by residents and businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a 
resident, and therefore, responsible for repaying the debt of each overlapping government.  
 
(1) The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages were 
estimated by determining the portion of the overlapping government’s taxable assessed value that is within the City’s boundaries 
and dividing it by the overlapping government’s total taxable assessed value. 
 
(2) Harris County Toll Road debt is supported by toll revenue. No tax is levied to pay debt service  
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Table 12

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Per Capita
Ended Personal Personal Median School Unemployment

September 30 (5) Population Income (4) Income (1) Age (1) Enrollment (2) Rate (3)

2009 67,600        2,307,796,400$   34,139$  36          68,707             7.0%
2010 68,125        2,339,821,250     34,346    36          69,030             8.5%
2011 68,691        2,247,019,992     32,712    36          68,805             7.6%
2012 69,774        2,426,251,302     34,773    38          69,343             6.7%
2013 71,935        2,498,806,095     34,737    39          69,570             7.8%
2014 72,625        2,451,093,750     33,750    38          72,625             5.4%
2015 80,379        2,860,206,336     35,584    38          73,269             4.4%
2016 74,139        2,758,119,078     37,202    39          74,266             5.4%
2017 74,561        2,720,432,646     36,486    39          75,395             5.4%
2018 77,242        2,974,975,630     38,515    39          75,898             4.1%

n/a - information not available.

Data sources:
(1)

 Fort Bend Economic Development Council Quick Stats and Facts.
(2)

 Fort Bend Independent School District.
(3)

 Texas Workforce Commission, for Fort Bend County Labor Force.
(4)

 Personal income information is a total for the year.
(5)

 Prior to 2018, fiscal year-end was June 30
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Table 13

Employer Rank Rank

Fort Bend ISD 975 1 1.32 % 869 1 2.26 %

Wal-Mart Stores, LLP 650 2 0.88 400 2 1.04

Ben E. Keith 419 3 0.57

City of Missouri City 369 4 0.50 319 3 0.83

Twin Star Bakery 299 5 0.40

HEB 265 6 0.36 280 4 0.73

Super Target 255 7 0.34 185 5 0.48

Kroger 172 8 0.23 150 6 0.39

Home Depot 150 9 0.20 128 7 0.33

Niagara Bottling 133 10 0.18

EIM Company 125 8 0.33

Tamlyn & Sons 50 9 0.13

Kohl's Department Store 100 10 0.26

Total 3,687 4.97 % 2,606 6.79 %

Source - Missouri City Economic Development.

% of % of

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2018 2009

Employees Employment Employees Employment
Total City Total City
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CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Full-time Equivalent Employees as of June 30

Function 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

General government 43 44 41 40 40
Finance 16 16 16 16 16

Public safety
Police

Officers 78 78 86 94 94
Civilians 30 30 27 27 27

Fire
Firefighters 64 64 64 64 64
Civilians 1 1 1 1 1

Public works
Streets and sanitation 15 15 13 13 13
Administration and 
maintenance 23 23 20 25 26
Parks and recreation 21  21  21  15  17
Development Services 28 28 22 23 23

Total 319 320 311 318 321
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Table 14

Full-time Equivalent Employees as of June 30

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

36 37 39 42 44
16 17 17 16 17

97 97 100 101 102
35 36 37 44 47

77 77 77 77 77
1 1 1 1 2

13 13 13 13 14

24 25 25 24 27
18 18 18 18 19
18 17 17 18 20

335 338 344 354 369

  

DRAFT 03.15.19



 

144 

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Function
Police

Number of stations 1          1          1          2          2          2          
Arrests 1,456    1,690    2,019    1,794    1,903    1,499    
Accidents investigated 917       1,338    910       778       1,071    998       
Citations 16,677  12,145  13,637  12,591  12,385  8,238    
Alarm response calls 6,191    5,814    5,901    5,273    5,295    5,325    
Calls for service 27,249  26,635  26,841  26,133  66,332  104,504 

Fire
Number of stations 4          4          4          4          4          4          
Emergency responses 5,873    5,244    4,696    4,620    5,262    5,331    
Fire incidents 224       199       258       216       201       215       
EMS First Responder incidents 3,066    2,845    2,485    2,607    3,008    3,108    
Average response time 6:33 min 6:47 min 6:29 min 6:32 min 6:43 min 6:51 min

Public Works
Lane miles of streets maintained 556 605 637 637 637 637
Flexible pavement repairs 82        40        5          11        5          2          
Rigid pavement repairs 28        50        75        51        155       143       
Wastewater Treatment (million gallons) 433       460       530       762       750       821       
Fleet Operations

Vehicles maintained 134       145       142       144       159       162       
Equipment maintained 285       287       295       336       306       306       
Vehicle preventive maintenance 878       950       1,006    733       800       768       
Vehicle repairs 2,403    2,200    2,470    2,751    2,650    2,832    

Parks and recreation
Number of parks 33        33        35        35        35        35        
Acres 910 1,021 1,095 1,095 1,095 1,095
Park pavillion reservations 404       659       965       1,013    362       397       
Athletic field reservations 5,872    3,714    1,453    2,197    1,081    176       
Community center reservations 1,299    393       1,110    289       558       177       
Multi-Purpose Room -           -           -           -           -           -           

Planning
Permits issued 3,880    2,681    3,263    3,256    2,544    5,089    
Inspections performed 10,823  11,712  12,816  11,991  14,220  15,545  
Commercial plans reviewed 125       87        167       288       337       446       
Residential plans reviewed 227       248       182       302       515       622       

Source - Various City departments.  
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Table 15

2015 2016 2017 2018

2             2             2             2             
1,840       1,739       1,376       2,339       
1,132       1,766       1,446       1,712       

11,328      6,221       4,385       24,192      
6,419       5,601       4,347       4,633       

115,628    113,050    87,605      92,951      

4             5             5             5             
5,651       5,920       6,035       6,736       

161          205          207          206          
3,380       3,667       3,814       4,218       

6:44 min 6:49 min 6:34 min 6:14 min

637 637 637 637
0             0             0             0             

162          150          227          160          
890          922          926          1,177       

162          165          194          204          
306          305          334          361          
575          640          374          718          

2,375       2,422       1,635       2,694       

35            35            36            37            
1,057 1,225 1,061 1,071

500          502          479          554          
181          186          140          163          
96            93            137          167          

-              141          132          165          

6,975       6,919       6,322       6,461       
18,500      12,780      17,167      13,385      

450          552          1,250       1,392       
550          584          594          707          
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2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Public safety
Police

Stations 1 1 1 2 2
Patrol units 42 42 43 46 44

Fire
Stations 4 4 4 4 4

Public works
Streets (miles) 556 636 636 641 664

Parks and recreation
Parks acreage 910 1,021 1,095 1,095 1,095
Parks 33 33 35 35 35

Water and sewer
Water mains (miles) * 17 35 35 45 48
Fire hydrants * 209 370 370 417 433
Maximum water storage capacity 

(millions of gallons) 1 0.550 0.550 2.826 2.826
Sanitary sewers (miles) * 15 33 22 26 28
Storm sewers (miles) * 45 45 23 30 30
Maximum daily sewer treatment capacity

(millions of gallons) 1.500 1.500 3.950 3.950 3.950

n/a - information not available.

* Due to the nature of the City being serviced by various Municipal Utility districts
who provide these services directly to our citizens, the City owns very few
water mains, fire hydrants, sanitary sewers or storm sewers at this time.

Source  - Various City departments.

Note  - No capital asset indicators are available for the general government
 function.

Function

CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS
CAPITAL ASSETS STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Table 16

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2 2 2 2 2
42 44 44 87 56

4 4 5 5 5

637 637 637 603 637

1,095 1,095 1,225 1,225 1,071
35 35 35 35 37

31 32 38 38 38
245 255 266 266 266

4.326 4.326 4.326 4.326 4.326
21 22 22 22 25
9 9 87 87 87

3.950 3.950 3.950 3.950 3.950
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2018 – 2019 Council Priorities 
Near Term Priorities  Long Term Priorities 
 Public Safety   Increase City Revenues 

o Fire   City Branding 
o Code Enforcement   1092/5th Street Corridor 
o Police   Sta-Mo Park Revitalization 

 External Communications   
 Information Technology   

o Organizational IT 
Infrastructure 

  

o GIS   
 Municipal Utility Districts   
 Infrastructure   

o Streets & Sidewalks   
 

Status Update Key Codes 
 

Project Completed = Utilized for projects with a defined completion date.  If denoted with a blue 
square, this symbolizes that the project has reached 100% completion. 
 
Meets Goal or Exceeds Expectations = Utilized for both quantifiable goals, and, ongoing initiatives. If 
denoted with a green square, this symbolizes that the goal or initiative has met or has exceeded its target 
for this reporting period. 
 
Within 15% of Goal = Utilized for projects with completion dates, quantifiable goals, and, ongoing 
initiatives. This project or goal is within 1% - 15% of reaching its goal for this reporting period. 
 
Delayed/Lags = This project, goal, or initiative has either been delayed or is greater than 15% below its 
goal for this reporting period.  

 
 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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Departmental annual goals reflected in this report are drawn from the department’s 
annual budget. In the departments’ budget submissions, up to approximately ten 
major goals are set forth. Progress is tracked through quarterly Business Plan 
reporting to the City Manager. 
 
Hurricane Harvey caused some project and goal delays and led to re-prioritization of 
some initiatives. That being the case, staff has maintained focus and continues to 
work toward supporting Council’s priorities and reaching annual goals. 
 
When assessing departmental goals, an important note of clarification exists between 
a goal being classified as completed, or, meets/exceeds expectations. Both indicate 
that the goal has been fully met. Those classified as “completed” indicates that a 
completion date was set for the current fiscal year. Goals for which the department 
reached a specific target metric, such as a response time or percentage of cases 
completed within a timeframe, are noted as “meets/exceeds expectations.” 
 
We are pleased to report that, at the close of Fiscal Year 2018, seventy seven 
percent (77%) of the annual goals set by our departments were completed, 
met, or exceeded expectations. An additional eleven percent (11%) were within 
fifteen percent (15%) of reaching their annual goals. This leaves twelve percent 
(12%), which experienced a delay carrying over to Fiscal Year 2019.  
 

36%

41%

11%

12%
Major Initiatives – Citywide Summary

Project Completed Meets/Exceeds Expectations
Within 15% of Goal Delayed

  
 
  

Citywide Performance Summary 
Departmental Annual Goals 
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Fiscal Year 2018 marks the second year in which Missouri City departments have 
uniformly reported upon performance metrics. Our performance metrics track 
progress toward meeting benchmarks. Benchmarks were set based upon industry 
standards and staff’s professional assessment of reasonable, yet challenging, targets 
for improvement.  
 
During the previous budget cycle, all departments were challenged to review and to 
assess the utility of their performance metrics. Several departments discontinued the 
use of metrics that no longer provided operational insight and added new metrics 
consistent with national benchmarks. A formal review process requires future 
changes to metrics be reviewed by the department’s Assistant City Manager, or the 
City Manager, and the Chief Performance Officer. 
 
Similarly to the annual goals, some performance metrics will be classified as 
“complete.” Examples may be receiving a clean audit, or, receiving a recognition. We 
are pleased to report that, in fiscal year 2018, departments completed, met, or, 
exceeded expectations for seventy-two percent (72%) of all tracked metrics.  
 
Nineteen percent (19%) of performance goals are within fifteen percent (15%) of the 
target. Nine percent (9%) of metrics were greater than fifteen percent below their 
goal. Several of these delays were weather related or a result of priorities shifting 
during and immediately following Hurricane Harvey. Several were also impacted by 
outside organizations. Most projects which were delayed or did not reach within 
15% of their goal are anticipated for completion in spring of 2019. 

 

8%

64%

19%
9%

Performance Metrics – Citywide Summary

Project Completed Meets Goal/Exceeds Expectations

Within 15% of Goal Delayed

 

Citywide Performance Summary 
Performance Metrics 
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PERFORMANCE METRIC STATUS 

The Fire Marshal’s office will complete 90% of all 
initial inspections within 48 hours of request.   

Goal:                              85%  
Actual:                          90% 

 
 

The Fire Marshal’s office will instruct how to 
properly deploy a fire extinguisher to three of the 
four senior citizen’s apartment complexes within 
the city. 

Goal:                           100%  
Actual:                       100% 

 
 

Missouri City Fire & Rescue will respond to 90% of 
the fire calls within 7 minutes. 

Goal:                              73%  
Actual:                          71% 

 
 

Missouri Fire City & Rescue will respond to 90% of 
medicals calls within 7 minutes. 

Goal:                             72%  
Actual:                          75% 

 
 

Missouri City Fire & Rescue will contain residential 
structure fires to the involved area upon arrival. 

Goal:                           100%  
Actual:                       100% 

 
 

Missouri City Fire & Rescue will meet the 20-hour 
training requirement established by Texas 
Commission on Fire Protection and the nine to 
thirty-six hours EMS training, depending on one's 
level of certification as outlined by the Texas 
Department of Safety and Health. 

Goal:                              90%  
Actual:                          90% 

 
 

Public Safety 
Fire & Rescue Services 
Mission: To preserve life and 
property, promote a safe 
community and quality of life. 
 

Fire Department 
Key Performance Metrics 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Establish a stake holder committee 
to assess and research current and 
future technologies for inclusion in 
a technology plan. 

MCFRS given 12 month assessment will review 
and provide draft for future technologies for 
inclusion in a technology plan. 

 
 

Assess department’s training and 
development practices and make 
recommendations to enhance its 
outcomes. 

MCFRS given 12 month assessment will review 
and provide developmental practices to enhance 
its outcomes. 

 
 

Note: Pending hiring of new Training Chief. 
Assess the viability of developing a 
customer survey tool and develop 
a plan for implementation. 

MCFRS given 12 month assessment will review 
and provide a draft developing a customer survey 
tool. 

 
 

Note: Tool is created and in final stages of implementation. 
Research and present 
recommendations for enhanced 
work related health screenings. 

MCFRS given 12 month assessment will review 
and provide recommendations for health and 
wellness screenings. 

 
 

Research and develop 
recommendations for a 
deployment operations plan. 

CityGate – MCFRS given 12 month assessment will 
review and provide recommendations for a 
deployment operations plan. 

 
 

Assess and update response 
readiness of all emergency 
equipment. 

MCFR Equipment will respond to fire emergencies 
within 80 sec. and Medical Emergencies within 
60sec. of notification 

 
 

Note: Plan created in coordination with City Gate consultants. In 
implementation and review status. 

Review recommendation of 2017 
facilities study and final revision of 
the comprehensive plan to move 
forward with plans to build  
station 6. 

MCFRS given 12 month assessment will review 
and provide draft of 2017 final revision of the 
comprehensive plan to move forward with the 
committee/plans to build Station 6. 

 
 

Research and assess community 
risk reduction needs. 

MCFRS given 12 month assessment will review 
and provide draft for community risk reduction 
needs for Missouri City. 

 
 

Note: Established a smoke detector blitz program in conjunction 
with the Red Cross. The department commenced the Blitz on 
Nov. 10th. 

 

Fire Department Annual Goals - Status Updates 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Emergency Management will 
maintain annually updated 
emergency management plans, 
COOP programs, & private 
industry emergency plans. 

Emergency Management will maintain annually 
updated emergency management plans, COOP 
programs, & private industry emergency plans. 

 
 

Maintain and assess EOC 
capabilities monthly to include; 
EOC Radios, Laptops, 
documentation, and software 
systems. 

Maintain and assess EOC capabilities monthly to 
include; EOC Radios, Laptops, documentation, and 
software systems. 

 
 

OEM will provide an annual 
training schedule for all levels of 
EOC, ICS/NIMS, and leadership 
training. 

OEM will provide an annual training schedule for 
all levels of EOC, ICS/NIMS, and leadership 
training. 

 
 

 

Fire Department Annual Goals - Status Updates 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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Public Safety 
Police Department 
The Missouri City Police Department is a value driven 
organization committed to excellence; we understand 
cooperation and collaboration with the community will make 
Missouri City a Great Place to Live; Safe, Beautiful and Active. 

Police Department 
Key Performance Metrics 

PERFORMANCE METRIC STATUS 

Dispatch all priority one emergency calls within one 
minute of call finish. 

Goal:                                 50%  
Actual:                    77% 

 
 

Respond, on average, to all emergency calls (priority 1) in 
three (3) minutes or less. 

Goal:                                 75%  
Actual:                    48% 

 
 

Respond, on average, to all non-emergency calls for 
service in fifteen (15) minutes or less. 

Goal:                                 95%  
Actual:                    97% 

 
 

Maintain a clearance rate of Part I crimes, i.e. murder, 
rape, robbery, aggravated assaults, burglary, larceny, and 
auto theft above the Texas average. 

Goal:                             >18.6%  
Actual:                   29% 

 
 

Complete all PSI and Background Investigations as 
prescribed by policy. 

Goal:                               100%  
Actual:                 100% 

 
 

Process all offense and crash reports submitted to the 
Records Division on a daily basis. 

Goal:                               100%  
Actual:                 100% 

 
 

 
 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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Departmental Goals Status Updates 
 

DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Operational Improvement 
- Patrol  

Conduct 70,000 contacts (traffic and pedestrian) by 
end of fiscal year. 

 
 

Crime Reduction  
(Reduce Part I crimes) 

Reduce Part I crime in identified DDACTS area by 
10% over previous year. 

 
 

Crash Reduction  
(Reduce crashes) 

Reduce crashes in identified DDACTS area by 5% 
over previous year. 

 
 

Community Interaction 
(Attend HOA meetings) 

 

Attend at least 200 HOA / Town Hall meetings 
annually. 

 
 

Investigative Support 
(Increase clearance rate of 
Part I crimes) 

Increase our Clearance Rate on all Part I crimes by 
2% over previous year. 

 
 

Leadership Development 
(Succession planning) 

Host or attend at least 10 professional development 
courses focusing on officers, especially those at 
supervisory & command levels. 

 
 

Recruitment Until full staffing is reached, increase the number of 
candidates by participating in at least 12 job fairs. 

 
 

 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Operational Improvement 
– Code Enforcement 
(Targeted sweeps) 

Conduct 12 targeted neighborhood sweeps focusing on 
compliance and education. 

 
 

 

Public Safety - Code Enforcement 
The Missouri City Code Enforcement Division enforces locally adopted zoning laws and city codes to improve the quality 
of neighborhoods in Missouri City, ensure high maintenance standards, and ensures the health and safety of the public. 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

Code Enforcement 
Key Performance Metrics 

PERFORMANCE METRIC STATUS 

Conduct 3500 actions in support of code violations. Mid-Year Goal:   100%  
Mid-Year Actual:   123% 

 
 

 
 

Code Enforcement 
Annual Goals 
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PERFORMANCE METRIC STATUS 

Effective publication of news releases in at least one 
print or digital media publication and events on 
online calendars (Fort Bend Independent, FB 
Lifestyles Magazine, Houston Chronicle, Fort Bend 
Star, etc.) 

Goal:                                    98%  
Actual:                              100% 

 
 

Website Bounce Rate % 
(% of people that leave the website after only 
viewing the page they entered on) 

Goal:                                    30%  
Actual:                                49% 

 
 

% of New Website Visitors (subscribers, social 
media, videos) 

Tracking metric for baseline. 
Actual:                                72% 

 
 

% of Returning Website Visitors Tracking metric for baseline. 
Actual:                                28% 

 
 

% of Social media link shares (growth of 
FB/Twitter/YouTube) 

Goal:                                    60%  
Actual:                               9.3 % 

 
 

Notes: Hurricane Harvey and the Travis Scott event 
(who retweeted City posts to his 3.71 million 
followers in Q3) drove sharp increases in social 
media traffic during those periods. It is natural 
that these spike were followed by immediate 
decreases in following periods.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Communications 
External 
 

Communications Department 
Key Performance Metrics 

 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Finalize full implementation of newly 
redesigned City website 

Launch of redesigned website with all 
agreed upon specifications in Quarter 2.  
 

 
 

Design, develop, trademark and 
implement MVP branding and 
marketing logo/materials 

Completion of goal in Quarter 3 with 
review by Leadership Team. 

 
 

Notes: Logo trademark is pending per outside counsel. 
Launch/implementation of citywide, 
strategic marketing/branding 
campaigns for City mobile app 

Execution of marketing campaign 
through all citizens’ communications 
tools by June 2018. 

 
 

Upgrade of Council Chambers 
production/presentation technology, 
art and seating 

Completion of project by June 2018.  
 

Notes: Preliminary talks identified replacement needs. In 
process of receiving bids for upgrades to potentially 
include: replacement of podiums, multimedia 
equipment, and Crestron system; installation of LED 
panel for digital images; replacing mics, carpeted walls, 
lighting, and furniture. 

Improve and create efficiencies  in 
internal/external communications  

Update City media, outlet policies and 
procedures and launch social media and 
branding/marketing policies by June 
2018. 

 
 

Notes: Social media policy has been drafted. Media policy, 
branding and marketing policies and procedures are 
under review. Update was temporarily delayed due to 
other major projects and events. 

Communications 
External 
 Departmental Goals Status Updates 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

Continue revamp of Missouri City 
Television programming 

Execution of five pre-designated monthly 
and quarterly programs and special 
programming and completion of the 
MCTV production van. 

 
 

Notes: MCTV production van completed. Special programming 
has included Fire & Rescue Cadet Graduation video, 
“Doing Business with the City” promo video, award video 
shown at Texas Excellence Gala, and livestreaming of 
several events. Monthly and quarterly programming 
continues to be under development. MCTV staff is being 
restructured to handle coverage. 

Produce 3 “Show Me” Missouri City 
citizen newsletters and one annual 
report (In Focus). 

Production and distribution of 3 
quarterly newsletters and 1 annual 
report. 

 
 

Build youth outreach  Production of social media marketing 
campaigns utilizing new mascots. 

 
 

Update emergency communications 
policies and procedures 

Full review and testing of new 
missouricityready.com platform, training 
for PIOs, review of crisis 
communications policies, creation of 
emergency drafts for quick 
communication execution by June 2018. 

 
 

 

Departmental Goals Status Updates 
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PERFORMANCE METRIC STATUS 

Respond to Priority #1 help calls within two hours. 
Goal:                              98%  
Actual:                          98% 

 
 

Respond to Priority #2 help calls within four hours. Goal:                              98%  
Actual:                          96% 

 
 

Respond to Priority #3 help calls within one week. Goal:                              96%  
Actual:                          96% 

 
 

Maintain Network Infrastructure up time. Goal:                              98%  
Actual:                          98% 

 
 

Maintain Server Infrastructure up time  Goal:                              99%  
Actual:                          98% 

 
 

Maintain the Police/Fire Dispatch on-line. Goal:                              99%  
Actual:                          98% 

 
 

 
GIS 

Key Performance Metrics 
Percentage of GIS service requests which are 
completed by the requested completion date 

Mid-Year Goal:           95%  
Mid-Year Actual:     100% 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Information Technology 
Infrastructure & GIS 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

Information Technology 
Key Performance Metrics 
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Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

Information Technology 
Infrastructure & GIS 
 

Goals Status Updates 
 

DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Align technology investments with the 
City priorities and the business goals of 
the organization. 

Launch and support the IT Governance 
Committee and building of other 
interdepartmental committees and 
teams. 

 
 

Lobby for, and obtain, financial and 
other resources to deliver services and 
implement projects. (ITSC) 

Secure full financial requirement for 
budgeted projects and other needs 
which may arise throughout the year. 

 
 

Deliver quality customer service at all 
times 

Monitor and continue to improve IT 
Customer Service levels. 

 
 

Maximize the City’s investment in 
technology. 

Enhance and build the City 
Replacement fund. 

 
 

Develop and manage a technology 
infrastructure and processes to 
electronically preserve and share the 
extensive knowledge base of City 
departments. 

Improve and Enhance City’s document 
management system by June 2018. 

 
 

Maintain highly skilled and motivated 
information technology professionals. 

Enhance Staff Skills through training 
and cross-training opportunities. 

 
 

Geo-enable City data for use in web 
mapping applications and dashboards. 

Set up data mining for at least one City 
enterprise database (OSSI) by April 
2018. 
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DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Present a regional business plan to the City 
Council for consideration of adoption that will 
set the course of action, based on the 2017-
2018 Regional Utility Planning Study. 

Completion of the MUD 
consolidation/Utility 
Acquisition feasibility study. 

 
 

Interim MBSA WWTP plan execution Approval by Council by 
December 2017 

 
 

Mustang Bayou service Area Wastewater 
Master Plan execution 

Approval by PDI committee by 
January 2018 

 
 

 
Municipal Utility Districts 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

Goals Status Updates 
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PERFORMANCE METRIC STATUS 

Fleet - Preventive Maintenance Job Orders per 
Mechanic per Month 

Goal:                                              20  
Actual:                                          24 

 
 

Streets - Equipment hours to sweep streets 
within the City limits  
(Annual Total; Lower=Better) 

Goal:                                           949  
Actual:                                      617.5   

 
 

 

DEPARTMENT GOAL PROGRESS INDICATOR STATUS 
Provide for the  maintenance and 
Operations of the City’s public infrastructure to 
ensure current adopted levels of condition and 
services are maintained. 

100% completion of all (4) 
identified sidewalk 
rehabilitation phases by June 
2018. 

 
 

 

Notes: Delayed by approximately 4 months due to 
Hurricane Harvey and aftermath. 
Anticipated completion in spring 2019. 

Implement a Fleet Maintenance steering 
committee. 

Set-up a committee including 
key internal stakeholders, 
develop goals and objectives 
for this committee by Dec., 
2017. 

 
 

 

Infrastructure 
Fleet, Streets, and Sidewalks 
 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

Goals Status Updates 
 

Key Performance Metrics 
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City Manager’s Priority Focus 
City Image 
 City Image Major Initiatives Updates 

Public opening of the Missouri City Visitors Center and hiring of a Tourism Manager 
 
Enhanced Marketing via Municipal Utility Districts  
 
Adopted plans for construction and projects related to City Hall campus beautification 

 
Increased number of public events/activities to enhance the city’s brand and recognition 
 
Developed plans for Texas Parkway/Cartwright median improvements 
- Restructured in early FY19 to include funding from TXDOT 
 
Adopted design standards for City reader signs and monuments 

City Manager’s Priority Focus 
Long Term Planning 
 Long Term Planning Major Initiatives Updates 

Completion of Comprehensive Plan Update  
 
Update and Finalization of city’s Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan  
 
Develop a Facilities Master Plan/Facilities Condition Assessment 
 
Completion of Five Year Financial Forecast 
 
Completed Fire Department Standard of Coverage review with CityGate 

 
Adopted design and construction timeline for Fire Station 6 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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City Manager’s Priority Focus 
Long Term Economic Development 
 Long Term Economic Development Major Initiatives Updates 

 
Completion of a Strategic Economic Development Analysis 
 
 
Have presence on the board of GFBEDC County Wide Marketing Program  
 
 
Revise Incentive Policies consistent with the economic development plan 

 
  

Pursue interim session discussions on new incentive program 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 
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Continue Conversion efforts from groundwater to surface water utilizing 
water rights from the Brazos River 
 
Construction of Phase III of the surface water transmission lines, which will 
convert the Sienna South area to surface water.   
- Completed October 2017 
 
Partner with the Gulf Coast Water Authority to design a new intake for the 
Surface Water Plant to allow city to receive river water in a greater variety 
of river conditions.  

 
Complete Phase II plant expansion design 
- Project at 40% completion. Expansion cost estimated to be $20 million. 

City Manager’s Priority Focus 
Groundwater Reduction Planning 

Groundwater Reduction Planning Major Initiatives Updates 

 
Project Completed  

 
 Meets/Exceeds Expectations 

 
 Within 15%   

 
 Delayed/Lags 

 

 

 



   

  
22 

 
 
 
 
 

City Manager’s Priority Focus 
High Performance Organization 

High Performance Organization Major Initiatives Updates 
Facilitated Leadership Team meetings to address strategic operational matters and build 
team capacity 
 

 Community Walk/Drive Tours with the City Manager  
 
Engaged the Employee Recognition Committee in expanding membership and launching 
new events and programs. 

- New events included “Roll Into the New Year” (bowling), “Swing Into Spring” 
(Top Golf), and, an employee breakfast. 

 
Track Business Plans and Continuously Improve Performance Metrics with enhanced 
levels of Reporting and Tracking 

– Departments underwent a refresh of business plans for this second year of 
reporting to reflect Council priorities and to refine metrics. 

– Metrics continue to be refined to produce reportable, accurate, tracking of 
outcomes. 

 
 Enhanced level of focus on Management Priorities, Strategic Goals, and Comprehensive 

Plan.   
– In support of the Management Priority Customer Service, City employees 

underwent a half-day organization-wide Customer Service training called 
“The Show Me Experience.” 

 
Alignment of mission, vision, credo, and code of ideals with operational strategies. 

– The Code of Ideals were incorporated into annual performance evaluations. 
 
Leadership Team examination of systems and processes for improvements. 

– Review of performance evaluations led to a process update which 
incorporates “Quarterly Touch Bases,” and aligns goals with business plans. 

 
Engaged a neutral third party in developing a bi-annual Employee Engagement Survey. 

- Survey was launched February 2019. 
 
Built upon the City’s Wellness Program to promote health and wellness in our 
employees. Launched an employee-led Wellness Committee in December 2018 to 
promote health-related activities and challenges. Updated the workout room in the 
Community Center with new equipment. 
 
Developed an employee conference which provides a variety of trainings and brings in 
nationally renowned speakers so that all employees have the opportunity to receive top-
notch professional development. 
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FY 2018 Council Priorities
NEAR TERM LONG TERM

Public Safety
Fire
Code Enforcement
Police

Increase City Revenues

External Communications City Branding

Information Technology
Organizational IT Infrastructure
GIS

1092/5th Street Corridor

Municipal Utility Districts Sta-Mo Park Revitalization

Infrastructure
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Report Status Key Code
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Trends
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2017 Major Initiatives 2018 Major Initiatives

Projects Completed 45% 36%
Meets/Exceeds

Expectations
39% 41%

Within 15% of Goal 14% 11%
Delayed 2% 12%

2017 Key Performance 
Indicators

2018 Key Performance 
Indicators

Project Completed 26% 8%

Meets/Exceeds 
Expectations

41% 64%

Within 15% of Goal 26% 19%
Delayed 7% 9%
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• Hurricane Harvey resulted in several months of delays and unforeseen costs. This caused 
some projects and goals to be delayed and led to re-prioritization of some initiatives. 

• New metrics are in place. During the previous budget cycle, all departments were challenged 
to review and to assess the utility of their performance metrics. Several departments 
discontinued the use of metrics that no longer provided operational insight and added new 
metrics consistent with national benchmarks. 

• This marks the third year of business planning, and, the second full year of reporting key 
performance indicators and annual goal progress to Council.
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“What matters is not finding the perfect 
indicator, but settling upon a consistent 
and intelligent method of assessing your 
output results and then tracking your 
trajectory with rigor.”
- -Jim Collins, author
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March 4, 2019 Special City Council Meeting Minutes 
 
 

 

 
YOLANDA FORD 
Mayor 
 
VASHAUNDRA EDWARDS 
Councilmember at Large Position No. 1 
 
CHRIS PRESTON 
Mayor Pro Tem 
Councilmember at Large Position No. 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                   the show me city 

REGINALD PEARSON 
Councilmember District A 

  

JEFFREY L. BONEY 
Councilmember District B 

  

ANTHONY G. MAROULIS 
Councilmember District C 

 

FLOYD EMERY 
Councilmember District D 

 

CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
 
The City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas, met in special session on Monday, March 4, 2019, at 
the City Hall, Council Conference Room, 2nd Floor, behind the Council Chamber, 1522 Texas Parkway, 
Missouri City, Texas, 77489, at 5:30 p.m. to consider the following: 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Ford called the meeting to order at 5:33 p.m. 
 

Those also present: Mayor Pro Tem Preston, Councilmembers Pearson, Boney, Maroulis and Emery; City 
Manager Snipes, City Attorney Iyamu, City Secretary Jackson, Assistant City Manager Atkinson, Police Chief 
Berezin, Director of Financial Services Portis, Director of Economic Development Esch, First Assistant City 
Attorney Way, and Media Relations Specialist III Sanders.  Councilmember Edwards arrived at 5:38 p.m.   
 
Councilmember Boney moved to take Texas Government Code, Section 551.087 out of order.  
Councilmember Emery seconded.  MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.    
 
3. CLOSED EXECUTIVE SESSION 

After proper notice was given pursuant to the Texas Open Meetings Act, the City Council went into 
Executive Session at 5:33 p.m.   

 
Texas Government Code, Section 551.087 – Deliberations regarding commercial or financial 

information that the governmental body received from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks 
to locate, stay, or expand in or near the territory of the governmental body and with which the governmental 
body is conducting economic development negotiations: commercial development prospect; multi-use 
development prospect; retail development prospect; residential / multifamily development prospects; 
entertainment, leisure and hospitality development prospects; office development prospects; flex space 
development prospect which includes warehouse, distribution and manufacturing prospects; and 
redevelopment prospect. 
 
At 5:46 p.m., Mayor Pro Tem Preston stepped away and returned at 5:48 p.m. 
 
4. RECONVENE 
 At 6:12 p.m., Council reconvened into open session.  No action was taken.   
 
2. DISCUSSION/POSSIBLE ACTION 

(a) Consider and discuss proposed contracts for the city’s municipal court judges. 
 
City Attorney Iyamu compared the 2013 contract to the 2019 proposed contract, identified desired provisions, 
the pros and cons and discussed next steps.  
 
Councilmember Edwards stepped away at 6:14 p.m. and returned at 6:16 p.m. 
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Councilmember Maroulis requested an assessment of the judges.  City Attorney Iyamu stated she would 
reach out to a few cities to see if they could provide the City with the judge’s assessment they used.  City 
Attorney Iyamu concluded by stating that the City Secretary would submit the contract to the judges for 
review on March 5, 2019; and, the execution or return of the contract to City Council with comments from the 
judges would be presented at the March 18, 2019, City Council meeting. 
 

(b) Receive an overview of the check drafting process for the payment of city funds. 
 
Director of Financial Services Portis presented an overview of the check drafting process and the delay in 
change of the digital signatures on accounts payable checks.  City Manager Snipes also addressed the 
following steps moving forward:  
 

• Signature cards and Tyler Forms to be signed the date of swearing in and/or first day of employment 
with cards being forwarded to depository and Tyler Munis immediately. 

• Resolutions updating the authorized signers would be presented to Council the day of swearing in 
and/or the first Council meeting after appointment. 

• Requests to Tyler would be sent with payment for rushed service with staff remaining in contact with 
Tyler until the change has been made. 

• In even-numbered years, the City would buy a form from Tyler that does not include a signature, 
which may be used only in case of emergencies, during the period of changes made to the electronic 
signatures. 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Preston inquired about external audits.   
 
City Council recessed the special City Council meeting at 7:03 p.m. and reconvened after the regular City 
Council meeting at 7:50 p.m. 
 
3. CLOSED EXECUTIVE SESSION 

After proper notice was given pursuant to the Texas Open Meetings Act, the City Council went into 
Executive Session at 7:50 p.m.   
 

Texas Government Code, Section 551.074 – Deliberations concerning the appointment, 
employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline or dismissal of a public officer or employee: the 
City Manager. 
 
Councilmember Boney left the meeting at 8:19 p.m.   
 
4. RECONVENE 
 At 8:37 p.m., Council reconvened into open session.   
 
Councilmember Maroulis asked if the City had an agreement with Whitley Penn and if the City would be in 
violation of our contract to request another company to perform the audit.  City Manager Snipes stated he 
would look into his request.   
 
Councilmember Edwards moved for staff to bring back information on hiring an external auditor in relation to 
financial transactions.  Councilmember Maroulis seconded.  MOTION PASSED. 

 
Ayes: Mayor Ford, Mayor Pro Tem Preston, and Councilmembers Edwards, 

Pearson and Maroulis 
Nays: Councilmember Emery 
Absent: Councilmember Boney 
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5. ADJOURN 
The special City Council meeting adjourned at 8:43 p.m.  

 
  ATTEST: 
   
                                                                   
Yolanda Ford, Mayor  Maria Jackson, City Secretary 
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YOLANDA FORD 
Mayor 
 
VASHAUNDRA EDWARDS 
Councilmember at Large Position No. 1 
 
CHRIS PRESTON 
Mayor Pro Tem  
Councilmember at Large Position No. 2 
 

 
                                                    the show me city 

REGINALD PEARSON 
Councilmember District A 

  

JEFFREY L. BONEY 
Councilmember District B 

  

ANTHONY G. MAROULIS 
Councilmember District C 

 

FLOYD EMERY 
Councilmember District D 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
 
The City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas, met in regular session on Monday, March 4, 2019, at 
the City Hall, Council Chamber, 2nd Floor, 1522 Texas Parkway, Missouri City, Texas, 77489, at 7:00 p.m. 
to consider the following: 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

Mayor Ford called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m. 
 

Those also present: Mayor Pro Tem Preston, Councilmembers Edwards, Pearson, Boney, Maroulis, and 
Emery; City Manager Snipes, First Assistant City Attorney Way, and City Secretary Jackson.  Absent:  City 
Attorney Iyamu.   
 
2. The PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE was led by the Thurgood Marshall High School Air Force Junior 

Reserve Officer Training Corps. 
 
3. PRESENTATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS. 
 Mayor Ford administered the oath of office to certain members of the City of Missouri City’s Tax 
Increment Reinvestment Zone boards.  Councilmember Emery recognized the First Tee of Greater Houston 
at Quail Valley for its thriving youth development program.   
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
JC Haigh, 5407 Raintree Drive, requested assistance with white-collar crimes, and commended Animal 
Shelter Manager Goffney for her assistance.      
 
5. STAFF REPORTS 

There were no City Manager announcements. 
 
(b) Code Enforcement update.   

 
Code Enforcement Supervisor Smith-Rex presented a division update.   
 
Councilmember Edwards stepped away at 7:26 p.m. and returned at 7:30 p.m. 
 
Councilmember Pearson stated Texas Parkway was a gateway into the City and asked Code Enforcement 
to drive from Beltway 8 to Cartwright Road on a routine basis to see what violations needed to be addressed.  
Councilmember Maroulis noted there were many bandit signs out on Sunday and asked about Code 
Enforcement hours on Sunday.  Rex noted Code Enforcement does not work on Sunday.   

 
6. CONSENT AGENDA 

(a) Consider approving the minutes of the special City Council meetings of February 8, 2019 and 
February 9, 2019 and the special and regular City Council meetings of February 18, 2019. 
 



 
Page 2 of 2 

March 4, 2019 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
 
 

Councilmember Emery moved to approve the Consent Agenda pursuant to recommendations by City Staff.  
Councilmember Pearson seconded.  MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
There were no Zoning Public Hearings and Ordinances, Public Hearings and related actions, 
APPOINTMENTS, AUTHORIZATIONS or ORDINANCES. 
 
11. RESOLUTIONS 

(a) Consider a resolution authorizing the execution of an interlocal agreement between the City 
and Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 47 (MUD No. 47) for the provision of water 
and wastewater services to an 8.68 acre tract to be annexed into MUD No. 47. 

 
Councilmember Boney moved to approve the resolution.  Councilmember Emery seconded.  MOTION 
PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
12. CITY COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Mayor Pro Tem Preston and Councilmember Edwards congratulated the newly appointed TIRZ 
members.  Councilmember Emery congratulated the new members and thanked the Missouri City First Tee 
at Quail Valley for a great program.  Councilmember Pearson congratulated the new appointees; invited the 
public to the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing on March 13; he noted Minute Maid press 
would open on Texas Parkway in early April; METRO would have a session on March 30 regarding Hiram 
Clark and Highway 90; and he reminded everyone about his District A meeting on March 30. Councilmember 
Maroulis noted Soto’s Mexican restaurant closed and that Oh La La Lashista opened on Cartwright.  He also 
requested that everyone support local business.  Councilmember Boney congratulated new TIRZ members 
and thanked staff and the principal of Glover Elementary on the National Read Across America Day event.   

 
13. ADJOURN 

The regular City Council meeting adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 
 

  ATTEST: 
   
                                                                                                                                   
Yolanda Ford, Mayor  Maria Jackson, City Secretary 
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CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
MARCH 18, 2019 

 

To: Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Item:     6(b) Consider accepting the Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

(CAFR). 
  
Submitted by: Allena J. Portis, Financial Services Director  

 
SYNOPSIS 

 
The audit report for the period ended September 30, 2018 was presented to the Finances & Services 
Committee on March 18, 2019. Whitley Penn performed the audit and issued an unqualified opinion on the 
city’s financial statements. 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

 Maintain a financially sound City 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
The City Charter requires that at the close of each fiscal year the council shall cause an independent audit 
to be made of all accounts of the city by an independent certified public accountant and upon completion of 
the audit, the results shall be placed on file in the city secretary’s office as a public record.  
 
Local Government Code Section 103.001 also requires municipalities to have its records and accounts 
audited annually and have an annual financial statements prepared based on the audit. The code requires 
that the annual financial statement, including the auditor’s opinion on the statement, be filed as a public 
record in the office of the City Secretary within 180 days after the last day of the municipality’s fiscal year.  
The deadline for filing the FY 2018 report is March 29, 2019. 
 
Whitley Penn performed the audit for the period ended September 30, 2018 and issued an unqualified opinion 
on the city’s financial statements.  Interim audit work was performed during the month of September 2018 
and the year-end audit field work was performed in January and February 2019. The audit report was 
presented to the Finances & Services Committee for their review on March 18, 2019. The committee is 
recommending acceptance by the city council of the Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report. 
 

BUDGET/FISCAL ANALYSIS 
 
Purchasing Review:  N/A 
Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 
Note:  Compliance with the conflict of interest questionnaire requirements, if applicable, and the interested 

party disclosure requirements (HB 1295) has been confirmed/is pending within 30-days of this 
Council action and prior to execution. 

 



SUPPORTING MATERIALS 
 

1. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report  
 

STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 
 
Accept the Fiscal Year 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). 
 
Director Approval: Allena J. Portis, CPA   
 
Assistant City Manager/  
City Manager Approval:  Anthony J. Snipes, City Manager 
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Council Agenda Item  
March 18, 2019 

 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND RELATED ACTIONS  

(a) Zoning Public Hearings and Ordinances– There are no Zoning Public Hearings and 
ordinances on this agenda. 
 

(b) Public Hearings and related actions – There are no Public Hearings and related actions on 
this agenda. 

 
8.         APPOINTMENTS – There are no Appointments on this agenda.  
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CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
March 18, 2019 

 

To: Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Item: 9(a) Consider authorizing the Exchange Club of Fort Bend’s request to post Child Abuse 

Awareness signs along Hwy 90A and Present St.  
  
Submitted by: Jennifer Thomas Gomez, AICP, Planning Manager 

 
SYNOPSIS 

 
The Fort Bend Exchange Club, has requested permission to post signs raising awareness of child abuse in 
the Hwy. 90A median east of the Present Street intersection. The Exchange Club has made this same 
request for the past several years.  
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

 Create a great place to live 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
The sign and display being proposed is not consistent with the signage allowed under the Special Events 
provisions of the Zoning Ordinance.  Under Special Events, the signage would be limited to a sign posted at 
each primary entrance to the event and a single sign (usually a banner) posted at the seven allowed 
intersections in Missouri City.  The location requested (the Highway 90A median east of the Present Street 
intersection) is not one of the approved locations.  The display proposed consists of 4 signs explaining the 
Awareness Display, placed successively in the median (Burma Shave style), leading to the Awareness 
Display of white stakes with blue ribbons.  The Awareness Display of stakes will be in the median in Stafford.  
The proposed display is the same as was utilized last year. 
 
The signs have previously been placed within the City as well as the City of Stafford as an Awareness 
Display.  Should the City of Missouri City approve this request, the City’s approval does not waive any 
regulations set forth by TxDOT and the applicant must agree to proceed with any permitting requirements 
set forth by TxDOT.   
 

BUDGET ANALYSIS 
 
Purchasing Review:  N/A 
Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 
Note:  Compliance with the conflict of interest questionnaire requirements, if applicable, and the interested 

party disclosure requirements (HB 1295) has been confirmed/is pending within 30-days of this 
Council action and prior to execution. 

 
SUPPORTING MATERIALS 

 
1. Diagram of sign placement and Awareness Display from previous years 
2. Photos of the signs and Awareness Display from previous years 



 
STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 

 
This is an unusual event and is a display with the larger part of the display in Stafford and only 4 educational 
signs in Missouri City.  Council has approved a similar display the recent years. 
 
Director Approval:   Otis Spriggs, AICP, Director of Development Services 
 
Assistant City Manager/  
City Manager Approval:  Bill Atkinson, Assistant City Manager 
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CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
March 18, 2019 

 

To: Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Item: 9(b) Consider authorizing the Mayor to accept easements from FLC Parkway LP and from 

FS &Lucky8 Land, LLC, and Ella Development, LLC, for the Fort Bend Parkway Business 
Park.  

  
Submitted by: Shashi K. Kumar, P.E., Director of Public Works and City Engineer 

 
SYNOPSIS 

 
The subject storm sewer, sanitary sewer, and water line easements are being dedicated by Missouri City 
Management District No. 2 (MCMD No. 2) to Missouri City as part of the Fort Bend Business Park 
Development.  The easements being dedicated to the City are shown in the attached vicinity map and the 
accompanying five (5) conveyance documents. 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

 Create a great place to live 
 Maintain a financially sound City 
 Have quality development through buildout  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
The subject storm sewer, sanitary sewer, and waterline easements are being dedicated to the City as part 
of development of the Fort Bend Business Park.  The details of these easements being dedicated to the City 
are as follows: 
 
Easements from FLC Parkway LP to the City of Missouri City: 
 

1.  Storm Sewer Easement (0.0092 Acre) 
2.  Sanitary Sewer Easement (0.023 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 

0.011 Acre; 0.107 Acre; 0.6997 Acre; 0.0863 Acre) 
3.  Water Line Easement (0.667 Acre; 0.129 Acre) 

 
The above easements will need to be executed by FLC Parkway LP, as the Grantor, and the City of Missouri 
City, as the Grantee. 
 
Easements from FS & Lucky8 Land, LLC, and Ella Development, LLC, to the City of Missouri City: 
 

1.  Sanitary Sewer Easement (0.3419 Acre) 
2.  Water Line Easement (0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre) 

 
The above easements will need to be executed by FS & Lucky8 Land, LLC, and Ella Development, LLC, 
collectively as the Grantor, and the City of Missouri City, as the Grantee. 
 
 



BUDGET/FISCAL ANALYSIS 
 
The only costs to City, in addition to Staff time, will be the County Clerk’s fee to record the executed deed. 
 
Purchasing Review: N/A  
Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 
Note:  Compliance with the conflict of interest questionnaire requirements, if applicable, and the interested 

party disclosure requirements (HB 1295) has been confirmed/is pending within 30-days of this 
Council action and prior to execution. 

 
SUPPORTING MATERIALS 

 
1. Vicinity exhibit showing easements 
2. Storm sewer easement (0.0092 acre) 
3. Sanitary sewer easement (0.023 acre, 0.011 acre, Etc.) 
4. Waterline easement (0.667 acre, 0.129 acre) 
5. Sanitary sewer easement (0.3149 acre) 
6. Water line easement (0.011 acre, 0.011 acre)  

 
STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends acceptance of the subject easements. 
 
 
 
Director Approval:  Shashi K. Kumar, P.E.  
 
Assistant City Manager/ Bill Atkinson 
City Manager Approval:  
 



LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                    Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                          Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                            FRN - F-1386
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STORM SEWER EASEMENT 
(0.0092 Acre) 

 
NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, 
YOU MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 
INFORMATION FROM ANY INSTRUMENT THAT TRANSFERS AN INTEREST 
IN REAL PROPERTY BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC 
RECORDS: YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE 
NUMBER. 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
 § KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

COUNTY OF FORT BEND § 
 

THAT FLC PARKWAY LP, a Texas limited partnership (“Grantor”), for and in 
consideration of the sum of Ten and No/100 Dollars ($10.00) and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
has GRANTED, SOLD, AND CONVEYED and, by these presents, does GRANT, SELL, 
AND CONVEY unto the CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, its 
successors and assigns (“Grantee”), a permanent and perpetual non-exclusive easement 
and right-of-way (the “Easement”) for the laying, construction, installation, 
maintenance, repair, relocation, replacement, removal, modification and operation of 
storm sewer lines and all related connections and appurtenances (collectively, the 
“Facilities”) across, along, under, over, upon and through that certain tract of land 
located in Fort Bend County, Texas, containing 0.0092 acre, as more particularly 
described in Exhibit A and shown on Exhibit B, both attached hereto and incorporated 
herein for all purposes (the “Easement Tract”).   

Grantee may lay, construct, install, maintain, repair, relocate, replace, remove, 
modify and operate the Facilities across, along, under, over, upon and through the 
Easement Tract, and may enter upon the Easement Tract to engage in all activities as 
may be necessary, requisite, convenient, or appropriate in connection therewith.  
Grantee’s rights shall include, without limitation, the right to clear and remove trees, 
growth, shrubbery, and other improvements from within the Easement Tract and the 
right to bring and operate such equipment on the Easement Tract as may be necessary, 
requisite, convenient, or appropriate to effectuate the purposes for which the Easement 
is granted.  Subject to the rights granted to Grantee herein, Grantee will, at all times 
after doing any work in connection with the Easement, restore the surface of the 
Easement Tract as nearly as reasonably practicable to substantially its condition prior to 
the undertaking of such work; provided, however, that Grantee shall not be obligated to 
replace or restore any trees, growth, shrubbery, or other improvements or obstructions 
removed from within the Easement Tract in connection with the construction, 
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installation, repair, maintenance, relocation, replacement, removal, upgrade, change in 
the size of, operation, placement, inspection, protection, or alteration of the Facilities or 
that interfere with Grantee’s use of the Easement Tract for the purposes set forth herein.  
Grantee shall remove, at Grantee’s expense, any dirt, earth, or other material excavated 
from the Easement Tract in connection with Grantee’s construction, operation, or 
maintenance of the Facilities that is not used in connection with Grantee’s activities 
hereunder.   

Subject to the limitations set forth herein, Grantor expressly reserves the right to 
the use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tract for any and all purposes, 
provided, however, that such use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tract 
shall not interfere with, obstruct, or restrict the full and complete use and enjoyment of 
the Easement for the purposes set forth herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, Grantor shall not, without the 
prior written consent of Grantee, (i) construct or place or allow to be constructed or 
placed, any fences, houses, buildings, structures, pavement, or other above-ground 
improvements or other obstructions, whether temporary or permanent, or plant or 
locate any trees, vegetation, or shrubs on the Easement Tract; (ii) install or permit the 
installation of pipelines or other underground facilities within the Easement Tract; (iii) 
dedicate other easements within the Easement Tract; or (iv) change the grade over the 
Facilities constructed under the Easement Tract.  If Grantor constructs, places, installs, 
or permits any construction, placement, or installation that interferes with, obstructs, or 
restricts Grantee’s full and complete use and enjoyment of the Easement for the 
purposes set forth herein, Grantee shall have the right to prevent or remove such 
obstructions, at Grantor’s sole cost and expense without any obligation to restore the 
same or any liability to Grantor or Grantor’s successors and assigns. 

Notwithstanding anything in this instrument to the contrary, Grantor specifically 
reserves the right to construct or install the following upon the surface of the Easement 
Tract: (A) pavement upon the surface of the Easement Tract, so long as the location of 
same crosses the Easement Tract and is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities, 
and (B) utility lines for dry utilities and all related connections and appurtenances (both 
surface and underground), so long as the location of same crosses the Easement Tract, is 
perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities and is at a depth (with respect to any 
such underground utility lines for dry utilities) so as not to interfere with the Facilities 
(collectively, the “Permitted Improvements”).  The Permitted Improvements shall not 
damage or otherwise unreasonably interfere with the Facilities, and Grantor shall be 
responsible for any such damage to the Facilities resulting from Grantor’s construction, 
installation, operation, maintenance or repair of same.  Further, Grantor shall be 
responsible for maintaining all such Permitted Improvements, at its sole cost and 
expense, and shall keep the same in good condition and repair.   
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Grantor reserves all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the Easement 
Tract, but waives all right to use the surface of the Easement Tract for, and all rights of 
ingress and egress for, the purpose of exploring, developing, mining, or drilling for the 
same; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit or in any manner restrict 
the right of Grantor to extract oil, gas, and other minerals from and under the Easement 
Tract by directional drilling or other means that does not interfere with or disturb the 
surface of the Easement Tract or Grantee’s use of the Easement Tract for the purposes 
set forth herein. 

This conveyance is further made subject to any and all restrictions, covenants, 
easements, rights-of-way, encumbrances, and mineral or royalty reservations or 
interests affecting the Easement Tract and appearing of record in the Official Public 
Records of Fort Bend County, Texas, to the extent in effect and validly enforceable 
against the Easement Tract (the “Permitted Encumbrances”); provided, however, to the 
extent that Grantor has the ability to enforce any of the Permitted Encumbrances, 
Grantor will not do so in a manner that would unreasonably prejudice or interfere with 
Grantee’s exercise of its rights in the Easement and use of the Easement Tract for the 
purposes set forth herein. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, subject to the matters set forth herein and the 
Permitted Encumbrances, the Easement, together with, all and singular, the rights and 
appurtenances thereto in any wise belonging, including all necessary rights to ingress, 
egress, and regress, unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever.  Grantor does 
hereby bind itself and its successors and assigns to WARRANT AND FOREVER 
DEFEND, all and singular, the Easement and right-of-way and other rights described 
herein unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever 
lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof, by, through, or under 
Grantor, but not otherwise. 

The covenants and agreements contained herein shall run with the land and shall 
inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon Grantor and Grantee and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

The prevailing party in any suit, action, or other proceeding instituted in 
connection with any controversy arising out of this instrument or the Easement shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees from the other party. 

The individual signing this instrument on behalf of Grantor represents that 
he/she has the requisite authority to bind Grantor. 

Neither party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any part of this 
instrument shall be construed as a waiver of the performance in any other instance. 
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This instrument shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Texas, without regard to conflict of laws, principles, and venue for any 
suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with any controversy arising out of 
this instrument or the Easement shall be the state courts situated in Fort Bend County, 
Texas. 

This instrument may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one instrument. 

Grantee’s address is c/o Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP, 3200 Southwest 
Freeway, Suite 2600, Houston, Texas 77027. 

 [Signature pages follow this page.] 
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EXECUTED by Grantee on the date set forth in the acknowledgment below, but 
AGREED to, ACCEPTED, and EFFECTIVE as of the date executed by Grantor. 

GRANTEE: 
 
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY,  
a home-rule municipality 
 

 
By: ____________________________________ 
Name: ____________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
     § 
COUNTY OF  ________________ § 
 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
______________, 201__, by ______________________________, ______________________, 
and ______________________________, ______________________ of the CITY OF 
MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, on behalf of said home-rule municipality. 

(NOTARY SEAL) 
              

 Notary Public, State of Texas 
 



-7- 
753588_2  Rev 090415 

Attachments: 
Exhibit A – Description of the Easement Tract 
Exhibit B – Sketch of the Easement Tract 
 
 
After recording, please return to:  
Jeanette Harris 
Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP  
3200 Southwest Freeway, Suite 2600 
Houston, Texas 77027 
   
   



Exhibit A – Description of the Easement Tract





Exhibit B – Sketch of the Easement Tract
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SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT 
(0.023 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre;  

0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre; 0.107 Acre; 0.6997 Acre; 0.0863 Acre) 
 

NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, 
YOU MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 
INFORMATION FROM ANY INSTRUMENT THAT TRANSFERS AN INTEREST 
IN REAL PROPERTY BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC 
RECORDS: YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE 
NUMBER. 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 

 § KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 
COUNTY OF FORT BEND § 
 

THAT FLC PARKWAY LP, a Texas limited partnership (“Grantor”), for and in 
consideration of the sum of Ten and No/100 Dollars ($10.00) and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
has GRANTED, SOLD, AND CONVEYED and, by these presents, does GRANT, SELL, 
AND CONVEY unto the CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, its 
successors and assigns (“Grantee”), a permanent and perpetual non-exclusive easement 
and right-of-way (the “Easement”) for the laying, construction, installation, 
maintenance, repair, relocation, replacement, removal, modification and operation of 
sanitary sewer lines and all related connections and appurtenances (collectively, the 
“Facilities”) across, along, under, over, upon and through those nine (9) certain tracts of 
land located in Fort Bend County, Texas, containing 0.023 acre, 0.011 acre, 0.011 acre, 
0.011 acre, 0.011 acre, 0.011 acre, 0.107 acre, 0.6997 acre and 0.0863 acre, respectively, as 
more particularly described in Exhibits A, C, E, G, I, K, M, O and Q, and shown in 
Exhibits B, D, F, H, J, L, N, P and R, all attached hereto and incorporated herein for all 
purposes (collectively, the “Easement Tracts”).   

Grantee may lay, construct, install, maintain, repair, relocate, replace, remove, 
modify and operate the Facilities across, along, under, over, upon and through the 
Easement Tracts, and may enter upon the Easement Tracts to engage in all activities as 
may be necessary, requisite, convenient, or appropriate in connection therewith.  
Grantee’s rights shall include, without limitation, the right to clear and remove trees, 
growth, shrubbery, and other improvements from within the Easement Tracts and the 
right to bring and operate such equipment on the Easement Tracts as may be necessary, 
requisite, convenient, or appropriate to effectuate the purposes for which the Easement 
is granted.  Subject to the rights granted to Grantee herein, Grantee will, at all times 
after doing any work in connection with the Easement, restore the surface of the 
Easement Tracts as nearly as reasonably practicable to substantially its condition prior 
to the undertaking of such work; provided, however, that Grantee shall not be obligated 
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to replace or restore any trees, growth, shrubbery, or other improvements or 
obstructions removed from within the Easement Tracts in connection with the 
construction, installation, repair, maintenance, relocation, replacement, removal, 
upgrade, change in the size of, operation, placement, inspection, protection, or 
alteration of the Facilities or that interfere with Grantee’s use of the Easement Tracts for 
the purposes set forth herein.  Grantee shall remove, at Grantee’s expense, any dirt, 
earth, or other material excavated from the Easement Tracts in connection with 
Grantee’s construction, operation, or maintenance of the Facilities that is not used in 
connection with Grantee’s activities hereunder.   

Subject to the limitations set forth herein, Grantor expressly reserves the right to 
the use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tracts for any and all purposes, 
provided, however, that such use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tracts 
shall not interfere with, obstruct, or restrict the full and complete use and enjoyment of 
the Easement for the purposes set forth herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, Grantor shall not, without the 
prior written consent of Grantee, (i) construct or place or allow to be constructed or 
placed, any fences, houses, buildings, structures, pavement, or other above-ground 
improvements or other obstructions, whether temporary or permanent, or plant or 
locate any trees, vegetation, or shrubs on the Easement Tracts; (ii) install or permit the 
installation of pipelines or other underground facilities within the Easement Tracts; (iii) 
dedicate other easements within the Easement Tracts; or (iv) change the grade over the 
Facilities constructed under the Easement Tracts.  If Grantor constructs, places, installs, 
or permits any construction, placement, or installation that interferes with, obstructs, or 
restricts Grantee’s full and complete use and enjoyment of the Easement for the 
purposes set forth herein, Grantee shall have the right to prevent or remove such 
obstructions, at Grantor’s sole cost and expense without any obligation to restore the 
same or any liability to Grantor or Grantor’s successors and assigns. 

Notwithstanding anything in this instrument to the contrary, Grantor specifically 
reserves the right to construct or install the following upon the surface of the Easement 
Tracts: (A) pavement upon the surface of the Easement Tracts, so long as the location of 
same crosses the Easement Tracts and is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the 
Facilities, and (B) utility lines for dry utilities and all related connections and 
appurtenances (both surface and underground), so long as the location of same crosses 
the Easement Tracts, is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities and is at a 
depth (with respect to any such underground utility lines for dry utilities) so as not to 
interfere with the Facilities (collectively, the “Permitted Improvements”).  The 
Permitted Improvements shall not damage or otherwise unreasonably interfere with the 
Facilities, and Grantor shall be responsible for any such damage to the Facilities 
resulting from Grantor’s construction, installation, operation, maintenance or repair of 
same.  Further, Grantor shall be responsible for maintaining all such Permitted 



-3- 
753589_2  Rev 090415 

Improvements, at its sole cost and expense, and shall keep the same in good condition 
and repair.   

 
Grantor reserves all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the Easement 

Tracts, but waives all right to use the surface of the Easement Tracts for, and all rights of 
ingress and egress for, the purpose of exploring, developing, mining, or drilling for the 
same; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit or in any manner restrict 
the right of Grantor to extract oil, gas, and other minerals from and under the Easement 
Tracts by directional drilling or other means that does not interfere with or disturb the 
surface of the Easement Tracts or Grantee’s use of the Easement Tracts for the purposes 
set forth herein. 

 
This conveyance is further made subject to any and all restrictions, covenants, 

easements, rights-of-way, encumbrances, and mineral or royalty reservations or 
interests affecting the Easement Tracts and appearing of record in the Official Public 
Records of Fort Bend County, Texas, to the extent in effect and validly enforceable 
against the Easement Tracts (the “Permitted Encumbrances”); provided, however, to the 
extent that Grantor has the ability to enforce any of the Permitted Encumbrances, 
Grantor will not do so in a manner that would unreasonably prejudice or interfere with 
Grantee’s exercise of its rights in the Easement and use of the Easement Tracts for the 
purposes set forth herein. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, subject to the matters set forth herein and the 
Permitted Encumbrances, the Easement, together with, all and singular, the rights and 
appurtenances thereto in any wise belonging, including all necessary rights to ingress, 
egress, and regress, unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever.  Grantor does 
hereby bind itself and its successors and assigns to WARRANT AND FOREVER 
DEFEND, all and singular, the Easement and right-of-way and other rights described 
herein unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever 
lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof, by, through, or under 
Grantor, but not otherwise. 

The covenants and agreements contained herein shall run with the land and shall 
inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon Grantor and Grantee and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

The prevailing party in any suit, action, or other proceeding instituted in 
connection with any controversy arising out of this instrument or the Easement shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees from the other party. 

The individual signing this instrument on behalf of Grantor represents that 
he/she has the requisite authority to bind Grantor. 
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Neither party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any part of this 
instrument shall be construed as a waiver of the performance in any other instance. 

This instrument shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Texas, without regard to conflict of laws, principles, and venue for any 
suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with any controversy arising out of 
this instrument or the Easement shall be the state courts situated in Fort Bend County, 
Texas. 

This instrument may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one instrument. 

Grantee’s address is c/o Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP, 3200 Southwest 
Freeway, Suite 2600, Houston, Texas 77027. 

 [Signature pages follow this page.] 
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EXECUTED by Grantee on the date set forth in the acknowledgment below, but 
AGREED to, ACCEPTED, and EFFECTIVE as of the date executed by Grantor. 

GRANTEE: 
 
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY,  
a home-rule municipality 
 

 
By: ____________________________________ 
Name: ____________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
     § 
COUNTY OF  ________________ § 
 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
______________, 201__, by ______________________________, ______________________, 
and ______________________________, ______________________ of the CITY OF 
MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, on behalf of said home-rule municipality. 

(NOTARY SEAL) 
              

 Notary Public, State of Texas 
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Attachments: 
Exhibit A – Description of the 0.023 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit B – Sketch of the 0.023 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit C – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit D – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit E – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit F – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit G – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit H – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit I – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit J – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit K – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit L – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit M – Description of the 0.107 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit N – Sketch of the 0.107 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit O – Description of the 0.6997 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit P – Sketch of the 0.6997 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit Q – Description of the 0.0863 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit R – Sketch of the 0.0863 Acre Easement Tract 
 
 
 
After recording, please return to:  
Jeanette Harris 
Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP  
3200 Southwest Freeway, Suite 2600 
Houston, Texas 77027 
 



Exhibit A – Description of the 0.023 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit B – Sketch of the 0.023 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit C – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit D – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit E – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit F – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit G – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit H – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit I – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit J – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit K – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit L – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit M – Description of the 0.107 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit N – Sketch of the 0.107 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit O – Description of the 0.6997 Acre Easement Tract







Exhibit P – Sketch of the 0.6997 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit Q – Description of the 0.0863 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit R – Sketch of the 0.0863 Acre Easement Tract
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WATER LINE EASEMENT 
(0.667 Acre; 0.129 Acre) 

 
NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, 
YOU MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 
INFORMATION FROM ANY INSTRUMENT THAT TRANSFERS AN INTEREST 
IN REAL PROPERTY BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC 
RECORDS: YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE 
NUMBER. 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
 § KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

COUNTY OF FORT BEND § 
 

THAT FLC PARKWAY LP, a Texas limited partnership (“Grantor”), for and in 
consideration of the sum of Ten and No/100 Dollars ($10.00) and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
has GRANTED, SOLD, AND CONVEYED and, by these presents, does GRANT, SELL, 
AND CONVEY unto the CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, its 
successors and assigns (“Grantee”), a permanent and perpetual non-exclusive easement 
and right-of-way (the “Easement”) for the laying, construction, installation, 
maintenance, repair, relocation, replacement, removal, modification and operation of 
water lines and all related connections and appurtenances (collectively, the “Facilities”) 
across, along, under, over, upon and through those two (2) certain tracts of land located 
in Fort Bend County, Texas, containing 0.667 acre and 0.129 acre, respectively, as more 
particularly described in Exhibits A and C, and shown in Exhibits B and D, all attached 
hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes (collectively, the “Easement Tracts”).   

Grantee may lay, construct, install, maintain, repair, relocate, replace, remove, 
modify and operate the Facilities across, along, under, over, upon and through the 
Easement Tracts, and may enter upon the Easement Tracts to engage in all activities as 
may be necessary, requisite, convenient, or appropriate in connection therewith.  
Grantee’s rights shall include, without limitation, the right to clear and remove trees, 
growth, shrubbery, and other improvements from within the Easement Tracts and the 
right to bring and operate such equipment on the Easement Tracts as may be necessary, 
requisite, convenient, or appropriate to effectuate the purposes for which the Easement 
is granted.  Subject to the rights granted to Grantee herein, Grantee will, at all times 
after doing any work in connection with the Easement, restore the surface of the 
Easement Tracts as nearly as reasonably practicable to substantially its condition prior 
to the undertaking of such work; provided, however, that Grantee shall not be obligated 
to replace or restore any trees, growth, shrubbery, or other improvements or 
obstructions removed from within the Easement Tracts in connection with the 
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construction, installation, repair, maintenance, relocation, replacement, removal, 
upgrade, change in the size of, operation, placement, inspection, protection, or 
alteration of the Facilities or that interfere with Grantee’s use of the Easement Tracts for 
the purposes set forth herein.  Grantee shall remove, at Grantee’s expense, any dirt, 
earth, or other material excavated from the Easement Tracts in connection with 
Grantee’s construction, operation, or maintenance of the Facilities that is not used in 
connection with Grantee’s activities hereunder.   

Subject to the limitations set forth herein, Grantor expressly reserves the right to 
the use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tracts for any and all purposes, 
provided, however, that such use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tracts 
shall not interfere with, obstruct, or restrict the full and complete use and enjoyment of 
the Easement for the purposes set forth herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, Grantor shall not, without the 
prior written consent of Grantee, (i) construct or place or allow to be constructed or 
placed, any fences, houses, buildings, structures, pavement, or other above-ground 
improvements or other obstructions, whether temporary or permanent, or plant or 
locate any trees, vegetation, or shrubs on the Easement Tracts; (ii) install or permit the 
installation of pipelines or other underground facilities within the Easement Tracts; (iii) 
dedicate other easements within the Easement Tracts; or (iv) change the grade over the 
Facilities constructed under the Easement Tracts.  If Grantor constructs, places, installs, 
or permits any construction, placement, or installation that interferes with, obstructs, or 
restricts Grantee’s full and complete use and enjoyment of the Easement for the 
purposes set forth herein, Grantee shall have the right to prevent or remove such 
obstructions, at Grantor’s sole cost and expense without any obligation to restore the 
same or any liability to Grantor or Grantor’s successors and assigns. 

Notwithstanding anything in this instrument to the contrary, Grantor specifically 
reserves the right to construct or install the following upon the surface of the Easement 
Tracts: (A) pavement upon the surface of the Easement Tracts, so long as the location of 
same crosses the Easement Tracts and is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the 
Facilities, and (B) utility lines for dry utilities and all related connections and 
appurtenances (both surface and underground), so long as the location of same crosses 
the Easement Tracts, is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities and is at a 
depth (with respect to any such underground utility lines for dry utilities) so as not to 
interfere with the Facilities (collectively, the “Permitted Improvements”).  The 
Permitted Improvements shall not damage or otherwise unreasonably interfere with the 
Facilities, and Grantor shall be responsible for any such damage to the Facilities 
resulting from Grantor’s construction, installation, operation, maintenance or repair of 
same.  Further, Grantor shall be responsible for maintaining all such Permitted 
Improvements, at its sole cost and expense, and shall keep the same in good condition 
and repair.   
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Grantor reserves all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the Easement 
Tracts, but waives all right to use the surface of the Easement Tracts for, and all rights of 
ingress and egress for, the purpose of exploring, developing, mining, or drilling for the 
same; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit or in any manner restrict 
the right of Grantor to extract oil, gas, and other minerals from and under the Easement 
Tracts by directional drilling or other means that does not interfere with or disturb the 
surface of the Easement Tracts or Grantee’s use of the Easement Tracts for the purposes 
set forth herein. 

 
This conveyance is further made subject to any and all restrictions, covenants, 

easements, rights-of-way, encumbrances, and mineral or royalty reservations or 
interests affecting the Easement Tracts and appearing of record in the Official Public 
Records of Fort Bend County, Texas, to the extent in effect and validly enforceable 
against the Easement Tracts (the “Permitted Encumbrances”); provided, however, to the 
extent that Grantor has the ability to enforce any of the Permitted Encumbrances, 
Grantor will not do so in a manner that would unreasonably prejudice or interfere with 
Grantee’s exercise of its rights in the Easement and use of the Easement Tracts for the 
purposes set forth herein. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, subject to the matters set forth herein and the 
Permitted Encumbrances, the Easement, together with, all and singular, the rights and 
appurtenances thereto in any wise belonging, including all necessary rights to ingress, 
egress, and regress, unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever.  Grantor does 
hereby bind itself and its successors and assigns to WARRANT AND FOREVER 
DEFEND, all and singular, the Easement and right-of-way and other rights described 
herein unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever 
lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof, by, through, or under 
Grantor, but not otherwise. 

The covenants and agreements contained herein shall run with the land and shall 
inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon Grantor and Grantee and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

The prevailing party in any suit, action, or other proceeding instituted in 
connection with any controversy arising out of this instrument or the Easement shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees from the other party. 

The individual signing this instrument on behalf of Grantor represents that 
he/she has the requisite authority to bind Grantor. 

Neither party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any part of this 
instrument shall be construed as a waiver of the performance in any other instance. 
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This instrument shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Texas, without regard to conflict of laws, principles, and venue for any 
suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with any controversy arising out of 
this instrument or the Easement shall be the state courts situated in Fort Bend County, 
Texas. 

This instrument may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one instrument. 

Grantee’s address is c/o Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP, 3200 Southwest 
Freeway, Suite 2600, Houston, Texas 77027. 

[Signature pages follow this page.] 
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EXECUTED by Grantee on the date set forth in the acknowledgment below, but 
AGREED to, ACCEPTED, and EFFECTIVE as of the date executed by Grantor. 

GRANTEE: 
 
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY,  
a home-rule municipality 
 

 
By: ____________________________________ 
Name: ____________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
     § 
COUNTY OF  ________________ § 
 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
______________, 201__, by ______________________________, ______________________, 
and ______________________________, ______________________ of the CITY OF 
MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, on behalf of said home-rule municipality. 

(NOTARY SEAL) 
              

 Notary Public, State of Texas 
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Attachments: 
Exhibit A – Description of the 0.667 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit B – Sketch of the 0.667 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit C – Description of the 0.129 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit D – Sketch of the 0.129 Acre Easement Tract 
 
 
 
After recording, please return to:  
Jeanette Harris 
Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP  
3200 Southwest Freeway, Suite 2600 
Houston, Texas 77027 



Exhibit A – Description of the 0.667 Acre Easement Tract







Exhibit B – Sketch of the 0.667 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit C – Description of the 0.129 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit D – Sketch of the 0.129 Acre Easement Tract
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SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT 
(0.3419 Acre) 

 
NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, 
YOU MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 
INFORMATION FROM ANY INSTRUMENT THAT TRANSFERS AN INTEREST 
IN REAL PROPERTY BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC 
RECORDS: YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE 
NUMBER. 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
 § KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

COUNTY OF FORT BEND § 
 

THAT FS & LUCKY8 LAND, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (as to an 
undivided 75% interest) and ELLA DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a Texas limited liability 
company (as to an undivided 25% interest) (collectively, “Grantor”), for and in 
consideration of the sum of Ten and No/100 Dollars ($10.00) and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
has GRANTED, SOLD, AND CONVEYED and, by these presents, does GRANT, SELL, 
AND CONVEY unto the CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, its 
successors and assigns (“Grantee”), a permanent and perpetual non-exclusive easement 
and right-of-way (the “Easement”) for the laying, construction, installation, 
maintenance, repair, relocation, replacement, removal, modification and operation of 
sanitary sewer lines and all related connections and appurtenances (collectively, the 
“Facilities”) across, along, under, over, upon and through those that certain tract of land 
located in Fort Bend County, Texas, containing 0.3419 acre, as more particularly 
described in Exhibit A and shown in Exhibit B, both attached hereto and incorporated 
herein for all purposes (the “Easement Tract”).   

Grantee may lay, construct, install, maintain, repair, relocate, replace, remove, 
modify and operate the Facilities across, along, under, over, upon and through the 
Easement Tract, and may enter upon the Easement Tract to engage in all activities as 
may be necessary, requisite, convenient, or appropriate in connection therewith.  
Grantee’s rights shall include, without limitation, the right to clear and remove trees, 
growth, shrubbery, and other improvements from within the Easement Tract and the 
right to bring and operate such equipment on the Easement Tract as may be necessary, 
requisite, convenient, or appropriate to effectuate the purposes for which the Easement 
is granted.  Subject to the rights granted to Grantee herein, Grantee will, at all times 
after doing any work in connection with the Easement, restore the surface of the 
Easement Tract as nearly as reasonably practicable to substantially its condition prior to 
the undertaking of such work; provided, however, that Grantee shall not be obligated to 
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replace or restore any trees, growth, shrubbery, or other improvements or obstructions 
removed from within the Easement Tract in connection with the construction, 
installation, repair, maintenance, relocation, replacement, removal, upgrade, change in 
the size of, operation, placement, inspection, protection, or alteration of the Facilities or 
that interfere with Grantee’s use of the Easement Tract for the purposes set forth herein.  
Grantee shall remove, at Grantee’s expense, any dirt, earth, or other material excavated 
from the Easement Tract in connection with Grantee’s construction, operation, or 
maintenance of the Facilities that is not used in connection with Grantee’s activities 
hereunder.   

Subject to the limitations set forth herein, Grantor expressly reserves the right to 
the use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tract for any and all purposes, 
provided, however, that such use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tract 
shall not interfere with, obstruct, or restrict the full and complete use and enjoyment of 
the Easement for the purposes set forth herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, Grantor shall not, without the 
prior written consent of Grantee, (i) construct or place or allow to be constructed or 
placed, any fences, houses, buildings, structures, pavement, or other above-ground 
improvements or other obstructions, whether temporary or permanent, or plant or 
locate any trees, vegetation, or shrubs on the Easement Tract; (ii) install or permit the 
installation of pipelines or other underground facilities within the Easement Tract; (iii) 
dedicate other easements within the Easement Tract; or (iv) change the grade over the 
Facilities constructed under the Easement Tract.  If Grantor constructs, places, installs, 
or permits any construction, placement, or installation that interferes with, obstructs, or 
restricts Grantee’s full and complete use and enjoyment of the Easement for the 
purposes set forth herein, Grantee shall have the right to prevent or remove such 
obstructions, at Grantor’s sole cost and expense without any obligation to restore the 
same or any liability to Grantor or Grantor’s successors and assigns. 

Notwithstanding anything in this instrument to the contrary, Grantor specifically 
reserves the right to construct or install the following upon the surface of the Easement 
Tract: (A) pavement upon the surface of the Easement Tract, so long as the location of 
same crosses the Easement Tract and is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities, 
and (B) utility lines for dry utilities and all related connections and appurtenances (both 
surface and underground), so long as the location of same crosses the Easement Tract, is 
perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities and is at a depth (with respect to any 
such underground utility lines for dry utilities) so as not to interfere with the Facilities 
(collectively, the “Permitted Improvements”).  The Permitted Improvements shall not 
damage or otherwise unreasonably interfere with the Facilities, and Grantor shall be 
responsible for any such damage to the Facilities resulting from Grantor’s construction, 
installation, operation, maintenance or repair of same.  Further, Grantor shall be 
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responsible for maintaining all such Permitted Improvements, at its sole cost and 
expense, and shall keep the same in good condition and repair.   

 
Grantor reserves all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the Easement 

Tract, but waives all right to use the surface of the Easement Tract for, and all rights of 
ingress and egress for, the purpose of exploring, developing, mining, or drilling for the 
same; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit or in any manner restrict 
the right of Grantor to extract oil, gas, and other minerals from and under the Easement 
Tract by directional drilling or other means that does not interfere with or disturb the 
surface of the Easement Tract or Grantee’s use of the Easement Tract for the purposes 
set forth herein. 

 
This conveyance is further made subject to any and all restrictions, covenants, 

easements, rights-of-way, encumbrances, and mineral or royalty reservations or 
interests affecting the Easement Tract and appearing of record in the Official Public 
Records of Fort Bend County, Texas, to the extent in effect and validly enforceable 
against the Easement Tract (the “Permitted Encumbrances”); provided, however, to the 
extent that Grantor has the ability to enforce any of the Permitted Encumbrances, 
Grantor will not do so in a manner that would unreasonably prejudice or interfere with 
Grantee’s exercise of its rights in the Easement and use of the Easement Tract for the 
purposes set forth herein. 

 
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, subject to the matters set forth herein and the 

Permitted Encumbrances, the Easement, together with, all and singular, the rights and 
appurtenances thereto in any wise belonging, including all necessary rights to ingress, 
egress, and regress, unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever.  Grantor does 
hereby bind itself and its successors and assigns to WARRANT AND FOREVER 
DEFEND, all and singular, the Easement and right-of-way and other rights described 
herein unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever 
lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof, by, through, or under 
Grantor, but not otherwise. 

 
The covenants and agreements contained herein shall run with the land and shall 

inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon Grantor and Grantee and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

 
The prevailing party in any suit, action, or other proceeding instituted in 

connection with any controversy arising out of this instrument or the Easement shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees from the other party. 
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The individual signing this instrument on behalf of Grantor represents that 
he/she has the requisite authority to bind Grantor. 

Neither party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any part of this 
instrument shall be construed as a waiver of the performance in any other instance. 

This instrument shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Texas, without regard to conflict of laws, principles, and venue for any 
suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with any controversy arising out of 
this instrument or the Easement shall be the state courts situated in Fort Bend County, 
Texas. 

This instrument may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one instrument. 

Grantee’s address is c/o Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP, 3200 Southwest 
Freeway, Suite 2600, Houston, Texas 77027. 

[Signature pages follow this page.] 
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EXECUTED by Grantee on the date set forth in the acknowledgment below, but 
AGREED to, ACCEPTED, and EFFECTIVE as of the date executed by Grantor. 

GRANTEE: 
 
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY,  
a home-rule municipality 
 

 
By: ____________________________________ 
Name: ____________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
     § 
COUNTY OF  ________________ § 
 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
______________, 201__, by ______________________________, ______________________, 
and ______________________________, ______________________ of the CITY OF 
MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, on behalf of said home-rule municipality. 

(NOTARY SEAL) 
              

 Notary Public, State of Texas 
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Attachments: 
Exhibit A – Description of the Easement Tract 
Exhibit B – Sketch of the Easement Tract 
 
 
 
 
After recording, please return to:  
Jeanette Harris 
Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP  
3200 Southwest Freeway, Suite 2600 
Houston, Texas 77027 



Exhibit A – Description of the Easement Tract





Exhibit B – Sketch of the Easement Tract
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WATER LINE EASEMENT 
(0.011 Acre; 0.011 Acre) 

 
NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, 
YOU MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 
INFORMATION FROM ANY INSTRUMENT THAT TRANSFERS AN INTEREST 
IN REAL PROPERTY BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC 
RECORDS: YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE 
NUMBER. 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
 § KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

COUNTY OF FORT BEND § 
 

THAT FS & LUCKY8 LAND, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (as to an 
undivided 75% interest) and ELLA DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a Texas limited liability 
company (as to an undivided 25% interest) (collectively, “Grantor”), for and in 
consideration of the sum of Ten and No/100 Dollars ($10.00) and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
has GRANTED, SOLD, AND CONVEYED and, by these presents, does GRANT, SELL, 
AND CONVEY unto the CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, its 
successors and assigns (“Grantee”), a permanent and perpetual non-exclusive easement 
and right-of-way (the “Easement”) for the laying, construction, installation, 
maintenance, repair, relocation, replacement, removal, modification and operation of 
water lines and all related connections and appurtenances (collectively, the “Facilities”) 
across, along, under, over, upon and through those two (2) certain tracts of land located 
in Fort Bend County, Texas, containing 0.011 acre and 0.011 acre, respectively, as more 
particularly described in Exhibits A and C, and shown in Exhibits B and D, all attached 
hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes (collectively, the “Easement Tracts”).   

Grantee may lay, construct, install, maintain, repair, relocate, replace, remove, 
modify and operate the Facilities across, along, under, over, upon and through the 
Easement Tracts, and may enter upon the Easement Tracts to engage in all activities as 
may be necessary, requisite, convenient, or appropriate in connection therewith.  
Grantee’s rights shall include, without limitation, the right to clear and remove trees, 
growth, shrubbery, and other improvements from within the Easement Tracts and the 
right to bring and operate such equipment on the Easement Tracts as may be necessary, 
requisite, convenient, or appropriate to effectuate the purposes for which the Easement 
is granted.  Subject to the rights granted to Grantee herein, Grantee will, at all times 
after doing any work in connection with the Easement, restore the surface of the 
Easement Tracts as nearly as reasonably practicable to substantially its condition prior 
to the undertaking of such work; provided, however, that Grantee shall not be obligated 
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to replace or restore any trees, growth, shrubbery, or other improvements or 
obstructions removed from within the Easement Tracts in connection with the 
construction, installation, repair, maintenance, relocation, replacement, removal, 
upgrade, change in the size of, operation, placement, inspection, protection, or 
alteration of the Facilities or that interfere with Grantee’s use of the Easement Tracts for 
the purposes set forth herein.  Grantee shall remove, at Grantee’s expense, any dirt, 
earth, or other material excavated from the Easement Tracts in connection with 
Grantee’s construction, operation, or maintenance of the Facilities that is not used in 
connection with Grantee’s activities hereunder.   

Subject to the limitations set forth herein, Grantor expressly reserves the right to 
the use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tracts for any and all purposes, 
provided, however, that such use and enjoyment of the surface of the Easement Tracts 
shall not interfere with, obstruct, or restrict the full and complete use and enjoyment of 
the Easement for the purposes set forth herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, Grantor shall not, without the 
prior written consent of Grantee, (i) construct or place or allow to be constructed or 
placed, any fences, houses, buildings, structures, pavement, or other above-ground 
improvements or other obstructions, whether temporary or permanent, or plant or 
locate any trees, vegetation, or shrubs on the Easement Tracts; (ii) install or permit the 
installation of pipelines or other underground facilities within the Easement Tracts; (iii) 
dedicate other easements within the Easement Tracts; or (iv) change the grade over the 
Facilities constructed under the Easement Tracts.  If Grantor constructs, places, installs, 
or permits any construction, placement, or installation that interferes with, obstructs, or 
restricts Grantee’s full and complete use and enjoyment of the Easement for the 
purposes set forth herein, Grantee shall have the right to prevent or remove such 
obstructions, at Grantor’s sole cost and expense without any obligation to restore the 
same or any liability to Grantor or Grantor’s successors and assigns. 

Notwithstanding anything in this instrument to the contrary, Grantor specifically 
reserves the right to construct or install the following upon the surface of the Easement 
Tracts: (A) pavement upon the surface of the Easement Tracts, so long as the location of 
same crosses the Easement Tracts and is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the 
Facilities, and (B) utility lines for dry utilities and all related connections and 
appurtenances (both surface and underground), so long as the location of same crosses 
the Easement Tracts, is perpendicular (and not parallel) to the Facilities and is at a 
depth (with respect to any such underground utility lines for dry utilities) so as not to 
interfere with the Facilities (collectively, the “Permitted Improvements”).  The 
Permitted Improvements shall not damage or otherwise unreasonably interfere with the 
Facilities, and Grantor shall be responsible for any such damage to the Facilities 
resulting from Grantor’s construction, installation, operation, maintenance or repair of 
same.  Further, Grantor shall be responsible for maintaining all such Permitted 
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Improvements, at its sole cost and expense, and shall keep the same in good condition 
and repair.   

 
Grantor reserves all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the Easement 

Tracts, but waives all right to use the surface of the Easement Tracts for, and all rights of 
ingress and egress for, the purpose of exploring, developing, mining, or drilling for the 
same; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit or in any manner restrict 
the right of Grantor to extract oil, gas, and other minerals from and under the Easement 
Tracts by directional drilling or other means that does not interfere with or disturb the 
surface of the Easement Tracts or Grantee’s use of the Easement Tracts for the purposes 
set forth herein. 

 
This conveyance is further made subject to any and all restrictions, covenants, 

easements, rights-of-way, encumbrances, and mineral or royalty reservations or 
interests affecting the Easement Tracts and appearing of record in the Official Public 
Records of Fort Bend County, Texas, to the extent in effect and validly enforceable 
against the Easement Tracts (the “Permitted Encumbrances”); provided, however, to the 
extent that Grantor has the ability to enforce any of the Permitted Encumbrances, 
Grantor will not do so in a manner that would unreasonably prejudice or interfere with 
Grantee’s exercise of its rights in the Easement and use of the Easement Tracts for the 
purposes set forth herein. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, subject to the matters set forth herein and the 
Permitted Encumbrances, the Easement, together with, all and singular, the rights and 
appurtenances thereto in any wise belonging, including all necessary rights to ingress, 
egress, and regress, unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever.  Grantor does 
hereby bind itself and its successors and assigns to WARRANT AND FOREVER 
DEFEND, all and singular, the Easement and right-of-way and other rights described 
herein unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever 
lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof, by, through, or under 
Grantor, but not otherwise. 

The covenants and agreements contained herein shall run with the land and shall 
inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon Grantor and Grantee and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

The prevailing party in any suit, action, or other proceeding instituted in 
connection with any controversy arising out of this instrument or the Easement shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees from the other party. 

The individual signing this instrument on behalf of Grantor represents that 
he/she has the requisite authority to bind Grantor. 
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Neither party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any part of this 
instrument shall be construed as a waiver of the performance in any other instance. 

This instrument shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Texas, without regard to conflict of laws, principles, and venue for any 
suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with any controversy arising out of 
this instrument or the Easement shall be the state courts situated in Fort Bend County, 
Texas. 

This instrument may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one instrument. 

Grantee’s address is c/o Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP, 3200 Southwest 
Freeway, Suite 2600, Houston, Texas 77027. 

[Signature pages follow this page.] 
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EXECUTED by Grantee on the date set forth in the acknowledgment below, but 
AGREED to, ACCEPTED, and EFFECTIVE as of the date executed by Grantor. 

GRANTEE: 
 
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY,  
a home-rule municipality 
 

 
By: ____________________________________ 
Name: ____________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
     § 
COUNTY OF  ________________ § 
 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
______________, 201__, by ______________________________, ______________________, 
and ______________________________, ______________________ of the CITY OF 
MISSOURI CITY, a home-rule municipality, on behalf of said home-rule municipality. 

(NOTARY SEAL) 
              

 Notary Public, State of Texas 
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Attachments: 
Exhibit A – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit B – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit C – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
Exhibit D – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract 
 
 
 
After recording, please return to:  
Jeanette Harris 
Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP  
3200 Southwest Freeway, Suite 2600 
Houston, Texas 77027 



Exhibit A – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit B – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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Exhibit C – Description of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract





Exhibit D – Sketch of the 0.011 Acre Easement Tract
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                                   the show me city 

 

Council Agenda Item  
March 18, 2019 

 
 
10. ORDINANCES – There are no Ordinances on this agenda. 

 

 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                   the show me city 

CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
March 18, 2019 

 

To: Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Item: 11(a) Resolution amending the Census 2020 Complete Count Committee  
 
Submitted by: Bill Atkinson, Assistant City Manager 

 
SYNOPSIS 

 
A resolution supporting the United States Census Bureau by Creating a Census 2020 "Complete Count 
Committee" to provide the city with assistance and advice in obtaining the most accurate and complete 
population count in the upcoming decennial census. 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

• Create a great place to live 
• Maintain a financially sound City 
• Have quality development through buildout  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
The City has met with Ms. Dionne Roberts-Emegha of the 2020 Census to discuss the kick-off of the 2020 
Census in Missouri City.  The United States Census has been performed every ten years since 1790, with 
the last census conducted in 2010.  It is important that our citizens participate in the Census since the 
decennial population count affects the amount of federal revenue distributed to the city for roads, schools, 
and other federal funding opportunities.  In addition, an accurate population count within the city better plan 
and fund needed facilities based on population distribution.    
 
To insure the highest level of participation, it is recommended the City appoint a Census 2020 Complete 
Count Committee.  The appointment of a citizen based Complete Count Committee by the mayor and council 
will assist in the promotion, outreach, understanding and education regarding the 2020 Census prior to it 
beginning.   
 
The suggested activities of the group include: 

o Develop an action plan that support the taking of the census.   
o Create ways to dispel myths and fears about privacy and confidentiality of data taken. 
o Encourage corporations and foundations to become sponsors of census activates. 
o Implement special events to generate interest and participation in the census. 
o Plan a Census Day to promote community response. 

 
Once appointed, the Census Bureau staff would come and train the committee members on their roles and 
responsibilities.  This training would take place before the beginning of the year in order to train and prepare 
the group to provide information to residents about on-line census participation beginning in March.  They 
suggest the citizen committee is not too large in order to keep it manageable.  So, the proposed resolution 
has there being fifteen (15) members of the committee.  Further, it is recommended that the committee is 
representative of the demographic, religious, educational and cultural make-up of our community.   
 
 



BUDGET ANALYSIS 
 
Not applicable 
 
Purchasing Review:  N/A 
Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 
Note:  Compliance with the conflict of interest questionnaire requirements, if applicable, and the interested 

party disclosure requirements (HB 1295) has been confirmed/is pending within 30-days of this 
Council action and prior to execution. 

 
SUPPORTING MATERIALS 

 
1. Proposed Resolution in support of creating  a Complete Count Committee 
2. Background information regarding the Complete Count Committee and Census 2020 

 
STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends approval of the resolution.   
 
Director Approval:   Bill Atkinson, Assistant City Manager 
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RESOLUTION NO. R-19-__ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI 
CITY, TEXAS, REPEALING AND REPLACING CITY OF MISSOURI CITY  
RESOLUTION NO. R-18-40, SUPPORTING  THE UNITED STATES 
CENSUS BUREAU BY CREATING A CENSUS 2020 “COMPLETE COUNT 
COMMITTEE.”. 

*    *      *     *     * 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Census has been performed every ten years since 
1790, with the last census conducted in 2010; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Missouri City (the “City”) decennial census population count 
directly affects the amount of federal revenue distribution within the city for roads, schools, 
libraries, senior centers, daycare centers, and hospitals; and  

WHEREAS, an accurate population count within the City helps the governing body 
better plan and fund needed facilities based on populations within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City welcomes assistance and advice from community-based 
organizations, the public school districts, local businesses and the media in counting the 
entire local population within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the more informed that the residents become about the 2020 census 
operations, the better their understanding of the census process becomes; thus, increasing 
their willingness to be part of the successful enumeration in 2020; and  

WHEREAS, the United States Census Bureau (“Census Bureau”) is required by law 
to protect information provided by particular individuals; and 

WHEREAS, the Census Bureau is not permitted to publicly release responses 
furnished by any particular individual, or on behalf of an individual, or release information 
to other governmental agencies; and 

WHEREAS, per the Federal Cybersecurity Enhancement Act of 2015, census data 
is protected from cybersecurity risk by screening the systems that transmit this data; and 

WHEREAS, City residents may need the goods and services provided by local and 
state government, paid for in part by federal grants; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Missouri City desires to repeal and 
replace Resolution No. R-18-40, adopted on October 15, 2018, with this Resolution to set 
the “complete count committee” membership at a total of fifteen (15) members; now, 
therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, 
TEXAS: 
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Section 1. A Census 2020 Complete Count Committee is established to serve in an 
advisory capacity to the City Council of the City of Missouri City.  

Section 2. Name. The advisory committee shall be called the Complete Count 
Committee (Committee).  

Section 3. Purpose. The Committee shall advise and assist the City of Missouri City 
in obtaining the most accurate and complete population count for Census 2020 by 
increasing the response rate through a focused, structured neighbor-to-neighbor program. 
The Committee will also utilize the local knowledge, expertise and influence of each 
Committee member to design and implement a census awareness campaign  targeted to 
the community.  

Section 4. Duties and Responsibilities. The Committee shall discuss and formulate 
strategies and techniques, working with the City of Missouri City staff and Census Bureau 
officials, to enhance and increase the City’s response rate to Census 2020. The 
Committee shall be charged with the responsibility of planning and conducting local 
educational initiatives, including distributing posters flyers and handouts for use by the 
media and others. The Committee will prepare materials for public service announcements 
on radio, television, and on social media. Committee members may speak at forums and 
meetings to promote and inform others of the census. The Committee may identify census 
job candidates or distribute recruiting materials while also prompting the use of Spanish in 
the materials, and the Committee may identify space for “be counted sites” or 
questionnaire assistance centers.  

Section 5. Membership. The Committee shall consist of a total of fifteen (15) 
members. The City Council of the City of Missouri City shall appoint the members. The 
Committee shall elect its own chair person.  

Section 6. Time. The Committee shall serve from April 1, 2019, through June 30, 
2020, at which time the Committee, having completed its work, shall dissolve. No 
resolution dissolving or rescinding the Committee is necessary. The members of the 
Committee shall serve for the duration of the Committee’s existence. The City Council 
shall fill any vacancy on the Committee. 

Section 7. Meetings. The Committee shall conduct all meetings in accordance with 
adopted City policies and procedures. The Committee shall meet at least every three 
months (quarterly) but may meet more often.  

Section 8. Repeal.  Resolution No. R-18-40, adopted on October 15, 2018, 
creating a census 2020 “complete count committee” is hereby repealed and replaced with 
this Resolution. 
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Section 9. The officers and employees of the City are hereby authorized and 
directed to execute such instruments and take such actions as are consistent with the 
provisions of this resolution.  

PASSED AND APPROVED on first and final reading this 18th day of March, 
2019. 

 
_______________________ 

         Yolanda Ford, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________               _______________________ 
Maria Jackson, City Secretary     E. Joyce Iyamu, City Attorney 
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WHY DO WE  
TAKE THE 
CENSUS? 

The U.S. Constitution (Article I, Section 2) mandates a 

headcount every 10 years of everyone residing in the 50 

states, Puerto Rico, and the Island Areas of the United 

States. This includes people of all ages, races, ethnic groups, 

citizens, and noncitizens. The first census was conducted in 

1790 and one has been conducted every 10 years since then.

The population totals from the census determine 

the number of seats each state has in the House of 

Representatives. States also use the totals to redraw their 

legislative and school districts. The next census occurs in 

2020. 

The U.S. Census Bureau must submit state population totals 

to the President of the United States by December 31, 2020.

The population totals also affect funding in your community, 

and data collected in the census help decision makers know 

how your community is changing. Approximately $675 

billion in federal funding is distributed to communities each 

year.

Will the 2020 Census be the same as 2010?

There are some important changes in 2020:

• We are building a more accurate address list and auto-

mating our field operations—all while keeping your infor-

mation confidential and safe.

• For the first time, you will be able to respond online, by 

phone, or by mail. 

• We will use data that the public has already provided to 

cut down on in-person follow up visits to nonresponding 

households.
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HOW ARE 
CENSUS DATA 
USED?

Census data are widely and wisely used.

Census data are used in many ways. Some examples 

include:

• Distribution of more than $675 billion annually in federal 

funds back to tribal, state, and local governments.

• Redistricting of state legislative districts.

• Forecasting future transportation needs for all segments 

of the population.

• Determining areas eligible for housing assistance and 

rehabilitation loans.

• Assisting federal, tribal, state, and local governments 

in planning and implementing programs, services, and 

emergency response.

• Designing facilities for people with disabilities, the 

elderly, and children.
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ARE CENSUS  
DATA REALLY 
CONFIDENTIAL?

ABSOLUTELY!

All responses to Census Bureau surveys and censuses are 

confidential and protected under Title 13 of the U.S. Code. 

Under this law, the Census Bureau is required to keep 

respondent information confidential. We will never share 

a respondent’s personal information with immigration 

enforcement agencies, like ICE; law enforcement agencies, 

like the FBI or police; or allow it to be used to determine 

their eligibility for government benefits. The results from 

any census or survey are reported in statistical format only.

Individual records from the decennial censuses are, by law 

(Title 44, U.S. Code), confidential for 72 years. 

In addition, under Title 13, U.S. Code, all Census Bureau 

employees swear a lifetime oath to protect respondent 

data. It is a felony for any Census Bureau employee to dis-

close any confidential census information during or after 

employment, and the penalty for wrongful disclosure is up 

to 5 years imprisonment and/or a fine of $250,000.



4 2020 Census Complete Count Committee Guide U.S. Census Bureau

WHAT ARE 
COMPLETE 
COUNT 
COMMITTEES?

Complete Count Committees

Complete Count Committees (CCC) are volunteer commit-

tees established by tribal, state, and local governments and 

community leaders or organizations to increase awareness 

and motivate residents to respond to the 2020 Census. 

CCCs serve as state and local “census ambassador” groups 

that play an integral part in ensuring a complete and accu-

rate count of the community in the 2020 Census. Success 

of the census depends on community involvement at every 

level. The U.S. Census Bureau cannot conduct the 2020 

Census alone.
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There are three kinds of Complete Count 

Committees (other than the State Level CCC):

• Tribal.

• State and local government (regional, county, city, 

or town).

• Community.

A Complete Count Committee should be formed to:

• Increase the self-response rate for households 

responding online, by phone, or mailing back 

their questionnaire through a focused, structured, 

neighbor-to-neighbor program.

• Utilize the local knowledge, expertise, and 

influence of each Complete Count Committee 

member to design and implement a census 

awareness campaign targeted to the community.

• Bring together a cross section of community 

members whose focus is 2020 Census awareness.

Let’s take a look at these and review the differences 

between the common types and sizes. 

Tribal and Government Complete Count 
Committees

Complete Count Committees are usually formed by 

the highest elected official in that jurisdiction, such 

as a tribal leader, a mayor, county commissioner, 

or regional chairman. The highest elected official 

may appoint a chair of the CCC and may then 

appoint members of the community to serve as 

members of the CCC. Members appointed could be 

representative of a cross section of the community, 

be willing and able to serve until the census is over, 

and help implement a creative outreach campaign in 

areas that may pose a challenge in 2020. Members 

could include persons from the areas of education, 

media, business, religion, philanthropy, and 

community groups. Most local government CCCs are 

small to medium size, depending on the jurisdiction. 

A town may have a small committee with only 3–5 

members, while a city may be medium to large size 

with anywhere from 10 to more than 100 members, 

depending the size of the city or tribe.

Since state, county, and regional CCCs cover a 

larger geography, they tend to be larger in size, with 

20–50 members. The size and number of members 

depends on what works best for each jurisdiction 

and what will make the most effective and successful 

committee. Mayors, county commissioners, and 

heads of regional boards understand the importance 

of getting a complete and accurate census count 

and how census data impact their communities. In 

previous censuses, the most productive government 

CCCs had a subcommittee structure. Examples of 

subcommittees and what they do are covered under 

“What Is the Subcommittee Structure of a CCC?”

Examples of Tribal and Government Complete 
Count Committee Strategies

Nationwide, there were over 10,000 Complete Count 

Committees formed with the Census Bureau during 

the 2010 Census and the majority of them were 

local government committees. Here are some of the 

strategies that worked for them: 

• Allocate/obtain funds for the CCC and assign a 

staff person to work with the committee.

• Set clear, achievable goals and objectives.

• Identify areas of the community that may need 

extra efforts, either a geographical area or a 

population group that might be hard to count.

• Use a “grassroots” approach working with 

community-based organizations and groups who 

have direct contact with households who may be 

hard to count.

• Create promotional materials and products 

customized for the local area.

• Implement special events such as Census Day “Be 

Counted” parades.

• Build awareness of the census and its benefits 

and motivate response through social media, 

newsletters, and other communications.

Sample Activities of Tribal and Government 
Complete Count Committees 

2018–2019

• Develop a list of barriers, groups, or concerns that 

might impede the progress of the 2020 Census in 

your local area, such as recent immigrants, non-

English speaking groups, high crime areas, and 

areas with gated communities. 

• Create ways to dispel myths and alleviate fears 

about the privacy and confidentiality of census 

data.
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• Place census messages on water bills, prop-

erty tax bills, social media, and local speeches 

and other correspondence generated by the 

jurisdiction.

• Host a Census Solutions Workshop (see Appendix 

C) with others in the community.

• Develop and implement activities to involve 

local government employees in the 2020 Census 

Awareness Campaign.

• Encourage corporations to become official spon-

sors of your census activities.

• Have census posters, banners, and other signage 

placed in highly visible public locations.

• Include the 2020 Census logo and message on 

bus schedules, brochures, newsletters, social 

media sites, and your local jurisdiction Web site.

• Sponsor a census booth at county fairs, carnivals, 

and festivals (especially cultural or ethnic 

celebrations).

• Sponsor a contest to design a sticker or poster 

promoting the 2020 Census.

• Have census information available during voter 

registration drives.

January–March 2020

• Add a census message during meetings, 

events, and to written or digital/electronic 

correspondence like social media.

• Provide information on federally funded programs 

that have benefitted the community.

• Plan a major promotional event around the start 

of self-response or when households get their 

invitation to respond. Advise communities that 

they can respond to the census online.

• Saturate public access areas with easy-to-

read and understandable census information 

customized for your community.

• Ask elected officials to encourage households to 

complete the census online, by phone, or return 

the questionnaire by mail.

• Place a census message on all municipal marquees 

urging households to complete the questionnaire 

online, by phone, or by mail.

April 2020

• Place public service announcements in local 

media encouraging households to respond.

• Have census rallies or parades.

• Urge households who do not respond to 

cooperate with census takers.

Community Complete Count Committees

Community Complete Count Committees are often 

formed in areas that do not have a government CCC 

or areas that may require a more targeted outreach 

approach. Community CCCs may be formed by a 

community group/organization or a coalition of 

several organizations. For example, an organization 

in a predominately elderly community may want 

to form a CCC in order to build awareness among 

that population and encourage them to respond 

when the invitations to respond are delivered. A 

tenants' association may form a committee to 

educate tenants about the census and help those 

needing assistance in completing their census. 

Community CCCs identify their own chair and 

committee members. They may choose individuals 

who are influential leaders or gatekeepers in the 

community to serve as members or others that will 

help accomplish the goals of the committee. They 

may also include foundations or philanthropy groups 

to fund the committee's activities around a particular 

audience. Community CCCs are usually small to 

medium in size with anywhere from 5 to 25 members 

depending on the sponsoring organization(s) and 

the size of the community it represents.

Small committees may not need subcommittees, 

however larger committees may find this structure 

helps them focus and work more effectively.

Examples of Community Complete Count 
Committee Strategies

A number of organizations formed Community 

CCCs in previous censuses. Some examples of 

these organizations are Community Action Groups, 

Hispanic Service Center, Delta Sigma Theta Sorority, 

and Human Development Commission. 
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Here are some suggestions that worked for them:

• Set clear achievable goals and objectives.

• Identify what the committee will focus on. Some 

examples include increasing the response rate 

in public housing communities among cultural/

ethnic groups in your area or among students in 

colleges/universities, outreach and promotion to 

youth and elderly in the community, or a global 

approach if no other CCCs are in the area.

• Develop an action plan that includes activities and 

events which will support your efforts and help 

you meet your goals and objectives.

• Create promotional materials that appeal to your 

community.

• Implement special events that will generate 

interest and participation in the census.

• Use social media to engage your community.

Sample Activities of Community Complete 
Count Committees

2018–2019

• Make a list of community-based organizations 

in your area. Hold a meeting with leaders of the 

organizations and solicit their help in creating 

a census awareness campaign targeted to 

community members. 

• Host a Census Solutions Workshop with other 

community-based organizations in your area to 

come up with innovative and engaging ways to 

reach your communities.

• Check the community calendar in your area for 

events. Contact organizations to see if you can 

have a census table to pass out census materials 

to increase awareness.

• Plan and solicit sponsors for a “Census Day/Night 

Street Festival” in late 2019. Think of creative 

games or activities where census information can 

be incorporated.

• Develop a 2019 Census Activity Calendar, ask 

organizations to choose a month in which they 

will sponsor census activities or promote census 

awareness.

• Ask organizations to include a census article or 

message in all of their publications and social 

media channels from April 2019 to July 2020.

January–March 2020

• Encourage organizations to include 2020 Census 

on the agenda of their meetings, workshops, or 

conferences.

• Distribute/post on social media fliers announcing 

the invitation to respond to the census at busy 

locations in the community.

• Make public statements of support and the impor-

tance of participating in the 2020 Census.

April 2020

• Encourage households to complete the question-

naire online, by phone, or by mail.

• Plan a Census Day event to motivate the commu-

nity response.

• Look online or check with your census contact 

person about response rates for your community. 

If rates are low, plan special events or activities to 

motivate individuals to respond.

• Remind households if they didn’t respond online, 

by phone, or mail their questionnaire back, a cen-

sus worker may come to their home. Encourage 

households to cooperate with census workers.

May 2020

• Continue to encourage community individuals to 

cooperate with census workers.

• Evaluate what worked best for your community 

and briefly report this information to your census 

contact.

• Celebrate your success and thank all those 

involved in making it happen.
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WHEN SHOULD 
A COMPLETE 
COUNT 
COMMITTEE 
ORGANIZE?

Get Organized RIGHT NOW!

Although the 2020 Census may seem a ways off, the census 

awareness campaign should start TODAY. The 2020 Census 

jobs are being advertised. Households will begin to experi-

ence, by the end of 2019, some type of census operation 

such as address listing. These operations are necessary 

to verify the accuracy and location of each address in the 

United States.

The immediate formation of a CCC will ensure that local 

households are kept abreast of the various census opera-

tions before the information is nationally circulated.

The more informed households are about the 2020 Census 

operations, the better their understanding of the census 

process becomes, thus increasing their willingness to be a 

part of the successful enumeration in 2020.
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WHAT IS THE 
SUBCOMMITTEE 
STRUCTURE OF  
A CCC?

The Structure

The Census Bureau partnership staff will serve as a liaison or 

an informational resource.

The operation of the CCC flows from the tribal leader or 

highest elected official or community leader to the chair-

person, the committee members, and/or to the community 

at large.

The tribal leader or highest elected official or community 

leader appoints a chairperson. The chairperson is the liaison 

or main source of contact between the CCC and the Census 

Bureau.

The chairperson collaborates with the highest elected offi-

cial or community leader to select subcommittee chairs.

The CCC should involve every aspect of a local community 

in its subcommittee structure—government, education, 

faith-based organizations, media, community-based organi-

zations, business, foundations or other philanthropic organiza-

tions, and recruiting. The Census Bureau does not  

manage Complete Count Committees.

The following are examples of a typical subcommittee 

structure. Other subcommittees may be formed based 

on the focus of the CCC or the needs of the community. 

Examples of other subcommittee topics are migrant and 

seasonal farmworkers, children/youth services, immigrants, 

senior services, and the disabled community.

The subcommittee chairpersons may recruit members for 

their respective teams. The ideal candidates for a Complete 

Count Committee are those community members who have 
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expertise, influence, and experience in the area of 

the respective committee. Committees that invest 

time, resources, and energy in this project are more 

productive and successful.

Recruiting subcommittee—Disseminates 

information about census job openings for the 

2020 Census. Information will include the number of 

jobs available and types of jobs available.

Government subcommittee—Assists in all activities 

between the Census Bureau and the local govern-

ment, such as participation in decennial geography 

programs and identifying other resources for CCC 

activities.

Education subcommittee—Facilitates census 

awareness for local schools from prekindergarten 

through twelfth grade, as well as postsecondary 

education institutions in the area. May also 

encourage school administrators, teachers, and 

students to use Statistics in Schools materials.

Faith-based subcommittee—Creates and 

coordinates activities and materials that can be 

used by any local faith-based institution in the 

promotion of the 2020 Census awareness and 

participation.

Media subcommittee—Facilitates ways to get the 

census message to all community households, using 

all available sources such as local newspapers, 

newsletters, fliers, local festivals, billboards, social 

media, radio, and television.

Community-based organizations subcommittee—

Collaborates with community organizations to 

inform individuals of the importance of participating 

in the 2020 Census and the benefits derived from 

census data.

Business subcommittee—Creates and coordinates 

activities that involve businesses in census 

awareness, such as distribution of census 

information and census messages on packaging 

(grocery bags) and the inclusion of the census logo 

and message on sales promotion materials.

Figure 1.  

Suggested CCC Membership 

SUGGESTED 
MUNICIPAL CCC
MEMBERSHIP

*Partnership Specialist is advisor and 
Census Bureau liasion to Municipal CCCs

Mayor or 
Designee
(Chair)

Heads of Relevant
Government Agencies 

and Departments
Heads of Public
School System

Heads of 
Regional

Associations

Heads of 
Community

Organizations

Council Members From
Priority Target Areas

Representatives
From 

Faith-Based
Organizations

Executive
Director

Deputy
Director

Heads of
Business

Associations

State CCC
Representative

Heads of Large
Universities/

Colleges

Foundations/
Philanthropic 
Organizations

SUGGESTED CCC 

MEMBERSHIP
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SUMMARY:  
THE BENEFITS 
OF COMPLETE 
COUNT 
COMMITTEES

CCCs speak the language of and know the pulse of its com-

munity, therefore establishing an information highway that 

even the internet cannot rival—neighbor informing neighbor.

The CCCs will help ensure an accurate 2020 Census count.

The CCCs gain valuable knowledge about the census pro-

cess at the local level and develop a plan to impart that 

knowledge to each and every household as only neighbors 

and fellow stakeholders can do.

The CCCs help maximize participation and response rates 

by increasing awareness throughout the 2020 Census.
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APPENDIX A: 
50 WAYS CENSUS DATA  
ARE USED

• Decision making at all levels of 

government.

• Drawing federal, state, and 

local legislative districts.

• Attracting new businesses to 

state and local areas.

• Distributing over $675 billion 

annually in federal funds and 

even more in state funds.

• Forecasting future transporta-

tion needs for all segments of 

the population.

• Planning for hospitals, nursing 

homes, clinics, and the location 

of other health services.

• Forecasting future housing 

needs for all segments of the 

population.

• Directing funds for services for 

people in poverty.

• Designing public safety 

strategies.

• Development of rural areas.

• Analyzing local trends.

• Estimating the number of 

people displaced by natural 

disasters.

• Developing assistance pro-

grams for American Indians 

and Alaska Natives.

• Creating maps to speed emer-

gency services to households 

in need of assistance.

• Delivering goods and services 

to local markets.

• Designing facilities for people 

with disabilities, the elderly, or 

children.

• Planning future government 

services.

• Planning investments and eval-

uating financial risk.

• Publishing economic and 

statistical reports about the 

United States and its people.

• Facilitating scientific research.

• Developing “intelligent” maps 

for government and business.

• Providing proof of age, rela-

tionship, or residence certifi-

cates provided by the Census 

Bureau.

• Distributing medical research.

• Reapportioning seats in the 

House of Representatives.

• Planning and researching for 

media as background for news 

stories.

• Drawing school district 

boundaries.

• Planning budgets for govern-

ment at all levels.

• Spotting trends in the eco-

nomic well-being of the nation.

• Planning for public transporta-

tion services.

• Planning health and educa-

tional services for people with 

disabilities.

• Establishing fair market rents 

and enforcing fair lending 

practices.

• Directing services to children 

and adults with limited English 

proficiency.

• Planning urban land use.

• Planning outreach strategies.

• Understanding labor supply.

• Assessing the potential for 

spread of communicable 

diseases.

• Making business decisions.

• Understanding consumer 

needs.

• Planning for faith-based 

organizations.

• Locating factory sites and dis-

tribution centers.

• Distributing catalogs and 

developing direct mail pieces.

• Setting a standard for creating 

both public and private sector 

surveys.

• Evaluating programs in differ-

ent geographic areas.

• Providing genealogical 

research.

• Planning for school projects.

• Developing adult education 

programs.

• Researching historical subject 

areas.

• Determining areas eligible for 

housing assistance and reha-

bilitation loans.
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APPENDIX B:  
UNDERSTANDING THE 
LANGUAGE OF THE 2020 CENSUS

GLOSSARY 
The 2020 Census From A to Z

A

Address Canvassing

The Address Canvassing program implements meth-

ods to improve and refine the U.S. Census Bureau’s 

address list in advance of the 2020 Census enumera-

tion. The Census Bureau needs the address and 

physical location of each living quarter in the United 

States and Puerto Rico to conduct and tabulate the 

census. An accurate list ensures that residents will be 

invited to participate in the census and that the cen-

sus counts residents in the correct location.

American Community Survey (ACS)

A monthly sample household survey conducted 

by the Census Bureau to obtain information similar 

to the long-form census questionnaire. The ACS is 

sent to a small percentage of the U.S. population on 

a rotating basis. First tested in 1995, it replaced the 

long form for the 2010 Census. Since 2004, ACS has 

provided annual data for social and economic char-

acteristics for many geographic areas and population 

groups.

Area Census Office (ACO)

A temporary office established to oversee cen-

sus operations in a specific area. These operations 

include address listing field work, local recruiting, 

and visiting households to conduct the 2020 Census.

C

Census Bureau

An agency within the U.S. Department of Commerce 

and the country’s preeminent statistical collection 

and dissemination agency. It publishes a wide variety 

of statistical data about people, housing, and the 

economy of the nation. The Census Bureau conducts 

approximately 200 annual surveys, conducts the 

decennial census of the U.S. population and housing, 

the quinquennial economic census, and the census of 

governments.

Census Day

The reference date for collection of information for 

a census. For the decennial census, this has been 

April 1 of the decade year (year ending with zero) 

since the 1930 Census. April 1, 2020, is the refer-

ence date, Census Day, for the 2020 Census.

Census Information Center (CIC)

The CIC program was established in 1988, when 

the Census Bureau and the National Urban League 

entered into a joint agreement to create a pilot proj-

ect to make census data and information available 

to minority communities. Over the next 2 years, the 

Census Bureau added four additional organizations 

to the pilot program; the National Council of La 

Raza, the Asian and Pacific Islander American Health 

Forum, Americans for Indian Opportunity, and the 

Southwest Voter Research Institute (now the William 

C. Velasquez Institute).

In 2000, the CIC network became an official 

Census Bureau program. That year, the Census 

Bureau expanded the network to a total of 59 

organizations. 

Census Solutions Workshop

A Census Solutions Workshop is a creative, col-

laborative, problem-solving event that brings 

together diverse thinkers. The Census Solutions 

Workshop is specifically geared to generate new 

ways of communicating the importance of census 

data, reaching hard-to-count populations, and 

encouraging participation in Census Bureau sur-

veys and programs.
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Commitment

An agreement or pledge to carry out a particular 

task or activity that will in some way help the census 

achieve its goals.

Complete Count Committee (CCC)

A volunteer committee established by tribal, state, 

and local governments, and/or community orga-

nizations to include a cross section of community 

leaders, including representatives from government 

agencies; education, business, and religious organi-

zations; community agencies; minority organizations; 

and the media. The committees are charged with 

developing and implementing a 2020 Census out-

reach, promotion, recruiting, and enumeration assis-

tance plan of action designed to target and address 

the needs of their communities.

Confidentiality

The guarantee made by law (Title 13, U.S. Code) to 

individuals who provide information to the Census 

Bureau, ensuring that the Census Bureau will not 

reveal information to others.

D

Decennial Census

The census of population and housing taken by the 

Census Bureau in each year ending in zero. Article 

l, Section 2, of the U.S. Constitution requires that a 

census be taken every 10 years for the purpose of 

apportioning the U.S. House of Representatives. The 

first census of population was taken in 1790.

E

Enumeration

The process of interviewing people and recording 

the information on census forms.

Enumerator

A Census Bureau employee who collects census 

information by visiting households during census 

field operations.

G

Group Quarters (GQ)

The Census Bureau classifies all people not living 

in housing units as living in group quarters. There 

are two types of group quarters: institutional group 

quarters (for example, correctional facilities for 

adults, nursing homes, and hospice facilities) and 

noninstitutional group quarters (for example, col-

lege/university student housing, military quarters, 

and group homes).

H

Hard to Count (HTC)

Groups or populations who have historically 

been undercounted and/or traditionally have not 

responded well to the decennial census question-

naire, such as ethnic/minority populations, renters, 

and low income households.

Hard to Enumerate (HTE)

An area for which the environment or population 

may present difficulties for enumeration.

Highest Elected Official (HEO)

The elected or appointed person who is the chief 

executive official of a governmental unit and is most 

responsible for the governmental activities of the 

governmental unit such as the governor of a state, 

chair of a county commission, or mayor of an incor-

porated place, tribal leader, or chairman.

Household (HH)

A person or group of people who occupy a housing 

unit as their usual place of residence. The number of 

households equals the number of occupied housing 

units in a census.

Housing Unit (HU) 

A house, townhouse, mobile home or trailer, apart-

ment, group of rooms, or single room that is occu-

pied as separate living quarters or, if vacant, is 

intended for occupancy as separate living quarters. 

M

Master Address File (MAF)

A Census Bureau computer file of every address and 

physical location, including their geographic loca-

tions, that will be used to conduct the next decen-

nial census, as well as some ongoing surveys. This 

address file is updated throughout the decade and 

is supplemented by information provided by tribal, 

state, and local governments.
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N

Nonresponse (NR)

A housing unit for which the Census Bureau does 

not have a completed questionnaire and from which 

the Census Bureau did not receive a telephone or 

Internet response.

Nonresponse Followup (NRFU)

A field operation designed to obtain a completed 

interview from households where a self-response 

was not received. Enumerators will make personal 

visits to these households to obtain completed 

interviews. The enumerator will collect respondents’ 

answers to interview questions or information about 

the status of the housing unit (for example, vacant or 

nonexistent). If all attempts to contact the individu-

als of a household are unsuccessful, an enumerator 

will obtain as much information as possible about 

the household from a neighbor, building manager, or 

another reliable source.

P

Partner

A partner is a group or individual that commits to 

participate in some way with census activities.

Partnership

An agreement with tribal, state, and local govern-

ments, national organizations, and community 

groups (faith-based organizations, businesses, 

media, schools, etc.) that allows their active partici-

pation in various census activities. 

Partnership Specialist

The Partnership Specialist takes a lead role in out-

reach and promotional efforts before and during 

census operations. Their main duties are increas-

ing awareness and outreach in communities and 

gaining cooperation and participation from those 

communities.

Privacy Act

The Privacy Act of 1974 requires that each fed-

eral agency advise respondents of their rights. 

Specifically, every respondent must know under 

what law the information is being collected, how the 

information will be used, whether he or she must 

answer the questions, and the consequences of not 

answering the questions.

R

Regional Census Center (RCC)

One of six temporary Census Bureau offices estab-

lished to manage census field office and local census 

office activities and to conduct geographic programs 

and support operations.

Regional Office (RO)

One of six permanent Census Bureau offices that 

direct and advise local census offices for the 2020 

Census. The Regional Office also conducts some 

one-time and ongoing Census Bureau surveys, such 

as the Current Population Survey (CPS), which is 

used to publish unemployment figures each month, 

and the American Community Survey (ACS), a 

nationwide survey designed to obtain information 

similar to long-form data and to provide commu-

nities a fresh, more current look at how they are 

changing.

Respondent

The person who answers the Census Bureau’s ques-

tions about his or her living quarters and its occu-

pants. The respondent is usually the member of the 

household who owns or rents the living quarters.

Response Outreach Area Mapper (ROAM)

A Web mapping application developed to make it 

easier to identify hard-to-count areas and to provide 

a socioeconomic and demographic characteristic 

profile of these areas using American Community 

Survey estimates available in the Census Bureau 

Planning Database, available at <www.census.gov 

/roam>.

S

Self-Response

Self-response is where households complete and 

return their census questionnaire in a timely man-

ner, directly to the Census Bureau, without requiring 

a census worker to visit the house to obtain their 

responses in person. Self-response—by internet, mail, 

or phone—is significantly less costly than in- 

person followup.

State Data Center (SDC)

The State Data Center (SDC) program is one of the 

Census Bureau's longest and most successful part-

nerships. This partnership between the 50 states, the 
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District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the island areas, 

and the Census Bureau was created in 1978 to make 

data available locally to the public through a network 

of state agencies, universities, libraries, and regional, 

and local governments.

The SDC lead organization is appointed by the 

Governor of each state/commonwealth, Puerto 

Rico, the Island Areas (American Samoa, Guam, The 

Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, 

Virgin Islands) or the mayor of the District of 

Columbia.

Since its creation, the SDC network has provided 

access and education on Census Bureau data and 

products as well as other statistical resources to mil-

lions of data users.

Statistics in Schools (SIS)

A national program component of the 2020 Census 

with an emphasis on kindergarten through eighth 

grade students in schools located in hard-to-count 

areas. The purpose of Statistics in Schools is to 

educate all of the nation’s K–12 students about the 

importance of the 2020 Census.

T

Title 13 (U.S. Code)

The collection of laws under which the Census 

Bureau operates. This law guarantees the confidenti-

ality of census information and establishes penalties 

for disclosing this information. It also provides the 

authorization for conducting censuses in Puerto Rico 

and the Island Areas.

Transitory Locations

Sites that contain movable or mobile housing that 

may include transitory units such as boats, motorized 

recreational vehicles or trailers, tents, or other types 

of portable housing.

Transitory locations also include hotels or motels if 

being occupied on a transitory basis because the 

occupants have no other residence.

U

Update Enumerate (UE)

The UE operation is designed to update the address 

and feature data and enumerate respondents in per-

son. UE is designated to occur in areas where the 

initial visit requires enumerating while updating the 

address frame, in particular in remote geographic 

areas that have unique challenges associated with 

accessibility.

Update Leave (UL)

This operation is designed to update the address and 

feature data and leave a choice questionnaire pack-

age at every housing unit (HU) identified to allow the 

household to self-respond. UL is designed to occur 

in areas where the majority of HU do not either have 

mail delivered to the physical location of the housing 

unit, or the mail delivery information for the HU can-

not be verified. 

V

Value Added

Refers to any service or activity provided by part-

ners that would ordinarily require payment such as 

room/space for training, use of staff time, and use of 

other business resources.



What Is A Census Solutions Workshop?

Why It Matters

A complete count ensures accurate census 
data that is critical for government programs, 
policies, and decision-making, but participation 
in Census Bureau surveys has declined in recent 
decades. We want to support your eqorts to 
generate innovative and engaging ways to 
reach your communities.

How Can You Host A Workshop?

Businesses, city orcials, community-based 
organizations, or anyone else can host a 
workshop. We created a toolkit to give you 
step-by-step guidance on how to host one. 

The toolkit is available at:  
www.census.gov/partners.

For more information, please contact us at: 
census.partners@census.gov. 

A solutions workshop is a creative, 
collaborative, problem-solving event that 
brings together diverse thinkers.
A Census Solutions Workshop generates 
new ways of communicating the 
importance of census data, reaching hard-
to-count populations, and encouraging 
participation in Census Bureau surveys and 
programs.

Appendix C. Census Solutions Workshop Overview
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CONTACT 
INFORMATION

For additional information about the Complete Count 

Committee Program, please contact your regional  

census center.

If you reside in: Please contact:

Alabama, Florida, Georgia, 

Louisiana, Mississippi, 

North Carolina,  

and South Carolina

ATLANTA

Atlanta.rcc.partnership 

@2020census.gov

Arkansas, Illinois,  

Indiana, Iowa,  

Michigan, Minnesota,  

Missouri, and  

Wisconsin

CHICAGO

Chicago.rcc.partnership 

@2020census.gov

Arizona, Colorado, Kansas, 

Montana, Nebraska,  

New Mexico, North Dakota, 

South Dakota, Oklahoma, 

Texas, Utah, and Wyoming

DALLAS

Dallas.rcc.partnership 

@2020census.gov

Alaska, California, Hawaii, 

Idaho, Nevada, Oregon,  

and Washington

LOS ANGELES

Los.Angeles.rcc.partnership 

@2020census.gov

Connecticut, Maine,  

Massachusetts,  

New Hampshire,  

New Jersey, New York, 

Rhode Island, Vermont, and 

Puerto Rico

NEW YORK

New.York.rcc.partnership 

@2020census.gov

Delaware, District of  

Columbia, Kentucky, 

Maryland, Ohio, 

Pennsylvania, Tennessee, 

Virginia, and West Virginia

PHILADELPHIA

Philadelphia.rcc.partnership 

@2020census.gov

e







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                   the show me city 

CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
March 18, 2019 

 

To: Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Item: 11(b) Amending the Drought Contingency Plan after recent updates by the Gulf Coast 

Water Authority  
  
Submitted by: Dan McGraw, Utilities manager 

 
SYNOPSIS 

 

Pursuant to, Title 30, Part 1, Chapter 288, Subchapter B, Rules 288.20-288.22 of the Texas Administrative 
Code. The City is required to adopt and update a Drought Contingency Plan. The Drought Contingency Plan 
is a mechanism to manage drinking water supplies during times of drought or emergency to ensure enough 
water supply for domestic water use, industrial use, and sanitation and fire protection.  The Ground Water 
Reduction Plan (GRP) committee made a recommendation for City Council to approve the draft plan at the 
August 21, 2018 meeting. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

 Create a great place to live 
 Have quality development through buildout  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
Updating the Drought Contingency Plan (DCP) is required by the Texas Commission on Environmental 
Quality (TCEQ) and the Gulf Coast Water Authority (GCWA).  In this case, the GCWA has made some 
updates to the plan which requires the City, by way of agreement, to update accordingly. As the City updates 
the plan all the other participants in the GRP will follow the same plan.  
 
Conservation during times of insufficient rainfall allows the Supplier and the City to minimize the adverse 
impacts of water shortages and to further minimize the adverse impacts of emergency conditions. This allows 
the City to protect and preserve public health, welfare and safety of our citizens 
 
The new GCWA DCP has pre-determined averages per customer and has adopted fines and curtailment for 
overuse when the GCWA declares drought. 
 
Three key updates in the adopted drought contingency plan include: 

 Drought stages 1through 5 water usage reduction goals 
 Potential surcharges and fines for non-compliance 
 Potential Credit (incentive) for conservation during drought 

 
BUDGET/FISCAL ANALYSIS 

 
Fees are paid by user fees in the GRP Fund 540. 
 
Purchasing Review:  N/A 



Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 
Note:  Compliance with the conflict of interest questionnaire requirements, if applicable, and the interested 

party disclosure requirements (HB 1295) has been confirmed/is pending within 30-days of this 
Council action and prior to execution. 

 
SUPPORTING MATERIALS 

 
1. Resolution 
2. Drought Contingency Plan as adopted by the GCWA  

 
STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends City Council approve the draft resolution to amend the Drought Contingency Plan 
accepting the GCWA updates. 
 
Director Approval:   Shashi K. Kumar, P.E. 
 
Assistant City Manager/  Bill Atkinson 
City Manager Approval:   
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RESOLUTION NO. R-19-__ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI 
CITY, TEXAS, ADOPTING A DROUGHT CONTINGENCY PLAN IN THE 
CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS. 
 
       *        *        *        *         * 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 30, Part 1, Chapter 288, Subchapter B, Rules 
288.20-288.22 of the Texas Administrative Code, retail public water suppliers are 
required to adopt and update drought contingency plans at least every five years; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 30, Part 1, Chapter 288, Subchapter B, Rule 
288.20 of the Texas Administrative Code, such drought contingency plan must 
document coordination with the regional planning groups for the service area of the 
retail public water supplier to ensure consistency with the appropriate approved regional 
water plans; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Missouri City, including the Groundwater Reduction Plan 
Advisory Committee, which is comprised of a representative of municipal utility districts 
in the City converting to surface water and a representative of municipal utility districts 
in the City not converting to surface water, reviewed the drought contingency plan 
prepared by the Gulf Coast Water Authority (the “GCWA”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the GCWA held eight stakeholder or public meetings on the 
development of the drought contingency plan from January 2017 through August 2018; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the meeting at which this Resolution for adoption is being 
considered has been properly noticed and is open to the public; now, therefore,   
  
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, 
TEXAS: 
 
 Section 1.  That the City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas, does, hereby 
adopt, for and on behalf of the City of Missouri City, Texas, Exhibit “A,” the Drought 
Contingency Plan for Gulf Coast Water Authority. 
 

Section 2. The officers and employees of the City are hereby authorized and 
directed to execute such instruments and take such actions as are consistent with the 
provisions of this Resolution.  

Section 3. Repeal. All resolutions or parts of resolutions, if any, in conflict 
herewith, shall be and are expressly repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 4. Severability.  In the event any clause, phrase, provision, sentence or 
part of this Resolution or the application of the same to any person or circumstances 
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shall for any reason be adjudged invalid or held unconstitutional by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, it shall not affect, impair, or invalidate this Resolution as a whole or any part 
or provision hereof other than the part declared to be invalid or unconstitutional; and the 
City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas, declares that it would have passed each 
and every part of the same notwithstanding the omission of any part thus declared to be 
invalid or unconstitutional, or whether there be one or more parts. 

   
 PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this ___ day of __________, 2019.  
 
 
       ________________________________ 

  Yolanda Ford, Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Maria Jackson, City Secretary   E. Joyce Iyamu, City Attorney 
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Drought Contingency Plan 
for Gulf Coast Water Authority 

 
Section I: Introduction 
 
The purpose of this drought contingency plan (the Plan) for the Gulf Coast Water Authority (GCWA) is as 
follows: 

• To conserve the available water supply in times of drought and emergency; 
• To maintain supplies for domestic water use, industrial use, sanitation, and fire protection; 
• To protect and preserve public health, welfare, and safety; 
• To minimize the adverse impacts of water supply shortages; 
• To minimize the adverse impacts of emergency water supply conditions; and 
• To satisfy the requirements set forth by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) 

and other agencies.  
 

A drought is generally defined as an extended period of time when an area receives insufficient amounts of 
rainfall to maintain or replenish the water supply, thereby causing temporary water supply shortages. In the 
absence of drought response measures, water demands tend to increase during a drought due to the need for 
additional outdoor irrigation and cooling water. The severity of a drought depends on the degree of depletion 
of supplies and on the relationship of demand to available supplies.  
 
This Plan addresses periods of time when: (i) the quantity of water in the Brazos River available to GCWA 
under its water rights, and its alternative sources of water (including contracts for stored water from the Brazos 
River Authority [BRA]) is insufficient to meet the demands of GCWA’s water supply customers; or (ii) the 
capacity of GCWA’s pump stations, canals or water treatment plants is insufficient to meet the demands of 
any water supply customers dependent on such facilities, or both. 
 
Section II: TCEQ Requirements for Drought Contingency Plans 
 
This Plan is consistent with TCEQ guidelines and requirements for the development of drought contingency 
plans by wholesale water suppliers, contained in Title 30, Part 1, Chapter 288, Subchapter B, Rules 288.20-
288.22 of the Texas Administrative Code. These rules are included in Appendix A. As required by TCEQ 
rules, GCWA will review and update this Plan, as appropriate based on an assessment of any other new or 
updated information. GCWA will review and update the Plan no less than every five years to satisfy TCEQ 
requirements, or as deemed necessary by GCWA. 
 
Section III:  Public Involvement 
 
Opportunity for the public and GCWA’s water customers to provide input into the preparation of the Plan 
was provided by GCWA through the following measures: 
 

• Providing written notice of the proposed plan and the opportunity to comment on the plan by 
newspaper, posted notice, and notice on GCWA’s website; 
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• Making the draft plan available on GCWA’s website; 
• Providing the draft plan to anyone requesting a copy; and 
• Holding eight (8) stakeholder and/or public meetings on plan development from January 2017 

through August 2018. 
    
Section IV:  Water Customer Education 
 
After the Plan is adopted, GCWA will continue to inform and educate the public and GCWA’s customers 
about the Plan through the following measures: 

• Preparing a bulletin describing the Plan and making it available at appropriate locations;  
• Making the Plan and actions taken by GCWA related to implementation of the Plan available to the 

public through the GCWA website and other social media outlets; 
• Notifying local organizations, schools, and civic groups that GCWA staff are available to make 

presentations on the Plan (usually in conjunction with presentations on water conservation 
programs); and  

• Notifying GCWA’s customers about the Plan, upon Plan adoption and if any Plan amendments are 
made.  

 
Section V:  Coordination with Regional Water Planning Groups 
 
The water service area of the GCWA is located within the Region H water planning area as defined by the 
Texas Water Development Board. GCWA has provided a copy of this Plan to Region H, along with the letter 
shown in Appendix B.  
 
Section VI:  Authorization 
 
The GCWA General Manager (the GM), or his/her designee is hereby authorized and directed to implement 
the applicable provisions of this Plan upon determination that such implementation is necessary to protect 
public health, safety, and welfare. The GM shall have the authority to initiate or terminate drought or other 
water supply emergency response measures as described in this Plan. 
 
Section VII:  Application of Drought Response Measures 
 
The provisions of this Plan shall apply to all of GCWA’s customers. The terms “person” and “customer” as 
used in the Plan include individuals, corporations, partnerships, associations, municipalities, political 
subdivisions, and all other legal entities. 
 
With the exception of Section VIII.5, this Plan applies only to GCWA Water Supplies, including both Run-
of-River Supplies and GCWA Alternate Water Supplies.  Customer Purchased Backup Water is subject 
to Section VIII.5 because delivery of Customer Purchased Backup Water is subject to GCWA’s physical 
ability to transport water via GCWA’s canal and pipe systems.  
 
The following actions will be taken when a drought stage is initiated: 

• GCWA’s customers who are potentially affected by a drought or emergency (the Affected 
Customers) will be notified by e-mail or via GCWA’s designated emergency communications 
network and will be provided details of the reasons for initiation of the drought contingency stage; 
and 

• If GCWA declares a Stage 5 - Water Emergency Response (Section VIII.5) requiring 
mandatory water restrictions, GCWA will notify the Executive Director of the TCEQ within 
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5 business days.  Notifications will be made via e-mail to wcp@tceq.texas.gov. 
 

The GM may decide not to order the implementation of a drought contingency response stage even though 
one or more of the trigger criteria for the stage are met. Factors which could influence such a decision include, 
but are not limited to, the time of year, existing or potential weather conditions, the anticipation of replenished 
water supplies, the availability of GCWA Alternate Water Supplies, or the anticipation that additional 
facilities will become available to meet needs.  
 
Section VIII:  Definitions, and Criteria and Actions Required for Drought or Emergency Response 
Stages for Affected Customers.  
 
This section defines terms used in the Plan.  This section also describes the criteria for and actions required 
for drought response stages. Defined terms are listed below, and are shown in Bold whenever used throughout 
this Plan.  
 

• Affected Customers:  Customers that are impacted by a particular shortage of GCWA Water 
Supplies or the delivery capacity of GCWA facilities, when compared to the water demand for such 
supplies or facilities.  Affected Customers include the customers that have delivery points 
downstream of the circumstances that are triggering a Stage Response. For instance, GCWA’s canal 
customers may be affected by events impacting diversion rate, river pump stations or canal 
conveyance to the point of delivery by GCWA to the customer. Similarly, GCWA’s treated water 
customers may be impacted by events concerning the river pump stations and canal conveyances, but 
also storage in GCWA reservoir(s) and operation of the Thomas S. Mackey Water Treatment Plant 
and distribution infrastructure. The concept of Affected Customers is intended to limit the scope of 
drought and emergency response to only those customers directly impacted by a significant event, 
whether it be related to river conditions, pump station capacity, or conveyance and other 
infrastructure. 

• Base Water Use:  The computed monthly average usage for each individual GCWA Firm Customer 
based on that customer’s actual usage during the same month during the three previous calendar 
years, excluding any reductions in usage as a result of implementing a Stage Response 
measure pursuant to this Plan. 

• Conserved Water Quantity:  The volume of water conserved by an individual GCWA customer 
during the implemented Stage Response, defined as the difference between the customer’s Base 
Water Usage or Interruptible Water Usage, and actual customer usage.  

• Contributing Watershed: The portion of the Brazos River watershed upstream of GCWA’s 
Shannon Pump Station that is administered by the Brazos River Watermaster. 

• Customer Purchased Backup Water: Any water supply that is secured by the customer and is 
assigned and managed by GCWA, or secured by GCWA for  that customer pursuant to an agreement 
with GCWA.  

• Deliverable Capacity:  The capacity to convey water at a given point in the GCWA water delivery 
system, as limited by diversion/pumping capacity, conveyance capacity, treatment capacity, or other 
factors..  

• Excess Water Usage: The volume of water used by an individual customer in excess of the 
customer’s Base Water Use or Interruptible Water Use, during the implemented Stage Response.  

• Firm Customers: Customers to which GCWA is contractually obligated to provide water for a period 
longer than one year. Firm Customers may receive Run-of-River Supplies and GCWA Alternate 
Water Supplies.  Interruptible Customers are not Firm Customers. 

• GCWA Alternate Water Supplies:  Any water provided by GCWA other than under its Run-of-
River supplies. GCWA Alternate Water Supplies include stored water contracts with BRA, and 
other water sources obtained or owned by GCWA. 

mailto:wcp@tceq.texas.gov
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• GCWA Water Supplies.  Water supplies owned or contracted by GCWA, including Run-of-River 
Supplies and GCWA Alternate Water Supplies. 

• Interruptible Customers with Backup:  Customers to which GCWA may provide water only when 
sufficient Run-of-River Supplies are available, or when GCWA is delivering GCWA Alternate 
Water Supplies which the customer has purchased through GCWA. 

• Interruptible Customers without Backup:  Customers to which GCWA may provide water only 
when sufficient Run-of-River Supplies are available; these customers do not have access to GCWA 
Alternate Water Supplies. 

• Interruptible Water Use – Water usage by Interruptible Customers with Backup, and by 
Interruptible Customers without Backup. 

• Lower Basin User’s Group – a group of water users in the lower Brazos basin that collaboratively 
manages water operations to ensure efficient utilization of available water. This group will be 
organized by GCWA. During the summer of 2018, such a group effectively and efficiently assessed 
Run-of-River Flows, available Alternate Water Supplies, and customer demands to maximize water 
availability for all group participants.      

• Monthly Flow Target:  As determined by the GM, the flow value for each month in cubic feet per 
second (cfs or ft3/s) that is needed to meet the total demand for Base Water Use and Interruptible 
Water Use for that month, plus the estimated water diversions for that month by NRG Energy (NRG) 
and Dow Chemical Company at Freeport (Dow).    

• Raw Water Rate: The raw water rate for Fund 08 Canal Division as adopted annually by the GCWA 
Board of Directors. 

• Run-of-River Supplies:  Water available to GCWA under its water rights 12-5168, 13-5169, 12-
5171, 12-5322, or 13-5357. This water is water available from the Brazos River, Mustang Bayou, 
Halls Bayou, Chocolate Bayou, or Jones & Oyster Creek, and is diverted according to the State of 
Texas prior-appropriation system.  

• Run-of-River Flow at Hempstead:  Water within the Brazos River as measured at the US Geological 
Survey (USGS) gaging station #8111500 (Brazos River near Hempstead, TX).  The Run-of-River 
Flow at Hempstead includes only water authorized for diversion under the State of Texas prior 
appropriation system, and excludes releases of stored water by BRA, Customer Purchased Backup 
Water, or other sources of flow in the river not authorized for diversion under the State of Texas 
prior-appropriation system.  

• Stage Response:  Any of the responses to drought or water shortage listed in Section VIII. 
• System Demand:  Demand on the GCWA system, defined as the sum of GCWA customer demands 

located at or downstream of a given location on the GCWA water distribution system (canals, 
reservoirs, water treatment plant, pump stations, and other water distribution infrastructure).  

 
Table 1 provides a summary of pertinent drought stage response conditions, water use reduction goals, water 
rate surcharges and water rate credits. Items in Table 1 are explicitly described below throughout the Plan. 
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Table 1:  Summary of Drought and Emergency Response Stages 

 Stage 1 
Response 

Stage 2 
Response 

Stage 3 
Response 

Stage 4 
Response 

Stage 5 
Water 

Emergency 
Response 

Minimum percentage of 
Contributing Watershed 
in “Moderate Drought” or 
higher  per the US 
Drought Monitor to 
declare Stage Response 

50% NA NA NA NA 

System Demand Exceeds 
[A]%  of Deliverable 
Capacity to declare Stage 
Response : 

85% 90% 95% 98% NA 

Run-of-River Supplies 
plus GCWA Alternate 
Water Supplies are less 
than [A]% of the  
Monthly Flow Target 
through August 31 to 
declare Stage Response  

NA 95% 90% 85% NA 

Water Use Reduction Goal  95% 90% 85% 80% GM 
discretion 

Potential Surcharge NA 2.5x 2.5x 5.0x 10.0x 

Potential Credit NA 1.0x 1.0x 1.0x 1.0x 
“NA” signifies “Not Applicable”. [A] references percentage values listed in Table rows. 
 
Section VIII.1:  Stage 1 Response (Mild Water Shortage; TCEQ “Watch” Level)  
 
A Stage 1 Response for Affected Customers may be triggered when the GM finds that the Response 
Conditions warrant the declaration of a Stage 1 Response. The GM will consider declaring a Stage 
1 Response when at least one of the following Response Conditions is satisfied: 
 
Response Conditions: 
 
1) System Demand exceeds 85% of Deliverable Capacity within the GCWA system for three consecutive 

days (applicable to any portion thereof).  
 

2) Greater than 50% (by area) of the Contributing Watershed is classified as being under a D1 (“Moderate 
Drought”) condition, or greater, as identified on the most recent United States Drought Monitor website.  
(Currently accessible at: http://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/CurrentMap/StateDroughtMonitor.aspx?TX) 
 

A Stage 1 Response may be terminated by the GM when the Response Conditions that triggered the initiation 
of a Stage 1 Response no longer prevail.  
 
Response Measures: 
 

http://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/CurrentMap/StateDroughtMonitor.aspx?TX
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The goal for water use under Stage 1 is 95% of the total Base Water Use and Interruptible Water Use for 
all Affected Customers. The GM may implement of any of the following actions deemed necessary, and 
may implement other appropriate actions not listed below: 
 

• Notify all Affected Customers that a Stage 1 Response condition exists; 
• Request all Affected Customers to initiate Stage 1 or other appropriate stage in their drought 

contingency plans; 
• Request voluntary reductions in water use by all Affected Customers;  
• Initiate or continue usage of GCWA Alternate Water Supplies to augment Run-of-River Supplies 
• Increase public awareness of drought or system conditions and measures to reduce demand; and  
• Notify the Brazos Watermaster, NRG, and Dow that a Stage 1 Response Condition exists. 

 
Section VIII.2:  Stage 2 Response (Moderate Water Shortage; TCEQ “Concern” Level)  
 
A Stage 2 Response for Affected Customers may be triggered when the GM finds that the Response 
Conditions warrant the declaration of a Stage 2 Response. The GM will consider declaring a Stage 
2 Response when at least one of the following Response Conditions is satisfied: 
 
Response Conditions: 
 
1) System Demand exceeds 90% of Deliverable Capacity within GCWA’s conveyance system for three 

consecutive days (applicable to any portion thereof).  
 

2) The Lower Basin User’s Group recommends further water conservation based on its collective experience 
managing river operations. 
 

3) Water available from Run-of-River Supplies and GCWA Alternate Water Supplies is determined to 
be insufficient to satisfy 95% of GCWA’s Monthly Flow Target through August 31 of the current year 
(if date is on or after January 1) or through August 31 of the next year (if date is on or after September 1 
of the current year).  

 
A Stage 2 Response may be terminated by the GM when the Response Conditions that triggered the initiation 
of a Stage 2 Response no longer prevail.  
 
Response Measures: 
 
The goal for water use under Stage 2 is 90% of the total Base Water Use and Interruptible Water Use for 
all Affected Customers. If the circumstances warrant, the GM may set an alternative water use reduction 
goal.   
 
The GM may implement any of the following actions deemed necessary: 

• Continue or initiate any actions available under Stage 1; 
• Notify all Affected Customers that a Stage 2 Response condition exists; 
• Initiate or continue usage of GCWA Alternate Water Supplies to augment Run-of-River Supplies; 
• Request all Affected Customers to initiate Stage 2 or other appropriate stage in their drought 

contingency plans; 
• Request voluntary reductions in water use by Affected Customers; 
• Meet with Affected Customers to determine water use on a as needed basis, identify Affected 

Customers exceeding 95% of their Base Water Use or Interruptible Water Use and encourage 
them to reduce their usage; 
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• Cease issuance of new short-term or Interruptible Customer contracts with the exception of 
contracts needed under emergency conditions; 

• Terminate water deliveries to existing Interruptible Customers without Backup;  
• Increase public awareness of drought condition and measures to reduce demand; and  
• Notify the Brazos Watermaster, NRG, and Dow that a Stage 2 Response Condition exists. 

 
If water deliveries to Interruptible Customers without Backup are terminated, GCWA will recalculate the 
Monthly Flow Target by excluding from the calculations the water demand of those customers. 
 
Section VIII.3:  Stage 3 Response (Severe Water Shortage; TCEQ “Priority” Level)  
 
A Stage 3 Response for Affected Customers may be triggered when the GM finds that the Response 
Conditions warrant the declaration of a Stage 3 Response. The GM will consider declaring a Stage 
3 Response when at least one of the following Response Conditions is satisfied: 
 
Response Conditions: 
 
1) System Demand exceeds 95% of Deliverable Capacity within GCWA’s conveyance system for three 

consecutive days (applicable to any portion thereof).  
 

2) The Lower Basin User’s Group recommends further water conservation based on its collective experience 
managing river operations. 
 

3) Water available from Run-of-River Supplies and GCWA Alternate Water Supplies is determined to 
be insufficient to satisfy 90% of GCWA’s Monthly Flow Target through August 31 of the current year 
(if date is on or after January 1) or through August 31 of the next year (if date is on or after September 1 
of the current year). 
 

A Stage 3 Response may be terminated by the GM when the Response Conditions that triggered the initiation 
of a Stage 3 Response no longer prevail.  
 
Response Measures: 
 
The goal for water use under Stage 3 is 85% of the total Base Water Use and Interruptible Water Use for 
all Affected Customers.  If the circumstances warrant, the GM may set an alternative water use reduction 
goal.  
 
The GM may implement any of the following actions deemed necessary: 

• Initiate or continue any actions available under Stage 1 and Stage 2; 
• Notify all Affected Customers that a Stage 3 Response condition exists; 
• Continue usage of GCWA Alternate Water Supplies to augment Run-of-River Supplies; 
• Continue to coordinate with Affected Customers to determine water use on as needed basis, identify 

Affected Customers exceeding 90% of their Base Water Use or Interruptible Water Use, and 
encourage them to reduce their usage; 

• Request all Affected Customers to initiate Stage 3 or other appropriate stage in their drought 
contingency plans; 

• Encourage Affected Customers to initiate or continue use of any alternate water supplies available 
to them 

• Terminate Run-of-River Supplies for Interruptible Customers with Backup, thereby limiting 
such customers to only obtaining water from GCWA Alternate Water Supplies, if any; 
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• Increase public awareness of drought condition and measures to reduce demand; and  
• Notify the Brazos Watermaster, NRG, and Dow that a Stage 3 Response Condition exists. 

 
If the water deliveries of Run-of-River Supplies to Interruptible Customers with Backup are terminated, 
GCWA will recalculate the Monthly Flow Target by excluding from the calculations the water demand of 
those customers. 
 
Section VIII.4:  Stage 4 Response (Extreme Water Shortage; TCEQ “Emergency” Level)  
 
A Stage 4 Response for Affected Customers may be triggered when the GM finds that the Response 
Conditions warrant the declaration of a Stage 4 Response. The GM will consider declaring a Stage 
4 Response when at least one of the following Response Conditions is satisfied: 
 
Response Conditions: 
 

1 System Demand exceeds 98% of Deliverable Capacity within GCWA’s conveyance system for 
three consecutive days (applicable to any portion thereof).  
 

2 The Lower Basin User’s Group recommends further water conservation based on its collective 
experience managing river operations. 
 

3 Water available from Run-of-River Supplies and GCWA Alternate Water Supplies is determined 
to be insufficient to satisfy 85% of GCWA’s Monthly Flow Target through August 31 of the current 
year (if date is on or after January 1) or through August 31 of the next year (if date is on or after 
September 1 of the current year).  

 
A Stage 4 Response may be terminated by the GM when the Response Conditions that triggered the initiation 
of a Stage 4 Response no longer prevail.  
 
Response Measures: 
 
The goal for water use under Stage 4 is 80% of the total Base Water Use for all Affected Customers.  If the 
circumstances warrant, the GM may set an alternative water use reduction goal.  
 
The GM may implement any of the following actions deemed necessary: 
 

• Initiate or continue any actions available under Stages 1, 2 and 3; 
• Notify all Affected Customers that a Stage 4 Response condition exists; 
• Continue usage of GCWA Alternate Water Supplies to augment Run-of-River Supplies; 
• Continue to coordinate with Affected Customers to determine water use, identify Affected 

Customers exceeding 85% of their Base Water Use and encourage them to reduce their usage; 
• Request all Affected Customers to initiate Stage 4 or other appropriate stage in their drought 

contingency plans; 
• Encourage Affected Customers to initiate or continue use of any alternate water supplies available 

to them 
• Terminate all water delivery to Interruptible Customers with Backup. 
• Request relief from the Brazos Watermaster, and if necessary, make a priority call to enforce 

GCWA’s senior water rights. 
• Increase public awareness of drought conditions and measures to reduce demand; and  
• Notify the Brazos Watermaster, NRG, and Dow that a Stage 4 Response Condition exists. 
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When the water deliveries to Interruptible Customers with Backup are terminated, GCWA will recalculate 
the Monthly Flow Target by excluding from the calculations the water demand of those customers. 
 
Section VIII.5:  Stage 5 - Water Emergency Response (Emergency Water Shortage; TCEQ 
“Emergency” Level)  
 
A Stage 5 Water Emergency Response for Affected Customers may be triggered when the GM finds that 
conditions warrant the declaration of a water emergency response due to: 
 

1) A major GCWA system failure leading to loss of water service,  
2) The water supply becoming contaminated and unusable, or 

 
A Stage 5 response may be terminated by the GM when the circumstances that triggered the initiation of 
Stage 5 no longer prevail.  
 
The goal for water use reduction under a water emergency response is subject to the scope of the 
emergency. The GM may order the implementation of any of the actions listed below as deemed necessary. 
The water emergency response measures are as follows: 

• Continue or initiate any actions available under Stage 1, 2, 3, and 4 
• Notify all Affected Customers that an emergency condition exists and meet with Affected 

Customers as appropriate to inform them of the specific nature of the emergency condition 
• Require Affected Customers to initiate the emergency or other appropriate stage in their drought 

contingency plan 
• Initiate pro-rata distribution of available water under TWC §11.039  
• Notify the Brazos Watermaster, if applicable 

 
Under Stage 5, GCWA will notify TCEQ of its emergency conditions and the imposition of mandatory 
reductions in water use by Affected Customers. GCWA will notify TCEQ within five (5) days of initiation 
and termination of Stage 5 conditions. Notifications will be submitted to the TCEQ Public Drinking Water 
Section Drought Team, and will be submitted via the TCEQ-required online form, currently available at: 
https://www.tceq.texas.gov/drinkingwater/homeland_security/security_pws/pws-drought-contingency-plan-
reporting-form. Assistance in making notifications may be obtained via e-mail to wcp@tceq.texas.gov or via 
phone at 512-239-4691. 
 
Section IX:  Pro Rata Water Distribution 
 
In the event one or more Stage 5 Response Conditions specified herein have been met, the GM is hereby 
authorized to initiate distribution of water supplies on a pro-rata basis among all Affected Customers. The 
distribution will be in accordance with Texas Water Code, §11.039.    
 
Section X:  Enforcement 
 
Section X.1  Surcharge   
 
Under Stage 2 or Stage 3 Response Conditions, Affected Customers shall pay the following surcharge on 
their monthly Excess Water Usage, calculated as follows: 
 

 Excess Water Usage multiplied by 2.5 times the individual customer’s Raw Water Rate.  
 

https://www.tceq.texas.gov/drinkingwater/homeland_security/security_pws/pws-drought-contingency-plan-reporting-form
https://www.tceq.texas.gov/drinkingwater/homeland_security/security_pws/pws-drought-contingency-plan-reporting-form
mailto:wcp@tceq.texas.gov
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Under Stage 4 Response Conditions, Affected Customers shall pay the following surcharge on their monthly 
Excess Water Usage, calculated as follows: 
 
  Excess Water Usage multiplied by 5.0 times the individual customer’s Raw Water Rate. 
 
Under Stage 5 Response Conditions, Affected Customers shall pay the following surcharge on their monthly 
Excess Water Usage, calculated as follows: 
 

Excess Water Usage multiplied by 10.0 times the individual customer’s Raw Water Rate. 
 
Overage payments made by any customers under the terms of the customer's contract(s) with GCWA 
shall be credited against any surcharge for Excess Water Use assessed under this Plan. 
 
Revenues obtained by GCWA from the Surcharges will be deposited or credited to Fund 08 Canal Division. 
 
Section X.2  Credits  
 
Under Stage 2, Stage 3, or Stage 4 Response conditions, Affected Customers which achieve the applicable 
water use reduction goal shall receive a conservation incentive payment based on their Conserved Water 
Quantity, calculated as follows: 
 

Conserved Water Quantity multiplied by 1.0 times the individual customer’s Raw Water Rate. 
 
Section XI: Variances 
 
The GM may, in writing, grant a variance to a GCWA customer for a specified period of time for water uses 
otherwise prohibited or managed under this Plan, if one or more of the following conditions are met: 
 

• Failure to grant such a variance would cause an emergency condition adversely affecting health, 
sanitation, or fire safety for the public or the GCWA customer,  

• A customer’s calculated Base Water Use or Interruptible Water Use is incorrectly or 
inappropriately computed, 

• A customer’s recent or pending increase or decrease in contract water volume for example through 
obtaining additional GCWA contracts, contract amendments, exercising of contract options, or by 
other mechanisms) renders historical usage no longer reflective of current water demands,  

• Compliance with this Plan cannot be accomplished due to technical, legal, or other limitations, or 
• Alternative methods that achieve the same level of reduction in water use may be implemented. 

 
Variance requests regarding Base Water Use or Interruptible Water Use must provide a description of why 
the original GCWA-calculated Base Water Use or Interruptible Water Use either under or over-estimates 
reasonably expected customer usage. The extenuating circumstances justifying a variance may include, but 
are not limited to, meter malfunction, planned or emergency shut-downs of industrial facilities, damage or 
required maintenance to conveyance facilities, and anticipated growth in demand beyond the historic three-
year period.   
 
All petitions for variances will be in writing and should include the following information: 
 

• Name and address of the petitioner(s),  
• Purpose of water use, 
• Specific changes or provisions from which relief is requested, 
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• Detailed statement of any adverse effect of the provisions for which a variance is requested,  
• Description of the change or relief requested, including providing a detailed justification of the 

change or relief,  
• Period of time for which the variance is sought, 
• Alternative measures that will be taken to reduce water use (if applicable), and 
• Other pertinent information. 

 
Variances may be granted or denied at the discretion of the GM.   However, if a variance request is denied, 
the GM shall provide in writing to the petitioner a reasoned justification for the denial of the variance. If the 
GM does not grant or deny a variance within 10 days from receipt of the variance request, the request 
is automatically denied, and the petitioner may appeal the denial directly to the GCWA Board of 
Directors. 
 
Section XII: Appeals 
 

(a) Generally.  The Board of Directors shall hear and decide applications for appeals of interpretations 
and of variances from: (i) the requirements of this Plan or other orders of GCWA, and (ii) actions of 
GCWA’s officers relating to permits, licenses, variances or other special permissions.  

 
(b) Who may apply; when to file.  Any person aggrieved by an applicable regulation or action may 

apply for an appeal.  Applications must be filed, in writing, within 20 calendar days following the 
time the person knows of the requirement or action in question.  The Board, for good cause shown, 
may extend the time for filing.  Grievances not made in writing and filed within the time prescribed 
are waived.  
 

(c) Special requirements for appeal of variance decisions by GM.  Variances shall only be issued to the 
minimum extent necessary to afford relief, and variances shall only be issued upon: 
 

(1) Showing a good and sufficient cause; 
(2) A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in unusual hardship to 

the applicant; and 
(3) A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in additional threats to 

public safety, extraordinary public expense, nuisances, fraud on or victimization of the 
public, or a conflict with existing laws or orders. 

 
(d) Conditions.  Upon consideration of the factors noted above, the Board of Directors may attach such 

conditions to variances as it deems necessary to further the purpose and objectives of this Plan or 
other applicable orders of the Board or regulations of the State. 
 

(e) Finality.  Board of Director’s decisions on appeals, interpretations and variances control over 
decisions by any other officer or body of GCWA.  No decision of the GCWA is final until: (i) it is 
officially made by an officer or body authorized to do so, and (ii) all applicable administrative 
remedies, as allowed by this section, are exhausted.” 

 
Section XII: Severability 
 
It is hereby declared to be the intention of the GCWA that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and 
phrases of this Plan are severable and, if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, or section of this Plan shall 
be declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, and sections 
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of this Plan, since the same would not have been enacted by the GCWA without the incorporation into this 
Plan of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, or section. 
 
Section XIII: Implementation 
 
This Plan was adopted by the Gulf Coast Water Authority via a resolution passed by the Board of Directors 
on December 6, 2018.  A copy of this resolution may be found in Appendix C of this document. 
 
As part of the implementation process, GCWA will initiate and maintain an ad-hoc Drought Contingency 
Advisory Committee.  The Committee will be administered by GCWA.  The Committee will be comprised 
of representatives from each of the industrial customers, major municipal treated water customers and 
agriculture.   The Brazos River Watermaster will be an ad-hoc member. The Committee will meet with 
GCWA twice each year to: 

• Review information on river flow and BRA reservoir levels, and drought conditions in the Brazos 
River Basin. 

• Monitor the running computation of Base Water Use and Interruptible Water Use for each customer. 
• Receive information on water use, conservation and drought contingency planning by GCWA, NRG, 

and Dow. 
• Provide feedback to GCWA on the implementation of the Plan. 
• Receive information from GCWA on its acquisition of Alternate Water Supplies. 

 
 
Adopted December 6, 2018 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                   the show me city 

CITY COUNCIL  
AGENDA ITEM COVER MEMO 
 
March 18, 2019 

 

To:  Mayor and City Council 
Agenda Items:     11(c) Consider a resolution granting consent to Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District 
        No. 47 (MUD No. 47) to annex approximately 8.68 acres of land. 
         
Submitted by: Dan McGraw, Utilities Manager 

 
SYNOPSIS 

 
On October 16, 2018, Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 47 (MUD No. 47) submitted a request 
to the City for consent to annex a 8.6782 acre parcel located at the southwest corner of Lake Olympia Pkwy 
and Vicksburg Blvd and bordered on the west and south by parcels located within MUD No. 47 (see attached 
vicinity map).  As stated in the District’s petition to consent to annex, “The general nature of the work to be 
done in the Property is the construction, acquisition, maintenance, and operation of a waterworks and 
sanitary sewer system to serve a commercial development.”   
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 GOALS ADDRESSED 
 

 Maintain a financially sound City 
 Have quality development through buildout  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
Following the model adopted for parcels recently annexed into MUD 48 in the Mustang Bayou Utility Service 
Area, it was recommended that the subject consent be granted only if MUD No. 47 is amenable to assigning 
new water and wastewater customers in the parcel to be served by City service.  To implement this model, 
an interlocal agreement was entered-into between the City and MUD No. 47.  This was approved by 
Resolution R-19-13 at the March 4, 2019, meeting by City Council.  With the interlocal agreement now in 
place, the current resolution grants consent to MUD No. 47 to annex approximately 8.68 acres of land to the 
District boundaries. 
 

BUDGET/FISCAL ANALYSIS 
 
The proposed MUD No. 47 annexation and associated amended utility agreement between the City and 
MUD No. 47 will make development of the subject parcel feasible.  Infrastructure will be constructed by the 
developer and water and wastewater impact fees will be paid by the developer at the time of platting.  These 
impact fees may also be amended by the City from time-to-time to regain capital costs associated to serve 
the water and wastewater infrastructure needs. 
 
Purchasing Review:  N/A 
Financial/Budget Review: N/A 
 

SUPPORTING MATERIALS 
 

1. Resolution 
2. Exhibit 1 MUD No. 47 Annexation Request 



3. Exhibit 2 Standard Consent Conditions 
4. MUD No. 47 Boundaries and Vicinity Map 

 
STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends that City Council grant consent to MUD No. 47 to annex approximately 8.68 acres of 
land by authorizing the subject resolution. 
 
 
Director Approval:   Shashi K. Kumar, P.E. 
 
 
Assistant City Manager/   
City Manager Approval:  Bill Atkinson 
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RESOLUTION NO. R-19-__ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI 
CITY, TEXAS, GRANTING CONSENT TO FORT BEND COUNTY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 47 TO ANNEX APPROXIMATELY 
8.68 ACRES OF LAND SITUATED WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS 
OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, TEXAS.  

 
*  *  * * 

WHEREAS, Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 47 (“the District”) is 
located within the corporate limits of the City of Missouri City, Texas; and  

WHEREAS, Section 54.016 of the Texas Water Code, as amended, provides that 
no land within the corporate limits of a city or within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of a city 
shall be included within a district unless such city grants its written consent, by resolution 
or ordinance, to the inclusion of the land within the district; and 

WHEREAS, on or about October 16, 2018, a petition for consent to annex land 
lying within the City of Missouri City, Texas, to the District was received by the City of 
Missouri City; and  

WHEREAS, said petition, attached hereto as Exhibit “1,” was duly executed by the 
Board of Directors of the District; and 

WHEREAS, Equity Trust Company, Custodian, for the benefit of John N. Vatistas, 
as to an undivided 48.4754% interest, and Equity Trust Company, Custodian, for the 
benefit of Francis Madia, as to an undivided 51.5246%  interest,  the holders of title to 
8.68 acres of the land, have petitioned that the land be added to the District; and  

WHEREAS, the land sought to be annexed to the District contains an area of 
approximately 8.68 acres of land, more or less, situated wholly within the City of Missouri 
City, Texas, and within the County of Fort Bend, Texas, and is more particularly described 
by metes and bounds in Exhibit A of the petition in Exhibit “1”; and  

WHEREAS, in submitting such petition for consent to annex land, the petitioners 
have agreed to be bound by certain covenants and conditions as fully set forth in Exhibit 
“2” and incorporated herein by reference; and 

WHEREAS, after due consideration, it is the opinion of the City Council of the City 
of Missouri City that consent to the annexation of the total 8.68 acres of land into the 
District should be given; now, therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSOURI CITY, 
TEXAS: 

Section 1.  The facts and recitals set forth in the preamble of this Resolution are 
hereby found to be true and correct. 
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Section 2.  The City of Missouri City, Texas, hereby consents to the annexation to 
Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 47 of land, containing a total of 8.68 acres, 
more or less, situated wholly within the City of Missouri City, Texas, more particularly 
described by metes and bounds in Exhibit A of the Petition in Exhibit “1.” 

Section 3.  The consent to annex granted hereby is subject to the covenants and 
conditions set forth in Exhibit “2,” all of which are agreed to therein by petitioner as same 
as applies to the current land when the District and its current operation as well as to the 
proposed annexation of land  and future operations of the District. That Fort Bend County 
Municipal Utility District No. 47 shall further be required to notify the City of all of its 
meetings of the Board of Directors, stating the date, time and place of same along with 
the agenda of said meeting; and, further, that the District shall furnish minutes of said 
meetings to the City. 

Section 4.  Any and all resolutions or parts of resolutions inconsistent or in conflict 
herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict, herby repealed.  

Section 5.  The City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas, officially finds, 
determines, recites and declares that a sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place 
and subject  of this meeting of the city Council was posted at a place convenient to the 
public at the City Hall of the City of Missouri City, Texas, for the time required by law 
preceding this meeting, as required by the Open Meeting Act, Chapter 551, Texas 
Government Code; and that this meeting was open to the public as required by law at all 
times during which this Resolution and the subject matter thereof was discussed, 
considered and formally acted upon. The City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas, 
further ratifies, approves and confirms such written notice and the contents and posting 
thereof.  

Section 6.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 
and approval by the City Council of the City of Missouri City, Texas.  

PASSED, APPROVED and RESOLVED this 18th day of March, 2019 

 

 

_______________________ 

Yolanda Ford, Mayor 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_________________________   _______________________ 

Maria Jackson, City Secretary   E. Joyce Iyamu, City Attorney 
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Exhibit “2” 

 

A. The District may issue bonds only for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing or 
constructing, under contract with the City of Missouri City (the “City”) or otherwise, 

waterworks systems, wastewater systems, stormwater systems, drainage facilities, 

recreational facilities and road facilities, or parts of such systems or facilities, and to make 

any and all necessary purchases, construction, improvements, extensions, additions and 

repairs thereto, and to purchase or acquire all necessary land, right-of-way easements, sites, 

equipment, buildings, plants, structures and facilities therefor, and to operate and maintain 

the same, and to sell water, wastewater and other services within or without the boundaries 

of the District, unless otherwise agreed to by the City. Such bonds shall expressly provide 

that the District shall reserve the right to redeem said bonds on any interest payment date 

subsequent to the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of issuance without premium and shall 

only be sold after the taking of public bids therefor, other than refunding bonds, which may 

be sold on a negotiated basis, and none of such bonds, other than refunding bonds, shall be 

sold for less than ninety-five (95) percent of par; provided that the net effective interest rate 

on bonds so sold, taking into account any discount or premium as well as the interest rate 

borne by such bonds, shall not exceed two (2) percent above the highest average interest rate 

reported by the Daily Bond Buyer in its weekly "20 Bond Index" during the one-month period 

next preceding the first date notice of the sale of such bonds is published, and bids for the 

bonds shall be received not more than forty-five (45) days after notice of sale of the bonds if 

so published.  The resolution or order authorizing the issuance of the District's bonds will contain, 

if applicable, a provision that the pledge of the revenues from the operation of the District's water 

and wastewater and/or drainage systems to the payment of the District's bonds will terminate if 

and when the City annexes the District or takes over the assets of the District and assumes all of 

the obligations of the District.  No land will be added or annexed to the District until the City has 

given its written consent by action of the City Council on such addition or annexation.  No bonds 

of the District may be issued without specific City consent if the City has given notice to the 

District that it intends to annex and/or dissolve the District within 365 or fewer days after such 

notice.  The District will promptly provide the City with the Official Statement regarding the 

issuance of the bonds, once it is complete.  If the District is a management district, it shall obtain 

City approval of all bonds it issues in accordance with Section 375.207, Texas Local Government 

Code.  The District must obtain City approval to issue refunding bonds.  Refunding bonds 

must comply with all City ordinances pertaining the sale of refunding bonds by a District 

within the City’s boundaries or its extra-territorial jurisdiction, as such ordinances may be 

amended from time to time.   
 

B. Before the commencement of any construction within the District, the District, its 
directors, officers, or developers and/or landowners shall submit to the Director of the 

Department of Public Works of the City, or to his designee, all plans and specifications for 

the construction of water, wastewater, drainage, recreational and road facilities and related 

improvements to serve the District and obtain the City’s written approval of such plans and 

specifications. All water wells, water meters, flushing valves, valves, pipes and 

appurtenances thereto, installed or used within the District, shall conform exactly to the then-

applicable specifications of the City.  All water service lines, wastewater service lines, lift 

stations, wastewater treatment facilities, road facilities and appurtenances thereto installed or 
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used within the District, as well as any recreational facilities to be accepted by the City, shall 

comply with the City’s standards, the approved plans and specifications and the then-

applicable ordinances, resolutions, or regulations of the City, unless otherwise agreed to in 

writing by the City and the District.  Prior to the construction of such facilities within or by 

the District, the District or its engineer shall give written notice by registered or certified mail 

to the Director of Public Works of the City, or his designee, stating the date on which such 

construction will be commenced. The construction of the District's water, wastewater, 

drainage, recreational and road facilities shall be in accordance with the approved plans and 

specifications and with applicable standards and specifications of the City and as approved 

by the City Engineer and the Director of Public Works of the City. During the progress of 

the construction and installation of such facilities, a designated representative of the City may 

make periodic on-the-ground inspections in order to determine that the installation and 

construction conform with the approved plans and specifications and the applicable standards 

and specifications of the City.  In the event that it is determined by the representative of the 

City that construction and/or installations are not being performed in conformance with the 

approved plans and specifications and with the applicable standards and specifications of the 

City, upon being so informed by a duly designated City representative, the District agrees to 

discontinue further construction and installation of all facilities until the cause of the non-

compliance is resolved. 

 

C. In the event that the District operates a wastewater treatment plant, the District 
agrees it will employ a wastewater plant operator holding an applicable, valid certificate of 

competency issued under the direction of the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 

(“TCEQ”). If the District operates the plant, the District shall make periodic analyses of its 

discharge pursuant to the rules of the TCEQ and shall send copies of all such effluent data to 

the Department of Public Works of the City, as well as to the TCEQ. Representatives of the 

City may supervise the continued operations of the wastewater treatment facility by making 

periodic inspections thereof.   

 

D. The District shall not provide water, wastewater or drainage facilities to any tract 
of land until the owner or developer of said tract has, prior to the sale of any subdivided lots 

or parcels of land, duly recorded a plat in the map and plat records of the county in which the 

District lies and which plat has been previously approved by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission of the City. If the District contracts with the City for water supply or wastewater 

treatment services, the District may not provide service to any land outside its boundaries 

without the prior written consent of the City. 
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                                   the show me city 

 

Council Agenda Item  
March 18, 2019 

 
 

12. CITY COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS  
Discussion, review, and possible action regarding a meeting or activity of one or more of the following 

entities (each entity refers to a City of Missouri City entity unless otherwise indicated):  
Charter Review Commission, Community Development Advisory Committee, Construction Board of 
Adjustments, Electrical Board, Parks Board, Planning and Zoning Commission, Tax Increment Reinvestment 
Zone Boards, Fort Bend Chamber of Commerce, Houston-Galveston Area Council, Fort Bend Regional 
Council, Texas Municipal League, Fort Bend County, Harris County, Gulf Coast Building and Construction 
Trades Council, Mayor’s Youth Commission, Finances and Services Committee, Fort Bend Leadership 
Forum, Fort Bend County Drainage District, Economic Development Committee, Missouri City Parks 
Foundation, Missouri City Police and Fire Auxiliary, Livable Community Committee, Texas Parkway Alliance, 
High Performance Organization Committee, Missouri City Juneteenth Celebration Foundation, Fort Bend 
County Mayor and Council Association, METRO, Planning, Development and Infrastructure Committee, Fort 
Bend Independent School District, Greater Fort Bend Economic Development Coalition, Transportation 
Policy Council, Community Development Advisory Committee, Veterans Memorial Committee, Missouri City 
Recreation and Leisure Local Government Corporation, Missouri City Development Authority, and the 
Greater Houston Partnership and Emergency Management updates. 
 
13. CLOSED EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The City Council may go into Executive Session regarding any item posted on the Agenda as 
authorized by Title 5, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code. 

 
14. RECONVENE 

Reconvene into Regular Session and Consider Action, if any, on items discussed in Executive 
Session. 
 
15. ADJOURN 
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